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PROSPECTU:
421,233,615 Shares

facebook

CLASS A COMMON STOCK

Facebook, Inc. is offering 180,000,000 shares of €lass A common stock and the selling stockholders offering 241,233,615 shares
Class A common stock. We will not receive any pext®from the sale of shares by the selling stockleos. This is our initial public offerin
and no public market currently exists for our shasef Class A common stock.

We have two classes of common stock, Class A comstock and Class B common stock. The rights of Hwders of Class A common stc
and Class B common stock are identical, except mgptand conversion rights. Each share of Class A aoon stock is entitled to one va
Each share of Class B common stock is entitled ¢o tvotes and is convertible at any time into oneaghof Class A common stock. T
holders of our outstanding shares of Class B commstiock will hold approximately 96.0% of the votimmpwer of our outstanding capit
stock following this offering, and our founder, Chaman, and CEO, Mark Zuckerberg, will hold or havée ability to control approximate
55.9% of the voting power of our outstanding capigtock following this offering.

Our Class A common stock has been approved foirlggbn the NASDAQ Global Select Market under thersyol “FB.”

We are a “controlled company” under the corporateoggrnance rules for NASDAQisted companies, and our board of directors |
determined not to have an independent nominatinghétion and instead to have the full board of direcs be directly responsible f
nominating members of our board.

Investing in our Class A common stock involves BsiSee’ Risk Factors” beginning on page 12.

PRICE$38.00 A SHARE

Underwriting Proceeds to
Price to Discounts and Proceeds to Selling
Public Commissions Facebook Stockholders
Per share $38.00 $0.418 $37.582 $37.582
Total $16,006,877,37 $176,075,65: $6,764,760,00! $9,066,041,71

We and the selling stockholders have granted tliewriters the right to purchase up to an additib68,185,042 shares of Class A comi
stock to cover over-allotments.

The Securities and Exchange Commission and stai@lators have not approved or disapproved of theseurities, or determined if tl
prospectus is truthful or complete. Any represeatato the contrary is a criminal offens

The underwriters expect to deliver the shares as€A common stock to purchasers on May 22, 2012.

MORGAN STANLE J.P. MORGAN GOLDMAN, SACHS & CC
BofA MERRILL LYNCH BARCLAYS ALLEN & COMPANY LLC
CITIGROUP CREDIT SUISSI DEUTSCHE BANK SECURITIE
RBC CAPITAL MARKET WELLS FARGO SECURITIE

May 17, 201z
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To make the world more open and connected,
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Neither we, nor the selling stockholders, nor thelarwriters, have authorized anyone to provide Emfigrmation or to make ai
representations other than those contained irptioispectus or in any free writing prospectuses axetprepared. We take no responsibility
and can provide no assurance as to the reliabiljtgny other information that others may give ydle and the selling stockholders are offe
to sell, and seeking offers to buy, shares of das£A common stock only in jurisdictions whereeo$fand sales are permitted. The inform:
in this prospectus is accurate only as of the dathis prospectus, regardless of the time of @ejivof this prospectus or any sale of shar
our Class A common stock. Our business, finan@abl@ion, results of operations, and prospects hese changed since that date.

Until June 11, 2012 (25 days after the commencemeot our initial public offering), all dealers that buy, sell, or trade shares of oL
Class A common stock, whether or not participatingn our initial public offering, may be required to deliver a prospectus. This deliver
requirement is in addition to the obligation of deders to deliver a prospectus when acting as undeniters and with respect to theil
unsold allotments or subscriptions.

For investors outside the United States: Neither meg the selling stockholders, nor the underwsiteave done anything that wo
permit our initial public offering or possession distribution of this prospectus in any jurisdictizvhere action for that purpose is requi
other than in the United States. Persons outsigéJtiited States who come into possession of tlaspactus must inform themselves at
and observe any restrictions relating to, the afteof the shares of our Class A common stock aedlistribution of this prospectus outsid
the United States.
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

This summary highlights information contained ireager detail elsewhere in this prospectus. Thismsary is not complete and dc
not contain all of the information you should catesiin making your investment decision. You shoegdl the entire prospectus careftL
before making an investment in our Class A comnaeksYou should carefully consider, among othaérgs, our consolidated financi
statements and the related notes and the sectintited “Risk Factors” and “Managemerd’ Discussion and Analysis of Financ
Condition and Results of Operations” included elsere in this prospectus.

FACEBOOK, INC.
Our mission is to make the world more open and eoted.

People use Facebook to stay connected with themds and family, to discover what is going onhie tworld around them, and
share and express what matters to them to the gp&ugyy care about.

Developers can use the Facebook Platform to bpidi@ations (apps) and websites that integrate Wébebook to reach our glot
network of users and to build products that areenparsonalized, social, and engaging.

Advertisers can engage with more than 900 millioonthly active users (MAUs) on Facebook or subséteun users based ¢
information they have chosen to share with us ssctheir age, location, gender, or interests. V& afdvertisers a unique combinatior
reach, relevance, social context, and engagememttance the value of their ads.

We believe that we are at the forefront of enabfagier, easier, and richer communication betwesple and that Facebook t
become an integral part of many of our users’ dailys. We have experienced rapid growth in the benof users and their engagement.
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. We had 901 million MAUSs as of March 31, 2012, acréase of 33% as compared to 680 million MAUs aslafch 31, 2011.

. We had 526 million daily active users (DAUS) on age in March 2012, an increase of 41% as compar8d2 million DAU:
in March 2011

. We had 488 million MAUs who used Facebook mobiledoicts in March 201:
. There were more than 125 billion friend connectiong=acebook as of March 31, 2012.

. Our users generated an average of 3.2 billion LikesComments per day during the first quarterodf2
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For a description of how we calculate our MAUs @WUs and factors that can affect these metrics,”“Industry Data and Us
Metrics” and “Management’s Discussion and Analydiginancial Condition and Results of Operations-efitts in Our User Metrics.”

How We Create Value for Users
Our top priority is to build useful and engagin@gucts that enable you t

Connect with Your FriendsWith more than 900 million MAUs worldwide, our useare increasingly able to find and ¢
connected with their friends, family, and colleagoa Facebool

Discover and LearnWe believe that users come to Facebook to discawdrlearn more about what is going on in the w
around them, particularly in the lives of theiefids and family and with public figures and orgatians that interest ther

Express YourselfWe enable our users to share and publish theiraysnideas, photos, and activities to audienceging
from their closest friends to our 900 million usagiving every user a voice within the Facebook oamity.

Control What You ShareThrough Faceboc's privacy and sharing settings, our users can aowtinat they share and w
whom they share i

Experience Facebook Across the WeThrough apps and websites built by developers usiag-acebook Platform, our us
can interact with their Facebook friends while jpgygames, listening to music, watching moviesdirg news, and engagi
in other activities

Stay Connected with Your Friends on Mobile DevicThrough the combination of our mobile sites, snfzotpe apps, at
feature phone products, users can bring Facebabktik@m on mobile devices wherever they

Foundations of the Social Web

We believe that the web, including the mobile wisbevolving to become more social and personaliZéds evolution is creatir
more rewarding experiences that are centered opl@etbeir connections, and their interests. Wéelelthat the following elements fo
the foundation of the social web:

Authentic Identity. We believe that using your real name, connectingotar real friends, and sharing your genuine irgis
online create more engaging and meaningful expegrRepresenting yourself with your authentic tijeronline encourage
you to behave with the same norms that foster taust respect in your daily life offline. Authentidentity is core to tr
Facebook experience, and we believe that it israktd the future of the web. Our terms of servieguire you to use your re
name and we encourage you to be your true selh@nknabling us and Platform developers to provide with mort
personalized experience

Social Graph.The Social Graph represents the connections betweeple and their friends and interests. Every gres
entity is represented by a point within the gragid the affiliations between people and their filieand interests form billio
of connections between the points. Our mappindiefSocial Graph enables Facebook and Platform aleeed to build mol
engaging user experiences that are based on theseations

Social Distribution.Over time, people are consuming and creating mm@skof information at a faster pace across a lm
range of devices. The growing volume of informatimakes it challenging to find meaningful and trdstontent and
effectively make your voice heard. Facebook orgesmiand prioritizes content and serves as a powsoftill distribution toc
delivering to users what we believe they will fimibst compelling based on their friends and intsr:
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How We Create Value for Developers Through the Fadm®mok Platform

The Facebook Platform is a set of development tantsapplication programming interfaces (APIs) #radbles developers to ea
integrate with Facebook to create social apps aglosites and to reach our 900 million users. Platfdevelopers build experiences
allow our users to connect and share with friendderengaging in a wide range of activities. Platfadevelopers range from a studen
his or her computer at home to teams of programraefdgading websites. We are focused on the gramith success of Platfo
developers by enabling:

Personalized and Social ExperienceWe enable Platform developers to create betterymtsdhat are personalized and sc
and that offer new ways for our users to engagh Wieénds and share experiences across the webrantbbile devices. F
example, a Facebook user can visit the Pandoraiteedosd immediately begin listening to a persoralizadio station that
customized based on the bands the user Likes @bbak.

Social Distribution. We enable Platform developers to reach our global base and use our social distribution chanio
increase traffic to their apps and websi

PaymentsWe provide an online payments infrastructure timatées Platform developers to receive payments franusers i
an eas-to-use, secure, and trusted environm

How We Create Value for Advertisers and Marketers
We offer advertisers and marketers a unique corntibmaf reach, relevance, social context, and eegent:

Reach. With over 900 million MAUs, Facebook offers the ldipito reach a vast consumer audience with ouregtising
solutions.

Relevance Advertisers can specify that we show their ads sulaset of our users based on demographic factolsecifit
interests that they have chosen to share with dsasebook or by using the Like button around thb.Wée allow advertisers
select relevant and appropriate audiences for #uksiy ranging from millions of users in the casglobal brands to hundreds
users in the case of smaller, local busines

Social ContextWe believe that the recommendations of friends tepewerful influence on consumer interest and fpast
decisions. We offer advertisers the ability to uri# “social context’with their marketing messages. Social conte:
information that highlights a friens’connections with a particular brand or busingssexample, that a friend Liked a prod
or checked in at a restaurant. We believe thasugst marketing messages more engaging when tiodyde social contex

EngagementWe believe that the shift to a more social web teeaew opportunities for businesses to engageintéheste
customers. Any brand or business can create a Bakétage to stimulate an ongoing dialog with owrsu

Our Market Opportunity

Our Advertising Market Opportunity

Advertisers’ objectives range from building loteym brand awareness to stimulating an immediatehaise. We offer advertisi
solutions that are designed to be more engagingeledant for users in order to help advertisersebechieve their goals. Facebaok’
combination of reach, relevance, social context, @mgagement gives advertisers enhanced oppoesihitigenerate brand awareness
affiliation, while also creating new ways to gerteraear-term demand for their products from consarileely to have purchase
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intent. According to an IDC report dated August 20tbtal worldwide advertising spending in 2010 v#&88 billion. Our addressal
market opportunity includes portions of many exigtadvertising markets, including the tradition&lime branded advertising, onli
display advertising, online performance-based dtbieg, and mobile advertising markets.

Advertising on the social web is a significant nerpportunity that is still emerging and evolvivge believe that most advertis
are still learning and experimenting with the heays to leverage Facebook to create more sociavaluable ads.

Our Market Opportunity for Payments

When users purchase virtual and digital goods foamPlatform developers using our Payments infuastire, we receive fees tl
represent a portion of the transaction value. Q@iye substantially all of the Payments transadidretween our users and Platf
developers are for virtual goods used in social gmnfccording to an NPD IStat report dated April 2012, the worldwide reve
generated from the sale of virtual goods on soeétivorking sites, online worlds, and casual gamas #9 billion in 2011, and
forecasted to increase to $14 billion by 2016. Wigently require Payments integration in games acebook, and we may seek to exi
the use of Payments to other types of apps inutuzd.

Our Strategy

We are in the early days of pursuing our missioméike the world more open and connected. We haignéicant opportunity t
further enhance the value we deliver to users, ldpees, and advertisers. Key elements of our glyadee:

. Expand Our Global User CommunityWe continue to focus on growing our user base acedlsgeographies, includi
relatively lesspenetrated, large markets such as Brazil, Gernladig, Japan, Russia, and South Korea. We intemggae ou
user base by continuing our marketing and userisitign efforts and enhancing our products, inahgdmobile apps, in ord
to make Facebook more accessible and us

. Build Great Social Products to Increase EngagemeWe prioritize product development investments tlvat believe wil
create engaging interactions between our usergla@@srs, and advertisers on Facebook, across theand on mobile device
We continue to invest significantly in improving rocore products such as News Feed, Photos, andp§rdeveloping ne
products such as Timeline and Ticker, and enallewg Platform apps and website integratic

. Provide Users with the Most Compelling ExperiencFacebook users are sharing and receiving morenination across
broader range of devices. To provide the most cdlingeuser experience, we continue to develop pctsland technologi
focused on optimizing our social distribution chalsnto deliver the most useful content to each useranalyzing an
organizing vast amounts of information in real tit

. Build Engaging Mobile ExperiencesWe are devoting substantial resources to developimgaging mobile products &
experiences for a wide range of platforms, inclgdeamartphones and feature phones. In addition, reevarking across tt
mobile industry with operators, hardware manufaaroperating system providers, and developemmpoove the Facebor
experience on mobile devices and make Facebookablato more people around the world. We belidwa mobile usage
Facebook is critical to maintaining user growth andagement over the long tel

. Enable Developers to Build Great Social Productsitysthe Facebook PlatformThe success of our Platform developers
the vibrancy of our Platform ecosystem are keytwdasing user engageme

4
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We continue to invest in tools and APIs that enbathe ability of Platform developers to deliver guots that are more soc
and personalized and better engage users on FaGetmoss the web, and on mobile devices. Additipnae plan to invest i
enhancing our Payments offerings and in makingP#ngments experience on Facebook as convenientsaif@ofor users al
Platform developer:

Improve Ad Products for Advertisers and UseWe plan to continue to improve our ad productsriteoto create more val
for advertisers and enhance their ability to mdiedrtadvertising more social and relevant for usénsr advertising strate
centers on the belief that ad products that areakaelevant, and weliategrated with other content on Facebook can erd
the user experience while providing an attractiggum for advertisers. We intend to invest in add#l products for ot
advertisers and marketers while continuing to h@#aour monetization objectives with our commitmenoptimizing the us:
experience

Summary Risk Factors

Our business is subject to numerous risks desciibetle section entitled “Risk Factorsihd elsewhere in this prospectus.
should carefully consider these risks before makingnvestment. Some of these risks include:

If we fail to retain existing users or add new ssar if our users decrease their level of engagéméth Facebook, o
revenue, financial results, and business may befisigntly harmed

We generate a substantial majority of our revermoenfadvertising. The loss of advertisers, or reidacin spending b
advertisers with Facebook, could seriously harmbaginess

Growth in use of Facebook through our mobile prasiuwhere our ability to monetize is unproven, aaibstitute for use «
personal computers may negatively affect our regeand financial result:

Facebook user growth and engagement on mobile ee\depend upon effective operation with mobile afieg system:
networks, and standards that we do not con

We may not be successful in our efforts to grow famther monetize the Facebook Platform;
Our business is highly competitive, and competippogsents an ongoing threat to the success ofumiindss

Improper access to or disclosure of our user®rmation, or violation of our terms of service policies, could harm o
reputation and adversely affect our busin

Our business is subject to complex and evolving. Erffl foreign laws and regulations regarding psiyalata protection, al
other matters. Many of these laws and regulaticessaibject to change and uncertain interpretatom, could harm ol
business

Our CEO has control over key decision making assalt of his control of a majority of our votingsk;
The loss of Mark Zuckerberg, Sheryl K. Sandbergtber key personnel could harm our busin

We anticipate that we will expend substantial fumdsonnection with tax withholding and remittaragigations related to tl
initial settlement of our restricted stock unitsS(8s);

The market price of our Class A common stock maydiatile or may decline, and you may not be ablessell your shares
or above the initial public offering price; a

Substantial blocks of our total outstanding shamay be sold into the market as “lock-updriods end, as further describe
“Shares Eligible for Future Salelf’'there are substantial sales of shares of oumeomstock, the price of our Class A comr
stock could decline
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Mr. Zuckerberg’s Voting Rights and Our Status as a Controlled Comgny

Mr. Zuckerberg, who after our initial public offag will control approximately 55.9% of the votingwer of our outstanding capi
stock, will have the ability to control the outcoroé matters submitted to our stockholders for apgloincluding the election of o
directors, as well as the overall management aretttittn of our company. In the event of his detih,shares of our capital stock that
Zuckerberg owns will be transferred to the persmmesntities that he designates.

Because Mr. Zuckerberg controls a majority of outstanding voting power, we are a “controlled comyaunder the corpora
governance rules for NASDA(sted companies. Therefore, we are not requirechdee a majority of our board of directors
independent, nor are we required to have a compenseommittee or an independent nominating fumctim light of our status as
controlled company, our board of directors has rdeiteed not to have an independent nominating foncéind to have the full board
directors be directly responsible for nominatingmmbers of our board.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in Delaware in July 2004. Walexpressly indicated or the context requiresrofise, the terms “Facebook,’
“company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” in this prospectusgfer to Facebook, Inc., a Delaware corporationl, avhere appropriate, its wholly-
owned subsidiaries. The term “Faceboagkay also refer to our products, regardless of tlemmar in which they are accessed.
principal executive offices are located at 160110l Road, Menlo Park, California 94025, and ougppélone number is (650) 30800
Our website address is www.facebook.com. The inédion on or that can be accessed through our veeissitot part of this prospectus.

Facebook, the Facebook logo, FB, the Like Butt8nahd our other registered or common law trademeas&rvice marks, or tra
names appearing in this prospectus are the propémacebook, Inc. Other trademarks, service mark$tade names appearing in
prospectus are the property of their respectiveassin
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Class A common stock offered
By us
By the selling stockholde!
Total

our initial public offering

Over-allotment option of Class A common stock cdfér
By us
By the selling stockholde!
Total

Use of proceed

Total Class A and Class B common stock to be oudéhg after

THE OFFERING

180,000,000 share
241,233,615 share
421,233,615 share

Class A common stock to be outstanding after aitinirpublic offering 633,492,418 share
Class B common stock to be outstanding after atiaimpublic offering 1,504,592,619 shar

2,138,085,037 shar

3,094,842 share
60,090,200 share
63,185,042 share

We estimate that our net proceeds from the salthefClass .
common stock that we are offering will be approxiehy
$6.8 billion, based on the initial public offeripgice of $38.00 p«
share, after deducting underwriting discounts androissions ar
estimated offering expenses payable by

The principal purposes of our initial public offiegi are to create
public market for our Class A common stock and ébgrenabl
future access to the public equity markets by usl au
employees, obtain additional capital, and fac#itatn orderl
distribution of shares for the selling stockhold&k& intend to us
the net proceeds to us from our initial public affg for working
capital and other general corporate purposes; hemse do nc
have any specific uses of the net proceeds plantvedmay us
some of the net proceeds to us to satisfy a portibnthe
anticipated tax withholding and remittance obligat relate
to the initial settlement of our outstanding RSKdditionally, we
may use a portion of the proceeds to us for adipisi o
complementary businesses, technologies, or otlsetsas

We will not receive any proceeds from the sale loérss ¢
Class A common stock by the selling stockholdenscdnnectio
with our initial public
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Voting rights

NASDAQ Global Select Market symb

offering, Mark Zuckerberg, our founder, Chairmangd &EO, ha
exercised an outstanding stock option with respe@0,000,00
shares of Class B common stock and will offer 30,200 of thos
shares as Class A common stock in our initial pubffering. The
substantial majority of the net proceeds Mr. Zubkeg will
receive upon such sale will be used to satisfy dakat he wil
incur in connection with the option exercise. Sedse€ o
Proceeds.”

Shares of Class A common stock are entitled tovote per share
Shares of Class B common stock are entitled tod¢es per shar

Holders of our Class A common stock and Class Bmomstoc!
will generally vote together as a single class,esslotherwis
required by law. Mr. Zuckerberg, who after our iaditpublic
offering will control approximately 55.9% of the tiag power o
our outstanding capital stock, will have the apilib control th
outcome of matters submitted to our stockholdersajoproval
including the election of our directors. Sdgescription of Capit:
Stock.”

“EB”

The number of shares of Class A and Class B comstook to be outstanding after our initial publicfesing includes
(i) 117,549,393 shares of our Class A common stouk 1,780,535,644 shares of our Class B commolk stoistanding as of March @
2012; and (i) the issuance of 60,000,000 sharesuwf Class B common stock upon the partial exerbigeMr. Zuckerberg of &
outstanding stock option to purchase 120,000,0@0eshof our Class B common stock and the autornatigersion of 30,200,000 of the
shares into an equivalent number of shares of Glassmmon stock upon their sale in our initial goldffering, and excludes:

. 116,756,442 shares of Class B common stock issugige the exercise of options outstanding as ofckl&id, 2012 under o
2005 Stock Plan, with a weight-average exercise price of approximately $0.94 pares

. 60,000,000 shares of Class B common stock issuapte the exercise of the remaining portion of atioopheld by
Mr. Zuckerberg, with an exercise price of $0.06 §leare;

. 378,429,048 shares of Class B common stock sutgjg@8Us outstanding as of March 31, 2012 unde260b Stock Plan;
. 22,999,412 shares of common stock issuable upompledion of our acquisition of Instagram, In

. 25,257,815 shares of Class B common stock sulijeRSiUs granted under our 2005 Stock Plan and 4G0&s of Class
common stock issued between April 1, 2012 and Ma&032; anc

. 77,466,293 shares of our common stock reservedufoire issuance under our equity compensation plaossisting c
25,000,000 shares of Class A common stock resdoradsuance under our 2012 Equity Incentive Péard 52,466,293 shai
of Class B common stock reserved as of March 312
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for issuance under our 2005 Stock Plan (which vesircludes the 25,257,815 shares of Class B constumk subject to RS
granted after March 31, 2012). On the date of phispectus, any remaining shares available foarsseiunder our 2005 Stc
Plan will be added to the shares reserved unde2@l? Equity Incentive Plan and we will cease grapawards under tl
2005 Stock Plan. Our 2012 Equity Incentive Plaw @iovides for automatic annual increases in thabar of shares resen
thereunder and for increases based on forfeiteditttheld shares and other events, as more fullrdssd in ‘Executive
Compensatic—Employee Benefit Plar”

Unless expressly indicated or the context requitherwise, all information in this prospectus asssm

the conversion of all outstanding shares of ourvedible preferred stock as of March 31, 2012 i6%5,401,443 shares
Class B common stock in connection with our inigiablic offering;

the automatic conversion of 181,638,768 sharesuofGlass B common stock into an equivalent numbieshares of ot
Class A common stock upon their sale by the selltogkholders in our initial public offerin

the conversion by certain of our existing stockleoddpursuant to contractual agreements of an aggred 154,304,257 sha
of our Class B common stock into an equivalent nemdd shares of our Class A common stock in conmeatith our initia
public offering;

no exercise by the underwriters of their right tzghase up to an additional 63,185,042 sharesagsCA common stock frc
us and the selling stockholders to cover -allotments; ant

the filing of our restated certificate of incorptioam and the effectiveness of our restated bylawsonnection with our initii
public offering.
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SUMMARY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table summarizes our consolidatedrficial data. We have derived the summary conselidatatements of incot
data for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2@t02@11 from our audited consolidated financialesteents included elsewhere in-
prospectus. The consolidated statements of incateefdr the three months ended March 31, 2011 aa&,2and the consolidated bala
sheet data as of March 31, 2012 have been deriged 6ur unaudited consolidated financial statemeipisearing elsewhere in t
prospectus. In our opinion, such financial statemeémclude all adjustments, consisting only of narmecurring adjustments, that
consider necessary for a fair presentation of ithential information set forth in those stateme@sr historical results are not necessi
indicative of our results in any future period. T®wemmary of our consolidated financial data sethftielow should be read together v
our consolidated financial statements and the gdlatotes, as well as the section entitled “Manag¢meéiscussion and Analysis
Financial Condition and Results of Operations,’luided elsewhere in this prospectus.

Three Months Ended
Year Ended December 31 March 31,
2009 2010 2011 2011 2012
(in millions, except per share data

Consolidated Statements of Income Datz

Revenue $ 777 $1,97¢ $3,711 $ 731 $ 1,05¢
Costs and expens®:
Cost of revenu 228 49¢ 86C 167 271
Marketing and sale 11& 184 427 68 15¢
Research and developmt 87 144 38¢ 57 158
General and administrati\ 90 121 28C 51 88
Total costs and expens 51E 942 1,95¢ 343 677
Income from operation 262 1,032 1,75¢ 38¢ 381
Interest and other income (expense), (8) (24) (612) 10 1
Income before provision for income ta» 254 1,00¢ 1,69¢ 39¢ 382
Provision for income taxe 25 40z 69t 165 177
Net income $ 22¢ $ 60€ $1,00¢ 8 28 $ 20%F

Net income attributable to Class A and Class B comstockholder $ 122 $ 372 $ 66¢ $ 152 $ 137
Earnings per share attributable to Class A andsCtBasommor
stockholders@:
Basic $ 0.17 $ 0.3¢ $ 0.52 $ 0.12 $ 0.1C
Diluted $ 0.1C $ 0.2¢ $ 0.4¢€ $ 0.11 $ 0.0¢
Pro forma earnings per share attributable to Gdaaad Class B
common stockholder®:
Basic $ 0.4¢ $ 0.1C
Diluted $ 0.4: $ 0.0¢

(1) Costs and expenses in 2009, 2010, and 2011 anfirghguarter of 2011 and 2012 include shhesed compensation expense of $27 million, $20am;jli$217 million, $
million, and $103 million, respectively, as follow
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Three Months

Year Ended December 31 Ended March 31,
2009 2010 2011 2011 2012
(in millions)
Cost of revenu $ — $ — $ 9 $ — $ 4
Marketing and sale 2 2 43 — 23
Research and developmt¢ 6 9 114 4 60
General and administratiy 19 9 51 3 16
Total shar-based compensation expel $ 2. $ 2( $ 217 $ i $ 10%

(2) See note 2 of the notes to our consolidated firdrstatements for a description of how we computsidband diluted earnings per share attributabl€lass A and Class
common stockholders and pro forma basic and dileggdings per share attributable to Class A andsacommon stockholdel

March 31, 2012

Pro Forma As

Actual Pro Forma () Adjusted ()
(in millions)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Date
Cash, cash equivalents, and marketable sectL $3,91( $3,91( $ 10,66%
Working capital 3,65¢ 3,98( 10,73:
Property and equipment, r 1,85¢ 1,85¢ 1,85¢
Total asset 6,85¢ 7,18¢ 13,94
Total liabilities 1,587 1,587 1,587
Additional paic-in capital 2,85:¢ 4,43: 11,19(
Retained earning 1,811 1,171 1,171
Total stockholder’ equity 5,27 5,597 12,35«

(1) The pro forma consolidated balance sheet data suath 31, 2012 presents our consolidated balameetslata to give effect to the automatic convarsicall of our outstandir
shares of convertible preferred stock into shafédlass B common stock and to also give effect sharebased compensation expense of approximately $9li5meassociate
with RSUs granted prior to 2011, for which the sescondition was satisfied as of March 31, 201@ which we expect to record upon completion of iaitial public offering
as further described in “Management’s Discussiod Analysis of Financial Condition and Results ofe@gions—Critical Accounting Policies and EstimateZharebaser
Compensation.” The pro forma adjustment relateghare-based compensation expense of approxime@éy fillion has been reflected as an increase titiadal paidin
capital and the associated tax effect of $325 omillvas been netted against this charge, resuliirgriet reduction of $640 million to retained eagsi The income tax effe:
have been reflected as an increase to deferrealst®ts included in prepaid expenses and othemtwassets, to reflect the anticipated future tanefies upon settlement of the
RSUs.

(2) The pro forma as adjusted consolidated balance sla¢e reflects the items described in footnoteafigve and gives effect to our receipt of estimatetdproceeds from the s
of shares of Class A common stock that we are iaffeat the initial public offering price of $38.@@r share, after deducting the underwriting dist®@amd commissions a
estimated offering expenses payable by
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RISK FACTORS

Investing in our Class A common stock involvesgh liiegree of risk. You should consider carefullyrikks and uncertainties descrit
below, together with all of the other informatiom this prospectus, including the consolidated foiahstatements and the related nc
included elsewhere in this prospectus, before diegitvhether to invest in shares of our Class A commstock. The risks and uncertain
described below are not the only ones we face.tidbadi risks and uncertainties that we are unawafgor that we currently believe are |
material, may also become important factors thatemdely affect our business. If any of the follgwitsks actually occurs, our busine
financial condition, results of operations, anduiig prospects could be materially and adverselgaéd. In that event, the market price of
Class A common stock could decline, and you casle part or all of your investment.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

If we falil to retain existing users or add new usgror if our users decrease their level of engagemeith Facebook, our revenue, financi
results, and business may be significantly harmed.

The size of our user base and our U level of engagement are critical to our successhat901 million monthly active users (MAL
as of March 31, 2012. Our financial performance lbesn and will continue to be significantly detered by our success in adding, retair
and engaging active users. We anticipate that ctiveauser growth rate will decline over time as #ize of our active user base increases
as we achieve higher market penetration rates.h€oeixtent our active user growth rate slows, owirtmss performance will beco
increasingly dependent on our ability to increasels of user engagement in current and new markgtsople do not perceive our product
be useful, reliable, and trustworthy, we may noabke to attract or retain users or otherwise ra@inor increase the frequency and duratic
their engagement. A number of other social netwaykiompanies that achieved early popularity haweesseen their active user bases or |
of engagement decline, in some cases precipitoliBlgre is no guarantee that we will not experieasémilar erosion of our active user bas
engagement levels. A decrease in user retenti@awtgr or engagement could render Facebook lessctitte to developers and advertis
which may have a material and adverse impact ormrewgnue, business, financial condition, and respfitoperations. Any number of fact
could potentially negatively affect user retentigmwth, and engagement, including if:

. users increasingly engage with competing products;

. we fail to introduce new and improved productsfave introduce new products or services that atdawmrably receivec

. we are unable to successfully balance our efforfgovide a compelling user experience with thegieas we make with respect
the frequency, prominence, and size of ads and otivamercial content that we disple

. we are unable to continue to develop products fobite devices that users find engaging, that woith & variety of mobil
operating systems and networks, and that achiénghalevel of market acceptanc

. there are changes in user sentiment about thetyjoalusefulness of our products or concerns réldeprivacy and sharing, safe
security, or other factor

. we are unable to manage and prioritize informatmansure users are presented with content thatieiesting, useful, and relev.
to them;

. there are adverse changes in our products thahanelated by legislation, regulatory authoritieslitagation, including settlemer
or consent decree

. technical or other problems prevent us from deihgerour products in a rapid and reliable manneotherwise affect the us
experience
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. we adopt policies or procedures related to areels as sharing or user data that are perceivedinelyaby our users or the gene
public;

. we fail to provide adequate customer service tog skevelopers, or advertisers;

. we, our Platform developers, or other companiesuinindustry are the subject of adverse media teforother negative publicit
or

. our current or future products, such as the FadeBtatform, reduce user activity on Facebook by imglkt easier for our users
interact and share on th-party websites

If we are unable to maintain and increase our base and user engagement, our revenue, finansialtseand future growth poten
may be adversely affected.

We generate a substantial majority of our revenuerh advertising. The loss of advertisers, or redoatin spending by advertisers wi
Facebook, could seriously harm our business.

The substantial majority of our revenue is curieggnerated from third parties advertising on Faok&bln 2009, 2010, and 2011 and
first quarter of 2011 and 2012, advertising accedrfbr 98%, 95%, 85%, 87%, and 82%, respectivelyguo revenue. As is common in -
industry, our advertisers typically do not havegderm advertising commitments with us. Many of odvertisers spend only a relatively sr
portion of their overall advertising budget with. is addition, advertisers may view some of ourdoiis, such as sponsored stories ani
with social context, as experimental and unprovavertisers will not continue to do business wit) ar they will reduce the prices they
willing to pay to advertise with us, if we do natliver ads and other commercial content in an &ffeananner, or if they do not believe t
their investment in advertising with us will generaea competitive return relative to other altervedi Our advertising revenue could
adversely affected by a number of other factordyiting:

. decreases in user engagement, including time speRacebook;

. increased user access to and engagement with Fdcéirough our mobile products, where we do notenity directly genera
meaningful revenue, particularly to the extent thmtbile engagement is substitutemt engagement with Facebook on pers
computers where we monetize usage by displayingiad®ther commercial conte

. product changes or inventory management decisi@esiay make that reduce the size, frequency, divelprominence of ads a
other commercial content displayed on Faceb

. our inability to improve our analytics and measueetsolutions that demonstrate the value of ouraadsother commercial conte
. decisions by advertisers to use our free prodsatsh as Facebook Pages, instead of advertisingogbbok

. loss of advertising market share to our competitors

. adverse legal developments relating to advertisirguiding legislative and regulatory developmeartsl developments in litigatio
. adverse media reports or other negative publioiplving us, our Platform developers, or other camips in our industry;

. our inability to create new products that sustaimorease the value of our ads and other comnmiawident;

. the degree to which users opt out of social adgherwise limit the potential audience of commdrcantent;

. changes in the way online advertising is priced,;
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. the impact of new technologies that could blockloscure the display of our ads and other commecoiatient; anc
. the impact of macroeconomic conditions and condgiim the advertising industry in general.

The occurrence of any of these or other factorédcasult in a reduction in demand for our ads athe:r commercial content, which n
reduce the prices we receive for our ads and ath@mercial content, or cause advertisers to stgpréding with us altogether, either of wh
would negatively affect our revenue and finanagasluits.

Growth in use of Facebook through our mobile prodsg¢ where our ability to monetize is unproven, asabstitute for use on persor
computers may negatively affect our revenue andaficial results.

We had 488 million MAUs who used Facebook mobiledoicts in March 2012. While most of our mobile gsalso access Faceb
through personal computers, we anticipate thatdke of growth in mobile usage will exceed the gioim usage through personal compt
for the foreseeable future, in part due to our $oon developing mobile products to encourage malsisge of Facebook. We have historic
not shown ads to users accessing Facebook throoghenapps or our mobile website. In March 2012 ,began to include sponsored storie
users’'mobile News Feeds. However, we do not currentlgally generate any meaningful revenue from theafiseacebook mobile produc
and our ability to do so successfully is unprovafe believe this increased usage of Facebook onlendbvices has contributed to the re
trend of our daily active users (DAUS) increasingrenrapidly than the increase in the number of dalsvered. If users increasingly acc
Facebook mobile products as a substitute for adbesagh personal computers, and if we are unabkutcessfully implement monetizat
strategies for our mobile users, or if we incuresgive expenses in this effort, our financial penfance and ability to grow revenue woulc
negatively affected.

Facebook user growth and engagement on mobile devidepend upon effective operation with mobile @iy systems, networks, a
standards that we do not contrc

There is no guarantee that popular mobile devicéiscentinue to feature Facebook, or that mobileside users will continue to u
Facebook rather than competing products. We arerdkmt on the interoperability of Facebook with ylap mobile operating systems that
do not control, such as Android and iOS, and arangles in such systems that degrade our prodiuctstionality or give preferential treatm:
to competitive products could adversely affect Back usage on mobile devices. Additionally, in ergedeliver high quality mobile produc
it is important that our products work well withrange of mobile technologies, systems, networkd, standards that we do not control.
may not be successful in developing relationshiftk ey participants in the mobile industry or ieveéloping products that operate effecti
with these technologies, systems, networks, ordstals. In the event that it is more difficult farrausers to access and use Facebook or
mobile devices, or if our users choose not to acoedise Facebook on their mobile devices or udalenproducts that do not offer acces
Facebook, our user growth and user engagement bethdrmed.

We may not be successful in our efforts to grow a&ndher monetize the Facebook Platform.

We have made and are continuing to make major imags to enable developers to build applicatiapp$) and websites that integ
with the Facebook Platform. Existing and prospecfilatform developers may not be successful irdmglapps or websites that create
maintain user engagement. Additionally, developeey choose to build on other platforms, includinghite platforms controlled by thi
parties, rather than building on the Facebook &latf We are continuously seeking to balance theiloigion objectives of our Platfor
developers with our desire to provide an optimarwexperience, and we may not be successful iregicty a balance that continues to at
and retain Platform developers. From time to tinve, have taken actions to reduce the volume of comirations from apps to users
Facebook with the objective of enhancing the ugpeeence, and such actions have reduced distibditom, user engagement with, and
monetization opportunities from, apps on Facebdoksome instances, these actions have adversagtedf our relationships with Platfa
developers. If we are not successful in our efftrtgrow our Platform or if we are
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unable to build and maintain good relations withtferm developers, our user growth and user engageand our financial results may
adversely affected.

Additionally, we may not be successful in furtheomstizing the Facebook Platform. We currently mimeethe Facebook Platform
several ways, including ads on pages generategy @n Facebook, direct advertising on Facebookhased by Platform developers to d
traffic to their apps and websites, and fees framRlatform developersise of our Payments infrastructure to sell virarad digital goods
users. Apps built by developers of social gamedjquéarly Zynga, are currently responsible for stamtially all of our revenue derived fri
Payments. In addition, a relatively small perceatafjour users have transacted with Facebook Pagirfeor example, in 2011, approxima
15 million users purchased virtual goods using Baok Payments. If the Platform apps that curregdéigerate revenue fail to grow or main
their users and engagement, if Platform develogersot continue to introduce new apps that attngetrs and create engagement, if Plat
developers reduce their advertising on Faceboakeifail to maintain good relationships with Platfodevelopers or attract new developer
if Platform apps outside of social games do noh gpularity and generate significant revenue,fmancial performance and ability to gr
revenue could be adversely affected.

Our business is highly competitive. Competition peats an ongoing threat to the success of our besi

We face significant competition in almost everyexpof our business, including from companies agkkoogle, Microsoft, and Twitt
which offer a variety of Internet products, sergiceontent, and online advertising offerings, adl @& from mobile companies and sme
Internet companies that offer products and senticasmay compete with specific Facebook featuiés.also face competition from traditio
and online media businesses for advertising budiyééscompete broadly with Googéesocial networking offerings, including Google+d
also with other, largely regional, social netwotkat have strong positions in particular countriasluding Cyworld in Korea, Mixi in Jape
Orkut (owned by Google) in Brazil and India, andovitakte in Russia. We would also face competitimmf companies in China such
Renren, Sina, and Tencent in the event that walaeeto access the market in China in the futusewa introduce new products, as our exis
products evolve, or as other companies introdueepreducts and services, we may become subjecddibti@nal competition.

Some of our current and potential competitors tegeificantly greater resources and better competjositions in certain markets tt
we do. These factors may allow our competitorsepond more effectively than us to new or emerg¢gatinologies and changes in ma
requirements. Our competitors may develop proddietgures, or services that are similar to ourthat achieve greater market acceptance,
undertake more fareaching and successful product development effontsarketing campaigns, or may adopt more aggressicing policies
In addition, Platform partners may use informativared by our users through the Facebook Platforarder to develop products or featt
that compete with us. Certain competitors, inclgd@oogle, could use strong or dominant positionsrie or more markets to gain competi
advantage against us in areas where we operatealingl by integrating competing social networkingtforms or features into products tl
control such as search engines, web browsers, bilendevice operating systems; by making acquisijor by making access to Facek
more difficult. As a result, our competitors mayjace and engage users at the expense of the gavwehgagement of our user base, w
may negatively affect our business and financisiilits.

We believe that our ability to compete effectivdpends upon many factors both within and beyomdaoutrol, including:
. the usefulness, ease of use, performance, andiligiaf our products compared to our competitors;
. the size and composition of our user b

. the engagement of our users with our products;
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. the timing and market acceptance of products, diotydevelopments and enhancements to our or enpetitor’ products;
. our ability to monetize our products, including @tility to successfully monetize mobile usage;

. the frequency, size, and relative prominence oftifeeand other commercial content displayed by esiocompetitors

. customer service and support efforts;

. marketing and selling effort

. our ability to establish and maintain developenseiest in building on the Facebook Platform;

. changes mandated by legislation, regulatory authsrior litigation, including settlements and camsdecrees, some of which r
have a disproportionate effect on

. acquisitions or consolidation within our industwhich may result in more formidable competitc
. our ability to attract, retain, and motivate takmhemployees, particularly software engineers;
. our ability to cos-effectively manage and grow our operations;

. our reputation and brand strength relative to aunetitors.

If we are not able to effectively compete, our us@se and level of user engagement may decreass) aduld make us less attractive
developers and advertisers and materially and adiyeaffect our revenue and results of operations.

Action by governments to restrict access to Facdbwotheir countries could substantially harm ourusiness and financial results

It is possible that governments of one or more t@esmay seek to censor content available on Fextelm their country, restrict acct
to Facebook from their country entirely, or impasther restrictions that may affect the accessybitit Facebook in their country for
extended period of time or indefinitely. For examphccess to Facebook has been or is currentlyctedtin whole or in part in China, Ir:
North Korea, and Syria. In addition, governmentstimer countries may seek to restrict access tebieak if they consider us to be in violai
of their laws. In the event that access to Facelsakstricted, in whole or in part, in one or mantries or our competitors are abl
successfully penetrate geographic markets thatameat access, our ability to retain or increaseusar base and user engagement mi
adversely affected, we may not be able to mairdagrow our revenue as anticipated, and our firemeisults could be adversely affected.

Our efforts to expand the Facebook Platform may wésin users increasingly engaging with our Platfar developers’ Facebookitegratec
websites instead of engaging on Facebook, which magatively affect our advertising revenue and haour business.

We actively support Platform develop' efforts to develop products that integrate with bk on the develop¢ websites. Ot
Platform developers may choose to prioritize buaitdor supporting Facebodktegrated websites as opposed to building or stimgoapps the
run on the Facebook website. When users visit toPha partner’'s Facebooikiegrated website, we do not deliver advertisesjamhereas w
would have displayed advertisements to these ufs#rsir activity had taken place on the Faceboabsite. If Facebookategrated websit
draw users away from our website, it may reducsl@wv the growth of our user activity that generadsertising opportunities, which co
negatively affect our advertising revenue. Althowghbelieve that there are significant loiegm benefits to Facebook resulting from incre
engagement on Facebowltegrated websites, these benefits may not offeepossible loss of advertising revenue, in witiabe our busine
could be harmed.
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Our new products and changes to existing produabsilc fail to attract or retain users or generatewenue.

Our ability to retain, increase, and engage our bhase and to increase our revenue will dependillyeav our ability to create success
new products, both independently and in conjunctuith Platform developers or other third partiese Wiay introduce significant change:
our existing products or develop and introduce ead unproven products, including using technologigs which we have little or no pri
development or operating experience. If new or eobd products fail to engage users, developes\aertisers, we may fail to attract or re
users or to generate sufficient revenue, operatiaggin, or other value to justify our investmerasd our business may be adversely affe
In the future, we may invest in new products antiatives to generate revenue, but there is noantae these approaches will be success
we are not successful with new approaches to nmat&tn, we may not be able to maintain or grow r@wenue as anticipated or recover
associated development costs, and our financialtsesould be adversely affected.

Our culture emphasizes rapid innovation and pridzés user engagement over short-term financial rksu

We have a culture that encourages employees td&lguievelop and launch new and innovative produdts.our business grows &
becomes more complex, our cultural emphasis on mgoguickly may result in unintended outcomes orisiens that are poorly received
users, developers, or advertisers. Our culture piBwitizes our user engagement over shenn financial results, and we frequently
product decisions that may reduce our shemna revenue or profitability if we believe thaktlkecisions are consistent with our mission
benefit the aggregate user experience and wiletheimprove our financial performance over the |tergn. As an example, we believe thai
recent trend of our DAUs increasing more rapidigrttihe increase in the number of ads deliverebas due in part to certain pages ha
fewer ads per page as a result of these kindsaafugt decisions. These decisions may not produedotigterm benefits that we expect,
which case our user growth and engagement, ourarships with developers and advertisers, andbosiness and results of operations ¢
be harmed.

If we are not able to maintain and enhance our brdnor if events occur that damage our reputationcabrand, our ability to expand ot
base of users, developers, and advertisers mayrpaired, and our business and financial results miag harmed.

We believe that the Facebook brand has signifigazdhtributed to the success of our business. \We bélieve that maintaining &
enhancing our brand is critical to expanding owsebaf users, developers, and advertisers. Manyofiew users are referred by existing u:
and therefore we strive to ensure that our usengirefavorably inclined towards Facebook. Maintainand enhancing our brand will dep
largely on our ability to continue to provide udefieliable, trustworthy, and innovative produatg)ich we may not do successfully. We r
introduce new products or terms of service thatausi® not like, which may negatively affect our rfmta Additionally, the actions of o
Platform developers may affect our brand if usessndt have a positive experience using thgedty apps and websites integrated
Facebook. We have in the past experienced, andxpecethat in the future we will continue to exgeiie, media, legislative, or regulat
scrutiny of our decisions regarding user privacyothrer issues, which may adversely affect our @mit and brand. We also may fai
provide adequate customer service, which couldes@mhfidence in our brand. Our brand may also lgatheely affected by the actions
users that are deemed to be hostile or inappreptabther users, or by users acting under falsmaurthentic identities. Maintaining &
enhancing our brand may require us to make sulistanvestments and these investments may not beessful. If we fail to successfu
promote and maintain the Facebook brand or if veairiexcessive expenses in this effort, our busiaesisfinancial results may be adver:
affected.

Improper access to or disclosure of our us’ information, or violation of our terms of servicer@olicies, could harm our reputation ar
adversely affect our business.

Our efforts to protect the information that our ngskave chosen to share using Facebook may beaessficl due to the actions of tt
parties, software bugs or other technical malfumstj employee error or malfeasance, or other factoraddition, third parties may attemp
fraudulently induce employees or users to discioB@mation in order to gain access to our datawrusersdata. If any of these events oc
our users’ information could be accessed or disdasproperly. Our Data Use Policy governs theafdaformation that
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users have chosen to share using Facebook andhabwtormation may be used by us and third par&sne Platform developers may s
information provided by our users through apps loa Facebook Platform or websites integrated witbebeaok. If these third parties
Platform developers fail to adopt or adhere to adézjdata security practices or fail to comply vatlr terms and policies, or in the event
breach of their networks, our users’ data may h@aperly accessed or disclosed.

Any incidents involving unauthorized access torpiioper use of the information of our users ordeais involving violation of o
terms of service or policies, including our DateeUWlicy, could damage our reputation and our bearttidiminish our competitive position.
addition, the affected users or government autlegritould initiate legal or regulatory action agtins in connection with such incidents, wl
could cause us to incur significant expense arililia or result in orders or consent decrees fogais to modify our business practices. An
these events could have a material and adverse efieour business, reputation, or financial result
Unfavorable media coverage could negatively affeat business.

We receive a high degree of media coverage aronedwvbrld. Unfavorable publicity regarding, for exaley our privacy practice
product changes, product quality, litigation orukegory activity, or the actions of our Platformveépers or our users, could adversely a
our reputation. Such negative publicity also conéle an adverse effect on the size, engagementogallly of our user base and resul
decreased revenue, which could adversely affecbosiness and financial results.

Our financial results will fluctuate from quarterd quarter, which makes them difficult to predict.

Our quarterly financial results have fluctuatedhia past and will fluctuate in the future. Additadly, we have a limited operating hist
with the current scale of our business, which makeifficult to forecast our future results. Asresult, you should not rely upon our
quarterly financial results as indicators of futpesformance. You should take into account thesraskd uncertainties frequently encountere
companies in rapidly evolving markets. Our finahogsults in any given quarter can be influencedbgnerous factors, many of which we
unable to predict or are outside of our contrat/uding:

. our ability to maintain and grow our user base asel engagemer

. our ability to attract and retain advertisers jpaaticular period,;

. seasonal fluctuations in spending by our advesi:

. the number of ads shown to users;

. the pricing of our ads and other produs

. our ability to increase payments and other feesmeg;

. the diversification and growth of revenue sourcegdnd current advertising and Payme
. the development and introduction of new productsesvices by us or our competitors;

. increases in marketing, sales, and other operaipgnses that we may incur to grow and expand parations and to reme
competitive;

. our ability to maintain gross margins and operatiraygins;

. our ability to obtain equipment and componentsdior data centers and other technical infrastrudtuietimely and cosgffective
manner;

. system failures or breaches of security or privi

. inaccessibility of Facebook due to third-party aes;
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. shar-based compensation expense including approximé&®6b million that we will incur in the second quartof 2012 il
connection with the vesting of restricted stocktsifRSUs) granted prior to 2011 for which the segviondition was satisfied as
March 31, 2012

. adverse litigation judgments, settlements, or olitigation-related costs

. changes in the legislative or regulatory environtmercluding with respect to privacy, or enforceméy government regulato
including fines, orders, or consent decr¢

. fluctuations in currency exchange rates and changethe proportion of our revenue and expenses mérated in foreig
currencies

. fluctuations in the market values of our portfdliwestments and in interest rates;
. changes in U.S. generally accepted accounting iptes; anc
. changes in business or macroeconomic conditions.

In 2011 and the first quarter of 2012, we estimateat up to 19% and 15% of our revenue, respectivelyas derived from Paymer
processing fees from Zynga, direct advertising fratynga, and revenue from third parties for ads shown pages generated by Zynga ajf
If Zynga does not maintain its level of engagemenith our users or if we are unable to successfuthaintain our relationship with Zynge
our financial results could be harmed.

In 2011 and the first quarter of 2012, Zynga diseatcounted for approximately 12% and 11%, respelgt of our revenue, which w
comprised of revenue derived from Payments prosgdsies related to Zyngasales of virtual goods and from direct advertjginrchased t
Zynga. Additionally, Zynga apps generate pages on which we display adsdtber advertisers; for 2011 and the first quarfe@l2, we
estimate that an additional approximately 7% and #8gpectively, of our revenue was generated frioendisplay of these ads. Zynga
recently launched games on its own website and @mmfFacebook platforms, and Zynga may choose to trynigrate users from existi
Facebookintegrated games to other websites or platformsnvag fail to maintain good relations with ZyngaZzynga may decide to reduce
cease its investments in games on the Faceboodlortatlf the use of Zynga games on our Platformlides for these or other reasons,
financial results may be adversely affected.

We expect our rates of growth will decline in thetfire.

We believe that our rates of user and revenue growlt decline over time. For example, our reveiguew 154% from 2009 to 2010, 8!
from 2010 to 2011, and 45% from the first quarte?@L1 to the same period in 2012. Historicallyr oser growth has been a primary drive
growth in our revenue. We expect that our user gramd revenue growth rates will decline as the sizour active user base increases a
we achieve higher market penetration rates. Asgoowth rates decline, investongérceptions of our business may be adversely affean:
the market price of our Class A common stock calddine.

Our business is subject to complex and evolving ABd foreign laws and regulations regarding privacdata protection, and other matte
Many of these laws and regulations are subject ttange and uncertain interpretation, and could resuh claims, changes to our busine
practices, increased cost of operations, or dedime user growth or engagement, or otherwise haror dusiness

We are subject to a variety of laws and regulationthe United States and abroad that involve me&ttentral to our business, includ
user privacy, rights of publicity, data protectiagntent, intellectual property, distribution, d@leaic contracts and other communicati
competition, protection of minors, consumer pratetgttaxation, and online payment services. Foreigta protection, privacy, and other I
and regulations are often more restrictive tharse¢him the United States. These U.S. federal artd atad foreign laws and regulations
constantly evolving and can be subject to significdhange. In addition, the application and
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interpretation of these laws and regulations atenofincertain, particularly in the new and rapieiyolving industry in which we operate. |
example, the interpretation of some laws and regula that govern the use of names and likenesse®nnection with advertising a
marketing activities is unsettled and developméntbis area could affect the manner in which wsigie our products, as well as our term
use. A number of proposals are pending before &dstate, and foreign legislative and regulatoogibs that could significantly affect ¢
business. For example, a revision to the 1995 EaopJnion Data Protection Directive is currentlyngeconsidered by European legisla
bodies that may include more stringent operatioaglirements for data processors and significanalfties for noneompliance. Similarly
there have been a number of recent legislative gzap in the United States, at both the federal state level, that would impose r
obligations in areas such as privacy and liabifiity copyright infringement by third parties. Themdsting and proposed laws and regulat
can be costly to comply with and can delay or ingo#te development of new products, result in negatublicity, increase our operat
costs, require significant management time ancdhtie, and subject us to claims or other remedieduding fines or demands that we mo
or cease existing business practices.

We have been subject to regulatory investigatiomsl @ettlements and we expect to continue to be etthjo such proceedings in the futu
which could cause us to incur substantial costs m@quire us to change our business practices in amar materially adverse to o
business.

From time to time, we receive inquiries from redaia regarding our compliance with laws and othatters. For example, in 2011,
reached agreement with the Federal Trade Commig§i®oQ) to resolve an investigation into variousqtiGes by entering into a 2@:al
settlement agreement that, among other things,requs to establish and refine certain practices vespect to treatment of user data
privacy settings and also requires that we comgietanual independent privacy audits. As another ed@np 2011 the Irish Data Protect
Commissioner (DPC) conducted an audit of the dsg¢aurity, and privacy practices and policies ofdbmok Ireland, which is the di
controller for Facebook users outside the UniteateSt and Canada, and released a report of itsusioies in December 2011. The FTC
DPC have investigated and audited aspects of @malupts and practices, and we expect to continbe the subject of regulatory investigati
and audits in the future by these and other regrdahroughout the world.

It is possible that a regulatory inquiry might riéso changes to our policies or practices. Viaatf existing or future regulatory ord
or consent decrees could subject us to substantaktary fines and other penalties that could megjsitaffect our financial condition a
results of operations. In addition, it is possitilat future orders issued by, or enforcement astioitiated by, regulatory authorities could ce¢
us to incur substantial costs or require us to ghaur business practices in a manner materiallgrae to our business.

If we are unable to protect our intellectual propigr the value of our brand and other intangible a&s may be diminished, and our busin
may be adversely affected.

We rely and expect to continue to rely on a comtimmaof confidentiality and license agreements watlir employees, consultants,
third parties with whom we have relationships, &l as trademark, copyright, patent, trade searad,domain name protection laws, to prc
our proprietary rights. In the United States antkrimationally, we have filed various applicatiors protection of certain aspects of
intellectual property, and we currently hold a nembf issued patents in multiple jurisdictions. dddition, in the future we may acqt
additional patents or patent portfolios, which cbrdquire significant cash expenditures. Howererdtparties may knowingly or unknowing
infringe our proprietary rights, third parties mahallenge proprietary rights held by us, and pemdamd future trademark and pa
applications may not be approved. In addition, atife intellectual property protection may not beitable in every country in which \
operate or intend to operate our business. In arall @f these cases, we may be required to exgegrdficant time and expense in orde
prevent infringement or to enforce our rights. Altigh we have taken measures to protect our prapyieights, there can be no assurance
others will not offer products or concepts that atdstantially similar to ours and compete with business. In addition, we regule
contribute software source code under open soizenses and have made other technology we develyahble under other open licen:
and we include open source software in
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our products. For example, we have contributedagedpecifications and designs related to our datder equipment to the Open Com|
Project Foundation, a nagorofit entity that shares and develops such infaimnawith the technology community, under the Opa&fek
Foundation License. As a result of our open soaorgributions and the use of open source in oudyxcts, we may license or be require
license innovations that turn out to be materiabtw business and may also be exposed to incrdiiggdion risk. If the protection of o
proprietary rights is inadequate to prevent unauzkd use or appropriation by third parties, theigaf our brand and other intangible as
may be diminished and competitors may be able teemaffectively mimic our service and methods of raiens. Any of these events co
have an adverse effect on our business and firlaesialts.

We are currently, and expect to be in the futurgrfy to patent lawsuits and other intellectual pregy rights claims that are expensive ¢
time consuming, and, if resolved adversely, coulvb a significant impact on our business, financiebndition, or results of operations.

Companies in the Internet, technology, and mediastries own large numbers of patents, copyrighaslemarks, and trade secrets,
frequently enter into litigation based on allega®f infringement, misappropriation, or other giins of intellectual property or other rig|
In addition, various “non-practicing entitieffiat own patents and other intellectual propemghts often attempt to aggressively assert
rights in order to extract value from technologynganies. Furthermore, from time to time we mayoidtice new products, including in ar
where we currently do not compete, which couldéase our exposure to patent and other intellegiugderty claims from competitors ¢
non-practicing entities.

From time to time, we receive notice letters froatemt holders alleging that certain of our prodwsid services infringe their pat
rights. Some of these have resulted in litigatigaiast us. For example, on March 12, 2012, Yahled fx lawsuit against us in the U.S. Dis
Court for the Northern District of California thalleges that a number of our products infringedlaéms of ten of Yahoa patents that Yah
claims relate to “advertising,” “social networkiidprivacy,” “customization,” and “messagingand on April 27, 2012, Yahoo added -
patents to the lawsuit that Yahoo claims relatéattvertising.” Yahoo is seeking unspecified damages, a damagéptiaulfor alleged willfu
infringement, and an injunction. We intend to vigesly defend this lawsuit, and on April 3, 2012, filed our answer with respect to t
complaint and asserted counterclaims that Yah@ooducts infringe ten of our patents. This litiga is still in its early stages and the fi
outcome, including our liability, if any, with resgt to Yahoos claims, is uncertain. If an unfavorable outconegeato occur in this litigatio
the impact could be material to our business, firrcondition, or results of operations. As is enan in intellectual property litigation, Yah
could in the future assert additional patent orepttlaims against us in this or in other proceeslirkgpr example, we received a letter d
April 23, 2012 from Yahoo indicating that they lesle 16 patents they claim to hold “may be relevémtipen source technology they allec
being used in our data centers and servers. Yaasobt threatened or initiated litigation with respto matters described in this letter b
may do so in the future.

We presently are involved in a number of other lats and as we face increasing competition and gai increasingly high profil
including in connection with our initial public &ffing, we expect the number of patent and othetl@utual property claims against us to g
Defending patent and other intellectual properigdition is costly and can impose a significantdaur on management and employees.
there can be no assurances that favorable finebmés will be obtained in all caséds.addition, plaintiffs may seek, and we may bec
subject to, preliminary or provisional rulings hetcourse of any such litigation, including potahgireliminary injunctions requiring us to ce
some or all of our operations. We may decide ttesstich lawsuits and disputes on terms that af@vorable to us. Similarly, if any litigatic
to which we are a party is resolved adversely, vag be subject to an unfavorable judgment that nodyba reversed upon appeal. The tern
such a settlement or judgment may require us teeceame or all of our operations or pay substaatunts to the other party. In addition,
may have to seek a license to continue practicesdfdo be in violation of a third party/rights, which may not be available on reasor
terms, or at all, and may significantly increase @perating costs and expenses. As a result, weafsaybe required to develop alternative non-
infringing technology or practices or discontindre tpractices. The development of alternative indringing technology or practices col
require significant effort and expense or may netféasible. Our business, financial condition, esuits of operations could be adver
affected as a result of an unfavorable resoluticth@ disputes and litigation referred to above.
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We are involved in numerous class action lawsuitsdaother litigation matters that are expensive atiche consuming, and, if resolvt
adversely, could harm our business, financial cotidn, or results of operations.

In addition to intellectual property claims, we atso involved in numerous other lawsuits, inclgdjputative class action lawst
brought by users and advertisers, many of whichmckatutory damages, and we anticipate that weowiitinue to be a target for numer
lawsuits in the future. Because we have hundredmitfons of users, the plaintiffs in class actioases filed against us typically cle
enormous monetary damages even if the allegedggrharm is small or noaxistent. Any litigation to which we are a partyymasult in a
onerous or unfavorable judgment that may not bersmd upon appeal, or we may decide to settle iésws similarly unfavorable terms. A
such negative outcome could result in paymentaib$tantial monetary damages or fines, or changesrt@roducts or business practices,
accordingly our business, financial condition, @sults of operations could be materially and adgraffected. Although the results of laws
and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, wendt believe that the final outcome of those mmatteat we currently face will have
material adverse effect on our business, finarw@atition, or results of operations. However, ddfeg these claims is costly and can impc
significant burden on management and employeeswanthay receive unfavorable preliminary or interafings in the course of litigatic
which could adversely affect the market price of Glass A common stock. There can be no assurdhaesa favorable final outcome will
obtained in all cases.

Our CEO has control over key decision making asesult of his control of a majority of our voting stk.

As a result of voting agreements with certain shadtters, together with the shares he holds, Margk&tberg, our founder, Chairm
and CEO, will be able to exercise voting rightshaiespect to an aggregate of 883,409,877 sharesmimon stock, which will represt
approximately 55.9% of the voting power of our ¢amsling capital stock following our initial publaffering. As a result, Mr. Zuckerberg |
the ability to control the outcome of matters subedi to our stockholders for approval, including lection of directors and any mer
consolidation, or sale of all or substantiallyd@llour assets. This concentrated control couldydelefer, or prevent a change of control, me
consolidation, or sale of all or substantially @fllour assets that our other stockholders supportonversely this concentrated control ci
result in the consummation of such a transactiah éloir other stockholders do not support. This eatrated control could also discourag
potential investor from acquiring our Class A conmsbock due to the limited voting power of suclckteelative to the Class B common st
and might harm the market price of our Class A camstock. In addition, Mr. Zuckerberg has the &piid control the management and m
strategic investments of our company as a resuitsoposition as our CEO and his ability to conth@ election or replacement of our direct
In the event of his death, the shares of our chagtitek that Mr. Zuckerberg owns will be transfekte the persons or entities that he desigr
As a board member and officer, Mr. Zuckerberg owdsluciary duty to our stockholders and must agjéod faith in a manner he reason
believes to be in the best interests of our stolcldrs. As a stockholder, even a controlling stodétég Mr. Zuckerberg is entitled to vote
shares, and shares over which he has voting coasral result of voting agreements, in his own @#&x; which may not always be in
interests of our stockholders generally. For a dean of these voting agreements, see “DescniptibCapital Stock—Voting Agreements.”

We anticipate that we will expend substantial funds connection with the tax liabilities that ariseipon the initial settlement of RS
following our initial public offering and the manne in which we fund that expenditure may have an age effect on our financie
condition.

We anticipate that we will expend substantial futalsatisfy tax withholding and remittance obligas on dates that are 151 to 181
after the date of this prospectus, when we willlset portion of our RSUs granted prior to Janugrg011 (Pre2011 RSUs). On the settlem
dates, we plan to withhold and remit income taxteapgplicable minimum statutory rates based on ke tcurrent value of the underly
shares. We currently expect that the average skthdgthholding tax rates will be approximately 45¥%the price of our common stock at
time of settlement were equal to the initial puldfering price of $38.00 per share, we estimagt this tax obligation would be approxima
$4.6 billion in the aggregate. The amount of thigation could be higher or lower, depending oa phice of our shares on the RSU settlel
date. To settle these RSUs,
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assuming an approximate 45% tax withholding rate awticipate that we will net settle the awardslbljvering an aggregate of approxima
155 million shares of Class B common stock to R®ltiérs and withholding an aggregate of approxingal®2 million shares of Class
common stock, based on RSUs outstanding as of M&rcR012 for which the service condition will kaisfied as of the date of settlemen
connection with these net settlements we will walldkhand remit the tax liabilities on behalf of tR&U holders in cash to the applicable
authorities.

To fund the withholding and remittance obligationg expect to sell equity securities near theahgettlement date in an amount thi
substantially equivalent to the number of sharesoofimon stock that we withhold in connection wiikge net settlements, such that the n
issued shares should not be dilutive. We have aepon in our “lock-up”agreement with our underwriters that would pernsittol rais
capital in an underwritten offering to fund thesighlvolding and remittance obligations. Howeverthe event that we issue equity securi
we cannot assure you that we will be able to sisfolg match the proceeds to the amount of thisli@hility. In addition, any such equ
financing could result in a decline in our stocicer If we elect not to fully fund tax withholdirand remittance obligations through the issu
of equity or we are unable to complete such anrioffedue to market conditions or otherwise, we rohgose to borrow funds from our cre
facilities, use a substantial portion of our exigtcash, or rely upon a combination of these atéres. In the event that we elect to satisfy
withholding and remittance obligations in wholeiorpart by drawing on our credit facilities, outtérest expense and principal repayr
requirements could increase significantly, whichildchave an adverse effect on our financial results

We cannot be certain that additional financing witle available on reasonable terms when requiredaball.

From time to time, we may need additional financingpether in connection with our RSU tax obligationotherwise. Our ability
obtain additional financing, if and when required|l depend on investor demand, our operating perémce, the condition of the cap
markets, and other factors. To the extent we dnawwr credit facilities to fund the RSU tax obligat, we may need to raise additional fu
and we cannot assure you that additional finanwaiiigoe available to us on favorable terms wherursgg, or at all. If we raise additional fur
through the issuance of equity, equityked or debt securities, those securities mayeh@hts, preferences, or privileges senior toritjets o
our Class A common stock, and our existing stoakéis may experience dilution.

Our costs are growing quickly, which could harm obusiness and profitability.

Providing our products to our users is costly amdexpect our expenses to continue to increaseeifutire as we broaden our user k
as users increase the number of connections andranob data they share with us, as we develop argleiment new product features 1
require more computing infrastructure, and as we adiditional employees. Historically, our costgénacreased each year due to these fe
and we expect to continue to incur increasing ¢astgarticular for employees, servers, storageygyp and data centers, to support
anticipated future growth. We expect to continuéntest in our global infrastructure in order t@pide our products rapidly and reliably to
users around the world, including in countries vehee do not expect significant sheetm monetization. Our expenses may be greatentie
anticipate, and our investments to make our businesd our technical infrastructure more efficieatynmot be successful. In addition, we 1
increase marketing, sales, and other operatingnsegsein order to grow and expand our operationg@mneimain competitive. Increases in
costs may adversely affect our business and pbdftta

Our business iglependent on our ability to maintain and scale otechnical infrastructure, and any significant disiption in our servici
could damage our reputation, result in a potentialss of users and engagement, and adversely affectfinancial results.

Our reputation and ability to attract, retain, aedve our users is dependent upon the reliablemeaihce of Facebook and our underl
technical infrastructure. Our systems may not lexadtely designed with the
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necessary reliability and redundancy to avoid perémce delays or outages that could be harmfulitdbasiness. If Facebook is unavail
when users attempt to access it, or if it doedoaat as quickly as they expect, users may notmatuour website as often in the future, or a
As our user base and the amount and types of iafitom shared on Facebook continue to grow, weneld an increasing amount of techr
infrastructure, including network capacity, and gaing power, to continue to satisfy the needswfusers. It is possible that we may fa
effectively scale and grow our technical infrasttme to accommodate these increased demands. litioagddur business is subject
interruptions, delays, or failures resulting froartaquakes, other natural disasters, terrorisrottar catastrophic events.

A substantial portion of our network infrastructuseprovided by third parties. Any disruption oild@e in the services we receive fr
these providers could harm our ability to handlesting or increased traffic and could significantigrm our business. Any financial or of
difficulties these providers face may adverselyeetffour business, and we exercise little contra@rahese providers, which increases
vulnerability to problems with the services thepvide.

We recently began to own and build key portionsaefr technical infrastructure, and, because of ouirlited experience in this area, \
could experience unforeseen difficulties.

In 2011, we began serving our products from datetece owned by Facebook using servers specifiadlsigned for us. We plan
continue to significantly expand the size of oufrastructure, primarily through data centers tha& eesign and own. The infrastruct
expansion we are undertaking is complex, and ucipated delays in the completion of these projectvailability of components may leac
increased project costs, operational inefficienaesnterruptions in the delivery or degradatidrttee quality of our products. In addition, th
may be issues related to this infrastructure thatreot identified during the testing phases of giesand implementation, which may o
become evident after we have started to fully zdilihe underlying equipment, that could furtherrddg the user experience or increase
costs.

Our software is highly technical, and if it contagundetected errors, our business could be advegraéfiected.

Our products incorporate software that is highbhtécal and complex. Our software has contained,raay now or in the future conte
undetected errors, bugs, or vulnerabilities. Somar®in our software code may only be discovelféel he code has been released. Any el
bugs, or vulnerabilities discovered in our coderafelease could result in damage to our reputalibas of users, loss of revenue, or liability
damages, any of which could adversely affect osirtass and financial results.

Certain of our user metrics are subject to inherettiallenges in measurement, and real or perceiveddcuracies in such metrics may ha
our reputation and negatively affect our business.

The numbers of our MAUs and DAUs and average rexgrer user (ARPU) are calculated using internalgaomg data. While the
numbers are based on what we believe to be redgoestimates of our user base for the applicablegef measurement, there are inhe
challenges in measuring usage of our products sadayge online and mobile populations around theldvd-or example, there may
individuals who have multiple Facebook accountsiatation of our terms of service, despite our effdo detect and suppress such behe
We estimate that false or duplicate accounts ma nepresented approximately6%s of our MAUs as of December 31, 2011. Howevds
estimate is based on an internal review of a licthgample of accounts and we apply significant juelginin making this determination, suct
identifying names that appear to be fake or otledalior that appears inauthentic to the reviewssssuch, our estimation of false or duplic
accounts may not accurately represent the actuabau of such accounts. Our metrics are also affebie applications on certain mot
devices that automatically contact our serversdgular updates with no user action involved, dnsl activity can cause our system to ci
the user associated with such a device as an agti®eon the day such contact occurs. For exam@egstimate that less than 5% of
estimated worldwide DAUs as of December 31, 201d 2010 resulted from this type of automatic mohitévity, and that this type of activ
had a substantially
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smaller effect on our estimate of worldwide MAUslanobile MAUs. The impact of this automatic actvitn our metrics varies by geogra|
because mobile usage varies in different regionth@fworld. In addition, our data regarding the graphic location of our users is estim:
based on a number of factors, such as the usedddRess and self-disclosed location. These faotagsnot always accurately reflect the user’
actual location. For example, a mobdely user may appear to be accessing Facebook tinemocation of the proxy server that the |
connects to rather than from the useattual location. In addition, our estimates &enue by user location are also affected by tfaeders. |
advertisers, developers, or investors do not peeceir user metrics to be accurate representatiboar user base, or if we discover matt
inaccuracies in our user metrics, our reputatiory tma harmed and advertisers and developers magsienlilling to allocate their budgets
resources to Facebook, which could negatively affac business and financial results.

We cannot assure you that we will effectively maeagur growth.

Our employee headcount and the scope and complekityur business have increased significantly, with number of fu-time
employees increasing from 2,431 as of March 31,1204 3,539 as of March 31, 2012, and we expectidmat growth to continue for t
foreseeable future. The growth and expansion ofbosiness and products create significant chalkefgeour management, operational,
financial resources, including managing multiplatiens with users, advertisers, Platform develspand other third parties. In the ever
continued growth of our operations or in the numifesur thirdparty relationships, our information technologyteyss or our internal contre
and procedures may not be adequate to support menations. In addition, some members of our managérdo not have significe
experience managing a large global business operad our management may not be able to manadegsawth effectively. To effective
manage our growth, we must continue to improveaparational, financial, and management processgsystems and to effectively expe
train, and manage our employee base. As our orgtmizcontinues to grow, and we are required tolémgnt more complex organizatio
management structures, we may find it increasinlifijcult to maintain the benefits of our corporatelture, including our ability to quick
develop and launch new and innovative productss €buld negatively affect our business performance.

The loss of one or more of our key personnel, or dailure to attract and retain other highly qualied personnel in the future, could har
our business.

We currently depend on the continued services ar@opnance of our key personnel, including Mark Kearberg and Sheryl |
Sandberg. Although we have entered into employragnitements with Mr. Zuckerberg and Ms. Sandbewg atireements have no spe«
duration and constitute at-will employment. In dibti, many of our key technologies and systemscastommade for our business by
personnel. The loss of key personnel, including tvens of management as well as key engineering uptatevelopment, marketing, and s
personnel, could disrupt our operations and havedarrse effect on our business.

As we continue to grow, we cannot guarantee we auilitinue to attract the personnel we need to riairdur competitive position.
particular, we intend to hire a significant numbéengineering and sales personnel in 2012, andxpect to face significant competition fr
other companies in hiring such personnel, partibplen the San Francisco Bay Area. As we mature, ithcentives to attract, retain,
motivate employees provided by our equity awardbyofuture arrangements, such as through cash benuasay not be as effective as in
past. Additionally, we have a number of current Exy@es whose equity ownership in our company gikiem a substantial amount of pers:
wealth. Likewise, we have a number of current elygds whose equity awards are fully vested and Ighafter the completion of our initi
public offering will be entitled to receive substiahamounts of our capital stock. As a resulmdy be difficult for us to continue to retain i
motivate these employees, and this wealth couktatheir decisions about whether or not they camatito work for us. If we do not succee
attracting, hiring, and integrating excellent persel, or retaining and motivating existing persdnme may be unable to grow effectively.
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We may incur liability as a result of informationatrieved from or transmitted over the Internet oogted to Facebook and claims relatec
our products.

We have faced, currently face, and will continudaite claims relating to information that is pubésl or made available on Facebool
particular, the nature of our business exposes afatms related to defamation, intellectual propeights, rights of publicity and privacy, &
personal injury torts. This risk is enhanced intaierjurisdictions outside the United States whewe protection from liability for thirgsarty
actions may be unclear and where we may be les¢sgbed under local laws than we are in the UniteedeS. We could incur significant cc
investigating and defending such claims and, ifanefound liable, significant damages. If any @S events occur, our business and fina
results could be adversely affected.

Computer malware, viruses, hacking and phishingaatks, and spamming could harm our business and lesof operations.

Computer malware, viruses, and computer hackingpaighing attacks have become more prevalent innolustry, have occurred on «
systems in the past, and may occur on our systerisei future. Because of our prominence, we belibaé we are a particularly attract
target for such attacks. Though it is difficultdetermine what, if any, harm may directly resudtnfrany specific interruption or attack, i
failure to maintain performance, reliability, seityirand availability of our products and technig#tastructure to the satisfaction of our u:
may harm our reputation and our ability to retaiisgng users and attract new users.

In addition, spammers attempt to use our prodacsehd targeted and untargeted spam messagesspwiiEh may embarrass or an
users and make Facebook less dgendly. We cannot be certain that the technolsgg@d employees that we have to attempt to ¢
spamming attacks will be able to eliminate all spagssages from being sent on our platform. As@trespamming activities, our users r
use Facebook less or stop using our products dltege

Payment transactions on the Facebook Platform maypct us to additional regulatory requirements amdher risks that could be cos
and difficult to comply with or that could harm oubusiness.

Our users can use the Facebook Platform to purchiaeel and digital goods from our Platform deysdos using our Payme
infrastructure. Depending on how our Payments pecbduolves, we may be subject to a variety of land regulations in the United Sta
Europe, and elsewhere, including those governingnaypdransmission, gift cards and other prepaid sedastruments, electronic fur
transfers, anti-money laundering, courtenrorist financing, gambling, banking and lendira;yd import and export restrictions. In sc
jurisdictions, the application or interpretationtbése laws and regulations is not clear. To irsgdkexibility in how our use of Payments r
evolve and to mitigate regulatory uncertainty, vesrdnapplied for certain money transmitter licersed expect to apply for additional moi
transmitter licenses in the United States, whichgénerally require us to demonstrate complianite many domestic laws in these areas.
efforts to comply with these laws and regulationsild be costly and result in diversion of managemene and effort and may still r
guarantee compliance. In the event that we aredfdarbe in violation of any such legal or regulstoequirements, we may be subjec
monetary fines or other penalties such as a ceabséesist order, or we may be required to makeymtochanges, any of which could have
adverse effect on our business and financial result

In addition, we may be subject to a variety of &éddal risks as a result of Payments on the FadeBtatform, including:

. increased costs and diversion of management timetiort and other resources to deal with bad &etisns or customer dispute
. potential fraudulent or otherwise illegal activily users, developers, employees, or third parties;

. restrictions on the investment of consumer fun@sius transact Payments; ¢

. additional disclosure and reporting requirements.
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We plan to continue expanding our operations abroathiere we have limited operating experience and rbaysubject to increased busin
and economic risks that could affect our financiagsults.

We plan to continue the international expansionoof business operations and the translation ofpvaducts. We currently ma
Facebook available in more than 70 different laggsa and we have offices or data centers in mane 20 different countries. We may el
new international markets where we have limiteth@experience in marketing, selling, and deploying products. For example, we conti
to evaluate entering China. However, this market fizbstantial legal and regulatory complexitied tizave prevented our entry into Chini
date. If we fail to deploy or manage our operationgsternational markets successfully, our bussmesy suffer. In addition, we are subject
variety of risks inherent in doing business int¢ioraally, including:

. political, social, or economic instability;
. risks related to the legal and regulatory environtria foreign jurisdictions, including with respetd privacy, and unexpect
changes in laws, regulatory requirements, and eefoent;

. potential damage to our brand and reputation dustopliance with local laws, including potentiaiheership or requirements
provide user information to local authoritit

. fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

. higher levels of credit risk and payment fra

. enhanced difficulties of integrating any foreigmaisitions;

. burdens of complying with a variety of foreign lgv

. reduced protection for intellectual property rigimsome countries;

. difficulties in staffing and managing global opévat and the increased travel, infrastructure, lagel compliance costs associt
with multiple international location:

. compliance with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practies the U.K. Bribery Act, and similar laws in otherisdictions; and

. compliance with statutory equity requirements armhagement of tax consequenc

If we are unable to expand internationally and nganthe complexity of our global operations sucadlsfour financial results could
adversely affected.

We plan to continue to make acquisitions, which dduequire significant management attention, disrtipur business, result in dilution 1
our stockholders, and adversely affect our finantrasults.

As part of our business strategy, we have maddrdadd to make acquisitions to add specialized eyg#s, complementary compan
products, or technologies. For example, in April20we entered into an agreement to acquire Irestaginc., the closing of which is subjec
closing conditions and regulatory clearance. Oiiitato acquire and integrate larger or more coaxptompanies, products, or technologie
a successful manner is unproveim the future, we may not be able to find othetahle acquisition candidates, and we may not be &
complete acquisitions on favorable terms, if at@lir previous and future acquisitions may not eediour goals, and any future acquisit
we complete could be viewed negatively by userseldpers, advertisers, or investors. In additibnye fail to successfully close or integr
any acquisitions, or integrate the products orretigies associated with such acquisitions intoammpany, our revenue and operating re
could be adversely affected. Any integration preaegy require significant time and resources, aadnay not be able to manage the prc
successfully. We may not successfully evaluatetitizel the acquired products, technology, or pemsnor accurately forecast the finan
impact of an acquisition transaction, including@atting charges. We may have to pay cash, incur, delissue equity securities to pay for
such acquisition, any of which could adversely @ffaur financial results. The sale of

27



Table of Contents

equity or issuance of debt to finance any such iattgpns could result in dilution to our stockhotdeThe incurrence of indebtedness w
result in increased fixed obligations and couldoailsclude covenants or other restrictions that \womhpede our ability to manage
operations.

If we default on our leasing and credit obligation®ur operations may be interrupted and our busiseand financial results could t
adversely affected.

We finance a significant portion of our expendituterough leasing arrangements, some of which atreequired to be reflected on «
balance sheet, and we may enter into additionalairarrangements in the future. In particular, mave used these types of arrangemer
finance some of our equipment and data centeraddiition, we have credit facilities that we maywinapon to finance our operations or o
corporate purposes, such as funding our tax withhgland remittance obligations in connection tita settlement of RSUs. If we default
these leasing and credit obligations, our leasartners and lenders may, among other things:

. require repayment of any outstanding lease obtigator amounts drawn on our credit facilities;
. terminate our leasing arrangements and credittiasil

. terminate our access to the leased data centeuslize;

. stop delivery of ordered equipme

. sell or require us to return our leased equipmant;

. require us to pay significant damag

If some or all of these events were to occur, @arations may be interrupted and our ability todfor operations or obligations, as \
as our business, financial results, and finan@at@ion, could be adversely affected.

We may have exposure to greater than anticipated |tabilities.

Our income tax obligations are based on our cotparperating structure and intercompany arrangesnemtiuding the manner in whi
we develop, value, and use our intellectual prgpartd the valuations of our intercompany transastiorhe tax laws applicable to
international business activities, including thevdaof the United States and other jurisdiction® aubject to interpretation. The tax
authorities of the jurisdictions in which we operahay challenge our methodologies for valuing dgyed technology or intercompe
arrangements, which could increase our worldwidectf/e tax rate and harm our financial positiom aesults of operations. In addition,
future income taxes could be adversely affecteédiyings being lower than anticipated in jurisdies that have lower statutory tax rates
higher than anticipated in jurisdictions that haigher statutory tax rates, by changes in the tainaf our deferred tax assets and liabilitie:
by changes in tax laws, regulations, or accountirigciples. We are subject to regular review anditalny both U.S. federal and state
foreign tax authorities. Any adverse outcome ofhsacreview or audit could have a negative effecioan financial position and results
operations. In addition, the determination of owrldwide provision for income taxes and other takilities requires significant judgment
management, and there are many transactions whereltimate tax determination is uncertain. Althbuge believe that our estimates
reasonable, the ultimate tax outcome may diffemftbe amounts recorded in our financial statemantsmay materially affect our financ
results in the period or periods for which sucled®sination is made.

The enactment of legislation implementing changesthe U.S. taxation of international business adties or the adoption of other te
reform policies could materially affect our finanal position and results of operations.

The current administration has made public statésniedicating that it has made international tafoma a priority, and key members
the U.S. Congress have conducted hearings and ggd@owide variety of
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potential changes. Certain changes to U.S. tax, legkiding limitations on the ability to defer U.@&xation on earnings outside of the Un
States until those earnings are repatriated tdJiiteed States, could affect the tax treatment affoteign earnings, as well as cash and
equivalent balances we currently maintain outsiti¢he United States. Due to the large and expandoade of our international busin
activities, any changes in the U.S. taxation ohsactivities may increase our worldwide effectiag tate and harm our financial position
results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Initial Public Offering and Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock
The market price of our Class A common stock mayvodatile or may decline regardless of our operaiperformance, and you may not

able to resell your shares at or above the inigalblic offering price.

The initial public offering price for our Class Ammon stock was determined through negotiationsdssi the underwriters and us
may vary from the market price of our Class A comnsbock following our initial public offering. If gu purchase shares of our Clas
common stock in our initial public offering, you gnaot be able to resell those shares at or abavénthial public offering price. We canr
assure you that the market price following our@hipublic offering will equal or exceed pricesprivately negotiated transactions of our sh
that have occurred from time to time prior to onitial public offering. The market price of our G&®A common stock may fluctu.
significantly in response to numerous factors, mainywhich are beyond our control, including:

. actual or anticipated fluctuations in our revenod ather operating result
. the financial projections we may provide to the lpytany changes in these projections or our faitormeet these projections;

. actions of securities analysts who initiate or neimcoverage of us, changes in financial estimbyeany securities analysts w
follow our company, or our failure to meet thesgneates or the expectations of investc

. additional shares of our common stock being sdidl ihe market by us or our existing stockholdertheranticipation of such sal
including if we issue shares to satisfy R8ilated tax obligations or if existing stockholdesell shares into the market wl
applicable*lock-up” periods end

. announcements by us or our competitors of significaroducts or features, technical innovations, ugitions, strateg
partnerships, joint ventures, or capital commitrag

. announcements by us or estimates by third parfiextoal or anticipated changes in the size of usar base or the level of u
engagemen

. changes in operating performance and stock markeiations of technology companies in our industngjuding our Platforr
developers and competitol

. price and volume fluctuations in the overall stocérket, including as a result of trends in the ecoyn as a whole
. lawsuits threatened or filed against us;

. developments in new legislation and pending lavgsoit regulatory actions, including interim or finallings by judicial ¢
regulatory bodies; an

. other events or factors, including those resulfiogn war or incidents of terrorism, or responsethse event:

In addition, the stock markets have experiencereme price and volume fluctuations that have adfigé@nd continue to affect the mau
prices of equity securities of many technology canips. Stock prices of many technology companigs flactuated in a manner unrelate:
disproportionate to the operating performance of
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those companies. In the past, stockholders hagd 8kcurities class action litigation following jpels of market volatility. If we were
become involved in securities litigation, it cowddbject us to substantial costs, divert resourcesthe attention of management from
business, and adversely affect our business.

Substantial blocks of our total outstanding sharesy be sold into the market whe‘lock-up” or “market standoff” periods end. If there a1
substantial sales of shares of our common stocle grice of our Class A common stock could decli

The price of our Class A common stock could dedlitieere are substantial sales of our common stpakicularly sales by our directc
executive officers, employees, and significant ldtodders, or when there is a large number of shafe@sir common stock available for s
After our initial public offering, we will have ostanding 633,492,418 shares of our Class A comnmek €nd1,504,592,619 shares of |
Class B common stock, based on the number of sloatstanding as of March 31, 2012. This includ24,233,615 shares that we and
selling stockholders are selling in our initial ialoffering, which shares may be resold in the lpuimarket immediately following our initi
public offering, and assumes no additional exesciseoutstanding options (other than the partiadreise of an outstanding stock optiol
purchase 120,000,000 shares of Class B common bkddkby Mr. Zuckerberg, resulting in the issuan€&0,000,000 shares of our Clas
common stock as described elsewhere in this praspecShares of our Class B common stock are ctibleeinto an equivalent number
shares of our Class A common stock and generaltyert into shares of our Class A common stock upansfer. The212,258,803 shares
our Class A common stock ai¢gb04,592,619 shares of our Class B common staatkatte not offered and sold in our initial publifeoing a:
well as the shares underlying outstanding RSUsshades subject to employee stock options will igldé for sale in the public market in 1
near future as set forth below.

Date Available for Sale into Public Market Number of Shares of Common Stocl

91 days after the date of this prospectus 271,123,815 shares held by the selling stockholotrsr than
Mr. Zuckerbercg

151 to 180 days after the date of this prospe approximately 137 million shares underlying- settled Pr-

2011 RSUs held by our directors and then curreqieyees
and approximately 55 million outstanding shares and
approximately 55 million shares subject to stockans held
by then current employees other than Mr. Zucker|

181 days after the date of this prospe 1,194,153,445 outstanding shares and approximagetyillion
shares underlying other -settled Pr-2011 RSU:¢

211 days after the date of this prospectus 149,432,006 shares held by the selling stockhololgrsr than
Mr. Zuckerberc

366 days after the date of this prospe! 47,315,862 shares held by Mail.ru Group Limited Bx&I

Global Limited and their respective affiliat

In addition, as of March 31, 2012, options to pass 49,390,599 shares of Class B common stock bhelidrmer employees we
outstanding and fully vested and the Class B comstook underlying such options will be eligible feale 181 days after the date of
prospectus. Furthermore, following our initial piebbffering, the remaining 60,000,000 shares suklijedche partially exercised stock opt
held by Mr. Zuckerberg will be eligible for sale ll8ays after the date of this prospectus. We expeadditional approximately 2 milli
shares of Class B common stock to be delivered tipemet settlement of RSUs between the date oinitial settlement of RSUs descrit
above and December 31, 2012 will be eligible foe $athe public market immediately following settient.
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After our initial public offering, certain holders our Class A common stock and Class B commorksitolt have rights, subject to sot
conditions, to require us to file registration staents covering their shares or to include thereshin registration statements that we ma;
for ourselves or our stockholders. All of thesershaare subject to market standoff or lagk-agreements restricting their sale for spec
periods of time after the date of this prospeciMs.also intend to register shares of common stioakwe have issued and may issue unde
employee equity incentive plans. Once we registesé shares, they will be able to be sold freethénpublic market upon issuance, subje
existing market standoff or lock-up agreements.

Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC may, with our prior writteeonsent, permit our executive officers, our doex; and the selling stockhold
to sell shares prior to the expiration of the iestre provisions contained in the “lock-updgreements with the underwriters.
“Underwriting” for a more complete description dftlockup agreements that we and our directors, execaffieers, and selling stockholdt
have entered into with the underwriters. In additizwe may, in our sole discretion, permit our emplss and current stockholders who
subject to market standoff agreements or arrangemeith us and who are not subject to a logkagreement with the underwriters to
shares prior to the expiration of the restrictiveyisions contained in those market standoff agesgmor arrangements.

The market price of the shares of our Class A comstock could decline as a result of the sale sidfifzstantial number of our share
common stock in the public market or the percepimotine market that the holders of a large numibshares intend to sell their shares.

In making your investment decision, you should natly on information in public media that is publiggd by third parties. You should re
only on statements made in this prospectus in deti@ing whether to purchase our shares.

You should carefully evaluate all of the informaitim this prospectus. We have in the past receiaad,may continue to receive, a f
degree of media coverage, including coverage thaoi directly attributable to statements made loyafficers and employees, that incorre
reports on statements made by our officers or epegl®, or that is misleading as a result of omitiirigrmation provided by us, our officers,
employees. You should rely only on the informat@mntained in this prospectus in determining whetoepurchase our shares of Clas
common stock.

We have broad discretion in the use of the net preds from our initial public offering and may notae them effectively.

We cannot specify with any certainty the particulaes of the net proceeds that we will receive fam initial public offering. Ot
management will have broad discretion in the apgibm of the net proceeds, including working cdpjtassible acquisitions, and other gen
corporate purposes, and we may spend or invest tiregeeds in a way with which our stockholdersglise. The failure by our managen
to apply these funds effectively could harm ouribess and financial condition. Pending their use,may invest the net proceeds from
initial public offering in a manner that does nobguce income or that loses value.

If securities or industry analysts publish inaccute or unfavorable research about our business, atiock price could decline

The trading market for our Class A common stocK dédpend in part on the research and reports #mairgies or industry analy:
publish about us or our business. If one or morthefanalysts who cover us downgrade our Classmnoan stock or publish inaccurate
unfavorable research about our business, our @Glassnmon stock price would likely decline.
We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreselediture.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends orcapital stock. We currently intend to retain goyure earnings to finance 1
operation and expansion of our business, and wetlexpect to declare or pay any
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dividends in the foreseeable future. As a resuat) snay only receive a return on your investmendun Class A common stock if the mau
price of our Class A common stock increases. Inteahd our credit facilities contain restrictions our ability to pay dividends.

If we are unable to implement and maintain effeativnternal control over financial reporting in théuture, investors may lose confidence
the accuracy and completeness of our financial refsoand the market price of our Class A common $tanay be negatively affected.

As a public company, we will be required to maintaiternal controls over financial reporting andréport any material weaknesse
such internal controls. In addition, beginning withr 2013 Annual Report on Form ¥0to be filed in 2014, we will be required to fushi¢
report by management on the effectiveness of derrial control over financial reporting pursuantSection 404 of the Sarban@sdey Act
We are in the process of designing, implementimgl gesting the internal control over financial rapw required to comply with tk
obligation, which process is time consuming, cqostlyd complicated. If we identify material weakress# our internal control over financ
reporting, if we are unable to comply with the riegments of Section 404 in a timely manner or dgbat our internal control over financ
reporting is effective, or if our independent régied public accounting firm is unable to expressopinion as to the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, investanay lose confidence in the accuracy and commsgeaf our financial reports and the ma
price of our Class A common stock could be negbtigéected, and we could become subject to ingasitins by the stock exchange on wl
our securities are listed, the Securities and BExgaaCommission, or other regulatory authoritiesicvttould require additional financial ¢
management resources.

The requirements of being a public company may &traur resources and divert management’s attention.

As a public company, we will be subject to the mipg requirements of the Securities Exchange Act384, as amended (Excha
Act), the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the DoBHdank Act, the listing requirements of the NASDAQoRal Select Market, and other applice
securities rules and regulations. Compliance witsé rules and regulations will increase our legal financial compliance costs, make s
activities more difficult, timesonsuming, or costly, and increase demand on @ies)s and resources. The Exchange Act requires)gothe
things, that we file annual, quarterly, and curmemorts with respect to our business and operatisgjts.

As a result of disclosure of information in thisppectus and in filings required of a public comparur business and financial condit
will become more visible, which we believe may teguthreatened or actual litigation, including bgmpetitors and other third parties. If s
claims are successful, our business and operasgts could be harmed, and even if the claimsadaasult in litigation or are resolved in
favor, these claims, and the time and resourcesssacy to resolve them, could divert the resounfesir management and harm our busi
and operating results.

If you purchase shares of our Class A common staclour initial public offering, you will experiencesubstantial and immediate dilutior

If you purchase shares of our Class A common sitocur initial public offering, you will experiencgubstantial and immediate dilut
in the pro forma net tangible book value per shafr&32.31 per share as of March 31, 2012, basethennitial public offering price «
$38.00 per share, because the price that you papevsubstantially greater than the pro formataagible book value per share of the Cla
common stock that you acquire. This dilution is du&rge part to the fact that our earlier investpaid substantially less than the initial pu
offering price when they purchased their sharesuofcapital stock. You will experience additiondution upon exercise of options to purch
common stock under our equity incentive plans, upesting of RSUs, if we issue restricted stock to @mployees under our equity incen
plans, or if we otherwise issue additional shafesuo common stock. For more information, see “Bin.”
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The dual class structure of our common stock anckthoting agreements among certain stockholders htheseffect of concentrating votir
control with our CEO, and also with employees andedtors and their affiliates; this will limit or peclude your ability to influenc
corporate matters.

Our Class B common stock has ten votes per shadepar Class A common stock, which is the stockaweeoffering in our initial publ
offering, has one vote per share. Stockholders Wdid shares of Class B common stock, including exacutive officers, employees,
directors and their affiliates, will together hagproximately 96.0% of the voting power of our t¢arsling capital stock following our init
public offering. Because of the ten-tme voting ratio between our Class B and Class #wroon stock, the holders of our Class B com
stock collectively will continue to control a maijigr of the combined voting power of our common &t@nd therefore be able to control
matters submitted to our stockholders for appr@ealong as the shares of Class B common stock gepret least 9.1% of all outstanc
shares of our Class A and Class B common stocls ddmcentrated control will limit or preclude yability to influence corporate matters
the foreseeable future.

Future transfers by holders of Class B common stattkigenerally result in those shares convertiogClass A common stock, subjec
limited exceptions, such as certain transfers &ftedor estate planning or charitable purposes. ddreversion of Class B common stocl
Class A common stock will have the effect, overetjrof increasing the relative voting power of thbséders of Class B common stock v
retain their shares in the long term. If, for exéenr. Zuckerberg retains a significant portionhig holdings of Class B common stock fo
extended period of time, he could, in the futu@tmue to control a majority of the combined vgtipower of our Class A common stock
Class B common stock. For a description of the dlzeds structure, see “Description of Capital Ste¢nti-Takeover Provisions.”

We have elected to take advantage of the “contlt®mpany” exemption to the corporate governancéemifor NASDAQlisted companie:
which could make our Class A common stock lessaattive to some investors or otherwise harm our &tpcice.

Because we qualify as a “controlled company” urttlercorporate governance rules for NASDASed companies, we are not requ
to have a majority of our board of directors beejpehdent, nor are we required to have a compensatiommittee or an independ
nominating function. In light of our status as aiolled company, our board of directors has deieechnot to have an independent nomine
function and has chosen to have the full boardirgfctbrs be directly responsible for nominating nbemns of our board, and in the future
could elect not to have a majority of our boarddwéctors be independent or not to have a compiensebmmittee. Accordingly, should t
interests of our controlling stockholder differ fiiothose of other stockholders, the other stockhslaeay not have the same protect
afforded to stockholders of companies that areesuitip all of the corporate governance rules forSDAQ-isted companies. Our status ¢
controlled company could make our Class A commonokskess attractive to some investors or othenlvaen our stock price.

Delaware law and provisions in our restated certdite of incorporation and bylaws that will be infett at the closing of our initial publi
offering could make a merger, tender offer, or prpxontest difficult, thereby depressing the tradipgice of our Class A common stock.

Following the closing of our initial public offeri our status as a Delaware corporation and thi-takeover provisions of the Delaw
General Corporation Law may discourage, delay revgnt a change in control by prohibiting us frongaging in a business combination \
an interested stockholder for a period of threeye@dter the person becomes an interested stoakhadglen if a change of control would
beneficial to our existing stockholders. In additiour restated certificate of incorporation anthbss that will be in effect at the closing of
initial public offering will contain provisions tlhanay make the acquisition of our company moredlift, including the following:

. until the first date on which the outstanding skasé our Class B common stock represent less thén & the combined votit
power of our common stock, any transaction thatldoesult in a chang
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in control of our company will require the approwdla majority of our outstanding Class B commaoocktvoting as a separ:
class;

we have a dual class common stock structure, whpiokides Mr. Zuckerberg with the ability to contitble outcome of matte
requiring stockholder approval, even if he owns#igantly less than a majority of the shares of outstanding Class A a
Class B common stoc

when the outstanding shares of our Class B comrumk sepresent less than a majority of the combivetthg power of commc
stock, certain amendments to our restated ceittficd incorporation or bylaws will require the appal of twothirds of the
combined vote of our th-outstanding shares of Class A and Class B comnoarf;s

when the outstanding shares of our Class B comntmek gepresent less than a majority of the combinetihg power of ot
common stock, vacancies on our board of directdlide able to be filled only by our board of ditecs and not by stockholdel

when the outstanding shares of our Class B comntmek gepresent less than a majority of the combinetihg power of ot
common stock, our board of directors will be clisdiinto three classes of directors with staggeredeyear terms and directc
will only be able to be removed from office for say

when the outstanding shares of our Class B comntmek gepresent less than a majority of the combinetihg power of ot
common stock, our stockholders will only be abl¢atce action at a meeting of stockholders and yatititten consent

only our chairman, our chief executive officer, quresident, or a majority of our board of directaril be authorized to call
special meeting of stockholde

advance notice procedures will apply for stockhdde nominate candidates for election as direabort® bring matters before
annual meeting of stockholde

our restated certificate of incorporation will aotize undesignated preferred stock, the terms dtlwmay be established, ¢
shares of which may be issued, without stockhcdghgroval; anc

certain litigation against us can only be broughbelaware.

For information regarding these and other provisj@ee “Description of Capital Stock—Anti-Takeo®govisions.”
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus contains forwalabking statements. All statements contained is fiospectus other than statements of historica,
including statements regarding our future resufteperations and financial position, our businesatsgy and plans, and our objectives
future operations, are forward-looking statemefte words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,” “catinue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect,”
and similar expressions are intended to identifyvéod-looking statements. We have based these fddeaking statements largely on «
current expectations and projections about futwents and trends that we believe may affect ownfonal condition, results of operatic
business strategy, short-term and long-term busigerations and objectives, and financial neeties& forward-lookingstatements a
subject to a number of risks, uncertainties andragsions, including those described in the “RisktBes” section. Moreover, we operate i
very competitive and rapidly changing environmeéygw risks emerge from time to time. It is not pbssifor our management to predict
risks, nor can we assess the impact of all faatarsur business or the extent to which any fa@ocombination of factors, may cause ac
results to differ materially from those containedany forwardlooking statements we may make. In light of thas&st uncertainties a
assumptions, the future events and trends discusstiis prospectus may not occur and actual reszduld differ materially and advers
from those anticipated or implied in the forward#ing statements.

” ” o " o " o ”ou

You should not rely upon forwaddoking statements as predictions of future evemtse events and circumstances reflected it
forward-looking statements may not be achievedcoun Although we believe that the expectationkeotéd in the forwardeoking statemen
are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future releds of activity, performance, or achievemelife are under no duty to update any of t
forward-looking statements after the date of tmisspectus or to conform these statements to asalts or revised expectations.
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INDUSTRY DATA AND USER METRICS

This prospectus contains estimates and informat@cerning our industry, including market positiomarket size, and growth rates
the markets in which we participate, that are baseohdustry publications and reports. This infotior involves a number of assumptions
limitations, and you are cautioned not to give undieight to these estimates. We have not indepdigdesrified the accuracy or completen
of the data contained in these industry publicatiand reports. The industry in which we operatgulgiect to a high degree of uncertainty
risk due to variety of factors, including those aésed in the “Risk Factors8ection. These and other factors could cause sesultiffe
materially from those expressed in these publioatend reports.

The numbers of monthly active users (MAUs) andydaittive users (DAUs) and average revenue per (#fePU) presented in tF
prospectus are based on internal company data angsevcertain of these numbers in managing ounéssi These numbers are based on
we believe to be reasonable estimates of our usss for the applicable period of measurement, amdake steps to improve their accur.
such as eliminating known false or duplicate acteuiihere are inherent challenges in measuringeusagoss large online and mo
populations around the world. For example, therg beindividuals who have multiple Facebook accsumtviolation of our terms of servi
despite our efforts to detect and suppress sucaviah We estimate that false or duplicate accourdayg have represented approximatel§%-
of our MAUs as of December 31, 2011. However, ggmate is based on an internal review of a lichgkample of accounts and we aj
significant judgment in making this determinatisoch as identifying names that appear to be fale@hmr behavior that appears inauthent
the reviewers. As such, our estimation of falsedwplicate accounts may not accurately represenatieal number of such accounts.
metrics are also affected by applications on centadbile devices that automatically contact ouvees for regular updates with no user ac
involved, and this activity can cause our systerndiont the user associated with such a device astare user on the day such contact oc
For example, we estimate that less than 5% of stimated worldwide DAUs as of December 31, 2011 2080 resulted from this type
automatic mobile activity, and that this type otidty had a substantially smaller effect on outireste of worldwide MAUs and mob
MAUSs. As such, the calculations of DAUs as a petage of MAUs presented in this prospectus may fexted by this activity. The impact
this automatic activity on our metrics varies bygephy because mobile usage varies in differegions of the world. In addition, our d
regarding the geographic location of our userssigmated based on a number of factors, such asidbes IP address and sedifclose!
location. These factors may not always accuragfhgct the user’s actual location. For example,abite-only user may appear to be acces
Facebook from the location of the proxy server thatuser connects to rather than from the asmstual location. In addition, our estimate
revenue by user location are also affected by tfesers. We regularly review and may adjust owcpsses for calculating these metric
improve their accuracy. In addition, our MAU and DAestimates will differ from estimates published thyrd parties due to differences
methodology. For example, some third parties decnant mobile users.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

We estimate that our net proceeds from the sateeofClass A common stock that we are offering tdlapproximately $6.8 billion,
approximately $6.9 billion if the underwriters egise in full their right to purchase additional sfsto cover oveallotments, based on |
initial public offering price of $38.00 per sharafter deducting underwriting discounts and comrmissiand estimated offering exper
payable by us.

The principal purposes of our initial public offegi are to create a public market for our Class Warmon stock and thereby enable fu
access to the public equity markets by us and mpl@yees, obtain additional capital, and facilitate orderly distribution of shares for
selling stockholders. We intend to use the netgeds to us from our initial public offering for vkamg capital and other general corpo
purposes; however, we do not currently have angifipeises of the net proceeds planned. We mayaysertion of the net proceeds to u
satisfy a portion of the anticipated tax withholgliand remittance obligations related to the iniSattlement of our outstanding RS
Additionally, we may use a portion of the procetmsis for acquisitions of complementary businestednologies, or other assets. Howe
we have no commitments to use the proceeds frasroffering for any such acquisitions or investmeattthis time.

Pending other uses, we intend to invest the pracézdss in investment-grade, interbstaring securities such as money market ft
certificates of deposit, or direct or guaranteetigations of the U.S. government, or hold as cask. cannot predict whether the proce
invested will yield a favorable return. Our managemwill have broad discretion in the applicatidntlee net proceeds we receive from
initial public offering, and investors will be rahg on the judgment of our management regardin@ppication of the net proceeds.

We will not receive any proceeds from the saletares of Class A common stock by the selling stolddrs. Mark Zuckerberg, ¢
founder, Chairman, and CEO, will offer and sellZ8®,000 shares in our initial public offering. Thgbstantial majority of the net proce
Mr. Zuckerberg will receive upon such sale will beed to satisfy taxes that he will incur in coniwttwith the partial exercise of
outstanding stock option.

DIVIDEND POLICY

We have never declared or paid cash dividends orcapital stock. We currently intend to retain dnyure earnings for use in 1
operation of our business and do not intend toattecbr pay any cash dividends in the foreseealigefuAny further determination to f
dividends on our capital stock will be at the détimm of our board of directors, subject to apgilealaws, and will depend on our finan
condition, results of operations, capital requirataggeneral business conditions, and other fathatsour board of directors considers reley
In addition, the terms of our credit facilities ¢aim restrictions on our ability to pay dividends.
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CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth our cash, cash egjeints, and marketable securities and capitalizattoof March 31, 2012:

on an actual basis;

on a pro forma basis to give effect to (i) the awtic conversion of all of our outstanding sharesvertible preferred stock ir
Class B common stock, (ii) the amendment and mstant of our certificate of incorporation in conti@e with our initial publi
offering, and (iii) a sharbased compensation expense of approximately $6Hidminet of income taxes, associated with retgo
stock units (RSUs) granted prior to January 1, 20r&2011 RSUSs) for which the service condition wass$iatil as of March 3
2012, and which we expect to record upon completfoour initial public offering, as described inotoote (1) below; an

on a pro forma as adjusted basis to give furthiaceto (i) the issuance and sale by us of 180 shares of Class A comn
stock in our initial public offering, and the repedf the net proceeds from our sale of these stairénhe initial public offering prit
of $38.00 per share, after deducting underwritirsgalints and commissions and estimated offeringmrsgs payable by us, (i)
partial exercise by Mark Zuckerberg, our founddnai@man, and CEO, of an outstanding stock optiesulting in the issuance
60,000,000 shares of our Class B common stocklel automatic conversion of 181,638,768 sharemipofClass B common stc
held by the selling stockholders into an equivalemtnber of shares of our Class A common stock upeir sale by the sellit
stockholders in our initial public offering, andv)ithe conversion by certain of our existing stomklers of an aggregate
154,304,257 shares of our Class B common stockantequivalent number of shares of our Class A comstock in connectic
with our initial public offering.

You should read this table in conjunction with gextions entitled “ManagemestDiscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiorl
Results of Operations” and “Description of Cap&&bck” and our consolidated financial statements ande@labtes included elsewhere in
prospectus.
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As of March 31, 2012

Pro Forma
Actual Pro_Forma () As Adjusted (@)
(in millions, except share and per share data)
Cash, cash equivalents, and marketable sectL $3,91( $ 3,91 $ 10,66:

Stockholder equity:

Convertible preferred stock, $0.000006 par valé&,801,400 shares

authorized, 543,216,895 shares issued and outataadiual; no shares

authorized, issued and outstanding, pro forma aadgoma as adjuste $ 61F $ — $ —
Preferred stock, $0.000006 par value; no sharémered, issued and

outstanding, actual; 100,000,000 shares authorizedhares issued and

outstanding, pro forma and pro forma as adju — — —
Class A common stock, $0.000006 par value; 4,1491000 share

authorized, 117,549,393 shares issued and outatgralitual;

5,000,000,000 shares authorized, 117,549,393 shsste=d and

outstanding, pro forma; 5,000,000,000 shares aizthr633,492,418

shares issued and outstanding, pro forma as adj — — —
Class B common stock, $0.000006 par value; 4,101000 shares

authorized, 1,235,134,201 shares issued and odistgractual;

4,141,000,000 shares authorized, 1,780,535,644slssued and

outstanding, pro forma; 4,141,000,000 shares aiztbabr1,504,592,619

shares issued and outstanding, pro forma as ad] —

Additional paic-in capital 2,85¢ 4,43: 11,19(
Accumulated other comprehensive | @) @) @)
Retained earning 1,811 1,171 1,171
Total stockholder equity 5,27z 5,591 12,35¢
Total capitalizatior $5,27:2 $ 5,59i $ 12,35¢

(1) The pro forma data as of March 31, 2012 presentsash, cash equivalents, and marketable secutitizg stockholders’ equity, and total capitaliaat and gives effect to a share-
based compensation expense of approximately $9i6massociated with Pr2d11 RSUs, for which the service condition was cletenl as of March 31, 2012 and which we expe
record upon completion of our initial public offeg, as further described in “Management’s Discussind Analysis of Financial Condition and ResultsOperations—€ritical
Accounting Policies and Estimates—Share-based Cosapien.” The pro forma adjustment related to stased compensation expense of approximately $9@8®mhas bee
reflected as an increase to additional paidapital and the associated tax effect of $32Bianihas been netted against this charge, resultina net reduction of $640 million
retained earnings. The income tax effects have beféected as an increase to deferred tax assetsled in prepaid expenses and other current ageatsflect the anticipated futt
tax benefits upon settlement of these RSUs. Wenasgti that an aggregate of approximately 277 mikiloares underlying Pi2311 RSUs outstanding as of March 31, 2012 wilt ees
settle on dates that are 151 to 181 days followimginitial public offering, resulting in the netsuance of an aggregate of approximately 155 miliwares to the holders. These st
have not been included in our pro forma or pro foas adjusted shares outstand

(2) If the underwriters’ option to purchase additioshires to cover ovetotments is exercised in full, the pro forma dgiated amount of each of cash, cash equivalentspearketabl
securities, additional paid-in capital, total stoclkders’ equity, and total capitalization would increase dpproximately $116 million, after deducting undeting discounts ar
commissions, and we would have 680,241,149 shdresiroClass A common stock and 1,460,938,730 shafemur Class B common stock issued and outstanging forma a
adjusted

39



Table of Contents

The table above excludes the following shares:

116,756,442 shares of Class B common stock issugnale the exercise of options outstanding as ofck&d, 2012 under our 20
Stock Plan, with a weight-average exercise price of approximately $0.94 pares

60,000,000 shares of Class B common stock issuapten the exercise of the remaining portion of arioop held b
Mr. Zuckerberg, with an exercise price of $0.06 geare:

378,429,048 shares of Class B common stock sutgj@@8Us outstanding as of March 31, 2012 unde2606 Stock Plan;
22,999,412 shares of common stock issuable upompledion of our acquisition of Instagram, In

25,257,815 shares of Class B common stock subje&SUs granted under our 2005 Stock Plan and 40s8@€es of Class
common stock issued between April 1, 2012 and M, 2012; anc

77,466,293 shares of our common stock reserveflifore issuance under our equity compensation plamssisting of 25,000,0!
shares of Class A common stock reserved for issuander our 2012 Equity Incentive Plan, and 52 2%®&,shares of Class
common stock reserved as of March 31, 2012 foraisse under our 2005 Stock Plan (which reserve deduhe 25,257,815 shs
of Class B common stock subject to RSUs granteer &ftarch 31, 2012). On the date of this prospeany, remaining shar
available for issuance under our 2005 Stock Pldhbsiadded to the shares reserved under our 2QuRyHncentive Plan and v
will cease granting awards under the 2005 Stock.Rbar 2012 Equity Incentive Plan also providesdatomatic annual increa:
in the number of shares reserved thereunder anithdozases based on forfeited or withheld sharesotimer events as more fu
described ir*Executive Compensati—Employee Benefit Plar”
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DILUTION

If you invest in our Class A common stock, yourenast will be diluted to the extent of the diffecerbetween the initial public offeri
price per share of our Class A common stock andptbeforma as adjusted net tangible book valuespare of our Class A common st
immediately after our initial public offering.

Our pro forma net tangible book value as of Marth2012 was $5.4 billion, or $2.85 per share of emn stock. Our pro forma r
tangible book value per share represents the anafunir total tangible assets reduced by the amotinur total liabilities and divided by t
total number of shares of our common stock outstenads of March 31, 2012, after giving effect te #utomatic conversion of all outstanc
shares of our convertible preferred stock into €Bsommon stock in connection with our initial palffering.

After giving effect to (i) our sale in our initiglublic offering of 180,000,000 shares of Class Mmowmn stock at the initial public offeri
price of $38.00 per share, after deducting undéingridiscounts and commissions and estimated offeexpenses payable by us and (ii,
partial exercise by Mark Zuckerberg, our founddrai@nan, and CEO, of an outstanding stock optiesulting in the issuance of 60,000,
shares of our Class B common stock, our pro formmadjusted net tangible book value as of March2812 would have been approxima
$12.2 billion, or $5.69 per share of common stolkis represents an immediate increase in pro famadjusted net tangible book valu
$2.84 per share to our existing stockholders andremediate dilution of $32.31 per share to investourchasing shares in our initial pu
offering.

The following table illustrates this per share tidn.

Initial offering price per shar $38.0(
Pro forma net tangible book value per share asaich31, 201: $2.8¢
Increase in pro forma net tangible book value peres attributable to investors purchasing sharesiinnitial
public offering 2.84
Pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value Ipgresafter our initial public offerin 5.6¢
Dilution in pro forma net tangible book value paaee to investors in this offerir $32.31

If the underwriters’ option to purchase additioshres to cover ovallotments is exercised in full, the pro forma tatgible book vall
per share after giving effect to our initial pubdifering would be approximately $5.74 per sharel the dilution in pro forma net tangible bt
value per share to investors in our initial puldffering would be approximately $32.26 per share.

The following table summarizes, as of March 31,20ke differences between the number of sharesiofommon stock purchased fr
us, after giving effect to the conversion of oumnvertible preferred stock into Class B common stackl the partial exercise by M
Zuckerberg of an outstanding stock option, thel toéah consideration paid, and the average pricestpere paid by our existing stockholc
and by our new investors purchasing shares inrotiali public offering at the initial public offeng price of $38.00 per share, before dedu
underwriting discounts and commissions and estichaffering expenses payable by us:

. . Average
Shares Purchased Total Consideration Price Pel
Number Perceni Amount Percent Share
Existing stockholders 1,958,085,03 91.¢% $2,167,000,00 24.1% $ 1.11
New investors 180,000,00 8.4 6,840,000,00 75.€ 38.0C

Total 2,138,085,03 10C% $9,007,000,00 10C%
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Sales of shares of Class A common stock by théngeditockholders in our initial public offering wilteduce the number of shares
common stock held by existing stockholders to 1,896,422, or approximately 80.3% of the total skafecommon stock outstanding after
initial public offering, and will increase the nuetbof shares held by new investors to 421,233,64approximately 19.7% of the total she
of common stock outstanding after our initial paldifering.

After giving effect to the sale of shares in thifedng by us and the selling stockholders, if threlerwriters’option to purchase additior
shares to cover ovetlotments is exercised in full, our existing stbolders would own 77.4% and our new investors wawlth 22.6% of th
total number of shares of our common stock outstanalfter our initial public offering.

The above table and discussion include: (i) 1173® shares of our Class A common stock and 1,38(684 shares of our Clas
common stock outstanding as of March 31, 2012; (@hdhe issuance of 60,000,000 shares of our CEagommon stock upon the par
exercise by Mark Zuckerberg, our founder, Chairnaard CEO, of an outstanding stock option to pureh#x),000,000 shares of our Clas
common stock, and exclude:

. 116,756,442 shares of Class B common stock issugnale the exercise of options outstanding as ofck&d, 2012 under our 20
Stock Plan, with a weight-average exercise price of approximately $0.94 pares

. 60,000,000 shares of Class B common stock issuapis the exercise of the remaining portion of atioopheld by Mr
Zuckerberg, with an exercise price of $0.06 perest

. 378,429,048 shares of Class B common stock sutgjg®EUs outstanding as of March 31, 2012 unde2606 Stock Plar
. 22,999,412 shares of common stock issuable upompledion of our acquisition of Instagram, Inc.;

. 25,257,815 shares of Class B common stock subje&3Us granted under our 2005 Stock Plan and 40s8@€es of Class
common stock issued between April 1, 2012 and Ma&032; anc

. 77,466,293 shares of our common stock reservefiifore issuance under our equity compensation plamssisting of 25,000,0!
shares of Class A common stock reserved for issuander our 2012 Equity Incentive Plan, and 522%®%,shares of Class
common stock reserved as of March 31, 2012 foraisse under our 2005 Stock Plan (which reserve deduhe 25,257,815 shs
of Class B common stock subject to RSUs granteer &ftarch 31, 2012). On the date of this prospecny, remaining shar
available for issuance under our 2005 Stock Pldhbgiadded to the shares reserved under our 2guRyHncentive Plan and v
will cease granting awards under the 2005 Stock.Rbar 2012 Equity Incentive Plan also providesdatomatic annual increa:
in the number of shares reserved thereunder anidorases based on forfeited or withheld sharesoéimer events, as more ft
described ir*Executive Compensati—Employee Benefit Plar”

To the extent that any outstanding options arecesed or RSUs are settled, there will be furthé&rtain to new investors.
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The consolidated statements of income data for ekt years ended December 31, 2009, 2010, abhtl 3d the consolidated bala
sheets data as of December 31, 2010 and 2011 @vedi&om our audited consolidated financial sta¢ats that are included elsewhere in
prospectus. The consolidated statements of opesatiata for the years ended December 31, 2007 GORldhd the consolidated balance st
data as of December 31, 2007, 2008, and 2009 aireedefrom audited consolidated financial statersetitat are not included in tl
prospectus. The consolidated statements of incateefdr the three months ended March 31, 2011 a&é,2and the consolidated balance <
data as of March 31, 2012 have been derived fronunaudited consolidated financial statements ajpgalsewhere in this prospectus. In
opinion, such financial statements include all atijients, consisting only of normal recurring adjpestts, that we consider necessary for ¢
presentation of the financial information set foirththose statements. Our historical results atenecessarily indicative of our results in
future period.

You should read this information together with “Maement Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiond aResults ¢
Operations” and our consolidated financial statesmand the related notes included elsewhere irptioispectus.

Three Months
Year Ended December 31, Ended March 31,
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2011 2012
(in millions, except per share data

Consolidated Statements of Operations Date

Revenue $ 158  $ 27z $777 $1,97¢ $3,711 $731 $1,05¢
Costs and expens®:
Cost of revenu 41 124 22% 49¢ 86C 167 2717
Marketing and sale 32 76 11F 184 427 68 15¢
Research and developmt 81 47 87 144 38¢ 57 152
General and administrati\ i2g 80 90 121 28C 51 88
Total costs and expens 2717 327 51E 942 1,95¢ 343 677
Income (loss) from operatiol (124) (55) 262 1,032 1,75¢ 38¢ 381
Interest and other income (expense), (12) () (8) (24) (61) 1C 1
Income (loss) before provision for income ta (135) (56) 254 1,00¢ 1,69 39¢ 382
Provision for income taxe 3 — 25 40z 69t 165 177
Net income (loss $(138) $ (56) $22¢ $ 60€ $1,00C $23: $ 20E
Net income (loss) attributable to Class A and CBis®mmon
stockholders $(138) $ (56 $122 $ 372 $ 6668 $15% 0§ 137

Earnings (loss) per share attributable to Classd\@ass B commor
stockholder«®:
Basic $(0.1€) $(0.06) $0.1z $034 $05z $0.1z $0.1C
Diluted $(0.16€) $(0.06) $0.1C $ 0.2¢ $ 0.4€ $0.11 $ 0.0¢
Pro forma earnings per share attributable to Chagad Class E
common stockholdei®:
Basic $ 0.4¢ $ 0.1C

Diluted $ 0.45 $ 0.0¢
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(1) Costs and expenses include s-based compensation expense as follc

Three Months

Year Ended December 31 Ended March 31,
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2011 2012

(in millions)
Cost of revenu $ 1 $ — $ — — $ 9 $ — $ 4
Marketing and sale 3 4 2 2 43 — 23
Research and developme 56 7 6 9 114 4 60
General and administratiy 13 19 19 9 51 3 16
Total shar-based compensation expel $ 7¢ $ 3 $ 21 $ 2 $ 217 $ 7 $ 10

(2) See note 2 of the notes to our consolidated firrstatements for a description of how we compuatsidband diluted earnings (loss) per share atafidatto Class A and Clas:
common stockholders and pro forma basic and dilaggdings per share attributable to Class A andstacommon stockholdel

As of
As of December 31 March 31,

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

(in millions)
Consolidated Balance Sheets Dat:

Cash, cash equivalents, and marketable sect $ 308 $ 297 $ 63 $1,78: $3,90¢ $ 3,91C
Working capital 25C 21S 703 1,857 3,70¢ 3,65¢
Property and equipment, r 82 131 14¢ 574 1,47¢ 1,85¢
Total asset 44¢ 50& 1,10¢ 2,99( 6,331 6,85¢
Total liabilities 174 17C 241 82¢ 1,432 1,58
Total stockholder equity 273 835 86¢ 2,16: 4,89¢ 5,272

Free Cash Flow

In addition to other financial measures presentedcicordance with U.S. generally accepted accagimimciples (GAAP), we monit
free cash flow (FCF) as a n@@AAP measure to manage our business, make plardengsions, evaluate our performance, and all
resources. We define FCF as net cash provided kyatipg activities reduced by purchases of propartgt equipment and property i
equipment acquired under capital leases.

We believe that FCF is one of the key financialiéatbrs of our business performance over the leng and provides useful informat
regarding whether cash provided by operating am#viis sufficient to fund the ongoing property aeguipment investments requirec
maintain and grow our business. We have chosenlitrat both purchases of property and equipmedtpaoperty and equipment acqui
under capital leases in our calculation of FCF beeawe believe that these two items collectivelgresent the amount of property .
equipment we need to procure to support our busjmregardless of whether we finance such properggaipment with a capital lease. -

market for financing servers and other technicalmgent is dynamic and we expect our use of cafgtedes could vary significantly from y
to year.

We have chosen our definition for FCF because wiemethat this methodology can provide useful sep@ntal information to he
investors better understand underlying trends inbasiness. We present FCF in this document irséime manner it is shared with our se
management and board of directors.

FCF has limitations as an analytical tool, and gbauld not consider it in isolation or as a subsifor analysis of other GAAP financ
measures, such as net cash provided by operatingias. Some of the limitations of FCF are:

. FCF does not reflect our future contractual comreitts; and

. other companies in our industry present similaithed measures differently than we do, limiting ithesefulness as comparat
measures
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Management compensates for the inherent limitatessociated with using the FCF measure througHodisie of such limitation
presentation of our financial statements in acaocdawith GAAP, and reconciliation of FCF to the mdsectly comparable GAAP meast
net cash provided by operating activities, as prieskbelow.

The following is a reconciliation of FCF to the mmesmparable GAAP measure, net cash provided byatipg activities:

Three Months

Year Ended December 31, Ended March 31,
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2011 2012
(in millions)
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 11 $ & $ 155 $ 69¢ $1,54¢ $ 34t $ 441
Purchases of property and equipm (55) (70) (833) (29%) (60€) (153 (459
Property and equipment acquired under capital & (112) (26) (56) (217 (473 (21]) (38)
Free cash flov $ (BE) $ (B $ 66 $ 18t $ 47C $ (19 $ (50
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our finah@ondition and results of operations should hlead in conjunction with o
consolidated financial statements and related nthes appear in this prospectus. In addition totbigal consolidated financial informatic
the following discussion contains forwalabking statements that reflect our plans, estimatnd beliefs. Our actual results could di
materially from those discussed in the forw&rdking statements. Factors that could cause ortrdoume to these differences include tk
discussed below and elsewhere in this prospecarsicplarly in “Risk Factors.” For a discussion of limitations in the measurenwdntertair
of our user metrics, see the section entitled “Istdyi Data and User Metrics.”

Overview

Our mission is to make the world more open and eotad. Facebook enables you to express yourselt@mukect with the world arou
you instantly and freely

We build products that support our mission by dnggtitility for users, developers, and advertisers:

Users.We enable people who use Facebook to stay connegtedheir friends and family, to discover whatgsing on in the worl
around them, and to share and express what mtitdrem to the people they care about.

DevelopersWe enable developers to use the Facebook Platfmimitd applications (apps) and websites that matiegwith Facebook
reach our global network of users and to build potslthat are more personalized, social, and engagi

AdvertisersWe enable advertisers to engage with more thann8llion monthly active users (MAUs) on Facebooksubsets of ol
users based on information they have chosen tee shith us such as their age, location, genderntarésts. We offer advertisers a uni
combination of reach, relevance, social contexd, @mgagement to enhance the value of their ads.

We generate substantially all of our revenue fralveatising and from fees associated with our Paysfrastructure that enables u:
to purchase virtual and digital goods from our fela developers. In 2011, we recorded revenue gii3million, operating income of $1,7
million, and net income of $1,000 million. In thiest quarter of 2012, we recorded revenue of $1/888on, operating income of $381 millic
and net income of $205 million. We were incorpodateJuly 2004 and are headquartered in Menlo Raakfornia.

Highlights in our history are depicted in the griapbn the next page.
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Our History
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Trends in Our User Metrics

. Monthly Active Users (MAUs)We define a monthly active user as a registere@lhaak user who logged in and visited Facel
through our website or a mobile device, or toolaation to share content or activity with his or Reccebook friends or connectis
via a thirdparty website that is integrated with Facebookhilast 30 days as of the date of measurement. $/&¥ a measure
the size of our global active user community, whigls grown substantially in the past several yt
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Note: For purposes of reporting MAUs, DAUs, and ARBY geographic region, Europe includes all userRiussia and Turkey, Asia includes all users intralia and Nev
Zealand, and Rest of World includes Africa, Latmekica, and the Middle East.

As of March 31, 2012, we had 901 million MAUs, acriease of 33% from March 31, 2011. We experiegeedth across differe
geographies, with users in Brazil, India, and thaté States representing key sources of growth.nate 45 million MAUS i
Brazil as of March 31, 2012, an increase of 1808tmfthe same period in the prior year, and we hachiiion MAUs in India as ¢
March 31, 2012, an increase of 107% from the saen@g in the prior year. Additionally, we had 1649limn MAUs in the Unitec
States as of March 31, 2012, an increase of 158 fh@ same period in the prior year.

There are more than two billion global Internetrgsaccording to an IDC report dated August 20ht, we aim to connect all
them. We have achieved varying levels of penetnatighin the population of Internet users in di#fat countries. For example,
of December 31, 2011, in countries such as Chilekdy, and Venezuela we estimate that we had piwetrrates of greater th
85%
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of Internet users; in countries such as India,Uhéged Kingdom and the United States we estimad¢ we had penetration rates
approximately 60%; in countries such as Brazil @simany we estimate that we had penetration rditagpyoximately 3040%; ir
countries such as Japan, Russia, and South Koresstiveate that we had penetration rates of 20%wel; and in China, whe
Facebook access is restricted, we have near 0%rptoe. We continue to invest in growing our ubease, particularly in marke
where we are relatively less penetrated. We exdédt growth will benefit from increases in worldwideternet users, in particu
as a result of increasing broadband penetratioruaade of mobile devices in developing marketsw@ron MAUs depends on ¢
ability to retain our current users, eegage with inactive users, and add new usersydimgj by extending our reach across mc
platforms.

Daily Active Users (DAUs)We define a daily active user as a registered Faaiebser who logged in and visited Facebook thr
our website or a mobile device, or took an actmishare content or activity with his or her Facébfy@ends or connections vie
third-party website that is integrated with Facebook,aogiven day. We view DAUs, and DAUs as a percentaghlAUs, a
measures of user engagem
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Worldwide DAUs increased 41% to 526 million on age during March 2012 from 372 million during Mar@011. Wi
experienced growth in DAUs across major markethiting the United States, Brazil, and India. Inseshmobile usage was a
contributor to this growth. DAUs as a percentagéMéfUs increased from 55% in March 2011 to 58% inrtha2012, which w
believe was driven entirely by increased mobilegesaf Facebook. We believe that increases in DAtdsia DAUs as a percente
of MAUs generally positively affect our revenue hase increases in user engagement may enable dediver more releva
commercial content to our users and may provideitismore opportunities for monetization.

We believe that we have the opportunity to contitougrow our DAUs around the world. Growth in DAdspends on our ability
attract new users and increase the frequency afgamgent for existing users. We aim to increase DByJdeveloping products tt
are more compelling for our users, increasing tevance of the information we display for eachrusereasing the number
compelling Platform apps and website integraticarg] improving the quality obur products across mobile platforms. We
believe that younger users have higher levels giagement with the web and mobile devices in genanal with Faceboc
specifically. We anticipate that demographic treoder the long term may contribute to growth in &ggment as a greater nun
of users will come from demographic groups thatehgrown up with the web and mobile devices and ggend more time onlil
every day.

. Mobile MAUs. We define a mobile MAU as a user who accessed eagelia a mobile app or via mok-optimized versions of o
website such as m.facebook.com, whether on a mpb@ee or tablet such as the iPad, during the gefieneasuremen

Worldwide mobile MAUs increased by 69% from 288 lmit as of March 31, 2011 to 488 million as of Ma’1, 2012. In a
regions, an increasing number of our MAUs are aingsFacebook through mobile devices, with usethénUnited States, Ind
Indonesia, and Brazil representing key sourcesatjila growth over this period. We estimate thatragpnately 83 million mobil
MAUs accessed Facebook solely through mobile appsuo mobile website during the month ended Marth2012, and w
believe that mobilenly users increased relative to the same periothenprior year. The remaining 405 million mobileAMs
accessed Facebook from both personal computersnabde devices during that month. We believe that mobile MAU growtl
was driven by increased consumer usage of mobileeke generally and also by our product enhancesraeross several mok
platforms. For example, we improved our produceiffgs on feature phones following our acquisibrsnaptu in April 2011 ar
we launched the Facebook app for the iPad in Oct@bé&l. Improving our mobile products and incregsimobile usage !
Facebook are key company priorities that we belareecritical to help us maintain and grow our uss#se and engagement over
long term. We expect consumers around the worltlimdlease the amount of time they spend and tfeeriration they share a
Mobile Monthiy Active Users

consume through mobile devices.
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We have historically not shown ads to users acegssSacebook through mobile apps or our mobile web3io the extent th
increasing usage of Facebook through mobile appsuomobile website substitutes for the use of Baok through persor
computers where we do show ads, the number ofredsve deliver to users and our revenue may betivegaaffected unless a
until we are successful with monetization stratedoe mobile usage of Facebook, such as the impléation of sponsored stories
users’mobile News Feeds, which we began in March 2012 bélieve that people around the world will continagncrease the
mobile usage of Facebook, and that some of thisilmeisage has been and will continue to be a substior use of Facebo

through personal computers.

Trends in Our Monetization by User Geography
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Note: Our revenue by user geography in the chabisve is geographically apportioned based on ouinegtion of the geographic location of our users wileey perform a revenue-
generating activity. This allocation differs fromrarevenue by geography disclosure in our constdiddinancial statements where revenue is geogcatliapportioned based on 1

location of the advertiser or developer.
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We estimate our revenue by user geography basé#teageography in which ad impressions are deliveredrtual goods are purchas
We define average revenue per user (ARPU) as dal ievenue in a given geography during a givenoperdivided by the average of
number of MAUs in the geography at the beginnind end of the period. Our revenue and ARPU in marketh as the United States, Car
and Europe are relatively higher due to the sizeraaturity of those advertising markets as welbasgreater sales presence and the num|
payment methods that we make available to advestased users.

In the first quarter of 2012, 50% of our revenuesvg&nerated by users in the United States and @anadecrease from 54% of
revenue for the first quarter of 2011, and in 2082% of our revenue was generated by users in tlited) States and Canada, as compar
58% in 2010, as we experienced more rapid revermetly in markets such as Germany, Brazil, Austraiad India.

During the first quarter of 2012, worldwide ARPU sv@1.21, an increase of 6% from the first quarfe2Gil1. Over this period, ARF
increased across all geographies. User growth wae mapid in geographies with relatively lower ARPduich as Asia and Rest of Wo
These user growth dynamics resulted in worldwidd>ARncreasing at a slower rate than the rate eapeed in any geographic region. AR
in the first quarter of 2012 declined 12% from tbarth quarter of 2011. We believe the sequentigdrterly decline was driven by seast
trends, which also affected ARPU trends from thertfo quarter of 2010 to the first quarter of 20daring which period ARPU declined
10%. In addition, the sequential decline in ARPUtlie first quarter of 2012 was affected by the féhett our user growth was highel
geographies with relatively lower ARPU. We expdwtttuser growth in the future will continue to kighter in those regions where ARPL
relatively lower, such as Asia and Rest of Worlg;hsthat worldwide ARPU may continue to increase atower rate relative to ARPU in ¢
geographic region, or potentially decrease evé&RiPU increases in each geographic region.

ARPU increased 32% from $3.08 in 2009 to $4.080t@and 25% to $5.11 in 2011. In these periodsexgerienced ARPU grow
across all regions.

Factors Affecting Our Performance

Growth in MAUs, DAUs, and Mobile MAL. Growth trends in MAUs, DAUs, and mobile MAUs argtical variables that affect ¢
revenue and financial results by influencing thenbar of ads we are able to show, the value of thdsethe volume of Payments transact
as well as our expenses and capital expenditureseXfyect our user growth rates to decline as #eediour active user base increases a
we achieve higher market penetration rates. Aduilly, as we grow our business and expand internally, we expect to face challen
entering new markets such as China, where accdsacebook is restricted in whole or in part. Asrug®ewth rates slow, we expect the rat
growth in revenue will likely decline over time, igh will affect our income from operations and metome.

Growth in Users by GeographWe expect future user growth to be relatively higineAsia and Rest of World where on average 1
generate less revenue as compared with users idrthed States or Europe. In general, new usessia and Rest of World do not reqt
material incremental infrastructure investmentsaose we are able to utilize existing infrastructueh as our data centers in the United £
to make our products available to these usersdtitian, we do not believe that user growth by gaphy materially affects our over
headcount requirements or headcouwhated expenses since we are generally able fmosupsers in all geographies from our existinglitées.

User Engagement Changes in user engagement also affect our revand financial performance. Growth in user engaggnma
increase the opportunities for us to display adsieg and our ability to deliver relevant commelctantent to users. Growth in u
engagement also generally results in increaseariexpenses and capital expenditures requiredgpastiuser activity. We believe that ove
engagement as measured by the percentage of usersreate content (such as wall posts, messagesotos) or generate feedback (suc
by Liking or Commenting on the content created) temsained stable or increased as our user basgrévas. Moreover, the average amour
content and feedback created by each user hasgedtio increase over time.
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Increasing Mobile Usagelncreasing use of Facebook on mobile devices vdélb affect our performance, particularly if mobikse
substitutes for use on personal computers. Histllyicwe have not shown ads to users accessingobakehrough mobile apps or our mol
website and we cannot be certain that our mobil@etipation approaches will be successful in gemgganeaningful revenue. We can
guantify the extent to which mobile usage of Faoébis substituting for, rather than incremental usage of Facebook through pers
computers, but we generally expect mobile usagectease at a faster rate than usage through m@rsomputers for the foreseeable future.

Value of Advertising ProductsWe believe that increasing the value of our afisieg products and the consequent return on invess
to advertisers from working with Facebook will irese advertiser demand and thereby increase then&dvertisers spend with us. We
to increase the value of our advertising productsugh such means as increasing the size and engag®f our user base, improving
ability to select relevant content of interest malividual users, developing new formats and progliscich as ads with social context,
improving the measurement tools available to atheng to optimize their campaigns. For exampl€0hl, we launched sponsored stories
new format to leverage social context, and in M&@h2, we began to include sponsored stories irsusmbile News Feeds.

Management of Ad InventoryOur revenue trends are also affected by ad iovemhanagement changes affecting the number, si
prominence of ads we display. For example, in theth quarter of 2010, we significantly increaskd humber of ads on many Facek
pages. As another example, in the fourth quartéx0dfl, we increased the reserve price (i.e., thenmim price threshold) in our advertis
auction system in order to reduce the frequencl witich low quality ads are displayed to userssTdhiange caused a reduction in the ov
number of ads shown and increased the average eicad as a result of factors including the rerhofads with bids that were below
reserve price and some advertisers raising thds ini response to this change. For this particchh@nge, we estimate that the decrease i
number of ads displayed and the increase in avepege per ad approximately offset each other ghelt the impact on total revenue \
minimal.

Product InnovationWe make ongoing product changes intended to enttheagser experience. In September 2011, at ocori@rence
we announced the launch of Timeline as an enhaacddipdated version of the Facebook Profile to kenaders to better organize and ac
the growing quantity of their updates, photos, cants, and other content. Timeline was rolled ootdly around the world in the first qua
of 2012. Also in September 2011, we announceddhadh of the next iteration of Open Graph APIs,auhénables Platform developer:
create new types of social apps that facilitaterisba selfexpression, and serendipitous discovery acrossadbvariety of activities ai
interests. We expanded the Open Graph to include tgpes of sharing activities in the first quaéf012.

Investment in Infrastructurdn 2011, we continued to make significant investtaein our technical infrastructure to ensure thai
growing user base can access Facebook rapidlyediadbly. In April 2011 and March 2012, respectivelye began serving user traffic ou
our owned and built data centers in Prineville,g@reand Forest City, North Carolina. We developesighs for data centers, server hardv
and software that were optimized for use in our raata center facilities, resulting in significamicieases in energy efficiency wi
significantly reducing our server operation costsnpared to the usage of traditional servers angettalata centers. We are investin
additional Facebookwned data centers in the United States and Euanodewe aim to deliver Facebook products rapidly eelidbly to al
users around the world.

Investment in TalenAt the end of the first quarter of 2012, we had33,full-time employees, an increase of 46% from the samedc
2011. Our employee headcount has increased significand we expect this growth to continue for filveseeable future. We have also n
and intend to make acquisitions with the primarjeotive of adding software engineers, product desig, and other personnel with cer
technology expertise. While our organization isvgrgy rapidly, we are focused on increasing ourrtali&ase at a rate that allows us to pres
our culture.
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Business Development and Acquisitiohs.part of our business strategy, we have maderaedd to make acquisitions to add special
employees, complementary companies, products, ¢dofiies, or other assets. For example, in April204e entered into an agreemer
acquire Instagram, Inc. and an agreement with MiftoCorporation to obtain certain patent assemnfAOL Inc. Our acquisitions will affe
our future financial results due to factors suchihesamortization of acquired intangible assetsther potential charges such as restruct
costs or impairment expense.

Share-based Compensation Expens have granted restricted stock units (RSUs) to esaployees and members of our boar
directors. RSUs granted prior to January 1, 20T&-2P11 RSUs) under our 2005 Stock Plan vest uporsdisfaction of both a servi
condition and a liquidity condition. The servicend@ion for the majority of these awards is sagidfiover four years. The liquidity conditior
satisfied upon the occurrence of a qualifying eyvdefined as a change of control transaction onsixths following the effective date of
initial public offering. Pre2011 RSUs for which the service condition has tesgisfied are not forfeited should an employee teate prior t
the liquidity condition being met.

As of March 31, 2012, we have recognized no shaseth compensation expense for P0&1 RSUs because a qualifying event desc
above had not occurred. In the second quarter b2 2@e will recognize shafgased compensation expense using the acceleratibditadn
method, net of forfeitures, based on the grant ffatevalue of the Pre-2011 RSUs. For the P@d-1 RSUs, if the initial public offering had b
completed on March 31, 2012, we would have recagh965 million of shareased compensation expense for all RSUs that raetdtvic
condition as of that date, and would have approtetyeb235 million of additional future period exento be recognized over the remail
service periods through 2018.

RSUs granted on or after January 1, 2011 (Post-3Ws) are not subject to a liquidity condition ander to vest. Sharease!
compensation expense related to these grantsesl lmasthe grant date fair value of the RSUs amddegnized on a straightie basis over tf
applicable service period. The majority of P28t1 RSUs are earned over a service period oftéofive years. In 2011 and the first quarte
2012, we recognized $189 million and $97 millioespectively, of share-based compensation expetateddo the Pos?011 RSUs, and v
anticipate recognizing $1,119 million of future jperexpense related to Post-2011 RSUs outstandiog Barch 31, 2012.

As of March 31, 2012, there was $2,381 million nfecognized shareased compensation expense, of which $2,319 miioelated t
RSUs and $62 million is related to restricted sbamed stock options. This unrecognized slmaged compensation expense is expected
recognized over a weighted-average period of apmprabely two years.

See “—Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates-a®®hbased Compensation” for additional informatiegarding our sharkase
compensation expense.

Components of Results of Operations

Revenue

We generate substantially all of our revenue fralveatising and from fees associated with our Paysfrastructure that enables u:
to purchase virtual and digital goods from our félah developers.

Advertising.Our advertising revenue is generated by displaguhgproducts on our website. Advertisers pay foprmdiucts displayed ¢
Facebook, either directly or through their relasioips with advertising agencies, based on the nuofdepressions delivered or the numbe
clicks made by our users. We recognize revenue frardisplay of impressiobased ads on our website in the contracted pemiachich the
impressions are delivered. Impressions are coreiidgelivered when an ad appears in pages disptayesers. We recognize revenue fromr
delivery of click-based ads on our website in teaqa in which a user clicks on an ad.
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Payments and other fee®Ve enable Payments from our users to our Platfiewelopers. Our users can transact and make payok
the Facebook Platform by using credit cards, PagPalther payment methods available on our webgte.receive a fee from our Platfc
developers when users make purchases from ouoRtatfevelopers using our Payments infrastructure.ré¢ognize revenue net of amol
remitted to our Platform developers. We have madi#tie use of our Payments infrastructure for gapps on Facebook, and fees relate
Payments are generated almost exclusively from gafedate, games from Zynga have generated theritgagf our payments and other fi
revenue. In addition, we generate other fees rev@naoonnection with arrangements related to bssitevelopment transactions and fees
various mobile providers; in recent periods, offieess revenue has been immaterial.

Cost of Revenue and Operating Expenses

Cost of revenueOur cost of revenue consists primarily of expersssociated with the delivery and distribution of puoducts. The:
include expenses related to the operation of ota danters such as facility and server equipmeptedéation, facility and server equipm
rent expense, energy and bandwidth costs, suppdnmnaintenance costs, and salaries, benefits,fardisased compensation for employee
our operations teams. Cost of revenue also incladktit card and other transaction fees relatgudoessing customer transactions.

Marketing and salesOur marketing and sales expenses consist primafilgalaries, benefits, and shdrased compensation for 1
employees engaged in sales, sales support, magkétisiness development, and customer serviceifunsctOur marketing and sales expe
also include user-, developer-, and advertisemfaonarketing and promotional expenditures.

Research and developmeResearch and development expenses consist prinodriiglaries, benefits, and shdorased compensation
employees on our engineering and technical teantsamb responsible for building new products as w&slimproving existing products.
expense substantially all of our research and dewe¢nt costs as they are incurred.

General and administrativ®Our general and administrative expenses consistapily of salaries, benefits, and shé@sed compensati
for our executives as well as our finance, legaman resources, and other administrative employaesddition, general and administral
expenses include outside consulting, legal and watow services, and facilities and other suppgrtioverhead costs. General
administrative expenses also include legal setttesne

55



Table of Contents

Results of Operations
The following table summarizes our historical cditsied statements of income de

Year Ended Three Months Ended
December 31, March 31,
2009 2010 2011 2011 2012
(in millions)
Consolidated Statements of Income Datz
Revenue $ 777 $ 1,97« $ 3,711 $ 731 $ 1,05¢
Costs and expens®):
Cost of revenui 22¢ 49¢ 86C 167 2717
Marketing and sale aLilE 184 427 68 15¢
Research and developme¢ 87 144 38¢ 57 152
General and administratiy 90 121 28C 51 88
Total costs and expens 51¢ 94z 1,95¢ 34% 677
Income from operation 262 1,032 1,75¢ 38¢€ 381
Interest and other income (expense), (8) (24) (61) 1C 1
Income before provision for income tay 254 1,00¢ 1,69¢ 39¢ 382
Provision for income taxe 25 40z 69E 165 177
Net income $ 22¢ $ 60€ $ 1,00( $ 288 $ 20E
(1) Costs and expenses include s-based compensation expense as follc
Year Ended Three Months Ended
December 31, March 31,
2009 2010 2011 2011 2012
(in millions)
Cost of revenu $ —  $ — 9 — $ 4
Marketing and sale 2 2 43 — 23
Research and developme 6 9 114 4 60
General and administratiy 19 9 51 3 16
Total shar-based compensation expel $ 271 $ 2 $ 217  $ 7 $ ilofe

The following table summarizes our historical cditwied statements of income data as a percenfageenue for the periods shown:

Year Ended Three Months Ended
December 31, March 31,
2009 2010 2011 2011 2012
Consolidated Statements of Income Data:
Revenue 10C% 10C% 10C% 10C% 100%
Costs and expens®):
Cost of revenu 29 25 23 23 26
Marketing and sale 15 9 12 9 15
Research and developme¢ 11 7 10 8 14
General and administratiy 12 6 8 7 8
Total costs and expens 66 48 53 47 64
Income from operation 34 52 47 5 36
Interest and other income (expense), (1) (1) (2) 1 —
Income before provision for income tay 33 51 46 54 36
Provision for income taxe 3 20 19 23 17
Net income 29% 31% 27% 32% 19%
(1) Costs and expenses include the following s-based compensation expense as a percentage ofiee
Year Ended Three Months Ended
December 31, March 31,
2009 2010 2011 2011 2012
Cost of revenue —% —% —% —% — 0%
Marketing and sale — — 1 — 2
Research and developme 1 — 8 1 6
General and administratiy 2 — 1 — 2
Total shar-based compensation expel 3% 1% 6% 1% 10%
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Three Months Ended March 31, 2011 and 2012

Revenue
Three Months
Ended March 31,
2011 2012 % Change
(in millions)

Advertising revenu $637 $ 87z 37%
Payments and other fees reve 94 18€ 98%
Total revenue $731 $1,05¢ 45%

Revenue in the first quarter of 2012 increased $8RIfon, or 45%, compared to the same period i 20The increase was due prime
to a 37% increase in advertising revenue to $87Romi Advertising revenue grew due to a 35% insee@ the number of ads delivered.
increase in ads delivered was driven primarily Bgrugrowth; MAUs grew 33% from March 31, 2011 torbta31, 2012 and average DA
grew 41% from March 2011 to March 2012. Averageemer ad for the first quarter of 2012 comparedhto first quarter of 2011 w
unchanged, as an increase in the average pricadpierthe United States and Canada was offset bycaeased percentage of our worldv
ads being delivered in the Asia and Rest of Woddgyaphies where the average price per ad, whilwigg on a year-oveyear basis,
relatively lower. The average price per ad was affected by a decline in the average price pemaHurope in the first quarter of 2C
compared to the same period in 2011 due, we beliexeontinuing weak economic conditions in thafioe.

Payments and other fees revenue in the first quaift€2012 increased to $186 million, or 98%, conephto the first quarter
2011. Facebook Payments became mandatory for rakk gkevelopers accepting payments on the Facebadfofh with limited exceptions «
July 1, 2011. Accordingly, comparisons of Paymemis other fees revenue to periods before thismdaienot be meaningful.

Based upon our experience in the second quart20b? to date, the trend we saw in the first quasfddAUs increasing more rapic
than the increase in number of ads delivered hasmeed. We believe this trend is driven in partibgreased usage of Facebook on mu
devices where we have only recently begun showmgmenaterial number of sponsored stories in NewedFand in part due to certain pe
having fewer ads per page as a result of producisidoes. For additional information on factors tmahy affect these matters, seRisk
Factors—Growth in use of Facebook through our mobile prasiue@here our ability to monetize is unproven, asistitute for use on persa
computers may negatively affect our revenue arahfifal results” and “Risk Factorsodr culture emphasizes rapid innovation and piiai
user engagement over short-term financial results.”

Thirteen percent and 11% of our total revenue lierfirst quarter of 2011 and 2012, respectivelynedrom a single customer, Zyn
This revenue consisted of Payments processingréated to Zynga sale of virtual goods and from direct advertigngchased by Zync
Additionally, Zyngas apps generate pages on which we display ads dtber advertisers; for the first quarter of 2012 @stimate that i
additional approximately 4% of our total revenueswganerated from the display of these ads. In MEyY2we entered into an addendum tc
standard terms and conditions with Zynga pursuamthich it agreed to use Facebook Payments agitmany means of payment within Zyr
games played on the Facebook Platform. Under thierdum, we retain a fee of up to 30% of the fameesof user purchases in Zynga’
games on the Facebook Platform. This addendumesxjsirMay 2015.

Cost of revenue

Three Months
Ended March 31,

2011 2012 % Change
(in millions)
Cost of revenu $ 167 $ 277 66%
Percentage of reveni 23% 26%
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Cost of revenue in the first quarter of 2012 inseeh$110 million, or 66%, compared to the sameogein 2011. The increase v
primarily due to expenses related to expandingdat@ center operations, including a $59 milliorréase in depreciation, and to a lesser e;
an increase in payroll and benefits expenses neguitom a 66% increase in employee headcount. &lke&penses supported our user grc
the increased usage of our products by users, aeed, and advertisers, and the launch of new ptedu

We anticipate that cost of revenue will increasdadliar amount for the foreseeable future as wexrdpur data center capacity to sup
user growth, increased user engagement, and theigebf new products and offerings. We expect ogtl also rise for payment process
as we increase Payments volumes. The expectedagecia cost of revenue may be partially mitigaedhie extent we are able to rea
improvements in server performance and the effigienf our technical operations. We expect costewenue as a percentage of revent
increase in 2012 compared to 2011 as we continirvést in our technical infrastructure.

Marketing and sales

Three Months
Ended March 31,

2011 2012 % Change
(in millions)
Marketing and sale $6¢ $15¢ 134%
Percentage of reveni 9% 15%

Marketing and sales expenses in the first quate2042 increased $91 million, or 134%, comparedhi® same period in 2011. 1
increase was primarily due to an increase in oar-usleveloper-, and advertiscing marketing, and to a lesser extent, an irseréa payro
and benefits expenses resulting from a 34% incr@asmployee headcount to support global salesinbss development, and custo
service. Additionally, sharbased compensation expense increased to $23 miflitine first quarter of 2012 due to recognitionesipens
related to Post-2011 RSUs. In the same period 11 26hare-based compensation expense was immaterial

We anticipate that marketing and sales expensésnaikase in dollar amount and as a percentageveiue in 2012 compared to 2!
as a result of continued growth in headcount aradibeunt-related expenses, including share-basegamsation expense related to P231-]
RSUs. We plan to add sales, business developmentusiomer service employees, open new offices,cantinue our investment in user-
developer-, and advertis@aeing marketing. We also anticipate a significamdtrease in marketing and sales expenses in 20&2taluhe
inclusion of share-based compensation expense Rm¥2011 RSUs as described in “—Critical Accountifwicies and Estimates—Share-
based Compensation.”

Research and development

Three Months
Ended March 31,

2011 2012 % Change
(in millions)
Research and developm $57 $152 168%
Percentage of reveni 8% 15%

Research and development expenses in the firsteguar2012 increased $96 million, or 168%, comgdrethe same period in 2011. ~
increase was primarily due to an increase of shased compensation expense related to Zakt-RSUs from $4 million in the first quarte
2011 to $60 million in the same period in 2012. iBAyand benefits expense also increased due t8% growth in employee headcoun
engineering, design, product management, and ttbhnical functions. This investment supportedeftorts to improve existing products ¢
build new products for users, developers, and didees.
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We anticipate that research and development expemiieincrease in dollar amount and as a percentdgevenue in 2012 compare(
2011 as a result of continued growth in headcondtreeadcount-related expenses, including sharedtmmsapensation expense related to Post
2011 RSUs. We plan to continue rapidly hiring eeegiring, design, product management, and other imahemployees. We also anticipal
significant increase in research and developmepéemrses in 2012 due to the inclusion of share-basethbensation expense from R@t]
RSUs as described in “—Critical Accounting Policéesl Estimates—Share-based Compensation.”

General and administrative

Three Months
Ended March 31,

2011 2012 % Change
(in millions)
General and administratiy $51 $8¢ 73%
Percentage of reveni % 8%

General and administrative expenses in the firattgu of 2012 increased $37 million, or 73%, coregaio the same period in 2011.°
increase was primarily due to an increase in phadl benefits expenses resulting from a 57% irseréa employee headcount in finat
legal, human resources, and other functions, arallesser extent, outside consulting and legal. fadditionally, sharebased compensati
expense increased from $3 million in the first geiaof 2011 to $16 million in the same period in2@ue to recognition of expense relate
Post-2011 RSUs.

We anticipate that general and administrative eggemwill increase in dollar amount and increase agrcentage of revenue in 2
compared to 2011 as a result of growth in headcandtheadcount-related expenses, including shaedbeompensation related to the Post-
2011 RSUs. We plan to continue to increase gerardl administrative employee headcount to suppartgoowth. We also anticipate
significant increase in general and administragxpenses in 2012 due to the inclusion of shareebasmpensation expense from R@t]
RSUs as described in “—Critical Accounting Policéesl Estimates—Share-based Compensation.”

Interest and other income (expense), net

Three Months
Ended March 31,

2011 2012 % Change

(in millions)
Interest expens $ (V) $ (13 86%
Other income, ne 17 14 (18)%
Interest and other income (expense), $ 10 $ 1 (90)%

Interest and other income (expense), net in tlet duarter of 2012 decreased $9 million, or 90%npared to the same period in 2(
Interest expense increased by $6 million, primatikg to an increased volume of property and equipfireanced by capital leases. The che
in other income, net was primarily due to a $6 imilldecrease in foreign exchange related gainsigiorexchange gains resulted from
periodic remeasurement of our intercompany Euro balances.ddusease was partially offset by an increaseterést income driven by larg
invested cash balances.
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Provision for income taxes

Three Months
Ended March 31,

2011 2012 % Change
(in millions)
Provision for income taxe $ 165 $ 177 7%
Effective tax rate 41% 46%

Our provision for income taxes in the first quartér2012 increased $12 million, or 7%, comparedh® same period in 2011. (
effective tax rate increased primarily due to timpact of non-deductible shabased compensation expense, losses arising otitsddniter
States in jurisdictions where we do not receivaxabienefit, and the expiration of the federal teedit for research and development activitie
the end of 2011.

As a result of the completion of our initial pubbéfering, there will be a significant increasedanr sharebased compensation expe
from Pre2011 RSUs for the remainder of 2012. We expectdhaeffective tax rates for the remainder of 20dl2be significantly greater the
our effective tax rate was in the first quarter26fL.2, primarily because certain shéssed compensation expense will not be tax dedeti
the United States. In addition, our effective tater may fluctuate significantly in any quarter iigh there is significant shatese
compensation expense or significant exercisesttesents of stock awards.

Our effective tax rate has exceeded the U.S. sigtuate in part because of losses arising outsidéJnited States in jurisdictions wh
we do not receive a tax benefit. These losses wenearily due to the initial starp costs incurred by our foreign subsidiaries terafe it
certain foreign markets, including the costs inedrby those subsidiaries to license, develop, aedur intellectual property. Our effective
rate in the future will depend on the portion ofr quofits earned within and outside the United &atwhich will also be affected by «
methodologies for valuing our intellectual propeatyd intercompany transactions.

Net income

Our net income in the first quarter of 2012 decedasompared to the same period in 2011. Total @sisexpenses grew more t
revenue, due in particular to a significant inceeas share-based compensation expense for 2dgt-RSUs during the first quarter of 2(
which expense was not significant in the first geiaof 2011 due to the timing of RSU grants. Weestpto incur a net loss in the second qu
of 2012 as a result of the share-based compensatipense associated with @11 RSUs that we will incur upon the effectivenegsul
initial public offering, as described in “—CriticAlccounting Policies and Estimates—Share-based @osgtion.”

Years Ended December 31, 2009, 2010, and 2011

Revenue
Year Ended December 31 2009 to 201 2010 to 201
2009 2010 2011 % Change % Change
(in millions)
Advertising revenu $ 764 $1,86¢ $3,15¢ 145% 69%
Payments and other fees reve 13 10€ 557 NM NM
Total revenue $ 77 $1,97¢ $3,711 154% 88%

2011 Compared to 201®evenue in 2011 increased $1,737 million, or 88¥hmared to 2010. The increase was due primarily 6%
increase in advertising revenue to $3,154 milliddvertising revenue grew due to a 42% increaséénnumber of ads delivered and an !
increase in the average price per ad delivered.
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The increase in ads delivered was driven primdrilyuser growth; MAUs grew 39% from December 31, 2@d December 31, 2011 ¢
average DAUs grew 48% from December 2010 to Deceribél. The number of ads delivered was also aftetty many other factc
including product changes that significantly inaea the number of ads on many Facebook pages legirmthe fourth quarter of 201
partially offset by an increase in usage of our iegroducts, where we did not show ads, and biouarproduct changes implemented in Z
that in aggregate modestly reduced the number foadcertain pages. The increase in average peicagdelivered was affected by fac
including improvements in our ability to deliver morelevant ads to users and product changes d¢hétlmuted to higher user interaction v
the ads by increasing their relative prominence.

Payments and other fees revenue increased to $Bltdhrm 2011 due to the adoption of Facebook Pegta, which has been gradu
adopted by our Platform developers and began gemgrsignificant revenue in the fourth quarter 6flR. We estimate that approximate
million and 15 million users purchased virtual @agithl goods using Facebook Payments during thesyeaded December 31, 2010 and 2
respectively. Facebook Payments became mandatorglifgame developers accepting payments on thebemk Platform with limite
exceptions on July 1, 2011. Accordingly, comparssofipayments and other fees revenue to periodsdéiat date may not be meaningfu
2011, other fees revenue was immaterial.

In 2011, we generated approximately 56% of our meeefrom advertisers and Platform developers basé#te United States, compa
to 62% in 2010. This change is due to factors iiclg a faster growth rate of international users e expansion of international sales oft
and payment methods. The majority of our revenuside of the United States came from customerstéadcen western Europe, Canada,
Australia.

2010 Compared to 200®Revenue in 2010 increased $1,197 million, or 15d&tnpared to 2009. The increase was primarily due
145% increase in advertising revenue to $1,868anilin 2010. Advertising revenue grgwimarily due to an increase in the number of
delivered driven by growth in users and engagerasnivell as the number of ads per page. MAUs gre¥ 6®m December 31, 2009
December 31, 2010 and average DAUs grew 77% frooeeer 2009 to December 2010. Payments and otberésenue increased to $
million in 2010 due to the initial adoption of Fac®k Payments during the year. In 2010, we genggieroximately 62% of our revenue fr
advertisers and Platform developers based in tlietlStates, compared to 67% in 2009.

Twelve percent of our total revenue in 2011, ars$ llhan 10% in 2010 and 2009, came from a singleomer, Zynga. This reven
consisted of Payments processing fees related ng&y sales of virtual goods and from direct advergigiurchased by Zynga. Additiona
Zynga’s apps generate pages on which we display adsdtber advertisers; for 2011, we estimate that afitiadal approximately 7% of o
revenue was generated from the display of these ads

Cost of revenue

Year Ended December 31, 2009 to 201 2010 to 201
2009 2010 2011 % Change % Change
(dollars in millions)
Cost of revenui $ 228 $ 498 $ 86C 121% 74%
Percentage of reveni 29% 25% 23%

2011 Compared to 201@ost of revenue in 2011 increased $367 million74%, compared to 2010. The increase was primauéy tc
expenses related to expanding our data center tapesaincluding a $164 million increase in depagicn and a $35 million increase in ¢
center facility rent. These expenses supportediser growth, the increased usage of our productssbys, developers, and advertisers, an
launch of new products. Additionally, credit cariaother related revenue processing fees incréas&80 million.
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2010 Compared to 200€ost of revenue in 2010 increased $270 million]l 2%, compared to 2009. The increase was primduéy tc
expenses related to expanding our data center tapesaincluding a $77 million increase in equipmeent, a $49 million increase
depreciation, and a $33 million increase in dataterefacility rent. Additionally, credit card andher related revenue processing fees incre
by $25 million.

Marketing and sales

Year Ended December 31 2009 to 201 2010 to 201
2009 2010 2011 % Change % Change
(dollars in millions)
Marketing and sale $ 11F $ 184 $ 427 60% 132%
Percentage of reveni 15% 9% 12%

2011 Compared to 2010Jarketing and sales expenses in 2011 increased $@8n, or 132%, compared to 2010. The increase
primarily due to an increase in payroll and beseéikpenses resulting from a 46% increase in emeltygadcount to support global se
business development, and customer service, aral lésser extent, an increase in our user-, developed advertisefacing marketing
Additionally, sharebased compensation expense increased from $2 mifli@010 to $43 million in 2011 due to recognitioinexpense relat
to Post-2011 RSUs.

2010 Compared to 2009Marketing and sales expenses in 2010 increas@drilion, or 60%, compared to 2009. The increase
primarily due to an increase in payroll and beseéikpenses resulting from a 90% increase in emeltygadcount to support global se
business development, and customer service. Additig we increased our spending to support our-uskeveloper-, and advertisteing
marketing as well as our market research and aoslgapabilities.

Research and development

Year Ended December 31, 2009 to 201 2010 to 201
2009 2010 2011 % Change % Change
(dollars in millions)
Research and developm $ 87 $ 144 $ 38¢ 66% 169%
Percentage of reveni 11% % 10%

2011 Compared to 201®Research and development expenses in 2011 incrg§adddmillion, or 169%, compared to 2010. The iask
was primarily due to an increase from $9 million2@10 to $114 million in 2011 for share-based comspéon expense related to Pastt]
RSUs. Payroll and benefits expense also increasedala 57% growth in employee headcount in engimgedesign, product managem:
and other technical functions. This investment suigal our efforts to improve existing products dnild new products for users, develop
and advertisers.

2010 Compared to 200®esearch and development expenses in 2010 incrg&3emillion, or 66%, compared to 2009. The incecas:
primarily due to an increase in payroll and beseditpenses resulting from an 81% increase in erapltwgadcount in engineering and rel
functions. This investment supported our effortgriprove existing products and build new produotsusers, developers, and advertisers.

General and administrative

Year Ended December 31 2009 to 201 2010 to 201
2009 2010 2011 % Change % Change
(dollars in millions)
General and administratiy $ 90 $ 121 $ 28C 34% 131%
Percentage of reveni 12% 6% 8%
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2011 Compared to 201@General and administrative expenses in 2011 inece&359 million, or 131%, compared to 2010. Thedas
was primarily due to an increase in payroll anddfiés expenses resulting from a 54% increase inl@yep headcount in finance, legal, hut
resources, and other functions. Additionally, algsconsulting and legal fees contributed to theease. Sharbased compensation expe
increased from $9 million in 2010 to $51 million2011 due to recognition of expense related to-P0$L RSUs.

2010 Compared to 200%&eneral and administrative expenses in 2010 ineck®81 million, or 34%, compared to 2009. The iaseewa
primarily due to an increase in payroll and besefitpenses resulting from a 61% increase in emplbgadcount in general and administre
functions and, to a lesser extent, an increaselside consulting and legal fees.

Interest and other income (expense), net

Year Ended December 31 2009 to 201 2010 to 201
2009 2010 2011 % Change % Change
(in millions)
Interest expens $(10) $(22) $(42) 12(% 91%
Other income (expense), r 2 (2) (19) NM NM
Interest and other income (expense), $ (8 $(24) $(61) _20C% _154%

2011 Compared to 201Mnterest and other income (expense), net in 20tfeased $37 million, or 154%, compared to 201Ceré¥
expense increased by $20 million, driven by andase in fees related to our credit facility as dbed in “—Liquidity and Capital Resources,”
and the payments related to an increased volunpeopferty and equipment financed by capital lea¥hs. change in other income (exper
net was primarily due to $29 million in foreign éenge related losses in 2011. Foreign exchangedas2011 stemmed from the periodic re-
measurement of our intercompany Euro balances.idfomirrency balances were immaterial in 2010. €hegpenses were partially offset
an increase in interest income driven by largeested cash balances.

2010 Compared to 200terest expense in 2010 increased as a result infcaeased use of capital leases and interest gratgnelated |
our $250 million credit facility as described in ‘sgquidity and Capital Resources.” This loan wasaidpn full in March 2011.

Provision for income taxes

Year Ended December 31, 2009 to 201 2010 to 201
2009 2010 2011 % Change % Change
(dollars in millions)
Provision for income taxe $ 25 $ 402 $ 69t NM 73%
Effective tax rate 10% 40% 41%

2011 Compared to 201@ur provision for income taxes in 2011 increase#3baillion, or 73%, compared to 2010 primarily doear
increase in préax income. Our effective tax rate increased prilypaue to losses arising outside the United Statgsrisdictions where we (
not receive a tax benefit and the impact of nonudétle share-based compensation expense duringetire

2010 Compared to 200Qur provision for income taxes in 2010 increased/$illion compared to 2009 primarily due to anrease i
pretax income. Our effective tax rate increased prilpaue to a benefit recorded in 2009 related ®rlease of a valuation allowance, wl
did not recur in 2010.
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Quarterly Results of Operations Data

The following tables set forth our quarterly condaled statements of income data in dollars aral percentage of total revenue for €
of the nine quarters in the period ended March2B1,2. We have prepared the quarterly consolidaigraents of income data on a b
consistent with the audited consolidated finansfatements included elsewhere in this prospeatuthe opinion of management, the finar
information reflects all adjustments, consistindyoof normal recurring adjustments, which we coesidecessary for a fair presentation of
data. This information should be read in conjunctigth the audited consolidated financial stateraemtd related notes included elsewhe
this prospectus. The results of historical periaasnot necessarily indicative of the results for future period.

Three Months Ended

Mar 31, Jun 30, Dec 31 Mar 31, Jun 30, Mar 31,
Sep 30 Sep 30 Dec 31,
2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011 2011 2012
(in millions)
Consolidated Statements of Income Date
Revenue
Advertising revenu $ 34C $42¢ $45C $658 $637 $77€ $79€ $ 94z $ 872
Payments and other fees reve 5 8 17 76 94 11¢ 15€ 18¢€ 18€
Total revenue 34F 431 467 731 731 89t 954 1,131 1,05¢
Costs and expens®:
Cost of revenu 10C 111 131 15C 167 21C 23€ 247 277
Marketing and sale 36 44 45 59 68 108 124 132 15¢
Research and developmt 25 32 41 45 57 99 10¢ 124 152
General and administrati 22 26 34 40 51 76 72 80 88
Total costs and expens 182 213 251 294 343 48¢ 54C 583 677
Income from operatior 162 21¢ 21€ 437 38¢ 407 414 54¢ 381
Net income $ 95 $12¢ $131 $251 $23: $24C $227 $ 30z $ 20¢
(1) Costs and expenses include s-based compensation expense as follc
Three Months Ended
Mar 31, Jun 30 Sep 30 Dec 31 Mar 31, Jun 30 Sep 30 Dec 31 Mar
31,
2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011 2011 2012
(in millions)
Cost of revenu $ — $$ — $$ — $ — $ — 3 3 8 3 8 3 $ 4
Marketing and sale — 1 — 1 — 11 16 16 23
Research and developme 2 2 2 3 4 35 33 42 60
General and administrati\ 3 2 2 2 3 15 18 15 16
Total shar-based compensatic $ 5 $ 5 $ 4 3 6 $ 7 $ 64 $ 70 $ 76 &
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Three Months Ended
Mar 31, Jun 30 Sep 30 Dec 31 Mar 31, Jun 30. Sep 3C Dec 31 Mar 31,

2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011 2011 2012
(as a percentage of total revenue)

Consolidated Statements of Incom

Data:
Revenue
Advertising revenu 99% 98% 96% 9C% 87% 87% 84% 83% 82%
Payments and other fe
revenue 1 2 4 10 13 13 16 17 18
Total revenue 10C% 10C% 10C% 10C% 10C% 10C% 10C% 10C% 10C%
Costs and expens®:
Cost of revenu 29% 26% 28% 21% 23% 23% 25% 22% 26%
Marketing and sale 10 1C 10 8 9 12 13 12 a3
Research and developmt 7 7 9 6 8 11 11 11 14
General and administrati\ 6 6 7 5 7 8 8 7 8
Total costs and expens 53 49 54 40 47 55 57 52 64
Income from operation 47 51 46 60 53 45 43 48 36
Net income 28% 3C% 28% 34% 32% 27% 24% 27% 19%

(1) Costs and expenses include s-based compensation expense as follc

Three Months Ended

Mar 31, Jun 30. Sep 30 Dec 31 Mar 31, Jun 30. Sep 3C Dec 31 Mar 31,
2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011 2011 2012
(as a percentage of total revenue
Cost of revenu —% —% —% —% —% —% —% —% —%
Marketing and sale — — — — — 1 2 1 2
Research and developme 1 — — — 1 4 3 4 6
General and administratiy 1 — — — — 2 2 1 2
Total shar-based compensatic 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 7% 7% 7% 10%
Quarterly Trends
Revenue

Advertising spending is traditionally seasonallgosg in the fourth quarter of each year. We belithat this seasonality in advertis
spending affects our quarterly results, which galhereflect strong growth in advertising revenustvieen the third and fourth quarters
slower growth, and for certain years a declineadvertising spending between the fourth and sulesdqiirst quarters. For instance,
advertising revenue increased 64%, 46%, and 18%xcleet the third and fourth quarters of 2009, 201hd, 2011, respectively, while advertis
revenue in the first quarter of 2010 increased S%ampared to the fourth quarter of 2009 and abuegt revenue for the first quarter of 2(
and 2012 declined 3% and 8% compared to the fayutrters of 2010 and 2011, respectively. The rgpivth in our business may h:
partially masked these seasonal trends to datéhensbasonal impacts may be more pronounced ifutines.

Cost of revenue and operating expenses

Cost of revenue and operating expenses increaseagdevery quarter presented, primarily due to éased expenses related to
continued expansion of our technical infrastructumd increases in employee headcount.
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The increases in marketing and sales, researcldevelopment, and general and administrative expgeimséhe 2011 quarterly periods &
reflect significant increases for share-based corsgiion expense related to Post-2011 RSUs.

For additional information on matters that may etffeur quarterly results, see “Risk FactersOur financial results will fluctuate fro
quarter to quarter, which makes them difficult tedict.”

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Three Months

Ended
Year Ended December 31 March 31,
2009 2010 2011 2011 2012
(in millions)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Dat:

Net cash provided by operating activit $ 15t $ 69¢ $ 1,54¢ $ 34E $ 441
Net cash used in investing activiti (62 (329 (3,029 (153%) (720)
Net cash provided by financing activiti 243 781 1,19¢ 79¢ 5C
Purchases of property and equipm (33 (293) (60€) (159 (45%)
Depreciation and amortizatic 78 13¢ 328 51 11C
Shar-based compensatic 27 20 217 7 10z

Our principal sources of liquidity are our cash @agh equivalents, marketable securities, and geshrated from operations. Cash
cash equivalents and marketable securities copsisarily of cash on deposit with banks and investts in money market funds and (
government and U.S. government agency securitigsh @nd cash equivalents and marketable secudtaed $3,910 million as of March :
2012, an increase of $2 million from December 31112 The most significant cash flow activities dsted of $441 million of cash genera
from operations, offset by $453 million used fopital expenditures. Cash and cash equivalents arlatable securities totaled $3,908 mil
as of December 31, 2011, an increase of $2,123omifrom December 31, 2010. This increase primardflects $1,549 million of ca
generated from operations and $998 million of pedisefrom the sale of common stock, partially offegt$606 million used for capii
expenditures and repayment of a $250 million créatitlity. We currently anticipate that our avaikaldunds, credit facilities, and cash fl
from operations will be sufficient to meet our ogt@wnal cash needs for the foreseeable future.

In April 2012, we entered into an agreement to aegunstagram, Inc., which has built a mobile phdased photsharing service, fi
22,999,412 shares of our common stock and $30@milh cash. The value of the equity componenthef final purchase price will
determined for accounting purposes based on thedhie of our common stock on the closing dateiaigpossible that the per share pric
our common stock on that date could be signifigahigher or lower than the initial public offeringrice. Following the closing of tf
acquisition, we plan to maintain Instagranproducts as independent mobile applications bamece our photos product offerings and to er
users to increase their levels of mobile engagemedtphoto sharing. This acquisition is subjeatustomary closing conditions, including
expiration or early termination of all applicableiting periods under the Hart-Sc&®tdino Antitrust Improvement Act of 1976, as amed
(HSR), and is expected to close in 2012. We haweealgto pay Instagram a $200 million terminatioe f& governmental authoriti
permanently enjoin or otherwise prevent the conmpiedf the merger or if either party terminates éiggeement after December 10, 2012.

Also, in April 2012, we entered into an agreemeithwWilicrosoft Corporation pursuant to which we vk assigned Microsoft'rights t
acquire approximately 615 U.S. patents and pateplications and their foreign counterparts, coirsisbf approximately 170 foreign pate
and patent applications, that are subject to theemgent between AOL Inc. and Microsoft entered oricApril 5, 2012, in exchange for a tc
cash payment of approximately $550 million. As mHrthis transaction, we will obtain a non-exclusiicense to the other
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AOL patents and patent applications being purchdseMicrosoft and will grant Microsoft a nosxclusive license to the AOL patents
patent applications that we are acquiring. In addjtwe will be assigned Microsoft’s rights to asguthe outstanding shares of a wholly-
owned, nomeperating subsidiary of AOL that holds a portiortteé aforementioned patents and patent applicatitims transaction is subject
the closing of Microsofs transaction with AOL as well as customary clostogditions, including the expiration or early témation of al
applicable waiting periods under HSR.

Pre2011 RSUs vest upon the satisfaction of both aiceondition and a liquidity condition. The liqiti condition will be satisfied s
months following our initial public offering. Undeettlement procedures applicable to these awargsre permitted to deliver the underly
shares within 30 days before or after the date loiciwthe liquidity condition is satisfied. As a vdts we expect that a portion of these RSUs
are held by our directors and then current employéh be settled on a date that is 151 to 180 ddiex the date of this prospectus. In addi
a portion of these RSUs that are held by formerleyges will be settled approximately 181 days after date of this prospectus. On
settlement dates, we plan to withhold and remibine taxes at applicable minimum statutory rate®dbam the then current value of
underlying shares. We currently expect that theages of these withholding tax rates will be appneediely 45%. If the price of our comnr
stock at the time of settlement were equal to tlitéal public offering price of $38.00 per sharedebased on Pr2o11 RSUs outstanding as
March 31, 2012 for which the service condition Wik satisfied as of the date of settlement, wenesé that this tax obligation would
approximately $4.6 billion in the aggregate. Theoant of this obligation could be higher or loweepénding on the price of our shares or
RSU settlement date. To settle these RSUs, assuamnimgpproximate 45% tax withholding rate, we aptté that we will net settle the awe
by delivering an aggregate of approximately 155liamlshares of Class B common stock to RSU hol@des withholding an aggregate
approximately 122 million shares of Class B comnstock. In connection with these net settlementswite withhold and remit the te
liabilities on behalf of the RSU holders to theerednt tax authorities in cash.

To fund the withholding and remittance obligatiomse expect to sell equity securities near the ahisettlement date in an ama
substantially equivalent to the number of sharesoofimon stock that we withhold in connection wiiege net settlements, such that the n
issued shares should not be dilutive. However him évent that we issue equity securities, we caasstire you that we will be able
successfully match the proceeds to the amountisftéx liability. If we elect not to fully fund tawithholding and remittance obligatic
through the issuance of equity or we are unabletoplete such an offering due to market conditionstherwise, we may choose to bor
funds from our credit facilities, use a substari@ition of our existing cash, or rely upon a comaliion of these alternatives.

In 2011, we entered into an agreement for an umeddiveyear revolving credit facility that allowed us torbow up to $2,500 milliol
with interest payable on borrowed amounts setettindon Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus 1.08oFebruary 2012, we terminated
credit facility and we entered into a new agreenfentan unsecured fivgear revolving credit facility that allows us torbaw up to $5,00
million for general corporate purposes, with ingtrpayable on the borrowed amounts set at LIBOR fil@%. Prior to our initial publ
offering, we can borrow up to $2,500 million undhkrs facility. We paid origination fees at closiagd these fees are amortized ovel
remaining term of the credit facility. Under thents of the new agreement, we are obligated to pegnamitment fee of 0.10% per annurr
the daily undrawn balance. No amounts were drawvndander this agreement as of March 31, 2012.

Concurrent with our entering into the new revolvirgdit facility, we also entered into a bridgeditdacility that allows us to borrow |
to $3,000 million to fund tax withholding and retaitce obligations related to the settlement of R8Usonnection with our initial publ
offering, with interest payable on the borrowed ante set at LIBOR plus 1.0% and an additional 0.2h8yable on drawn balan
outstanding from and after the 180th day of borrmviWe may make a single borrowing under this laitégility beginning on the closing d
of our initial public offering and ending on thetedhat is 240 days after that date. Any amountstanding under this facility will be due ¢
year after the date we draw on the facility butiater than June 30, 2014. During the term of thidde facility, the lende’ commitments al
subject to reduction and amounts borrowed thereuamgesubject to
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repayment in the event we raise capital througkaceasset sales, debt issuances, or equity isssa¥ée paid origination fees at closing
these fees are amortized over the remaining tertheofacility, and we are obligated to pay an addél upfront fee of 0.20% of the aggre¢
amount of the borrowings requested on any appkcébiding date. Under the terms of the agreemeatang obligated to pay a commitrr
fee of 0.10% per annum on the daily undrawn baldrm® and after the 90th day following the date eveered into the bridge facility I
amounts were drawn down under this agreement Esafh 31, 2012.

As of March 31, 2012, $486 million of the $3,91dlion in cash and cash equivalents and marketadeargties was held by our forei
subsidiaries. We have provided for the additioaaks that would be due if we repatriated thesedudoduse in our operations in the Un
States.

Cash provided by operating activities

Cash flow from operating activities during the figaiarter of 2012 primarily consisted of net incoaf&205 million, adjusted for cert:
non-cash items, including total depreciation andization of $110 million, and shatmsed compensation expense of $103 million.
increase in cash flow from operating activitiesidgrthe first quarter of 2012 compared to the sgmeod in 2011 was mainly due to
increase in net income as adjusted for non-casfsigich as depreciation, amortization, and shaseebeompensation.

Cash flow from operating activities during 201 1nparily resulted from net income of $1,000 milli@djusted for certain nocash item:
including total depreciation and amortization o233nillion, and share-based compensation expen$2laf million.

Cash flow from operating activities during 2010nparily resulted from net income of $606 million jasted for certain nogash item:
including total depreciation and amortization of3$1million and shardased compensation expense of $20 million, paytiafiset by cas
consumed by working capital of $70 million.

Cash flow from operating activities during 2009nparily resulted from net income of $229 million jested for certain noeash item:
including total depreciation and amortization oB3$fiillion and shardased compensation of $27 million, partially offsgtcash consumed
working capital of $179 million.

Cash used in investing activities

Cash used in investing activities during the fiqsarter of 2012 primarily resulted from capital ergitures of $453 million related to-
purchase of servers, networking equipment, storafjastructure, and the construction of data centes well as $240 million for the |
purchase of marketable securities. The increasash used in investing activities during the fqesarter of 2012 compared to the same pr
in 2011 was mainly due to increases in capital egjieres and the purchase of marketable securvitidésh were not in our investment portfc
in the prior period.

Cash used in investing activities during 2011 prilpaesulted from the use of approximately $2,388lion for the net purchase
marketable securities. Our cash used in investitigiges in 2011 also consisted of capital expamdis of $606 million related to the purch
of servers, networking equipment, storage infrastme, and the construction of data centers.

Cash used in investing activities during 2010 a@d®primarily consisted of capital expendituresited to the purchases of property
equipment and the construction of data centersn@dsin restricted cash and deposits consumed #ermand $32 million of cash related
security deposits in support of real estate expansi 2010 and 2009, respectively. Acquisitions, ofecash acquired, also consumed
million of cash in 2010.

We anticipate making capital expenditures in 20fl2pproximately $1.6 billion to $1.8 billion, a gimm of which we will finance throu¢
leasing arrangements. We also anticipate spendd®@ fillion in cash as part of the purchase primethe acquisition of Instagram
approximately $550 million in cash in exchangetfor
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assignment of Microsoft Corporation’s rights to aicg certain patent assets of AOL Inc. as welhasentity holding a portion of those assets.

Cash provided by financing activities

Our financing activities have primarily consistefdeguity issuances, lease financing, and debt &iman Net cash provided by financ
activities was $50 million and $798 million, respeely, for the first quarters of 2012 and 2011d&#i,198 million, $781 million, and $2
million, respectively, for 2011, 2010, and 2009isTimcludes excess tax benefits from stock awatiities of $54 million, $69 million, $42
million, $115 million, and $51 million, respectiyel

In January 2011, we completed an offering of owas€lA common stock to certain nonS. investors that generated $998 million ir
proceeds. In December 2010, we completed an offa@frour Class A common stock that generated $50@®min proceeds. In May 2009, \
completed an offering of Series E preferred stbelt generated $200 million in proceeds.

In March 2010, we entered into a credit facilityttwtertain lenders. This facility allowed for thead/down of up to $250 million
unsecured senior loans. In April 2010, we drew ddlenfull amount available under the facility, andVarch 2011, we repaid the entire $
million balance.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We did not have any off-balance sheet arrangenietite first quarter of 2012, or in 2011, 20102609.

Contingencies

We are involved in claims, lawsuits, governmentestigations, and proceedings arising from the amgircourse of our business.
record a provision for a liability when we beliethat it is both probable that a liability has beecurred, and the amount can be reasor
estimated. Significant judgment is required to datee both probability and the estimated amounthSlegal proceedings are inhere
unpredictable and subject to significant uncerieitsome of which are beyond our control. Shoulyg af these estimates and assump
change or prove to be incorrect, it could have gened impact on our results of operations, finahpiosition, and cash flows.

Commitments

Our principal commitments consist of obligationslencapital and operating leases for equipmenioéfice and data center facilities. 1
following table summarizes our commitments to settintractual obligations in cash as of Decembgf@11.

Payment Due by Perioc

Less More

than 1-3 3-5 than

Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years

Operating lease obligatiol $ 94t $ 18( $ 24 $ 197 $ 32t
Capital lease obligatior 817 322 337 28 13C
Other contractual commitmer® 50C 45C 28 25 —
Total contractual obligatior $2,26: $ 952 $ 60E $ 25C $ 45E

(1) Other contractual commitments primarily relate goipment and supplies for our data center operstiand to a lesser extent, construction of our clextéer sites
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In addition, our other liabilities include $60 nwih related to uncertain tax positions as of Decandd, 2011. Due to uncertainties in
timing of the completion of tax audits, the timiofithe resolution of these positions is uncertaid we are unable to make a reasonably rel
estimate of the timing of payments in individuadygbeyond 12 months. As a result, this amounttisncluded in the above table.

Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncemés

Comprehensive Income

In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards rdasued guidance that changed the requiremenprisenting Comprehensiv
Income”in the consolidated financial statements. The wdaquires an entity to present the componentshefr @omprehensive income eit
in a single continuous statement of comprehensigeme or in two separate but consecutive statemé&hésupdate is effective for fiscal ye:
and interim periods within those years, beginnifigreDecember 15, 2011 and should be applied ne#éais/ely. We adopted this new guida
on January 1, 2012.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepamedccordance with U.S. generally accepted accognfirinciples (GAAP). Tt
preparation of these consolidated financial statgseequires us to make estimates and assumptiahsffect the reported amounts of as
liabilities, revenue, costs and expenses, andeetldisclosures. These estimates form the basjadgments we make about the carrying ve
of our assets and liabilities, which are not readpparent from other sources. We base our estinaaite judgments on historical experience
on various other assumptions that we believe aamsorgmble under the circumstances. On an ongoing, vas evaluate our estimates
assumptions. Our actual results may differ fronséhestimates under different assumptions or camditi

We believe that of our significant accounting pigl&; which are described in note 1 to our constdidifinancial statements, the follow
accounting policies involve a greater degree ofjjuednt and complexity. Accordingly, these are thkcjes we believe are the most critica
aid in fully understanding and evaluating our fio@hcondition and results of operations.

Revenue Recognition for Payments and Other Fees

We enable Payments from our users to our Platf@weldpers. Our users can make payments on the é@lc&atform by using cre:
cards or other payment methods available on oursitebThe primary process for these transactiortirisugh the purchase of our virt
currency. Our users then use this virtual curretocpurchase virtual and digital goods in games appls from developers on the Facet
Platform. Upon the initial sale of the virtual ceimcy, we record consideration received from a asex deposit.

When a user engages in a payment transactioningjilthe virtual currency for the purchase of auattor digital good from a Platfol
developer, we reduce the virtual currency balarfcth@® user by the price of the purchase, which fiee that is solely determined by
Platform developer. We remit to the Platform depeloan amount that is based on the total amounwirtfal currency redeemed less
processing fee that we charge the Platform develmpehe service performed. Our revenue is theanebunt of the transaction representing
processing fee for the transaction. We record negem a net basis as we do not consider ourseies the principal in the sale of the viri
or digital good to the user. Under GAAP guidandatesl to reporting revenue gross as a principaugenet as an agent, the indicators us
determine whether an entity is a principal or aerigo a transaction are subject to judgment. Wesider ourselves the agent to tf
transactions when we apply the indicators to oatstaShould material subsequent changes in théaswuesor nature of the transactions
Platform developers result in us being considehedprincipal in such sales, we would reflect theual and digital goods sale as revenue
the amounts paid to the Platform developers as an
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associated cost. This would have no impact uponoparating income, but our revenue and associabsts avould increase by a sim
amount.

Income Taxes

We are subject to income taxes in the United Statesnumerous foreign jurisdictions. Significandgment is required in determini
our provision for income taxes and income tax asaertl liabilities, including evaluating uncertaéstin the application of accounting princij
and complex tax laws.

We record a provision for income taxes for the cdpéted tax consequences of the reported resultgpefations using the asset
liability method. Under this method, we recognizfelred tax assets and liabilities for the expedtadre tax consequences of tempo
differences between the financial reporting and liazes of assets and liabilities, as well as farajng loss and tax credit carryforwa
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measuretd)uke tax rates that are expected to apply talxincome for the years in which those
assets and liabilities are expected to be realizeskttled. We record a valuation allowance to cedour deferred tax assets to the net an
that we believe is more likely than not to be rzedi.

We recognize tax benefits from uncertain tax posgionly if we believe that it is more likely thaot that the tax position will |
sustained on examination by the taxing authoriti@sed on the technical merits of the position. éutih we believe that we have adequi
reserved for our uncertain tax positions, we cawviple no assurance that the final tax outcome ede¢hmatters will not be materially differe
We make adjustments to these reserves when fagtsimoumstances change, such as the closing of autdit or the refinement of an estim
To the extent that the final tax outcome of thesstens is different than the amounts recorded, diffarences will affect the provision 1
income taxes in the period in which such deternmmais made and could have a material impact onfinancial condition and operati
results. The provision for income taxes includesdffects of any reserves that we believe are qpiate, as well as the related net interest
penalties.

Share-based Compensation

Overview

We have granted RSUs to our employees and memlersrdoard of directors. Pr2011 RSUs vest upon the satisfaction of bc
service condition and a liquidity condition. Thengdee condition for the majority of these awardssatisfied over four years. The liquic
condition is satisfied upon the occurrence of difyilag event, defined as a change of control tearti®n or six months following the effect
date of an initial public offering. Under the termfsour 2005 Stock Plan, the shares underlying RtBdssatisfy both of these conditions ar
be delivered to holders six months following oduti&h public offering.

Post-2011 RSUs are not subject to a liquidity ctiodiin order to vest. The majority of Pé&#11 RSUs are earned over a service p
of four or five years.

Share-based Compensation Expense

We account for sharkased employee compensation plans under the flaie vacognition and measurement provisions in atzowre witl
applicable accounting standards, which requireshiirebased payments to employees, including grants auksbptions and RSUs, to
measured based on the grant-date fair value civitaeds.

Sharebased compensation expense is recorded net ofatstinforfeitures in our consolidated statementsnobme and as such
recorded for only those shabased awards that we expect to vest. We estimatiotfeiture rate based on historical forfeiturégquity award
and adjust the rate to reflect changes in factsamdmstances, if any. We will revise our estindaterfeiture rate if actual forfeitures dif
from our initial estimates. We record share-basedpensation expense for service-based equity avgatsas stock options,
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restricted shares, and Post-2011 RSUs using th@lstfine attribution method over the period during whithe employee is required
perform service in exchange for the award. We isbare-based compensation expense for perforntssest equity awards such as R@d-
RSUs using the accelerated attribution method.hie second quarter of 2012, we will recognize a i@mt cumulative sharéase:
compensation expense for the portion of the Pret ®8Us that had met the service condition as dfdate.

We have historically issued unvested restrictedeshéo employee stockholders of certain acquiradpamies. As these awards
generally subject to continued post-acquisition leympent, we have accounted for them as post-adiuissharebased compensation expel
We recognize compensation expense equal to the dasan fair value of the common stock on a straligiet basis over the employeerequire:
service period, net of estimated forfeitures.

We capitalize share-based employee compensatioansgpwhen appropriate. We did not capitalize argredbased compensati
expense in the first quarter of 2012 or in theeahrears ended December 31, 2011.

As of March 31, 2012, no share-based compensatipense had been recognized for P@4-1 RSUs because the qualifying ev
described above had not occurred. In the secondtequaf 2012, we will begin recording sharased compensation expense using
accelerated attribution method net of forfeiturasda on the grant date fair value of the Pre-208UWsR For Pre2011 RSUs, if our initial publ
offering had occurred on March 31, 2012, we wouddenhrecognized $965 million of cumulative shbesed compensation expense on
date.

The following table summarizes, on a pro forma §as$ie number of vested and unvested et RSUs outstanding at March 31, 2
and the share-based compensation expense relatei2011 RSUs that we would have incurred, assumingiratial public offering ha
occurred on March 31, 2012.

“Vested” Pre-2011 RSU “Unvested” Pre-2011 RSU Pro Forma Sharebasec
as of Mar 31, 20141) as of Mar 31, 20142) Compensation Expens
(in thousands) (in millions)
240,457 84,590 $965

(1) For purposes of this tabl“Veste” RSUs include those RSUs for which the service da@mrdhad been fulfilled as of March 31, 20.
(2) For purposes of this tabl*Unveste” RSUs include those RSUs for which the service dahad not been fulfilled as of March 31, 2012 axclude an estimate of forfeited RS!

This table is based on P2&11 RSUs outstanding as of March 31, 2012 andtended to be illustrative only. The actual timiof
compensation expense we will recognize relateditstanding Pr&011 RSU awards will depend on the date of therdpsf our initial publit
offering. The actual amount of compensation expevseavill incur will vary because the service coratitof additional RSUs will be fulfille
between March 31, 2012 and the closing date ofroti@l public offering.

We estimate that the remaining unrecognized shasedbcompensation expense relating toZRel RSUs would be approximately $
million, after giving effect to estimated forfeies and would be recognized in the remainder of 20itRthereafter as shown on the table be
if our initial public offering had occurred on M&r81, 2012.

In addition, as of March 31, 2012, we had 53 millRost-2011 RSUs outstanding. For these PO%t RSUs, $97 million in expense \
recognized in the first quarter of 2012 and, affiming effect to estimated forfeitures, a remain®i3119 million will be recognized in t
remainder of 2012 and thereafter as shown in thk thelow. This table estimates future shiaased compensation expense related -
outstanding equity grants, consisting of RSUsyiaetl shares, and stock options through Marci2812. The table does not take into acc
any shardsased compensation expense related to future avhaismay be granted to employees, directors, beroservice providel
Additionally, the amounts in the table include atireate of unvested
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awards that may be forfeited in future periods ttuthe departure of employees or directors. Ouefture estimates are subject to adjustr
based on actual experience.

Remainder of
2012 2013 2014 2015 Beyond 201!
(in millions)
Pre-2011 RSU«DE@) $ 107 $ 79 $ 31 $ 8 $ 1C
Po0s-2011 RSU® 21E 28¢ 291 24C 84
Restricted share 10 11 10 3 —
Stock options 6 7 5 4 6
Total $ 33¢€ $38€ $337 $25E $ 10C

(1) Assumes our initial public offering was completedMarch 31, 2012

(2) Excludes the estimated $965 million expense reledeire2011 RSUs for which the service condition had baemeved as of March 31, 2012 and which would Haaen incurre
assuming our initial public offering had occurradMarch 31, 2012

(3) Does not reflect the share-based compensation s&ghat we will incur in future periods in conneatwith the grant of an aggregate of 25,257,815-P0$1 RSUs on May 3, 2012
the fair value of our Class A common stock was @38the initial public offering price, the shavased compensation expense related to these gventd be approximately $1
million for the remainder of 2012, $210 million 2013, $212 million for 2014, $228 million for 201&nd $153 million beyond 201

The aggregate intrinsic value of vested and undesteck options and vested and unvested RSUs &aafh 31, 2012, based on
initial public offering price of $38.00 per sharas$8,477 million, $404 million, $9,365 million,&f5,015 million, respectively.

We estimated the fair value of stock option awamttuded in the table above using the Black-Schieston single optionsaluatior
model, which requires inputs such as expected texpected volatility, and riskee interest rate. The estimated forfeiture rdtstock optiol
awards also affects the amount of aggregate cormpensxpense we will incur. These inputs are sibje and generally require significi
analysis and judgment to develop.

We estimate the expected term for stock option dsvéased upon the historical behavior of our emgaey The expected volatility
based on a study of publicly traded industry peenganies. The forfeiture rate is derived primafitym our historical data, and the rifilee
interest rate is based on the yield available d®. Ureasury zergoupon issues. Our dividend yield is 0%, since weehnot paid, and do r
expect to pay, dividends.

We estimated the fair value of employee stock eytigranted in 2009 and 2010 as of the date of iiwet gising the following weighted-
average assumptions:

Year Ended December 31

2009 2010
Expected term from grant date (in yee 5.04 7.1%
Risk-free interest rat 2.01% 1.6%
Expected volatility 0.57 0.4¢

Dividend yield — —

The weightedaverage grant date fair value of employee stoclongptgranted during 2009 and 2010 was $1.12 ar@b$Bespectivel
per share. We did not grant any stock options thl2r in the first quarter of 2012.

Tax Withholding and Remittance Obligations

We estimate that an aggregate of approximatelyr2iflibn shares underlying Pr2011 RSUs will settle on dates that are 151 toda
after the date of this prospectus, based or2Bid- RSUs outstanding as of March 31, 2012 for ke service condition will be satisfied a
the dates of settlement. In addition, we estimhtg &in additional approximately 3 million P2611 RSUs will settle following such da
through the
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end of 2012. We estimate that an aggregate of appately 56 million Pre-2011 RSUs and Post-2011 R8Il settle in 2013.

RSU holders generally will recognize taxable incdmsed upon the value of the shares on the datatkesettled and we are require
withhold taxes on such value at applicable minimstatutory rates. We currently expect that the ayermf these withholding rates will
approximately 45%. For additional information orr ¢éax withholding and remittance obligations rethte RSU vesting, see “Liquidity anc
Capital Resources” above.

Corporate Income Taxes

The RSU activity discussed above, as well as agtivom other equity awards including stock optiondl also have corporate incol
tax effects. The most significant effect is that #ettlement of awards or exercise of nonstatigtwgk options generates a corporate incom
deduction that will reduce our U.S. corporate inectx liability. The exercise of incentive stockiops (ISOs) may also result in a corpo
income tax deduction, but only in certain circumsts where the holder of the ISOs also sells thaieed shares in a disqualifying disposit
The amount of this corporate income tax deductidhb& based on the value of shares at the exearisettlement date, which differs from
value of the shares at the grant date that is tossddtermine the shatesed compensation expense. Depending on the othe shares on t
date the equity awards are settled or options »eecised, we could generate a corporate incomealéauction that exceeds our other |
taxable income in that year, which would resultiitaxable loss for U.S. corporate income tax pwepdBat reduces our U.S. corporate inc
tax liability to an immaterial amount for that yeém 2012, we expect to settle approximately 280ioni RSUs. In addition, as of March .
2012, we had vested nonstatutory options outstgrtdipurchase approximately 185 million shareswf@lass B common stock. As of Ma
31, 2012, we also had vested ISOs outstanding tohpee approximately 40 million shares of our CBissommon stock, but given t
uncertainty in predicting whether the 1ISO holdei @hoose to make disqualifying dispositions, we assuming that no corporate income
deductions will be generated by these 1SOs. Assgimiinof these vested nonstatutory stock optioeseaercised during 2012 and assuming
value of our Class B common stock at settlemenipon option exercise is the initial public offeripgce of $38.00 per share, we estimate
this settlement and option exercise activity by .le@ployees would generate a corporate income g¢dxation of approximately $17 billic
The amount that this deduction exceeds our oth8r tdxable income will result in a net operatingsigNOL) that can be carried back to
preceding two years to offset our taxable incommdJ&. federal income tax purposes, as well aginesstates, which would allow us to rec
a refund of some of the corporate income taxes aie ip those years. Based on the assumptions ab@vanticipate that this refund could
up to $500 million and payable to us during thstfsix months of 2013. Any portion of the NOL reniag after this carryback would
carried forward to offset our other U.S. taxableoime generated in future years, which taxable ircavill also be reduced by deducti
generated from new stock award settlement and stptikn exercise activity occurring in those futyears.

Utilization of our NOL carryforwards may be subjeot annual limitations due to the ownership chaliggtations provided by tr
Internal Revenue Code and similar state provisiBugh annual limitations could result in the exjiina of the NOL carryforwards before th
utilization. The events that may cause ownershignges include, but are not limited to, a cumulasiteck ownership change of greater 1
50% over a three-year period.

The corporate income tax deductions generatedibyséttlement and exercise activity described algmveot reduce our effective tax r
reflected in our consolidated statements of inco®w: provision for income taxes reflects the taxdfés that are recorded at the time
sharebased compensation is initially recognized as aeese, which is based on the fair value of shargsaat date, and is different than
corporate income tax deduction, which is basedhenvalue of shares at settlement or at exercigbelfeduction in our corporate income
liability from settlements and exercises is gredbem the tax benefits that we recognized whenstieebased compensation expense
initially recorded, which will generally occur ifuo share price has appreciated between grant datesettlement or exercise date, this
create an “excess tax benefit” that is recorded asmponent of additional paid-capital and not as a reduction of our provisionincome
taxes in
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our consolidated statements of income. The timmwfhich these excess tax benefits are reflectedunrbalance sheet generally matche:
timing in which the reduction in prior or futureciome tax liability occurs. Thus, if we have thegees of NOLs remaining after any carryb
claims, we would not record a deferred tax assestich NOLs, but rather we would record an adjustne additional paida capital and
reduction to our corporate income tax liability ithgr the period in which those NOLs are used to cedour corporate income tax liabili
These excess tax benefits would be recorded istatements of cash flows as cash provided by fingractivities.

Valuation of Our Common Stock

The valuations of our Class B common stock wererd@hed in accordance with the guidelines outlimedhe American Institute
Certified Public Accountants Practice Aidaluation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Secestilssued as CompensatioliVe considere
numerous objective and subjective factors to deternour best estimate of the fair value of our €lcommon stock, including but |
limited to, the following factors:

. recent private stock sale transactions;

. our historical financial results and estimated dseand prospects for our future financial perforogg

. our performance and market position relative toa@mpetitors and/or similar publicly traded comgssni
. the economic and competitive environment, includhmgindustry in which we operate; a

. third-party valuations completed as of the endaafhequarter.

We have granted the following RSUs since Januagp1]:

Shares Aggregate
Underlying Grant Date Grant Date
Grant Date RSUs Fair Value Fair Value
(thousands (millions)
2011
First Quarter
February 16, 201 2,022 $ 24.1( $ 4¢
March 25, 201: 40,00¢ 25.4: 1,015
Second Quarter
May 11, 2011 2,58( 27.5¢ 71
June 6, 201 1,64: 28.8¢ 47
June 22, 201 1,01( 29.67 30
Third Quarter
July 21, 2011 2,89¢ 30.0i 87
September 1, 201 1,42¢ 30.0i 43
September 6, 201 20 30.0% 1
September 22, 201 1,64¢ 30.0i 50
Fourth Quarter
November 11, 201 67C 29.91 20
December 22, 201 1,20z 29.7¢ 36
2012
First Quarter
January 12, 201 944 30.1¢ 28
January 27, 201 1,00¢ 30.7: 31
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Through the first quarter of 2012, we conductedigabns of our Class B common stock that took adocount the factors described ak
and used a combination of financial and matieted methodologies to determine our businesspeiseivalue (BEV) including the followit
approaches:

. Discounted Cash Flow Method (DCFI. DCFM involves estimating the future cash flowsadfusiness for a certain discrete pe
and discounting such cash flows to present valuael cash flows are expected to continue beyordithcrete time period, thel
terminal value of the business is estimated ancodisted to present value. The discount rate refléet risks inherent in the ci
flows and the market rates of return available fadtarnative investments of similar type and gyadi$ of the valuation dat

. Guideline Public Company Method (GPCMYGPCM assumes that businesses operating in the saiustry will share simil;
characteristics and that the subject busigesalue will correlate to those characteristicserBfore, a comparison of the sub
business to similar businesses whose financiatimtion and public market value are available mayide a reasonable basis
estimate the subject businessyalue. The GPCM provides an estimate of valuagusiultiples derived from the stock price
publicly traded companies. In selecting guidelingblg companies for this analysis, we focused prilpjaon quantitativi
considerations, such as financial performance dher@uantifiable data, as well as qualitative aderstions, such as industry
economic drivers

. Market Transaction Method (MTN. MTM considers transactions in the equity secesitf the business being valued. During 2
there were private stock sale transactions in aunroon stock. These transactions are considerdaeif obccur with or amor
willing and unrelated parties. For our MTM estingtee evaluate all transactions in the quarter pétticular focus on transactic
that are closer in proximity to the valuation datée choose the weighting for the MTM each quartesea on factors such as
volume of transactions in each period, the timifthese transactions, and whether the transacitimadved investors with access
our financial information

We performed all three methodologies for each gudidted above, and weighted the methodologiesdas the facts and circumstar
in the quarter. Our indicated BEV at each valuatiate was then allocated to the shares of prefestieark, common stock, warrants, optic
and RSUs, using the option pricing method (OPM).

First Quarter 2011

We determined the fair value of our Class B commstock to be $25.54 per share as of March 31, 20/klassigned a 50% weighting
the MTM due to the significant volume of third-pagrivate stock sale transactions in March 201&luiding a thirdparty Class B commc
stock tender offer transaction for employee sh#oes$25.00 per share which commenced on March 1128hd became binding upon
selling stockholders on March 29, 2011. The temdimr was undertaken by investors who had accessitdistorical financial information. ~
calculate the MTM, we used the weighted averageepof all transactions originating in March 201attlvere expected to be consumme
including the tender offer. We based our MTM estenen March 2011 transactions because we beli@vesactions occurring closer to
quarterend valuation date are more relevant to fair véhaa those transactions occurring earlier in thartgu. We assigned a 35% weigh
to the GPCM which reflected the stock prices andketamultiples of guideline public companies. Wesigsed a 15% weighting to the DCI
which was based on a weighted average cost ofatagfit15% and a perpetual growth rate of 5%. The=BlQeceived the lowest weic
because our financial plan had not been recenttiatggl, and therefore we believed the cash flownagsans used in the DCFM were |
relevant to the determination of fair value ash@f tneasurement date. The BEV resulting from th&ysis was then allocated using the C
and a 7.5% marketability discount was applied.

The fair value of the RSUs granted in February 20&k determined using a straidimee calculation, with the benefit of hindsic
between the fair value determined as of December2810 of $20.85 per share and the $25.00 per shféee price for the tender off
described above that commenced on March 1, 201d faihvalue of the RSUs granted in March 2011 determined using a similar straight-
line calculation between the
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tender offer price of $25.00 per share as of MdrcB011, and the fair value determined as of M&th2011 of $25.54 per share.
determined that the straighte calculation provides the most reasonable bfasighe valuations for the RSUs granted on therint date
because we did not identify any single event tltauaed during this interim period (other than March 2011 tender offer) that would hi
caused a material change in fair value.

Second Quarter 2011

We determined the fair value of our Class B comrmsimtk to be $30.07 per share as of June 30, 20&las%igned a 50% weighting
the MTM due to the significant volume of thipdwty private stock sale transactions in June 2iitlyding transactions involving investors v
had access to our historical financial informati®o. calculate the MTM, we used the weighted averagee of all transactions originating
June 2011 that were expected to be consummatechaskd our MTM estimate on June 2011 transactionause we believe transacti
occurring closer to the quartend valuation date are more relevant to the detextioin of fair value than those transactions odegrearlier ir
the quarter. We made no change to the weightingjgreesd to the GPCM and DCFM from the previous araih this period, we added cert
Internet companies that had recently completedlrpublic offerings to our set of guideline pubtiompanies, which increased the value o
GPCM from the prior valuation period. The DCFM wased on a weighted average cost of capital of 46&8ca perpetual growth rate of ¢
The BEV resulting from this analysis was then aled using the OPM and a 6.5% marketability distouas applied. Significant factc
influencing the change in valuation relative to grer quarter included the foregoing private stgele transactions and the addition to ou
of guideline public companies of newly public comjgs whose valuation multiples were relatively @gthan others in the comparison gr«
We believe our valuation increase was affected ldien speculation that we were planning an initiabliz offering in 2012, invest
speculation that our financial performance wasdpdtian investors had previously believed, andstinecessful public offerings and trad
performance of certain Internet companies in tloeisé quarter.

The fair values of the RSUs granted in May and 201l were determined using a straitjié- calculation, with the benefit of hindsic
between the fair value determined as of March B1,120f $25.54 per share and the fair value detexthers of June 30, 2011 of $30.07
share. We determined that the strailijii-calculation provides the most reasonable asithe valuations for the RSUs granted on therin
dates because we did not identify any single ettt occurred during this interim period that woblave caused a material change in
value.

Third Quarter 2011

We determined the fair value of our Class B comstoek to be $30.07 per share as of September 30, 20e used a combination of
GPCM, the DCFM, and the MTM to determine BEV. Weigsed a 50% weighting to the DCFM because we leadntly completed
comprehensive update to our financial plan andefoee we believed the assumptions used in the DCRigely reflected BEV. The BE
resulting from this DCFM analysis was allocatedhgsihe OPM and a 6.0% marketability discount wadiag. Relative to the first and sect
quarters, in the third quarter we assigned a lomaighting of 25% to the MTM due to the lower ovéradlume of thirdparty private stock se
transactions and the lack of significant transagtiwith investors that had access to our finariofarmation. To calculate the MTM, we us
the weighted average price of all transactionsimaiing in September 2011 that were expected tedresummated. We based our M
estimate on September 2011 transactions becaubeligge transactions occurring closer to the quamtel valuation date are more relevai
the determination of fair value than those trarieastoccurring earlier in the quarter.

Because there was no change to fair value betweetwb valuation periods, and because we did resttify any events during the per
that would have caused a material change in faireyave used $30.07 per share as the fair valualff&®SU grants during the period.
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Fourth Quarter 2011

We determined the fair value of our Class B commstoick to be $29.73 per share as of December 311, 20& assigned a 50% weight
to the MTM due to the significant volume of thipdaty private stock sale transactions in Deceml®drl 2 including transactions involvi
investors who had access to our historical findrinfarmation. To calculate the MTM, we used theigited average price of all transacti
originating in December 2011 that were expecteldet@onsummated. We based our MTM estimate on Dezeftli 1 transactions because
believe transactions occurring closer to the quamntel valuation date are more relevant to the detetioin of fair value than those transact
occurring earlier in the quarter. We assigned a 2&9ighting to the GPCM and the DCFM to determine ¥alue. In this period, we includ
additional Internet companies that had recentlygeted initial public offerings to our set of guite public companies for use in estima
the GPCM. Compared to our valuation as of SepterBbe2011, we assigned a lower weight to the DCRMhis period because time |
passed since key elements of our financial planiesh updated, and therefore the cash flow assonsptised in the DCFM were less reler
to the determination of fair value as of the measwant date. The DCFM was based on a weighted avaragt of capital of 15% anc
perpetual growth rate of 5%. The BEV resulting frtis analysis was then allocated using the OPMabdb% marketability discount w
applied. The primary factor influencing the chamggaluation relative to the prior quarter was thieegoing private stock sale transactions,
we believe our valuation decrease was affectedbyirrued public market volatility.

The fair values of the RSUs granted in November@edember 2011 were determined using a strdigétealculation, with the benefit
hindsight, between the fair value determined aSejtember 30, 2011 of $30.07 per share and thedhie determined as of December
2011 of $29.73 per share. We determined that tleégbtline calculation provides the most reasonable bfasishe valuation for the RSI
granted on the interim dates because we did natifgleany single event that occurred during thigefim period that would have cause
material change in fair value.

First Quarter 2012

We determined the fair value of our Class B comstock to be $30.89 per share as of January 31, 28&2ssigned a 50% weighting
the MTM due to the significant volume of thighrty private stock sale transactions in Januat?2cluding transactions involving invest
who had access to our historical financial inforiorat To calculate the MTM, we used the weightedrage price of all transactions originat
in January 2012 that were expected to be consunidm#fe made no change to the weightings assignédet@&sPCM and DCFM from tl
previous quarter. The DCFM was based on a weigatedage cost of capital of 15% and a perpetual tiroate of 5%. The BEV resulti
from this analysis was then allocated using the Gt a 5% marketability discount was applied. Wiele the primary factors influenci
the increase in valuation from the prior period evére foregoing private stock sale transactionseagdneral increase in the prices of pub
traded equities.

The fair values of the RSUs granted in January 20&2 determined using a straidime calculation, with the benefit of hindsic
between the fair value determined as of Decembe@11 of $29.73 per share and the fair value deted as of January 31, 2012 of $3(
per share. We determined that the stralgig-calculation provides the most reasonable biasishe valuations for the RSUs granted or
interim dates because we did not identify any sirgylent that occurred during this interim perioat tvould have caused a material chang
fair value.

May 2012 Grant

On May 3, 2012, we granted an aggregate of 25,257/85Us. We will determine the fair value of thgsants during the second qual
If the fair value of our Class A common stock wa&8%90, the initial public offering price, the aggate grant date fair value would
approximately $960 million.
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Offering Price

In early May 2012, in consultation with the undetens, we determined the anticipated initial puldftering price range to be $28.0(
$35.00 per share. Subsequently, in Miidy 2012 we increased the anticipated initial publfifering price range to $34.00 to $38.00 pers.
The assumptions supporting the revised anticipiti¢id! public offering price range represented mg@ments best estimates and discuss
between us and the underwriters about indicatidmsterest from potential investors after approxietyaone week of marketing of the offeri
and involved complex and subjective judgmentshtusd be noted that the fair value of our ClassoBimon stock as of January 31, 2(
which was $30.89 per share, was determined thraugjfferent methodology. The January 31, 2012 \@uodollowed the methodologies us
in 2011 and was influenced in large part by ttpedty private stock sale activity that occurredlanuary 2012 and also took into accot
marketability or illiquidity discount. The reviseghticipated initial public offering price range waased on the assumption that our initial pt
offering had occurred and that a public marketdor Class A common stock had been created, andftdrerexcluded any marketability
illiquidity discount.

Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures about Marlet Risk
We are exposed to market risk, including changéstévest rates, foreign currency exchange ratddrdfation.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

International revenue as a percentage of revensel@® and 49% for the first quarter of 2011 and220éspectively, and 33%, 38%, i
44% for 2009, 2010, and 2011, respectively. We Haveign currency risks related to our revenue apdrating expenses denominate
currencies other than the U.S. dollar, primarilg Buro. In general, we are a net receiver of caresnother than the U.S. dollar. Accordin
changes in exchange rates, and in particular agitrening of the U.S. dollar, will negatively affexur revenue and other operating resul
expressed in U.S. dollars.

We have experienced and will continue to experighaguations in our net income as a result of d$estion gains or losses relate:
revaluing certain current asset and current lighbalances that are denominated in currencies titla@ the functional currency of the enti
in which they are recorded. We recognized foreigrmency gains of $16 million and $10 million in tfiest quarter of 2011 and 20:
respectively, and a foreign currency loss of $2Bioniin 2011. Foreign currency losses were nohiigant in 2009 or 2010. At this time we
not, but we may in the future, enter into derivasivor other financial instruments in an attemgiddge our foreign currency exchange risk.
difficult to predict the impact hedging activitia®uld have on our results of operations.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

Our cash and cash equivalents and marketable Seswbnsist of cash, certificates of deposit, tieposits, money market funds
U.S. government treasury and agency debt securfdiesinvestment policy and strategy are focusegraservation of capital, supporting
liquidity requirements, and compliance with thedatment Company Act of 1940.

Changes in U.S. interest rates affect the intexasted on our cash and cash equivalents and milkestecurities and the market valu
those securities. A hypothetical 100 basis poiatease in interest rates would result in a decrehapproximately $19 million and $15 milli
in the market value of our available-feale debt securities as of March 31, 2012 and Dkeeefil, 2011, respectively. Any realized gair
losses resulting from such interest rate changesdaanly occur if we sold the investments priontaturity.

Inflation Risk

We do not believe that inflation has had a matesfitdct on our business, financial condition, @ulées of operations.
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LETTER FROM MARK ZUCKERBERG

Facebook was not originally created to be a comp#inwas built to accomplish a social mission te- make the world more open ¢
connected.

We think it’s important that everyone who invests in Facebawetstands what this mission means to us, how we mecisions and why \
do the things we do. | will try to outline our appch in this letter.

At Facebook, wete inspired by technologies that have revolutiotiz®w people spread and consume information. Wenofalk abot
inventions like the printing press and the telexisi—by simply making communication more efficient, tHegl to a complete transformatior
many important parts of society. They gave morepfeea voice. They encouraged progress. They chathgeday society was organized. T
brought us closer together.

Today, our society has reached another tippingtp@ite live at a moment when the majority of pedpl¢he world have access to the inte
or mobile phones — the raw tools necessary to stating what theyé thinking, feeling and doing with whomever theanti Faceboc
aspires to build the services that give peopletheer to share and help them once again transfaanyraf our core institutions and industries.

There is a huge need and a huge opportunity tegatone in the world connected, to give everyoreiee and to help transform society
the future. The scale of the technology and inftestire that must be built is unprecedented, andhalieve this is the most important prob
we can focus on.

We hope to strengthen how people relate to each @th

Even if our mission sounds big, it starts small -thwhe relationship between two people.

Personal relationships are the fundamental unibwf society. Relationships are how we discover mésas, understand our world
ultimately derive long-term happiness.

At Facebook, we build tools to help people conmneith the people they want and share what they wamd, by doing this we are extenc
people’s capacity to build and maintain relatiopshi

People sharing more — even if just with their clé$ends or families —ereates a more open culture and leads to a bettlrstanding of tf
lives and perspectives of others. We believe thiatdreates a greater number of stronger relatipadietween people, and that it helps pe
get exposed to a greater number of diverse peigpsct

By helping people form these connections, we hopewire the way people spread and consume infaamatVe think the worlds informatior
infrastructure should resemble the social graph etavork built from the bottom up or peer-to-pe@ther than the monolithic, tagewr
structure that has existed to date. We also betteategiving people control over what they shara fandamental principle of this rewiring.

We have already helped more than 900 million peamdg out more than 100 billion connections so dad our goal is to help this rewiri
accelerate.

We hope to improve how people connect to businessasd the economy.

We think a more open and connected world will hergpate a stronger economy with more authentic lgsis that build better products
services.

As people share more, they have access to moréonpifrom the people they trust about the prodacis services they use. This mak
easier to discover the best products and improzetiality and efficiency of their lives.
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One result of making it easier to find better pretdus that businesses will be rewarded for bugdietter products —enes that are personali:
and designed around people. We have found thatuptedhat are “social by desigriend to be more engaging than their traditi
counterparts, and we look forward to seeing morhefvorld’s products move in this direction.

Our developer platform has already enabled hundvétiousands of businesses to build higieadity and more social products. We have
disruptive new approaches in industries like ganmessic and news, and we expect to see similar mlism in more industries by ne
approaches that are social by design.

In addition to building better products, a more opegorld will also encourage businesses to engagh thieir customers directly a
authentically. More than four million businessesd®ages on Facebook that they use to have a deloegh their customers. We expect
trend to grow as well.

We hope to change how people relate to their govemrents and social institutions.
We believe building tools to help people share lbeng a more honest and transparent dialogue argomdrnment that could lead to m
direct empowerment of people, more accountabitityofficials and better solutions to some of thggeist problems of our time.

By giving people the power to share, we are stgrtinsee people make their voices heard on a diffescale from what has historically b
possible. These voices will increase in number aldme. They cannot be ignored. Over time, we ekgevernments will become mc
responsive to issues and concerns raised diregt#y bheir people rather than through intermedisigontrolled by a select few.

Through this process, we believe that leaders evilerge across all countries who are ipternet and fight for the rights of their peo
including the right to share what they want andrtpkt to access all information that people wanshare with them.

Finally, as more of the economy moves towards higjuality products that are personalized, we alsceeijp see the emergence of |
services that are social by design to addressatige Wworldwide problems we face in job creationjcadion and health care. We look forwar
doing what we can to help this progress.

Our Mission and Our Business
As | said above, Facebook was not originally fouhtte be a company. V've always cared primarily about our social missite, service
we’re building and the people who use them. Thisdgfarent approach for a public company to takel s@ant to explain why | think it work:

| started off by writing the first version of Faagk myself because it was something | wanted teteSince then, most of the ideas and
that have gone into Facebook have come from thet gepple we’'ve attracted to our team.

Most great people care primarily about building dring a part of great things, but they also wantnake money. Through the proces
building a team — and also building a developer mamity, advertising market and investor base e Ideveloped a deep appreciatior
how building a strong company with a strong ecoroemgine and strong growth can be the best waligo many people to solve importi
problems.

Simply put: we don’t build services to make moneg, make money to build better services.

And we think this is a good way to build somethiligese days | think more and more people wanteosasvices from companies that bel
in something beyond simply maximizing profits.
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By focusing on our mission and building great sezsi we believe we will create the most value farshareholders and partners over the
term — and this in turn will enable us to keepaaiting the best people and building more greaticesyWe dort’'wake up in the morning wi
the primary goal of making money, but we understdad the best way to achieve our mission is tédbauistrong and valuable company.

This is how we think about our IPO as well. \\egoing public for our employees and our investdfe made a commitment to them wher
gave them equity that we'work hard to make it worth a lot and make it lijuand this IPO is fulfilling our commitment. Asenbecome
public company, we’re making a similar commitmenbtir new investors and we will work just as hardufill it.

The Hacker Way

As part of building a strong company, we work hatdnaking Facebook the best place for great peoptave a big impact on the world :
learn from other great people. We have cultivatedigue culture and management approach that wéheaHacker Way.

The word “hacker’has an unfairly negative connotation from beingtiaged in the media as people who break into coerputn reality
hacking just means building something quickly atitey the boundaries of what can be done. Like rtiosgs, it can be used for good or t
but the vast majority of hackers I've met tend ¢oidkealistic people who want to have a positivedaotn the world.

The Hacker Way is an approach to building that ime® continuous improvement and iteration. Hackelgeve that something can always
better, and that nothing is ever complete. Theyhase to go fix it — often in the face of peoplamsay its impossible or are content with
status quo.

Hackers try to build the best services over theyltearm by quickly releasing and learning from sewalterations rather than trying to
everything right all at once. To support this, wavé built a testing framework that at any givenetioan try out thousands of version:
Facebook. We have the words “Done is better thafe@t® painted on our walls to remind ourselveglways keep shipping.

Hacking is also an inherently hands-and active discipline. Instead of debating faysiwhether a new idea is possible or what thebapttc
build something is, hackers would rather just pgie something and see what works. There’'s a havkertra that yoll hear a lot arour
Facebook offices: “Code wins arguments.”

Hacker culture is also extremely open and meritacrédackers believe that the best idea and impleat®n should always win —rot the
person who is best at lobbying for an idea or #es@n who manages the most people.

To encourage this approach, every few months we havackathon, where everyone builds prototypesdur ideas they have. At the end,
whole team gets together and looks at everythiag lilhs been built. Many of our most successful gpetalcame out of hackathons, incluc
Timeline, chat, video, our mobile development fraraek and some of our most important infrastructike the HipHop compiler.

To make sure all our engineers share this appragehequire all new engineers even managers whose primary job will not be toewvecibd
— to go through a program called Bootcamp where thagn our codebase, our tools and our approacihreTdre a lot of folks in the indus
who manage engineers and don’t want to code theesdbut the type of hands-on people dboking for are willing and able to go throt
Bootcamp.
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The examples above all relate to engineering, leubawe distilled these principles into five coréuea for how we run Facebook:

Focus on Impact

If we want to have the biggest impact, the best toago this is to make sure we always focus onisglthe most important problems. It sou
simple, but we think most companies do this poarig waste a lot of time. We expect everyone atli@aleto be good at finding the bigc
problems to work on.

Move Fast

Moving fast enables us to build more things andnléaster. However, as most companies grow, thay slown too much because tl're more
afraid of making mistakes than they are of losipgatunities by moving too slowly. We have a sayifMove fast and break thingsThe ide:i
is that if you never break anything, you're prolyatbt moving fast enough.

Be Bold

Building great things means taking risks. This barscary and prevents most companies from doingdhthings they should. However, i
world that's changing so quickly, you're guarantéedail if you don’t take any risks. We have aratlsaying: The riskiest thing is to take
risks.” We encourage everyone to make bold decdssieven if that means being wrong some of the time.

Be Open

We believe that a more open world is a better wbddause people with more information can makesbd#cisions and have a greater imj
That goes for running our company as well. We wioeikd to make sure everyone at Facebook has aaessmuch information as possi
about every part of the company so they can makééist decisions and have the greatest impact.

Build Social Value

Once again, Facebook exists to make the world rapes and connected, and not just to build a compafeyexpect everyone at Faceboa
focus every day on how to build real value forwweeld in everything they do.

Thanks for taking the time to read this letter. W&dieve that we have an opportunity to have an ntapd impact on the world and builc
lasting company in the process. | look forward wdding something great together.

TR ES
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BUSINESS

Overview

A digital display of the Facebook user communitgl ire connections between users. On a blank baakgrdhe connections form a
picture that approximates a global me

Our mission is to make the world more open and eoted.

We believe that some of the most important inn@vetiin history have been tools that make it eamidaster for one human being
share something with another.

Facebook enables you to share the things you ¢emet avith the people you care about. You can phbjisur ideas, opinions, pictul
and activities to your friends, family, colleagumsthe world. We believe that Facebook gives eymmgson a voice-an opportunity to say:
exist, and this is my story.

Facebook also enables you to discover vhgtiing on in the world around you, through thesegied ears of people you trust. Every
hundreds of millions of people come to Faceboofirtd out what their friends have to share—the st music thewe listened to, phot
from their recent honeymoon, who they plan to Votein the next election. Each perssréxperience on Facebook is unique and comp
personalized—akin to reading a real-time newspapstories compiled just for them that they camcarith them wherever they go.

People connect with Facebook to connect with pedple believe that we are at the forefront of emaplfaster, easier and ricl
communication between people around the world.
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How We Create Value for Users
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Our top priority is to build useful and engaginggucts that enable you to:

:q. Gl fiwrae — fhen o

. Connect with Your FriendsWith more than 900 million monthly active users (M#) worldwide, our users are increasingly ab
find and stay connected with their friends, faménd colleagues on Facebook. Users can share fifi@jevents such as the birth
a child, upload photos of their latest vacatiomgratulate a friend on a new job by Liking or Conmtireg on the friend post, an

stay in touch through messages and ¢

. Discover and LearnWe believe that users come to Facebook to discvedearn more about what is going on in the wartzlinc
them, particularly in the lives of their friendsdafamily and with public figures and organizatiahst interest them. Each user’
experience on Facebook is unique based on therdasttared by his or her friends and connectiong Gtntent is personalized

each user in our products such as News Feed anelifer

. Express YourselfWe enable our users to share and publish theii@mnideas, photos, and activities to audienceging fron

their closest friends to our 900 million users,iggvevery user a voice within the Facebook comnyu
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. Control What You Share. Through Faceboc's privacy and sharing settings, our users can aowtrat they share and with wh
they share it

Example of User Control Over Sharing

_' Status re Phata .ﬂ Place _]" Life Event

Thank you all for an awesome birthday party! | was totally

surprised — with Cindy Leeper and 11 others at Forbes Mill Users can control what thi

Steakhouse ;
share and with whom they
. share it. For example, each
1 bt i m [post | time a user updates his or
& Public status, he or she can choose
¥ 1 Friends (+) e to share with everyone,
& Only Me with all friends, or with a
# Custom subset of friends that the u

can customize

. Experience Facebook Across the WeThrough applications (apps) and websites built byetbpers using the Facebook Platfc
our users can interact with their Facebook friemdléle playing games, listening to music, watchingues, reading news, a
engaging in other activitie

. Stay Connected with Your Friends on Mobile DevicThrough the combination of our mobile sites, smaste apps, and feat
phone products, users can bring Facebook with themobile devices wherever they |

Foundations of the Social Web

We believe that the web, including the mobile wistgvolving to become more social and personalikstorically, most people surf
the web anonymously and visited websites where shgythe same content as everyone else. Recenaitimas in software development al
with advances in large-scale database and compirtfrastructure have enabled web experiences tteatreore personalized to each user
interests and created new ways of t#ak sharing and communicating. The social webtesegewarding experiences that are centere
people, their connections, and their interests bdleve that the following elements form the foulalaof the social web:

. Authentic Identity.We believe that using your real name, connectingotar real friends, and sharing your genuine irggrenlin
create more engaging and meaningful experiencegreRenting yourself with your authentic identityline encourages you
behave with the same norms that foster trust asge in your daily life offline. Authentic identitis core to the Facebao
experience, and we believe that it is central &oftliure of the web. Our terms of service requia jo use your real name and
encourage you to be your true self online, enahlisg@nd Platform developers to provide you with enpersonalized experienc
We deploy a variety of algorithmic and manual clsettk help ensure the integrity of user accountsjever, we cannot verify tl
identity and authenticity of every one of our usarsheir actions

. Social Graph.The Social Graph represents the connections betpeeple and their friends and interests. Everyqgews entity i
represented by a point within the graph, and tH#éiadions between people and their friends anceriests form billions «
connections between the points. Our mapping ofSth@al Graph enables Facebook and Platform devedapéuild more engagil
user experiences that are based on these conree:
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lllustration of the Social Graph

Social Distribution.Over time, people are consuming and creating mior@skof information at a faster pace across a leoeshg
of devices. The growing volume of information malkteshallenging to find meaningful and trusted @oritand to effectively ma
your voice heard. Facebook organizes and priositzentent and serves as a powerful social distobubol delivering to use
what we believe they will find most compelling bdsen their friends and interests. Facebsasocial distribution enables us
Platform developers, and advertisers to sharenmdtion with target audiences large or sn

Our Size and Scale

Building on our use of authentic identity, the Sd&braph, and social distribution, Facebook hasvgrérom our beginnings in a colle
dorm room in 2004 to a service that is fundameyteianging the way people connect, discover, aagdeshround the world. We believe t
Facebook has become an integral part of many ofusars’daily lives. Users add value to the overall Facébecosystem each time tf
engage with friends, developers, or advertisergebses in user engagement enable us to attraetusers, developers, and advertisers. Gr
in the number of users, developers, and advertésgtghe interactions among them enhances the wadweliver to all of our constituencies.

We had 901 million MAUs as of March 31, 2012, acréase of 33% as compared to 680 million MAUs asglafch 31, 2011

We had 526 million daily active users (DAUS) on i@ge in March 2012, an increase of 41% as compar8d2 million DAUS it
March 2011

We had 488 million MAUs who used Facebook mobiledpicts in March 2012, and we surpassed 500 miitiobile MAUs as ¢
April 20, 2012.

During the month of March 2012, we had on avere@8illion users who were active with Facebook bleast six out of the le
seven days, providing perspective on the numbpeople for whom Facebook is essentially an everydayity.

There were more than 125 billion friend connectiong=acebook as of March 31, 2012.
On average more than 300 million photos per dayweioaded to Facebook in the three months endedhvid., 2012

Our users generated an average of 3.2 billion Léwss Comments per day during the first quarter@f22 Since users Like a
Comment on content they find interesting, we beighat the number of Likes and Comments providesesmsight into ho
engaging users find the content available to therRacebook and through our Platform develog
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. As of March 31, 2012, there were more than 42 arillPages with ten or more Likes. Anyone, includamtists, public figure
businesses, brands, or charities can set up a 6elcdbage to engage with our users. Examples of lapflages on Facebc
include Lady Gaga, Disney, and Manchester Unitadh®f which has more than 20 million Lik

How We Create Value for Developers Through the Fad®ok Platform

The Facebook Platform is a set of development taals application programming interfaces (APIs) thaables developers to ea
integrate with Facebook to create social apps aglusites and to reach our 900 million users. Platfdevelopers build experiences that a
our users to connect and share with friends whilgaging in activities such as playing games, lisigrio music, watching movies, read
news articles, discovering new recipes, and expdpriew running routes. Platform developers rangmfa student on his or her compute
home to teams of programmers at leading websitese Nhan nine million apps and websites were iatiagh with Facebook as of March
2012. We are focused on the growth and succesktibfn developers in creating compelling user eigrees by enabling:

. Personalized and Social ExperienceWe enable Platform developers to create betteryamtsdhat are personalized and social
that offer new ways for our users to engage wittnfits and share experiences across the web andhiterdevices. For example
Facebook user can visit the Pandora website ancediately begin listening to a personalized radatish that is customized ba
on the bands the user Likes on Facebook. As anettaenple, a Facebook user can vidie New York Timesebsite and see whi
articles have been recommended by friends. Oufdptatdevelopers can only access information thatusers agree to share v
them.

. Social Distribution.We enable Platform developers to reach our globat base and use our social distribution chanpefscteas
traffic to their apps and websites. For exampleraisan invite their Facebook friends to play a gamsee when their friends hi
achieved a new high scol

. PaymentsWe provide an online payments infrastructure timatbées Platform developers to receive payments fsanusers in ¢
easy-touse, secure, and trusted environment. In 2011 Ptatform developers received more than $1.4 bilfimm transactior
enabled by our Payments infrastructt

How We Create Value for Advertisers and Marketers
We offer advertisers and marketers a unique corntibmaf reach, relevance, social context, and eegent:

. Reach.With over 900 million MAUs, Facebook offers the l&ito reach a vast consumer audience with ouredising solution:
For example, a movie studio seeking to increasaewvess of an upcoming film release can reach adbaodience of Facebao
users on the day or week before the film’'s openBy.advertising the release @fansformers: Dark of the Mooon Facebool
Paramount Studios reached 65 million users in thiged States in a single de

Advertising Example—Reach

Sed Transformers 3 in 3D

In theaters now! Access
Hollypamod says
Transformers: Dark Side of
the Moon has, "the best 30
simce Avatar!” Click 1o gel
your Lckets now!

=

11,791,689 peopée ke Transformers.
| £ Like
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. Relevance. Advertisers can specify that we show their adsi teubset of our users based on demographic fastmts as ag
location, gender, education, work history, and Bpmeimterests that they have chosen to share witton Facebook or by using
Like button around the web or on mobile devices. &lew advertisers to select relevant and appropréadiences for their a
ranging from millions of users in the case of glom@nds to hundreds of users in the case of smédleal businesses. We belit
that users have a better experience when ads feieély tailored to them. Examples of Facebook #tht allowed advertisers
reach a relevant audience inclu

- Procter & Gamble chose to advertise on Facebogeterate awareness for Secret deod’s “Mean Stink” program an
selected a female audience likely to be receptivéhe campaign. The ad featured a confessistyéd- video of a gi
admitting that she had bullied others, realizing tthmage she had caused, and apologizing. In thee@Bs after the Me
Stinks campaign launched, Secret experienced an@fédse in U.S. sales and an increase in engagevitarits Faceboc
Page

- CM Photographics, a wedding photography businessdm Minneapolis, Minnesota, used Facebook adsetch the use
it cared most about: women aged 24 to 30 livingr fdaaneapolis who shared their relationship statasFacebook
“engaged.”In 2011, CM Photographics generated a significactrease in revenue after spending $1,544 to pue
advertising on Faceboo

Because authentic identity is core to the user @epee on Facebook and users generally share iafasmthat reflects their re
interests and demographics, we are able to deidethat reach the intended audience with higharracy rates compared to onl
industry averages. For broadly targeted campaigmsexample, adults between the ages of 25 andvé9were able to reach 1
desired audience with 95% accuracy as measureddogtrystandard analytics tools. This compares to an tnglaserage of 729
as publicly reported by Nielsen in 2011. For moaerowly targeted campaigns, for example, femaléwéen the ages of 25 and
Facebook was able to reach the desired audienbe9@® accuracy compared to an industry averag®%f. 2\s our users maint:
and expand their authentic identity on Faceboogy tare increasingly choosing to share their intsraad preferences regard
products and services. We use this informatiommprove our ability to deliver relevant ads that lvedieve are more interesting ¢
compelling for each user.

. Social Context.We believe that the recommendations of friends havowerful influence on consumer interest and pas:
decisions. We offer advertisers the ability to ur® “social contextivith their marketing messages. Social context fisrinatior
that highlights a friend connections with a particular brand or busin®¥s. believe that users find marketing messages
engaging when they include social context. Someeatiexamples of social context that we offer idelthe following:

- Social AdsWe offer tools to advertisers to display social teah alongside their ads. As a result, advertisgesable t
differentiate their products and complement thedrketing messages with trusted recommendations figems’friends. Ou
recent analysis of 79 advertising campaigns on lixamle demonstrated a greater than 50% increase liacatl for Faceboc
ads with social context as compared to Facebookhedslid not have social conte
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Advertising Examp—uwithout Social Conte» Advertising Examp—with Social Contex

Sponsored Create an Ad | Sponsored Create an Ad
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Sponsored StorieSponsored stories enable marketers to amplify idtelglition of stories that users have already ethéina
are relevant to their marketing efforts. For examplhen a user posts on Facebook that he or shé&chesked in”to e
Starbucks store, this check-in creates a storydaatbe shown in the friends’ News Feeds. Althoalylof a users friend:
may be eligible to view this check-in story, onlyraction of the uses friends will typically see it (based on factotgls a
when the uses friends check their News Feeds and our rankingllathe content that is available to show to eatlhe
users friends). Starbucks can purchase sponsored strisignificantly increase the reach, frequencylisfribution, an
prominence of this story to the useftiends. Marketers can also use sponsored stripsomote the stories they pub
from their Facebook Page to users who have comhedtd the Page. Sponsored stories are shown orighehand side «
the page, and in January 2012, we began inclutiieig in usersNews Feeds on personal computers. In March 2012]su
began to include sponsored stories in U mobile News Feed:

. Engagement.We believe that the shift to a more social web tereaew opportunities for businesses to engage widreste
customers. Many of our ad products offer new ambwative ways for our advertisers to interact withr users, such as ads -
include polls, encourage comments, or invite useen event. Additionally, any brand or business lcave a presence on Facet
by creating a Facebook Page. Through Pages, webgarels the opportunity to form direct and ongoialgtionships with the
customers, with the potential to turn them intougdlle advocates. When a Facebook user Likes a Beg®age owner has
opportunity to publish stories to the useNews Feed on an ongoing basis. We believe tlstotigoing connection provide:
significant advantage for Facebook Pages as comparéraditional business websites. In additionsibesses can use Page
influence fans and drive referral traffic to theicommerce websites or physical stores. We do nagehausinesses for their Pag
nor do we charge for the resulting organic distidou However, we believe that Page owners canFasebook ads and sponsc
stories to increase awareness of and engageménmtheit Pages. Examples of brands utilizing Fackiages include

Burberry used its Page and an innovative marketamgpaign on Facebook to announce the launch oivdweiry fragranc
to its nearly ten million Facebook fans in orderdtive traffic to and purchases at Burberry stayiebally, including its e-
commerce site. When users Liked or Commented omBthiberry Page or the perfume story, the usactions were shar
with their friends via News Feed, driving awarentsa wider circle of users and increasing brangbsure, recognition, a
engagemen
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- PF Chan’s created a coupon offer on its Page for a freeitetWrap appetizer and promoted the offer withrae-week ai
campaign. The Facebook ads targeted users whodmagcted to PF Chang’s Page, those u$eesids, and users in mark
where PF Chang’s has a high density of restaur&@wsr 50,000 customers, of whom 40% were firse customer
redeemed the coupon at PF CI's restaurant:

Our Market Opportunity

Our Advertising Market Opportunity

Advertiser’ objectives range from building lo-term brand awareness to stimulating an immediatehaise. We offer advertisi
solutions that are designed to be engaging forsuaed personalized to usedgmographics and interests in order to help acezdibette
achieve their goals. Facebosktombination of reach, relevance, social contamt| engagement gives advertisers enhanced oppasutt
generate brand awareness and affiliation, while elsating new ways to generate ngam demand for their products from consumers yike
have purchase intent. According to an IDC repotedi@ugust 2011, total worldwide advertising spedin 2010 was $588 billion. C
addressable market opportunity includes portionsnahy existing advertising markets, including theditional offline branded advertisit
online display advertising, online performance-llaadvertising, and mobile advertising markets.

Traditional Offline Branded Advertising.Television, print, and radio accounted for $363idnil, or 62% of the total advertisi
market in 2010 according to an IDC report dated usic®011. Historically, advertisers interested @megrating awareness of
demand for their brands have heavily relied oneheffline media to reach their audiences at sdAle.believe that these bre
advertisers will increasingly dedicate a portiorttedir advertising dollars to Facebook becausédtbad audiences they are tryin
reach are active on Facebook on a daily basis,usecae can reach their desired audiences withgioeciand because they
spark word of mouth marketing through FaceboolDétember 2011, an advertiser could reach an estthaatdience of more th
65 million U.S. users in a typical day on Facebd®k.comparison, the 2011 season finale of Amerilchit was viewed by ¢
estimated U.S. audience of 29 million people. IARMmur advertising customers included each oflfd@ largest global advertisi
spenders, as ranked by Advertising Age. Examplésoébook advertising campaigns by large brandréigees include

- Nike launched it“Write the Future”campaign on Facebook as an integral part of it® 20brld Cup marketing effort. Tl
launch placement was seen by 140 million user®indintries and users engaged with the messagethareeven millio
times by taking actions such as watching the ~minute embedded video, or Liking, clicking, or Coemting on the ac

- American Express purchased ads on Facebook andtsptiacebook Page at the center of its advertis@gpaign i
November 2010 to introduce and prom“Small Business Saturdayd new local initiative designed to encourage shay
at small businesses on the Saturday after Tharksgivhe ads reached 84 million Facebook users therthree wee
campaign. American Express continued the campai@®11. The campaign reached 91 million peopléudicg 74 millior
who were shown an ad that featured a connectidm théir Facebook friends, successfully leveragimgjad context at scal
We believe that advertising on Facebook contributethe successful results of the Small Businesar&ay campaign;
2011 public awareness of Small Business Saturdsgy 1@ 65% from 37% in 2010. Additionally, AmericBrpress saw
23% increase in Cardmember transactions at smsithéss merchants on Small Business Satul

Online Advertising.From 2010 to 2015, the worldwide online advertismgrket, excluding mobile advertising, is projecte
increase from $68 billion to $120 billion, repreBeg 12% and 16%, respectively, of the worldwideextising market according
an IDC report dated August 2011. Currently, therenhdvertising market is generally divided betweeplay advertising, whe
the
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advertiser is seeking impressions, and perforrmr-based advertising, where the advertiser is seelicks or conversions

- Display Advertising Online display advertising typically includes banaes, interstitials, video ads, and rich mediathe:
aim to reach large numbers of consumers within riquéar audience segment. Display advertisersinipressionbase:
campaigns on Facebook in order to reach our lasge base and because of the amount of time thas spend with u
From January 2011 through January 2012, Facebaokhes been the number one online property accéissmayh person
computers worldwide as measured by total minutestspnd total page views, according to a comScardidMetrix repol
dated February 2012. On average, users in the gafgrespent more than 10.5 billion minutes per dayFacebook c
personal computers during January 2012. Aggregatetes per day increased 57% and average minutessge per de
increased 14% during January 2012 compared to dard@d 1. Display advertisers also use Facebookriteroto mor
precisely reach their target audiences among censuend to leverage social context and our so@#iilsition channels
increase engagement. Examples of display advegtmpaigns on Facebook inclus

—  Walmart U.S. purchased advertising on Facebooleteng users in the United States between the a8 and 4
during the days surrounding “Black Fridaiyi’ November 2011. The campaign, which encouragedsus download
Black Friday shopping map of their local WalmarSUstore to help them find great prices fasterghred 60 milliol
Facebook user:

- Diageo, the worl’s largest producer of spirits, purchased advegisin Facebook for a portfolio of its brar
including Captain Morgan rum and Smirnoff vodkapnder to increase market share for its productgabyeting use
in the United States over the age of 21. The cagmpatached 25 million Facebook households and deo2®¥%
increase in offline sales in households that wergosed to the campaign compared to demographicithylar
households that were not exposed to the campaigesel results were determined using analytics tibals emplo
industry-standard methodologie

- Performancebased AdvertisingPerformanc-based online advertising has typically involved extigers seeking a spec
user behavior such as a click on a search ad eyadrdbased content ad, a response to an email campaigm, onlin:
purchase. We enable new forms of performaverged advertising, where advertisers can conndetusers who are likely
have demand for their products based on the infiomahat our users have chosen to share. We lgetleat performance-
based campaigns on Facebook allow advertisersfes tifeir products to users with inferred intentd anhance users’
experiences by showing them relevant ads tailooettieir specific interests. Examples of performabased advertising
Facebook include

— Alocal concert promoter advertised available tiski®r an upcoming concert to users who lived ia tietropolita
area where the concert was to be held and wholbad é&ed the artist

- 1-80C-FLOWERS.COM purchased a Motl's Day advertising campaign on Facebook targetéd &tns and friends
its fans in order to drive traffic to its websitedaincrease sale

—  Social game developers including Disney, Electrohits, and Zynga purchased performabesed advertising
Facebook to drive player acquisition by promotiegvrgame launches and existing gan

. Mobile Advertising.The global mobile advertising market was $1.5 duillin 2010 and is expected to grow at a 64% comg
annual rate to $17.6 billion in 2015 according molAC report dated August 2011. We had 488 millWAUs who used Facebo
mobile products in March 2012. According to a Jap®12 Nielsen report, the Facebook mobile apprhade unique combint
Android and iPhone users in 2011 in the UnitedeSt#tan any other mobile app. We have historigatyshowr
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ads to users accessing Facebook through mobilecagps mobile website. In March 2012, we begamétude sponsored stories
user’ mobile News Feed:

Advertising on the social web is a significant nedrkpportunity that is still emerging and evolviMge believe that most advertisers
still learning and experimenting with the best waydeverage reach, relevance, social context,emghgement offered by Facebook. We
continue to balance our efforts to build effectpp@ducts for advertisers while also prioritizinge thverall user experience, and this balar
effort will influence the number of ads we show dhd formats and prominence of the ads. Our styategters on the belief that more sc
and relevant ad products are more valuable for bs#ins and advertisers.

Currently the substantial majority of our revensigénerated by advertisers from more developed@alilvertising markets including
United States, western Europe, Canada, and AuwstrHiiere are also many emerging ad markets in whitsell ads and other commer
content, and we expect continued growth in adwartiemand as these markets mature, we achieveaggztdevels of user penetration
engagement, and we further expand our sales resodedicated to these markets.

Our Market Opportunity for Payments

When users purchase virtual and digital goods foum Platform developers using our Payments infuatiire, we receive fees t
represent a portion of the transaction value. Gulyesubstantially all of the Payments transactibetween our users and Platform develc
are for virtual goods used in social games, fomgxa virtual tractors in the social game FarmVikecording to an NPD Ir&tat report date
April 2012, the worldwide revenue generated from #ale of virtual goods on social networking si@djne worlds, and casual games
$9 billion in 2011, and is forecasted to increas&14 billion by 2016. Payments integration is eatly required in apps on Facebook tha
categorized as games, and we may seek to extengséhef Payments to other types of apps in theduQur future revenue from Payme
will depend on many factors, including our succisgnabling Platform developers to build experienteat engage users and create
demand for their products, and the fee arrangenvemi@re able to negotiate in the future.

Our Strategy

We are in the early days of pursuing our missioméke the world more open and connected. We haignéicant opportunity to furth
enhance the value we deliver to users, developatsadvertisers. Key elements of our strategy are:

. Expand Our Global User CommunityThere are more than two billion global Internetrasaccording to an IDC report da
August 2011 and we aim to connect all of them. Ve 801 million MAUs globally with approximately 80%¢ccessing Faceba
from outside the United States as of March 31, 20/2 continue to focus on growing our user bas@sacrll geographie
including relatively lespenetrated, large markets such as Brazil, Germiaaya, Japan, Russia, and South Korea. We inte
grow our user base by continuing our marketing asel acquisition efforts and enhancing our produntduding mobile apps,
order to make Facebook more accessible and u:

. Build Great Social Products to Increase EngagemeWe prioritize product development investments thatbelieve will crea
engaging interactions between our users, develpp@id advertisers on Facebook, across the webpanaiobile devices. W
continue to invest significantly in improving ouore products such as News Feed, Photos, and Grdapsloping new produc
such as Timeline and Ticker, and enabling new &latfapps and website integratio

. Provide Users with the Most Compelling Experienf=acebook users are sharing and receiving morenmation across a broac
range of devices. To provide the most compellingr iexperience, we continue to develop productstaoknologies focused
optimizing our social distribution channe
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to deliver the most useful content to each useariglyzing and organizing vast amounts of infornratioreal time

. Build Engaging Mobile ExperiencesWe are devoting substantial resources to develogingaging mobile products &
experiences for a wide range of platforms, inclgdsmartphones and feature phones. In addition,re/evarking across the mok
industry with operators, hardware manufacturergrajing system providers, and developers to imptbhed-acebook experience
mobile devices and make Facebook available to meople around the world. We had 488 million MAUsomised Facebor
mobile products in March 2012. In April 2012, wetered into an agreement to acquire Instagram, igich has built a mobi
phone-based photo-sharing service. Following thmsiey of this acquisition, we plan to maintain &ggams products ¢
independent mobile applications to enhance ourgshptroduct offerings and to enable users to inerehsir levels of mobi
engagement and photo sharing. We believe that malsihge of Facebook is critical to maintaining wwewth and engagemt
over the long term, and we are actively seekingréav mobile usage, although such usage does nwgraly directly generate a
meaningful revenue

. Enable Developers to Build Great Social Productsids the Facebook PlatformThe success of Platform developers anc
vibrancy of our Platform ecosystem are key to iasheg user engagement. Social games have achigveficant levels of adoptic
by Facebook users, and we are also focused oniegdhk development of apps in categories beyomdega For example, ¢
latest enhancements to the Facebook Platform heabled new types of social apps that facilitaterialjaand serendipitor
discovery of music, news, movies, television prograng, and other everyday interests such as cook&img) running. Us
engagement with our Platform developepps and websites creates value for Facebook itiptewvays: our Platform supports
advertising business because apps on Faceboole areat engagement that enables us to show adsPlatiorm develope
purchase advertising on Facebook to drive trafficheir apps and websites; Platform developers atsePayment system
facilitate transactions with users; and users’ gegaent with Platform apps and websites contribtdesur understanding of users’
interests and preferences, improving our abilityp&wsonalize content. We continue to invest indatd APIs that enhance
ability of Platform developers to deliver produtiiat are more social and personalized and bettggeusers on Facebook, ac
the web, and on mobile devices. Additionally, warpto invest in enhancing our Payments offerings iammaking the Paymer
experience on Facebook as seamless and convesipassible for users and Platform develog

. Improve Ad Products for Advertisers and UseWe plan to continue to improve our ad productsrisieo to create more value
advertisers and enhance their ability to make thawertising more social and relevant for users. &ivertising strategy centers
the belief that ad products that are social, relfevand wellintegrated with other content on Facebook can erghdhe use
experience while providing an attractive return éolvertisers. We intend to invest in additionalducts for our advertisers &
marketers, such as our recent introduction of speusstories in userdlews Feeds on personal computers and mobile de
while continuing to balance our monetization objexs with our commitment to optimizing the user esipnce. We also continue
focus on analytics and measurement tools to evagldaimonstrate, and improve the effectiveness ohatpaigns on Faceboc

Our Products for Users, Developers, and Advertisers

Products for User:

Our product development approach is centered oldibgi the most useful tools that enable users toneot, share, discover, ¢
communicate with each other. Our products for ugseesfree of charge and available on the web, raokéb, and mobile platforms suct
Android and iOS.

. Timeline.We launched Timeline in September 2011 as an erlaayed updated version of the Facebook Profileltbséructure ar
organization to the growing quantities of each’s activities
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and social content. Timeline allows users to orgaind display the events and activities that mattest to them, enabling therr
curate their memories in a searchable personahtiagrthat is organized chronologically. Users dewhat information to share
their Timeline, such as their interests, photosication, work history, relationship status, andtaohinformation, and users ¢
control with whom each piece of content is shanedheir Timeline

. News FeedThe Facebook News Feed is the core feature ofrasusemepage and is a regularly updating list ofiessdirom friends
Pages, and other entities to which a user is cdadem Facebook. It includes posts, photos, evedates, group memberships,
updates, and other activities. Each user’s Newsd Fepersonalized based on his or her intereststandharing activity of the user’
friends. Stories in a usar'News Feed are prioritized based on several fciocluding how many friends have Liked
Commented on a certain piece of content, who pastedontent, and what type of content it is. N&ged is a key component
our social distribution capabilit

Example of Facebook News Feed
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. Photos and VideosFacebook is the most popular photo uploading semwitthe web. On average, more than 300 milliorigghpe
day were uploaded to Facebook in the first quant&012. Users can upload an unlimited number ghhiesolution photos, cre
photo albums, and share them with their friendargr audience they choose. Users can also uploadhand videos. Users can
specific privacy settings for each of their photfouas and videos, making them visible to everyamanly to certain friends. Use
can easily arrange their photos, add captions,“t@wl people in a photo or video. Tagging allows userglémtify a person in
photo or video as one of their frien:

. MessagesOur messaging products include email, chat, antrntessaging. The delivery of messages is optimiaedhe devic
through which the user is accessing Facebook. ¥anple, users on the
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mobile phones will receive messages via text oeback mobile messenger, while the conversatiots stored in their Faceba
message inbox. We aim to be the fastest and migagbleeway for users to communicate throu

- Email. Users can set up a free @facebook.com adc
- Chat. Users can send messages to their friends in aminstessage forme

- Text Messaging. Users can activate text messaging on Facebooklyiatiothe texts they exchange with friends tc
incorporated into their respective conversationsigwith their message and chat histt

. Groups.Groups are shared Facebook pages for groups of tesdiscuss common interests. For example, menafesoccer tea
can plan the seasanschedule together and share photos with each. dikers are able to customize the privacy settingeacl
Group they create

. Lists. Lists allow users to organize their friends in orttefilter the stories shown in their News Feedd eseach or exclude spec
people when they share on Facebook. For exampégs imn see News Feed posts from a List of just thesest friends ¢
announce a garage sale to a List of friends whideds the uses current city. Users are able to customize theapyi settings fc
each List they creat

. Events. Through Events, users can organize gatherings, geaimvitations, and send event notifications anaiinelers to the
friends. From the Events page, users can creagvaenent, check out upcoming events of intereshéon and their friends, a
view previous events. For example, users can usatg\o invite their friends to a dinner party oganize a run in the Race for
Cure to raise awareness for breast cancer. Thereuarently more than 16 million events created~anebook each mont

. Places.Through Places, users can share tlocation and see where their friends are. Theyahte to see if any of their friends
nearby and connect with them easily. Users candisak in to Places to tell their friends whereythaee, tag their friends in t
Places they visit, or view Comments their friendgénmade about the Places they v

. Subscribe Using Subscribe, users can sign up to receive pphists in their News Feeds from other Facebooksudeanterest suc
as celebrities, thought leaders, and other pulgiaés.

. Ticker. Ticker is a live stream of the r-time activities of a us’s friends and the Pages and other entities to wihiehuser |
connected

. Notifications. On the top of each Facebook page, a highlightedl i€dlisplayed to users when there is relevantrewd informatiol
available to them, such as a new friend requestva message from a friend, or an alert that the lnas been tagged in a ph
posted by a friend. We believe that Notifications an important part of Facebd s distribution capability

. Facebook PagesA Facebook Page is a public profile that allows agy including artists, public figures, businesdasnds
organizations, and charities to create a presendéaoebook and engage with the Facebook commukiBage owner can conn
with interested users in order to provide updag@swer questions, receive feedback, or otherwisriktte interest in the owner’
messages, products, and services. When a Facebeokilkes a Page, the Page owner has the oppgrtonitublish stories to tl
user’s News Feed on an ongoing basis. In additibven a Facebook user Likes or Comments on a postlgge owner, that user’
action may be shared with the user’s friends viavdl&eed to drive awareness to a wider circle ofsjgacreasing the Page’
exposure, recognition, and engagement. We do natgehfor Pages, nor do we charge for the resultirganic distributior
However, we believe that awareness of and engagemimPages can be amplified and complementedchéyuse of Facebook ¢
and sponsored stories by Page owners. As of Mdkcl2@12, there were more than 42 million Pages wath or more Like:
including Harvard, Lady Gaga, The Metropolitan Museof Art, Starbucks, and Boo (the WoddCutest Dog), as well as millic
of local businesse
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Products for Developers

The Facebook Platform is a set of tools and AP&s tievelopers can use to build social apps on eabebr to integrate their websi
with Facebook. As of March 31, 2012, more than mmidion apps and websites were integrated withebaok. Our goal is to make it easy
Platform developers to integrate with Facebooklauittl valuable products and businesses. Key elesradrthe Facebook Platform include:

. Open Graph.Our Open Graph is a set of APIs that developersusanto build apps and websites that enable useskare the
activities with friends on Facebook. For examplesar who is listening to music through a developapp or website can publ
his or her music selections to Facebook where tigiercan be shared with frienc

. Social Plugins.Social plugins are social features that developarseasily integrate with their websites by incogtiog a singl
line of HTML code. For example, a developer cangbbx on its website that shows Facebook users tivba friends have Like
and recommended on the site. Social plugins alkevalsers to easily share interesting content kdackacebook that can
distributed to their friends through News Feed, dlime, and Ticker. The following features are examf functionality provide
through social plugins

- Like Button. Allows users to share content from a t-party website to Facebook and their friends witk olick.
- RecommendationsAllows a website to display to Facebook users it friends have recommendk

- Single Sigr-On Registration and Lo-In. Allows users to easily sign up for access to tipadty websites with the
Facebook accounts, eliminating the need for ugecseate another username and passv

- CommentsAllows users to post their views, questions, aritijeres on any piece of content on a web:

. Payments Facebook provides an online payments infrastrudtuaie enables developers to receive payments freemsuthrough ¢
efficient and secure system. Developers can foousreating engaging apps and content rather thamdapy time and resources
build payment processing and fraud management dajgsb Our users can store their payment cre@éstith Facebook in
trusted and safe environment, facilitating easy fastl purchases across the Facebook Platform rétherhaving to reuthenticat
and reenter payment information for each developer. Weighed our Payments infrastructure to streamlimebthying proce:
between our users and developers. Our Paymentnsygstables users to purchase virtual or digitalgdimom developers and third-
party websites by using debit and credit cardsPRBymobile phone payments, gift cards or othethorit. We have also exteni
our Payments infrastructure to support mobile wepsaon certain mobile platforms. Currently, subs&dy all of our Paymen
revenue is from usergurchases of virtual goods used in social games.r&deive a fee of up to 30% when users make
purchases from our Platform developers using oymats infrastructure. In the future, if we extdPalyments outside of gam
the percentage fee we receive from developers ragy

Zynga is the largest Platform developer, in terrhsevenue generated for Facebook, using our Payrafrastructure. In Me
2010, we entered into an addendum to our stan@anastand conditions with Zynga that govern the pion, distribution, an
operation of Zynga games on the Facebook Platfpursuant to which Zynga agreed to use Facebook &agnas the prima
means of payment within its games played on thels@ak Platform. Under this addendum, we retaireaofeup to 30% of the fa
value of user purchases in Zynga’'s games on thebeak Platform. This addendum expires in May 2015.
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Developers have used the Facebook Platform to lauildriety of user experiences, including apps acebook, desktop apps, mo
apps, and Platform-integrated websites, each oflwtén take advantage of the capabilities of tleeb@ok Platform.

Apps on FacebookApps on Facebook run within the Facebook websiteigh games are currently the most successful ap
Facebook. The Facebook Platform has also enabledymes of social apps on Facebook beyond gaméxcilitate social sharir
and discovery of music, news, television prograngnand everyday interests such as cooking, fitreass travel. For exampl@he
Washington Post Social Readsran app on Facebook that offers a personalized neading experience in which each user s
unique set of stories tailored to the usenterests and based on what his or her frierelsesding. Assuming the user has give!
app permission, stories read by a user are ingtahtired with friends, creating a socially powenegvswire of relevant article
Apps on Facebook generally have Facebook ads @isiblthe right side of the page and can integréteacebook Payment

Desktop AppsDevelopers can also build desktop apps that ruth@mmperating system of a personal computer ared eXperience
that are integrated with the Facebook Platform.dx@ample, Spotify, an online music service, prosidelesktop app integrated v
Facebook that offers a social listening experigncgiving users the ability to share their plagidtsten to songs with friends, ¢
explore new music through their frien

Mobile Apps. The Facebook Platform for mobile has enabled deestoto create engaging mobile apps that integrétie
Faceboo’s social and personalization capabiliti

Platform-Integrated WebsitesWebsites can integrate with Facebook using simpdga plugins such as the Like button or de
more deeply integrated social experiences builtrdousers and their friends. For example, by tapito our rich social dai
TripAdvisor connects users to their friends and-ebaelevant content about where their friends heaxeeled and where they wo
like to visit in the future. While on the TripAdwswebsite, friends can discuss their travel pkms$ recommendations and build
personal profiles of places they have be

Example of Platform-Integrated Third-Party WebsiteipAdvisor
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Products for Advertisers and Marketers

Facebook offers products that enable advertisetsvaarketers to leverage our unique combinatiorea€h, relevance, social context,
engagement. Customers can purchase advertisingtoryethrough our self-service ad platform or ttghua contracbased process from ¢
global sales force. Advertisers using our selfi®enad platform launch and manage their advertis@gpaigns online. Our contrdzase:
customers work with our global sales force, whigtidcused on attracting and retaining advertiseds@oviding support to them through
the stages of the advertising campaign cycle. Atieg purchased through either sales mechanisserigeed through the Facebook ad sy:
described below.

Facebook AdsWhen creating a Facebook ad, advertisers can gpetifle, content, image, and destination web parg€aceboac
Page to which a user is directed if he or she slmk the ad. Because we have a standard formafmbook ads, our users ber
from a consistent ad experience, and our advesteser able to deploy and adjust campaigns rapidiyertisers can further enge
their intended audiences by incorporating socialted with their marketing messages. Social contegiudes actions a user’
friends have taken, such as Liking the advertiseasebook Page. Ads with social context are shaviynto a users friends, and tt
users privacy settings apply to social ads. We offearsge of ads with social context, from an ad witkiragle Like button to o
Premium Ad paired with social context, which alloadvertisers to highlight the interactions of artsdriends with a brand
product.

Sponsored StoriesSponsored stories enable marketers to promotetdhies they publish from their Facebook Page tausdc
have connected with the Page or to amplify theridistion of stories users are already sharing #natrelevant to their marketi
efforts. For example, when a user Likes Red Budid Bull can pay to amplify the reach, frequencylistribution, and prominen
with which the story is shown to friends of thaéu:

Examples of Facebook Products for Advertisers aadkters
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Facebook Ad SystenWhen advertisers create an ad campaign with Fageltoey specify the types of users they would li@
reach based on information that users chose tceshlaout their age, location, gender, relationshétus, educational histo
workplace, and interests. For example, a stlfage company ran a campaign to reach studemsliege campuses prior to sumi
break. Additionally, advertisers indicate the mamuim price they are willing to pay for their ad arteit maximum budge
Advertisers choose to pay for their ads based theretost per thousand impressions (CPM) on a fotebidded basis or cost |
click (CPC) on a bidded basis. Our system also supmguaranteed delivery of a fixed number of agrigssions for a fixed pric
Facebooks ad serving technology dynamically determineshibgt available ad to show each user based on thbication of th
use’s unique attributes and the I1-time comparison of bids from eligible at
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Examples of How Our Ad System Matches RelevantoAdformation a User has Chosen to Share
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. Ad Analytics and Facebook InsightsAdvertisers can use our analytics platform to trackl optimize the performance of tt
campaigns in real time. Facebook ad analytics enabiVertisers to gain insights into which ads wdisplayed and clicked c
These analytics help advertisers make modificatinsheir ad campaigns in order to maximize resutisr advertisers wi
Facebook Pages, Facebook Insights also providedimea information about the performance of their ®apnd related pos
whether through paid or organic channels. The mhaiade the number of users who Liked and Commeatethe Page as well a
metric,“People Talking About Thi” which shows how many stories about the adve’s brand are being created and she

Building and Maintaining User Trust

Trust is a cornerstone of our business. We dedisieificant resources to the goal of building useist through developing a
implementing programs designed to protect userapyiypromote a safe environment, and assure thegigseof user data. The resources
dedicate to this goal include engineers, analyatgyers, policy experts, and operations specialssswell as hardware and software f

leading vendors and solutions we have designedaitid

. Privacy and Sharing.People come to Facebook to connect and share.cBngteiser privacy is an important part of our pro
development process. Our objective is to give uskigce over what they share and with whom theyreslita This effort i

fundamental to our business and focuses on comtaolsparency, and accountabili
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- Control. We believe that by providing our users with clead &as-to-use controls, we will continue to promote trusbin
products. For example, when a user posts a stptiet@ior uploads a photo to Facebook, odinie-controls allow the user
select his or her audience at the same time that Bke is publishing the post. In addition, weéhatroduced other perso
information control tools and techniques. “Activityg” was recently introduced and is a unified tool the¢rs can use
review and manage the content they have postedthend@ctions they have taken on Facebook. For exanysing th
Activity Log, a user can view his or her activitytiva particular app, delete a specific post, clkeanho can see a photo,
remove an app completely. Additionally, our “Dowadb Your Information”tool enables users to remove or store
personal information off of Faceboc

- Transparency.Our Data Use Policy describes in plain languagedatia use practices and how privacy works on Faite
We also offer a number of tools and features thavide users with transparency about their infofamabn Facebook. O
application settings feature enables users to @agh of the apps they have chosen to use, themiaf@n needed by ea
app, and the audience with whom the user has chosehare his or her interactions with each app.b#&leve that th
transparency enables users to make more informadiadies about their activities on Facebo

- Accountability. We continue to build new procedural safeguards a$ @ our comprehensive privacy program. Tl
include a dedicated team of privacy professiondi® are involved in new product and feature develapnirom desig
through launch; ongoing review and monitoring of thiay data is handled by existing features and;agps rigorous da
security practices. We regularly work with onlinevacy and safety experts and regulators aroundnbréd. In Novembe
2011, we announced a 2@ar agreement with the Federal Trade Commissi@nk@ance our privacy program. We ma
clear and formal longerm commitment to giving users tools to controlvitbey share on Facebook. We also have unde
an audit by the Office of the Irish Data Protect@ommissioner. The audit comprehensively reviewadoompliance wit
Irish data protection law, which is grounded in &@ean data protection principles. As part of theitgorocess, we agreed
enhance various data protection and privacy prestio ensure compliance with the law and adherémdedustry be:
practices

. Safety.We design our products to include robust safetystobhese tools are coupled with educational ressuand partnershi
with online safety experts to offer protections &irusers, particularly teenagers. We take intmant the unique needs of teena
who use our service and employ ag@ropriate settings that restrict their visibilitynit the audience with whom they can sh
and help prevent unwanted contact from strang

Our abuse reporting infrastructure allows anyoneFacebook to report inappropriate, offensive, ong#sous content throu
“report” links found on nearly every page of ouesiWe have enhanced this reporting system to diect$ocial Reporting,Wwhich
gives users the option to report content to usepmrt content to a trusted friend, or to block pleeson who posted the content\
one easy-touse tool. Our Safety Advisory Board, comprised igé fleading online safety organizations from arotind world
advises us on product design and helps us to cozatgrehensive safety resources for everyone wles osr service. The
resources are located in our multimedia Family a&enter on our website, which also offers speitildrmation for parent
educators, teenagers, and members of the law enfieret community. Additionally, we work with law eméement to help promc
the safety of our users as required by law.

. Security.We invest in technology, processes, and peopladopour commitment to safeguarding our U’ information. We use
variety of technigues to protect the data that we entrusted with, and we rely on multiple layefsnetwork segregation usi
firewalls to protect against attacks or unauthatizeEcess. We also employ proprietary technologieprotect our users. F
example, if we suspect that a user’s account mase lieeen compromised, we may use a process thaefee to as Socia
authenticatio” to validate that the person accessing the accsuheiactual accou
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holder. The process of social authentication majugte asking the person accessing the accountetdiig photos of the accot
holder’s friends. Our security team actively scans fousgcvulnerabilities using commercial tools, pema¢ion tests, code secul
reviews, and internal and external audits. We abee a network of geographically distributed sirtgleant data centers, and
take measures to protect the information stordése data centel

Competition

We face significant competition in almost everyexpof our business, including from companies agkkoogle, Microsoft, and Twitt
which offer a variety of Internet products, sergiceontent, and online advertising offerings, adl @& from mobile companies and sme
Internet companies that offer products and senticasmay compete with specific Facebook featuiés.also face competition from traditio
and online media businesses for a share of adeestisudgets and in the development of the tools antesysfor managing and optimizi
advertising campaigns. We compete broadly with G@sgsocial networking offerings, including Google+hiah it has integrated with cert
of its products, including search and Android. didi&ion, we compete with other, largely regionalcial networks that have strong position
particular countries, including Cyworld in KoreajX¥¥lin Japan, Orkut (owned by Google) in Brazil dndia, and vKontakte in Russia. As
introduce new products, as our existing productdwey or as other companies introduce new prodatisservices, we may become subje
additional competition.

The areas in which we compete include:

. Users and EngagemenWe compete to attract, engage, and retain usersaude our products for users are free of charg
compete based on the utility, ease of use, perfocsiaand quality of our produc

. Advertising.We compete to attract and retain advertisers. \Wenduish our products by providing reach, releearsocial contex
and engagement to amplify the effectiveness of idees’ messages

. Platform. We compete to attract and retain developers tadbeoimpelling apps and websites that integrate wadbebook. W
compete in this area primarily based on the vafub@tools and APIs we provide to developers tabés them to access our la
global base of engaged users and their connediwths$o drive traffic to their apps and websi

. Talent. We compete to attract and retain highly talentelividuals, especially software engineers, desigraerd product manage
Competition for employee talent is particularlyense in the San Francisco Bay Area, where we adduartered. We compete
these potential employees by providing a work eminent that fosters and rewards creativity and vation and by providin
compensation packages that we believe will enabl® attract and retain key employe

While our industry is evolving rapidly and is bedam increasingly competitive, we believe that wenpete favorably on the factt
described above. For additional information, sesKHFactors—Our business is highly competitive. Competitiongergs an ongoing threal
the success of our business.”

Technology

We have assembled a team of highly skilled enggaed computer scientists whose expertise spansaa bange of technical areas.
make significant investments in product and featieeelopment, data management and personalizaaimaologies, largeeale systems a
scalable infrastructure, and advertising techn@sgas follows:

. Product and Feature DevelopmerWe aim to continuously improve our existing produahd to develop new products for
users, developers, and advertisers. Our productlolement philosophy is centered on continuous iatiow in creating produc
that are social by design, which means that oudyets are designed to place our users and thdal $oteractions at the core of 1
product experience
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. Data Management and Personalization TechnologiTo provide each user with a personalized Facebapkreence, we mu
process and analyze a vast and growing amountrécbshared by our users, developers, and adsertésnd surface the m
relevant content in real time. For example, loadingsers home page typically requires accessing hundrédsreers, processi
tens of thousands of individual pieces of data, @egliering the information selected in less thae second. In addition, the d
relationships have grown exponentially and are tily changing. As such, we have invested extehsiin developin
technologies and analytics in areas includ

- Content optimization and deliverWe use a proprietary distributed system that is &blquery thousands of pieces of cor
that may be of interest to an individual user ttedmine the most relevant and timely stories arivelethem to the user
milliseconds.

- Graph query.Our graph query technology enables us to efficjeptibbcess subjective queries about the Social Ghy
utilizing a proprietary set of search indices, guamocessors, and caching syste

- Media storage and servinWe store more than 100 petabytes (100 quadrilliged) of photos and videos. We have bt
number of storage and serving technologies, su¢hagistack, which allow us to efficiently serve astdre the date

- Large-scale data managemerWe developed Apache Hive, a data warehouse infietsire built on top of Hadoop,
provide tools to enable easy data summarizatiohpadjuerying, and analysis of large datas

- Software performancd=acebook.com is largely written in PHP, or Hypetrtereprocessor, a widely used, gengmalpos:
scripting language. We developed HipHop, which paogmatically transforms PHP source code into higigtimized C+-
code. HipHop offers significant performance gairteew compared to traditional PH

. Large-Scale Systems and Scalable InfrastructurOur products are built on a shared computing itfuature. We use
combination of off-theshelf and custom software running on clusters ohmodity computers to amass substantial comp
capability. Our infrastructure has enabled theagferand processing of large datasets and faailitate deployment of our produ
on a global scale. As our user base grows, andetred of engagement and sharing from our usersiruoes to increase,
computing needs continue to expand. We aim to gewur products rapidly and reliably to all usexsuad the world, including
countries where we do not expect significant skemta monetization. We expect to benefit if and las perunit pricing fol
computing power, memory and storage capacity coasirto decrease. We also intend to continue tolgevata center and ser
architectures that are operationally efficient,laloke, and reliable. By building custom servers aodstructing our owned d:
centers in Prineville, Oregon and Forest City, Na@arolina, we introduced numerous technology adearents that are desigi
to:

- eliminate no-essential components, thereby reducing the cosinameving the serviceability of servel
- improve server cooling and power distribution asrbeth the data center and servers to minimize ptoss; anc

- optimize the power distribution system and servawegr supplies to operate at significantly highdicefncy and furthe
reduce power los:

Together, our custom server and data center desigwdted in a significant increase in energy efficy while significant!
reducing our costs compared to the usage of toamditiservers and leased data center facilities aéea founding member of 1
Open Compute Project through which we make our ntayy data center, server hardware, and certi#tware designs availal
to the open source community. This initiative atmsiccelerate data center and server innovatioriremease computing efficien
through collaboration on relevant best practicastashnical specifications.
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. Advertising TechnologiesWe believe that a more valuable advertiser and egeerience is created through our ability to maie
most relevant ads to each of our users based oorhi®r connections, demographics, and expresgecests. Our advertisil
technology serves billions of ad impressions eway, each of which is displayed to selected usasgd upon the information tl
they have chosen to sha

Advertisers specify a bid, which is how much theg willing to pay for clicks or impressions of theids. The actual price paid
each click or impression is computed using an anatiechanism that automatically calculates thenmima price an advertiser m
pay to “win” the auction and have its ad shown. We believedhatspecific auction mechanism encourages advesttsebid th:
maximum price they are willing to pay, understaigdihat because of the way our auction works thdl/lvei charged a market-
determined price that is never higher and typichlyer than their bid. Our system also supportsragnuized delivery of a fixe
number of ad impressions for a fixed price.

Our system manages our entire set of ads, thetsdlaadiences, and the advertiséids to determine which ads to show each
and how to display them for every page on Faceb®é&.use an advanced click prediction system thaghgemany reatime
updated features using automated learning techsidDer technology incorporates the estimated dlicktigh rate with both tl
advertiser’s bid and a user relevancy signal tect¢he optimal ads to show.

Our research and development expenses were $8@m#i144 million, $388 million, $57 million, andL$3 million in 2009, 2010, a
2011 and the first quarter of 2011 and 2012, resyyg.

Sales and Operations

Many of our advertisers use our se#frvice ad platform to establish accounts andundh and manage their advertising campaigns
also have a global sales force that is focusedttoaciing and retaining advertisers and providiogport to them throughout the stages o
advertising campaign cycle from pre-purchase decisiaking to real-time optimizations to pastmpaign analytics. We currently operate r
than 30 sales offices around the globe.

We have operations teams to provide support forusers, developers, and advertisers in four regjioeaters located in Menlo Pa
California; Austin, Texas; Dublin, Ireland; and Hydbad, India. We also invest in and rely on seffsice tools to provide customer suppo
our users, developers, and advertisers.

Marketing

To date, the Facebook user community has grownrlyivdath users inviting their friends to connectttvithem, supported by interi
efforts to stimulate user awareness and interest.HAve been able to build our brand and user basma the world with relatively lo
marketing costs. We leverage the utility of ourdarats and our social distribution channels as oostreffective marketing tools. In additi
we undertake various user acquisition efforts agailarly host events and conferences to engagedeitelopers and advertisers.

Intellectual Property

Our success depends in part upon our ability tdeptoour core technology and intellectual propeffig. establish and protect «
proprietary rights, we rely on a combination ofquds, patent applications, trademarks, copyrighasle secrets, including knolew, licens
agreements, confidentiality procedures, miisclosure agreements with third parties, emplaliselosure and invention assignment agreen
and other contractual rights.

As of March 31, 2012, we had 774 issued patentsSdgdfiiled patent applications in the United Statad 96 corresponding patents
194 filed patent applications in foreign countniekating to social networking, web
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technologies and infrastructure, and other tectgieto Our issued patents expire between 2014 aB@. 2e cannot assure you that any of
patent applications will result in the issuanceagfatent or whether the examination process wijiire us to narrow our claims. In additi
any patents may be contested, circumvented, fomediforceable or invalid, and we may not be ablergvent third parties from infringil
them. In April 2012, we entered into an agreemeitl Wlicrosoft Corporation pursuant to which we wlle assigned Microso#t’rights tt
acquire approximately 615 U.S. patents and patepliations and their foreign counterparts, coinsisbf approximately 170 foreign pate
and patent applications, that are subject to theemgent between AOL Inc. and Microsoft entered onicApril 5, 2012. These patents relat
advertising, search, e-commerce, mobile, and ddemologies. As part of this transaction, we wbtain a norexclusive license to the ott
AOL patents and patent applications being purchagedicrosoft and we will grant Microsoft a naxclusive license to the AOL patents
patent applications that we are acquiring. The extlusive license requires no ongoing royalty paytsieand extends for the life of the pate

We generally control access to and use of our petgyy technology and other confidential informatitrough the use of internal ¢
external controls, including contractual protecsiomith employees, contractors, customers, and @artrand our software is protected
U.S. and international copyright laws. Despite efiorts to protect our trade secrets and propnyetigghts through intellectual property rigt
licenses, and confidentiality agreements, unautkdriparties may still copy or otherwise obtain arse¢ our software and technology
addition, we intend to expand our internationalrafiens, and effective patent, copyright, trademanmkl trade secret protection may no
available or may be limited in foreign countries.

Companies in the Internet, technology, and mediastries own large numbers of patents, copyrighaslemarks, and trade secrets
frequently enter into litigation based on allegas®f infringement, misappropriation, or other aittns of intellectual property or other rigl
From time to time, we face, and we expect to facéhe future, allegations that we have infringee ttademarks, copyrights, patents, t
secrets and other intellectual property rights hofdt parties, including our competitors and macticing entities. As we face increas
competition and as our business grows, we willjikace more claims of infringement. For example,March 12, 2012, Yahoo filed a laws
against us in the U.S. District Court for the Nerth District of California that alleges that a nwenbf our products infringe the claims of tei
Yahoo's patents, and on April 27, 2012 Yahoo adted patents to the lawsuit. For additional inforioaf see “Risk FactorsWe art
currently, and expect to be in the future, partypadent lawsuits and other intellectual properghts claims that are expensive and
consuming, and, if resolved adversely, could hasggaificant impact on our business, financial dtind, or results of operations” and—
Legal Proceedings.”

Government Regulation

We are subject to a number of U.S. federal ane staid foreign laws and regulations that affect mames conducting business on
Internet, many of which are still evolving and lptested in courts, and could be interpreted insathgt could harm our business. These
involve user privacy, rights of publicity, data frotion, content, intellectual property, distrilauntj electronic contracts and ot
communications, competition, protection of minarsnsumer protection, taxation and online paymentiees. In particular, we are subjec
federal, state, and foreign laws regarding privaig protection of user data. Foreign data protecpavacy, and other laws and regulations
often more restrictive than those in the Unitedetal.S. federal and state and foreign laws agdlagons are constantly evolving and ca
subject to significant change. In addition, thelaagion and interpretation of these laws and ragiohs are often uncertain, particularly in
new and rapidlyevolving industry in which we operate. There arsoah number of legislative proposals pending befoecU.S. Congres
various state legislative bodies, and foreign goremts concerning data protection which could &ffisc For example, a revision to the 1
European Union Data Protection Directive is cullsetieing considered by legislative bodies that nraglude more stringent operatio
requirements for data processors and significamalpies for non-compliance.

In November 2011, we reached aéar settlement agreement with the FTC to resalvieeestigation into various practices, by ente
into an agreement that, among other things, regjuiseto establish and refine
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certain practices with respect to treatment of dsga and privacy settings and also requires weptstmbiannual independent privacy auc
Violation of existing or future regulatory orders @nsent decrees could subject us to substantinktary fines and other penalties that c
negatively affect our financial condition and reéswf operations.

Various laws and regulations in the United Statesabroad, such as the Bank Secrecy Act, the Boddk Act, the USA PATRIOT Ac
and the Credit CARD Act impose certain amtney laundering requirements on companies thafiaaacial institutions or that provi
financial products and services. Under these lawdsragulations, financial institutions are broadéfined to include money services busine
such as money transmitters, check cashers, amissellissuers of stored value. Requirements inthosdinancial institutions under these I
include customer identification and verificatiorograms, record retention policies, and procedunédsti@nsaction reporting. We do not beli
that we are a financial institution subject to #hé&svs and regulations. However, it is possiblé Beyments on the Facebook Platform coul
considered a financial product and that we couldi®&emed a financial institution subject to appliedd.S., state, or foreign regulation ur
certain interpretations of laws governing businesseh as money transmitters, check cashers, dadss® issuers of stored value. To incre
flexibility in how our use of Payments may evolvedato mitigate regulatory uncertainty, we have gguplor expect to apply througt
subsidiary for certain money transmitter licensethe United States, which will generally requiseta show compliance with many dome
laws relating to money transmission, gift cards atieer prepaid access instruments, electronicssftnashsfers, anti-money laundering, counter-
terrorist financing, gambling, banking and lendiagd import and export restrictions.

China is a large potential market for Facebook,Usetrs are generally restricted from accessinglfesdefrom China. We do not know
we will be able to find an approach to managingteohand information that will be acceptable tcansl to the Chinese government. It is
possible that governments of one or more other tti@snmay seek to censor content available on @lrsite, restrict access, block our web
or impose other restrictions that may affect theeasibility of Facebook for an extended periodrogtor indefinitely.

We communicate with lawmakers and regulators inctientries and regions in which we do business.hate a dedicated policy te
that monitors legal and regulatory developments waotks with policymakers and regulators around wald to help ensure that ¢
perspective is heard in matters of importance to us

Legal Proceedings

Paul D. Ceglia filed suit against us and Mark Zubkeg on or about June 30, 2010, in the Supremet©bthe State of New York for tl
County of Allegheny claiming substantial ownersbipour company based on a purported contract betwée Ceglia and Mr. Zuckerbe
allegedly entered into in April 2003. We removed ttase to the U.S. District Court for the Westerstrizt of New York, where the case
now pending. In his first amended complaint, filea April 11, 2011, Mr. Ceglia revised his claimsitelude an alleged partnership v
Mr. Zuckerberg, he revised his claims for reliest®k a substantial share of Mr. Zuckerb&@inership in us, and he included quotations
supposed emails that he claims to have exchangidMvi Zuckerberg in 2003 and 2004. On June 2, 20l filed a motion for expedit
discovery based on evidence we submitted to thet showing that the alleged contract and emailswupbich Mr. Ceglia bases his compl:
are fraudulent. On July 1, 2011, the court grardad motion and ordered Mr. Ceglia to produce, amotiter things, all hard copy &
electronic versions of the purported contract amdits. On January 10, 2012, the court granted eguest for sanctions against Mr. Ceglie
his delay in compliance with that order. On Maré) 2012, we filed a motion to dismiss Mr. Cegli@omplaint and a motion for judgment
the pleadings. We continue to believe that Mr. @ei attempting to perpetrate a fraud on the caod we intend to continue to defend
case vigorously.

On March 12, 2012, Yahoo filed a lawsuit againsiruthe U.S. District Court for the Northern Distriof California, claiming that v
infringe ten of Yahoo's patents that Yahoo claimlate to “advertising,” “social
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networking,” “privacy,” “customization,” and “mesgiag,” and on April 27, 2012 Yahoo added two patents &l#wsuit that Yahoo clair
relate to “advertising.”Yahoo is seeking unspecified damages, a damageptiasltfor alleged willful infringement, and an umction. W
intend to vigorously defend this lawsuit, and orriAB, 2012, we filed our answer with respect tis ttomplaint and asserted counterclaims
Yahoo's products infringe ten of our patents. This litiga is still in its early stages and the final e, including our liability, if any, wi
respect to Yahog'claims, is uncertain. At present, we are unabkstimate a reasonably possible range of lossyif that may result from tt
matter. If an unfavorable outcome were to occuhig litigation, the impact could be material tar dusiness, financial condition, or result
operations. As is common in intellectual propeitigation, Yahoo could in the future assert additibpatent or other claims against us in th
in other proceedings. For example, we receivedtarldated April 23, 2012 from Yahoo indicating tthlaey believe 16 patents they clain
hold “may be relevantto open source technology they allege is being irsedr data centers and servers. Yahoo has reatdmed or initiate
litigation with respect to matters described irstheitter but it may do so in the future.

We are also currently parties to multiple otherdaiis related to our products, including patentimgiement lawsuits brought by b
other companies and ngmacticing entities as well as class action lavesbibught by users and advertisers, and we maeifuture be subje
to additional lawsuits and disputes. We are alsolired in other claims, government investigaticensg proceedings arising from the ordir
course of our business. Although the results ofehether lawsuits, claims, government investigaticand proceedings in which we
involved cannot be predicted with certainty, wendd believe that the final outcome of these othattens will have a material adverse effec
our business, financial condition, or results oéi@gions.

Regardless of the final outcome, defending lawsuigims, government investigations, and proceedingwhich we are involved
costly and can impose a significant burden on mamegt and employees, we may receive unfavorablenimary or interim rulings in th
course of litigation, and there can be no assusatiw favorable final outcomes will be obtained.

Culture and Employees

Our employees and our culture are critical to awocess. We value ot“hacker cultur¢’” which we define as a work environment
rewards creative problem solving and rapid decisi@king. We try to move fast in developing new pratd and then continually iterate i
optimize to further improve our products. We seekplyees who are motivated by the ability to hawdiract impact on how hundreds
millions of people around the world connect, disapwand express themselves.

We encourage our employees to think boldly. We &laee posted the phrase “this journey is 1% firdShecross many of our offi
walls, to remind employees that we believe thatwaee only begun fulfilling our mission to make thierld more open and connected.

We have grown rapidly, but at a rate that we belieil allow us to preserve a culture of collab@yaf excellence, and moving fast.
had 1,218 full-time employees, 2,127 full-time eayges, 3,200 full-time employees, and 3,539 tinlle employees at the end of 2009, 2
2011, and the first quarter of 2012, respectively.

Facilities
As of March 31, 2012, we leased office facilitigswnd the world totaling approximately 2.2 millisguare feet, including one milli
square feet for our corporate headquarters in MBald, California. We have data centers in the ééhBtates, including data center facili

that we own in North Carolina and Oregon and leaksd center facilities in California and Virginle believe that our facilities are adeq!
for our current needs.
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MANAGEMENT

Executive Officers and Directors
The following table provides information regardiogr executive officers and directors as of MarchZ112:

Name Age Position(s)

Mark Zuckerberg 27  Chairman and CE(

Sheryl K. Sandber 42  Chief Operating Office

David A. Ebersmal 42  Chief Financial Office

David B. Fische 39  Vice President, Marketing and Business Partners
Mike Schroepfe 37  Vice President of Engineerir

Theodore W. Ullyo 44  Vice President, General Counsel, and Secr¢
Marc L. Andreesse®® 40  Director

Erskine B. Bowle® 66  Director

James W. Breye®@ 50 Director

Donald E. Graham®®) 66  Director

Reed Hasting® 51 Director

Peter A. Thie® 44  Director

* Lead Independent Directc

(1) Member of the audit committe

(2) Member of the compensation committ
(3) Member of the governance committ

Mark Zuckerbergs our founder and has served as our CEO and asyaear of our board of directors since July 2004. Rlickerberg he
served as Chairman of our board of directors sirmeuary 2012. Mr. Zuckerberg attended Harvard Usitye where he studied compt
science. We believe that Mr. Zuckerberg shouldeseawa member of our board of directors due tgénspective and experience he bring
our founder, Chairman, and CEO, and as our lag@sicontrolling stockholder.

Sheryl K. Sandberpas served as our Chief Operating Officer siNt@ch 2008. From November 2001 to March 2008, Msdber
served in various positions at Google, Inc., mesently as Vice President, Global Online Sales &i@fpions. Ms. Sandberg also is a for
Chief of Staff of the U.S. Treasury Department aneviously served as a consultant with McKinsey &nfpany, a management consul
company, and as an economist with The World Bamladdition to serving as our Chief Operating Offidds. Sandberg has been a memb
the board of directors of the Walt Disney Compaimges December 2009. Ms. Sandberg holds an A.Bcamemics from Harvard Univers
and an M.B.A. from Harvard Business School.

David A. Ebersmamas served as our Chief Financial Officer sincet&aper 2009. Prior to joining us, Mr. Ebersman edrin variou
positions at Genentech, Inc., a biotechnology campancluding as its Chief Financial Officer fromaxth 2005 and as an Executive \
President from January 2006 until April 2009, fallng Genentech’s acquisition by F. Hoffmaba-Roche Ltd. in March 2009. Prior to join
Genentech, Mr. Ebersman was a research analygiprbeimer & Company, Inc., an investment compangddition to serving as our Ch
Financial Officer, Mr. Ebersman has been a membéreoboard of directors of [ronwood Pharmaceusichic. since July 2009. Mr. Ebersn
holds an A.B. in economics and international relaifrom Brown University.
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David B. Fischejjoined us in April 2010 and serves as our Vice g, Marketing and Business Partnerships. Frdm202 to Marc
2010, Mr. Fischer served in various positions ab@e, including most recently as its Vice Presigd&lobal Online Sales & Operations. P
to joining Google, Mr. Fischer served as DeputyeClof Staff of the U.S. Treasury Department and aasssociate editor at the U.S. N
World Report, L.P., a news magazine company. Mcliér holds a B.A. in government from Cornell Unsity and an M.B.A. from tt
Stanford University Graduate School of Business.

Mike Schroepfethas served as our Vice President of Engineeringesi®eptember 2008. From December 2005 to Augus8,
Mr. Schroepfer served as Vice President of Engingeat Mozilla Corporation, an Internet companyioPto Mozilla, Mr. Schroepfer served
various positions at Sun Microsystems, Inc., amrimation technology company, including as Chief hiretogy Officer of its data cen
automation division. He also dounded CenterRun, Inc., a developer of applicatioovisioning software, which was acquired by
Microsystems. In addition to serving as our Vicedident of Engineering, Mr. Schroepfer has beeneaber of the board of directors
Ancestry.com Inc. since January 2011. Mr. Schraepdéds a B.S. and an M.S. in computer science fesamford University.

Theodore W. Ullyohas served as our Vice President, General CouasélSecretary since October 2008. From May 2008dimbe
2008, Mr. Ullyot was a partner at Kirkland & Ellid P, a law firm. From October 2005 to April 2008,rMJllyot served as Executive Vi
President and General Counsel of ESL Investments, & private investment firm. Prior to joining [EBwestments, Mr. Ullyot served in t
federal executive branch under President GeorgBWh, including as Chief of Staff at the U.S. &iestDepartment and as a Deputy Assit
to the President. Earlier in his career, Mr. Ullyats an associate general counsel at AOL Time Walme and served as a law clerk for
Supreme Court Justice Antonin Scalia and for Judgshael Luttig of the U.S. Court of Appeals for tReurth Circuit. Mr. Ullyot holds &
A.B. in History from Harvard University and a J.fbom the University of Chicago.

Marc L. Andreessehas served as a member of our board of directoreslune 2008. Mr. Andreessen is af@mder and has beel
General Partner of Andreessen Horowitz, a ventagtal firm, since July 2009. Previously, Mr. Andssen cdeunded and served as
Chairman of the board of directors of Opsware, Ificcmerly known as Loudcloud Inc.), a software gamy. He also served as ClI
Technology Officer of America Online, Inc., an Imet services company. Mr. Andreessen was &uander of Netscape Communicati
Corporation, a software company, serving in varipositions, including Chief Technology Officer aBgecutive Vice President of Products
addition to serving on our board of directors, Mndreessen currently serves as a member of thedbadrdirectors of eBay Inc. and
Hewlett-Packard Company. Mr. Andreessen holds a iB.Bomputer science from the University of lllis@t Urbanazhampaign. We belie
that Mr. Andreessen should serve as a member oboard of directors due to his extensive experieag@n Internet entrepreneur, ven
capitalist, and technologist.

Erskine B. Bowledias served as a member of our board of directore sbeptember 2011. Mr. Bowles is President Ensefuthe
University of North Carolina and served as Predidiemnm January 2006 through December 2010. Mr. Bswlas also been a Senior Advisc
BDT Capital Partners, LLC, a private investmentfiisince January 2012. From February 2010 untiebdxer 2010, he served as Chair o
the National Commission on Fiscal Responsibilitd &eform. Mr. Bowles has been a Senior Advisoresig@801 and was Managing Direc
from 1999 to 2001 of Carousel Capital LLC, a prevatvestment firm. He was also a partner of Foratmiaittle & Co., an investment firr
from 1999 to 2001. Mr. Bowles began his careeroirporate finance at Morgan Stanley and subsequbstped found and ultimately servec
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Bowles talkll Connor & Co., an investment banking firm. Blso was a founder of Kitty Ha
Capital, a venture capital firm. Mr. Bowles senesiWhite House Chief of Staff from 1996 to 1998 &meputy White House Chief of St
from 1994 to 1995. In addition to serving on ourtibof directors, Mr. Bowles currently serves asi@mber of the boards of directors
Morgan Stanley, Belk, Inc., and Norfolk Southerrr@wation. Mr. Bowles also served as a member@bibard of directors of General Mot
Company from June 2005 to April 2009 and Cousimp®rties Incorporated from August 2003 to May 2012.
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Mr. Bowles holds a B.S. in business from the Ursitgrof North Carolina at Chapel Hill and an M.B.fskom Columbia University Gradue
School of Business. We believe that Mr. Bowles #h@erve as a member of our board of directors tduleis extensive experience in
financial services industry and academia as wdligslistinguished public service.

James W. Breydnas served as a member of our board of directace dhpril 2005. Mr. Breyer has been a Partner oféh®artners,
venture capital firm, since 1987, and currentlyesras President of Accel Management Co. Inc. Mey& is also the founder and has bee
Chief Executive Officer of Breyer Capital, an intragnt firm, since July 2006. Mr. Breyer is also@founder and has been tB&d on th
strategic investment committee since inceptionhef tDG-Accel China Funds. In addition to serving on ouafabof directors, Mr. Brey
currently serves as a member of the boards of tdireof Brightcove Inc., Dell, Inc., News Corporatj Prosper Marketplace, Inc., and Wal-
Mart Stores, Inc., where he is the lead/presidimdgpendent director. Mr. Breyer previously servechanember of the board of director:
Marvel Entertainment Inc. from June 2006 to Decen@®®9 and RealNetworks, Inc. from October 1993une 2008. Mr. Breyer holds a E
in interdisciplinary studies from Stanford Univeysand an M.B.A. from Harvard University. We belethat Mr. Breyer should serve &
member of our board of directors due to his extensikperience with social media and technology aonigs, as a venture capitalist, and as
of our early investors.

Donald E. Grahanhas served as a member of our board of directoce dVlarch 2009. Mr. Graham has served as the Ehxe€utive
Officer of The Washington Post Company, an edunatiod media company, since 1991 and as Chairmés bbard of directors since 19
Mr. Graham holds an A.B. in English history anéiéture from Harvard University. We believe that KBraham should serve as a memb
our board of directors due to his extensive expegein the media industry, including serving inaisety of senior leadership roles with -
Washington Post Company.

Reed Hastingbas served as a member of our board of directoce slune 2011. Mr. Hastings has served as the ERefutive Office
and Chairman of the board of directors of Netflixg., a provider of an Internet subscription sesvior movies and television shows, si
1999. Prior to Netflix, Mr. Hastings served as CGhiexecutive Officer of Technology Network, a patiil service organization for t
technology industry. Mr. Hastings served as Chieddtitive Officer of Pure Atria Software, a makersoftware development tools, from 1¢
until it was acquired by Rational Software Corpmat a software company, in 1997. In addition tovseg on our board of directo
Mr. Hastings currently serves as a member of therdof directors of Microsoft Corporation. Mr. Higts holds a B.A. in mathematics fr
Bowdoin College and an M.S.C.S. in computer scidrma Stanford University. We believe that Mr. Hags should serve as a member of
board of directors due to his extensive experiavitie technology companies.

Peter A. Thiehas served as a member of our board of directoce April 2005. Since 2005, Mr. Thiel has been #rfea of Founde!
Fund, a venture capital firm. Mr. Thiel has alsoved as President of Clarium Capital Managemen€ L& global macro investment mana
since 2002. In 1998, Mr. Thiel dounded PayPal, Inc., an online payment compangravhe served as Chief Executive Officer, Presidat
as Chairman of its board of directors from 2000ilutg acquisition by eBay in 2002. Prior to thy. Thiel worked for Credit Suisse,
investment firm, and Sullivan & Cromwell LLP, a ldivm. Mr. Thiel holds a B.A. in Philosophy from &tford University and a J.D. frc
Stanford Law School. We believe that Mr. Thiel sldoserve as a member of our board of directors tdulkis extensive experience as
entrepreneur and venture capitalist, and as ooeroéarly investors.

Election of Officers

Our executive officers are elected by, and senthatliscretion of, our board of directors. Thare o family relationships among any
our directors or executive officers.
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Board Composition

Our board of directors may establish the authorizehber of directors from time to time by resolati®ur board of directors currer
consists of seven members. Our current certifiohtacorporation and amended and restated votimgesgents provide for certain member
our board of directors to be elected as designg@drbZuckerberg, the board of directors, or bytaier classes of our capital stock. The cul
members of the board of directors were electedlémnfs:

. Messrs. Andreessen, Graham, and Zuckerberg wereélas designees of Mr. Zuckerberg, the holdéheinajority of the votin
power of the outstanding shares of Class A comnmmrksand Class B common stot

. Mr. Bowles was elected as the designee of the bafaddectors;

. Mr. Hastings was elected as the designee of Mrk&ilerg, the holder of the majority of the votingager of the outstanding sha
of our capital stock

. Mr. Thiel was elected as the designee of stockhsltelding a majority of the outstanding shareswf Series A preferred stor
however, pursuant to the amended and restatedgvagireement, a majority of the members of our bo&irectors may design:
one member of the board of directors to fill theasif it becomes vacant; a

. Mr. Breyer was elected as the designee of stocknsidtho hold a majority of the outstanding shafesuo Series B preferred stoc

The amended and restated voting agreement anddhisipns of our certificate of incorporation by ieh the directors were elected \
terminate in connection with our initial public effng, and, except as described in “DescriptioiCapital Stock—Voting Agreementsthere
will be no further contractual obligations regaglithe election of our directors. Our current diogstwill continue to serve as directors L
their resignations or until their successors atlg dlected by the holders of our common stock.

Classified Board

So long as the outstanding shares of our ClassnBrmn stock represent a majority of the combinedhgopower of common stock,
will not have a classified board of directors, atiddirectors will be elected for annual terms.

When the outstanding shares of our Class B comnuomk sepresent less than a majority of the combiraithg power of common stoc
we will have a classified board of directors cotisgsof three classes of approximately equal ssaeh serving staggered thrngear terms. Ol
directors will be assigned by the then-current Badrdirectors to a class.

Upon expiration of the term of a class of directalisectors for that class will be elected for #wear terms at the annual meetin
stockholders in the year in which that term expirés a result, only one class of directors will édlected at each annual meeting of
stockholders, with the other classes continuingttfier remainder of their respective three-year teffash directos term continues until tl
election and qualification of his or her successomhis or her earlier death, resignation, or reahov

So long as our board of directors is classifiedy @ur board of directors may fill vacancies on taard. Any additional directorsh
resulting from an increase in the number of dinecteill be distributed among the three classeshab, as nearly as possible, each class
consist of one-third of the total number of diresto

The classification of our board of directors maywéiahe effect of delaying or preventing changesun control or management. ¢
“Description of Capital Stock—Anti-Takeover Proviss—Restated Certificate of Incorporation and ByRnavisions.”
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Director Independence

The rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC (NASDAQgmerally require that a majority of the membera disted compar’s board ¢
directors be independent within specified periadoWing the closing of an initial public offerindn addition, the listing rules generally reqt
that, subject to specified exceptions, each membaiisted company’s audit, compensation, and gwsgce committees be independent.

Audit committee members must also satisfy the iedeence criteria set forth in Rule 1@Aunder the Securities Exchange Act of 1
as amended (Exchange Act). In order to be congiderdependent for purposes of Rule 18Aa member of an audit committee of a li
company may not, other than in his or her capaaityy member of the audit committee, the boardrettirs, or any other board commit
accept, directly or indirectly, any consulting, &by, or other compensatory fee from the listethpany or any of its subsidiaries; or be
affiliated person of the listed company or anytsfsubsidiaries.

Our board of directors has determined that noneuofnonemployee directors has a relationship that wouterfare with the exercise
independent judgment in carrying out the respolisds of a director and that each of these dinects “independentas that term is defin
under the rules of NASDAQ. Our board of directoas lalso determined that Messrs. Andreessen, BoahesThiel, who comprise our at
committee, Messrs. Breyer and Graham, who commisecompensation committee, and Messrs. Andreesseham, and Hastings, w
comprise our governance committee, satisfy thepaddence standards for those committees establishadplicable SEC rules and the r
of NASDAQ.

Controlled Company

Because Mr. Zuckerberg controls a majority of outstanding voting power, we are a “controlled comgaunder the corpora
governance rules of NASDAQ. Therefore, we are aquired to have a majority of our board of direstioe independent, nor are we require
have a compensation committee or an independeninating function. In light of our status as a coligd company, our board of directors
determined not to have an independent nominatimgtion and to have the full board of directors leeatly responsible for nominati
members of our board. Additionally, as describedhim section entitled “Description of Capital SteeAnti-Takeover Provisions-Restate
Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaw Provisionsd long as the outstanding shares of our ClassnBrmmn stock represent a majority of
combined voting power of our common stock, Mr. Zerdderg will be able to effectively control all matt submitted to our stockholders fi
vote, as well as the overall management and dinectf our company.

Board Committees

Our board of directors has established an auditntittee, a compensation committee, and a governeoicenittee, each of which w
have the composition and responsibilities descritddw as of the closing of our initial public offeg. Members serve on these commit
until their resignations or until otherwise detemed by our board of directors.

Audit Committee

Our audit committee is comprised of Messrs. AndseesBowles, and Thiel. Mr. Bowles is the chairns&mour audit committee, is ©
audit committee financial expert, as that terme&red under SEC rules and possesses financiaisimaltion as defined under the rule:
NASDAQ. The designation does not impose on Mr. Bxsadny duties, obligations or liabilities that greater than are generally imposet
members of our audit committee and our board @fatiars. Our audit committee is directly responsibte among other things:

. selecting the independent registered public acaogifitrm to audit our financial statements;
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. ensuring the independence of the independent eegtspublic accounting firn

. discussing the scope and results of the audit with independent registered public accounting fiand reviewing, wit
management and that firm, our interim and -end operating result

. developing procedures to enable submission of anong concerns about accounting or audit mat
. considering the adequacy of our internal accourtogrols and audit procedures;
. reviewing related party transactiol

. approving or, as permitted, pre-approving all awditt nonaudit services to be performed by the independegistered publ
accounting firm; an

. overseeing our internal audit function.

Compensation Committee

Our compensation committee is comprised of Me®rsyer and Graham. Mr. Breyer is the chairman of aampensation committe
Each member of this committee is a non-employeectbr, as defined pursuant to Rule IBpromulgated under the Exchange Act, an
outside director, as defined under Section 162(fm}he Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. d@mpensation committee
responsible for, among other things:

. reviewing and approving, or recommending that aarl of directors approve, the compensation ofexecutive officers;

. reviewing and recommending to our board of directbe compensation of our directc

. reviewing and approving the terms of any compemgatgreements with our executive officers;

. administering our stock and equity incentive ple

. reviewing and making recommendations to our boéuirectors with respect to incentive compensatad equity plans; and

. establishing and reviewing our overall compensapioiosophy.

Governance Committee

Our governance committee is comprised of Messrslrdgssen, Graham, and Hastings. Mr. Graham ishthiencan of our governan
committee. Our governance committee is respon$iiJeamong other things:

. reviewing developments in corporate governancetioes;

. developing and recommending our corporate govermguoielines and policies, and evaluating theificgehcy;
. reviewing proposed waivers of the code of cond

. overseeing the process of evaluating the performahour board of directors; and

. advising our board of directors on corporate gogrce matters

Each of the above committees has a written chapperoved by our board of directors. Following thesimg of our initial public offering
copies of each charter will be posted on the IroreRelations section of our website.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Parttipation

During 2011, our compensation committee consisfédassrs. Breyer and Graham. Neither of them hasgttime in the last fiscal ye
been one of our officers or employees. During 2@,0, 2011, and the first quarter of 2012, The Mfagon Post Company and its rele
companies purchased $0.6 million, $4.8 million,2bdhillion, and $0.8 million, respectively, of adtisements on our website. Mr. Grahar
the Chief Executive Officer of The Washington P@simpany. The purchases by The Washington Post Qoymgoad its related entities w
made in the ordinary course of business pursuaoutcstandard online terms and conditions and wérenade through our se$fervice a
system.
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None of our executive officers has served as a neewithe board of directors, or as a member ottmpensation or similar committ
of any entity that has one or more executive offiagho served on our board of directors or comp@rsaommittee during 2011.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

Our board of directors has adopted a code of bssinenduct and ethics that applies to all of oupleyees, officers, and directors. -
full text of our code of business conduct and ethidl be posted on the Investor Relations sectibour website. We intend to disclose fus
amendments to certain provisions of our code ofrfass conduct and ethics, or waivers of these pimvs$, on our website or in filings un
the Exchange Act.

Director Compensation

In September 2011, our board of directors apprarednnual retainer fee of $50,000 for each of am-employee directors. Our non-
employee directors received a prorated fee durlbl2In addition, starting on January 1, 2012, ¢hairman of our audit committee v
receive an annual retainer fee of $20,000. Priayuwoinitial public offering, there was no formably in place to provide our directors w
equity compensation for their services as membieosiioboard of directors or any committee of ouatubof directors. In June 2011, our bc
of directors approved the grant of 20,000 resthicck units (RSUs) to Mr. Hastings, as compeasdtr Mr. Hastings'service as a memt
of our board of directors. In September 2011, ceirtd of directors approved the grant of 20,000 R&UKIr. Bowles, as compensation
Mr. Bowles’ service as a member of our board of directors. RB&Js granted to Messrs. Bowles and Hastings aredub vesting based
their continued services to us through each vestatg, which is more fully described below.

Although there was no formal policy in place reigtito the granting of equity awards to our diregtdhe following table presents
total compensation for each person who served meraber of our board of directors during 2011. Ottirian as set forth in the table :
described more fully below, in 2011 we did not pany fees to, make any equity awards or equoity awards to, or pay any other compens
to the members of our board of directors. Mr. Zubkeg, our founder, Chairman, and CEO, receivegarpensation for his service a
director, and is not included in the table below.

Stock

Fees Earned ol Awards
Director Name Paid in Cash ($ $) W@ Total ($)
Marc L. Andreessefy 16,667 — 16,66
Erskine B. Bowle 16,66 601,40( 618,06°
James W. Breye 16,66 — 16,66
Donald E. Grahar® 16,667 — 16,667
Reed Hasting® 16,66 593,40( 610,06°
Peter A. Thie 16,66 — 16,66

(1) Amounts reported represent the aggregate granfaiatealue of RSUs without regards to forfeitugranted to the independent members of our boadét@ftors during 2011 under ¢
2005 Stock Plan, computed in accordance with ASE The valuation assumptions used in calculatiegféir value of the RSUs is set forth in “Managetheiscussion and Analy:
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations-ti€al Accounting Policies and Estimates—Share-da8empensation.This amount does not reflect the actual economiae
realized by the directo

(2) Messrs. Andreessen and Graham hold RSUs granted tpriJanuary 1, 2011 (Pre-2011 RSUs). Pre-2011sR&ly vest upon the satisfaction of both (i) avieerbased vestir
condition and (ii) a liquidity-based vesting comdlit The liquidity-based vesting condition for F2@11 RSUs is: (a) the date that is six months aftereffective date of our initi
public offering; or (b) a change of control (asidefl in our 2005 Stock Plan). The service-basetingsondition for the Pr@011 RSUs held by Messrs. Andreessen and Grahe
further described in footnotes (3) and (5) belo®UR granted on or after January 1, 2011 (R04tt RSUs) vest based on continuous service tasufsirther described in footnotes
and (6) below

(3) As of December 31, 2011, Mr. Andreessen held 54807/RSUs. The servideased vesting condition was satisfied as to 1/48the total shares underlying the RSUs on July2B08
The remaining shares underlying the RSUs vestrateaof 1/48th of the total number of shares unyiteylthe RSUs on each month thereafter, subjecotdinued service to us throt
each vesting dat
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4)

®)

(6)

As of December 31, 2011, Mr. Bowles held 20,000 RSThe vesting condition will be satisfied as t@4B3of the total shares underlying the RSUs on BEtd5, 2012. The remaini
shares underlying the RSUs vest at a rate of 1/dfthe total number of shares underlying the R8lUguarterly installments thereafter, not to excekven quarterly installments, ¢
2/48th on October 15, 2015, subject to continugdise to us through each vesting date. None of Béwles’ RSUs will settle until the earliest to occur off lecember 31, 201
(i) an earlier date between January 1, 2013 arzkBber 31, 2013 that is specified by us; andttig)date of a change of control (as defined in20@5 Stock Plan’

As of December 31, 2011, Mr. Graham held 1,000R8Ws. The servicbased vesting condition was satisfied as to 1/#ithetotal shares underlying the RSUs on Apri2@10. Th
remaining shares underlying the RSUs vest at aofaté48th of the total number of shares underlytimg RSUs on each month thereafter, subject tdraged service to us through e
vesting date

As of December 31, 2011, Mr. Hastings held 20,08UR The vesting condition will be satisfied asltd of the total shares underlying the RSUs on 16ly2012. The remainil
shares underlying the RSUs vest at a rate of 1/df6the total number of shares underlying the R8IUtpuarterly installments thereafter, subject tatowied service to us through e
vesting date. None of Mr. HastingRSUs will settle until the earliest to occur off Pecember 31, 2013; (ii) an earlier date betwestudry 1, 2013 and December 31, 2013 tt
specified by us; and (iii) the date of a changeasftrol (as defined in our 2005 Stock Pl¢
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Overview

This section explains our executive compensatiofogbdphy, objectives, and design; our compens-setting process; our execut
compensation program components; and the decisiaae in 2011 with respect to the compensation cifi @ our named executive office
Our named executive officers for 2011, which cansfghe executive officers who appear in “—201InfBuary Compensation Tabléelow
are:

. Mark Zuckerberg, our founder, Chairman and Chieédtnive Officer (CEO);
. Sheryl K. Sandberg, our Chief Operating Officer @C

. David A. Ebersman, our Chief Financial Officer;

. Mike Schroepfer, our Vice President, Engineering)

. Theodore W. Ullyot, our Vice President, General &ml, and Secretary.

Executive Compensation Philosophy, Objectives aresign

Philosophy We are focused on our mission to make the worldenogen and connected. We believe that Facebodklie deginning ¢
this journey and that for us to be successful wstrhire and retain people who can continue to dgvelr strategy, quickly innovate and b
new products, bolster the growth of our user baskuser engagement, and constantly enhance ourdsgsinodel. To achieve these object
we need a highly talented team comprised of engimgeproduct, sales, and general and adminisggpirofessionals. We also expect
executive team to possess and demonstrate stradgrihip and management capabilities.

ObjectivesOur compensation programs for our named execuffieeos are built to support the following objeas:

. attract the top talent in our leadership positiand motivate our executives to deliver the higlestl of individual and team imp:
and results

. encourage our executives to model the importaneéaspof our culture, which include moving fast, fgebold, communicatir
openly and building trust with each other and auplyees

. ensure each one of our named executive officersives a total compensation package that encourhdigesr her longermr
retention;

. reward high levels of performance with commensulatels of compensation; ai

. align the interests of our executives with thoseowf stockholders in the overall success of Facdeliypoemphasizing longgrmr
incentives

Design.As a privatelyheld company, our executive compensation prograheavily weighted towards equity, including stogitions
and restricted stock units (RSUs), with cash cormpon that is considerably below market relatweskecutive compensation at our
companies. We believe that equity compensationrotfee best vehicle to focus our executive offiaamsour mission and the achievemer
our long-term strategic and financial objectived &malign our executive officers with the longrteinterests of our stockholders.

For our executive officers who received a subsghimitial equity award in connection with the comncement of their employment,
have granted additional equity awards with seriased vesting conditions where the commencemewsiing is deferred until a date sc
years in the future, as discussed furthe“—Elements of Executive Compensation—Equity Compéing” below. When combined with t
executives’ initial equity awards, we believe ttta¢se additional grants represent a strong teng-retention tool and provide the exect
officers with long-term equity incentives.
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As we transition from being a privately-held compao a publiclytraded company, we will evaluate our executive censatiol
programs, including our mix of cash and equity cengation, at least annually or as circumstancasreejased on our business objectives
the competitive environment for talent. We antitgpaontinuing our emphasis on pay-for-performanoe langterm incentive compensati
for our executive officers.

Compensation-Setting Process

Role of Our Compensation CommitteeThe compensation committee is responsible forrsmeing all aspects of our execu
compensation programs, including executive salapagouts under our annual bonus plan, the sizestmdture of equity awards, and .
executive perquisites. The compensation commitsesolely responsible for determining the compensatf our CEO and reviews &
approves compensation of other executive officers.

Role of Compensation Consultarithe compensation committee has the authorityntrage its own advisors to assist in carrying @
responsibilities. The compensation committee didratain the services of an outside compensatiosutant to provide advice with respec
our executive compensation programs for 2011. hudey 2012, the compensation committee engagedehdces of Compensia, Inc.
national compensation consulting firm. Compensig pravide the compensation committee and the bo&directors with guidance regard
the amount and types of compensation that we peaacur executives, how our compensation practioegare to the compensation pract
of other companies, and other compensat&dated matters. Compensia reports directly toctthapensation committee, although Compe
may meet with members of management for the puspadegathering information on proposals that mansgg may make to tl
compensation committee. The compensation committ@g replace Compensia or hire additional advistrang time. Compensia does
provide any services to us other than the sengoegded to the compensation committee.

Role of Managemenkn setting compensation for 2011, our CEO, our C@Q our Vice President, Human Resources, workeskel
with the compensation committee in managing ourcetiee compensation program and attended meetifidiseocompensation committ:
From time to time, our Chief Financial Officer amdir General Counsel attended meetings of the cosatien committee to presi
information and answer questions. Our CEO mademetendations to the compensation committee regambngpensation for our execut
officers other than himself because of his dailyoimement with our executive team. No executiveceff participated directly in the fir
deliberations or determinations regarding his ardven compensation package.

Our management team and the compensation comradtdeplay a role in evaluating and mitigating asl that may exist relating to ¢
compensation plans, practices and policies foemlployees, including our named executive officassfurther described in “Gompensatic
Risk Assessment” below.

Use of Comparative Market Dat&lVe aim to compensate our executive officers atléetieat are at least commensurate with the
competitive levels of compensation of executiveceifs with executives in similar positions at aigraf peer companies set forth below \
whom we compete for hiring and retaining executiakent (our Peer Group). The compensation commglee considered the scope
responsibility of each executive officer, our cutreractice of maintaining minimal differentiatid@tween the cash packages of our exec
officers, the unvested balances of stock awardsdoh executive officer, as well as the compensationmittees assessment of each exect
officer’'s performance and impact to the organization. terd@ning 2011 compensation, we did not use a féairfar taking into account the
different factors.

Management provides the compensation committee lvath cash and equity compensation data for our Besup. We analyze mari
data for executive compensation at least annualigguthe most relevant published survey sourcespaidic filings. For 2011, our mark
analysis focused on technology companies with $ibito $3 billion in annual revenue in the Radfdglobal Technology and Global St
Survey
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published by AON (Radford Survey). In the first ¢iea of 2011, the compensation committee also vestecompensation data from the pu
filings for the following Peer Group, with annuahenue ranging from $1.7 billion to $108.3 billionfiscal 2011:

Accenture Google
Adobe System Intuit
Amazon.corr Microsoft
AOL NetApp

Apple Oracle

Cisco System salesforce.cor
eBay VMware
Electronic Arts Yahoo!

The compensation committee expects to periodicaliew and update this Peer Group.

In the first quarter of 2011, our compensation cotte® reviewed our executive compensation agamstReer Group, to ensure that
executive officer compensation is competitive anfficent to recruit and retain our executive offis. Management provided the compens,
committee with total cash compensation data (bakeies and cash bonus awards at target) at vapieteentiles and total compensation
(total cash compensation and equity compensatiotijea90th percentile. However, while the compensatommittee considered this dati
determining executive officer compensation, we dat seek to benchmark our executive compensatioanto particular level. The to
compensation for our named executive officers watsdetermined based on any pre-set “targetcentile of market. Rather, we sougt
compensate our executive officers at a level whidhld allow us to successfully recruit and retdia best possible talent for our exect
team. We relied heavily on the knowledge and expee of the compensation committee and our managemeetermining the appropri
compensation levels for our executive officers. @itebased on our Peer Group analysis, total cashpensation for our executive offic
was below the 25th percentile of our peers. Wharitggompensation was factored in, without takingpiaccount the effect of the service-
based vesting conditions that begin several yeatise future and that are applicable to the equotypensation of our executive officers, t
compensation for our named executive officers, rothan our CEO, approximated the 99th percentilgtite to the companies in the Radi
Survey.

In the second quarter of 2011, the compensatiomutiee further refined our approach to reviewingrke& compensation data for «
named executive officers and approved a set ofctsete criteria for determining our peer group comipa as listed below, with t
understanding that the criteria will be revisitedaur business and market environment change. Gomgard, companies must meet al
some of the following criteria to be included ir@@mpensation peer group:

. high technology or media compar
. key talent competitor;
. minimum revenue of $4 billion; or

. minimum market capitalization of $50 billio

This set of selection criteria led us to revise pleer group against whom we benchmark our execatwgpensation. We plan to use
following companies in our peer group for the 2@&cutive compensation process: Amazon.com; Appisco Systems; eBay; Goog
LinkedIn; Microsoft; Netflix; Oracle; salesforcermg VMware; Yahoo!; and Zynga.
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Elements of Executive Compensation
Our executive officer compensation packages gegenaiude:
. base salary;

. performanc-based cash incentives; a
. equity-based compensation in the form of RSUs loeroshare-based compensation.

We believe that our compensation mix supports bjgative of focusing on aisk compensation having significant financial wWesbase
on company and individual performance. We expecbtttinue to emphasize equity awards because dfitbet link that equity compensat
provides between stockholder interests and theeste of our executive officers, thereby motivatiogr executive officers to focus
increasing our value over the long term.

Base SalaryThe compensation committee believes base salamea aecessary element of compensation in ordatttact and reta
highly qualified executive officers. Historicallygur executive officers have received base salasigisin a very narrow range that v
established when we were a smaller company with casstraints and based on our desire to maintaémial pay equity between execu
officers and also relative to other key employgeswe have grown, we have gradually increased balksgies for our executive officers w
the goal of bringing salaries closer to market dirae. In 2011, we continued to pay executive lssaries that were below market relativ
our Peer Group, both to retain the ethos of a-sfatompany and because of our emphasis on ebhagigd compensation. As noted abov
2011, based on our Peer Group analysis, our taghl compensation for our executive officers waswehe 25th percentile of the Peer Group.

The compensation committee reviews base salariesufoexecutive officers at least annually and radjust them from time to time,
needed, to reflect changes in market conditionstoer factors. In the first quarter of 2011, thenpensation committee decided to increas
base salaries of our executive officers in ordecdntinue to bring their salaries closer to thoai by our Peer Group companies for sin
positions. Accordingly, our compensation commitiegeased the base salary of our CEO by $100,0806aeach other executive officer
$25,000. Following this 2011 salary increase, owceative officer salaries were still below the 2p#rcentile of the salaries provided by
Peer Group companies for executives in similartps.

In the first quarter of 2012, our compensation catte® discussed and approved a request by our GEE&dtice his base salary to $1
year, effective January 1, 201

Named Executive Officer 2011 Base Salar
Mark Zuckerberg $500,00!
Sheryl K. Sandber 300,00(
David A. Ebersmal 300,00
Mike Schroepfe 275,00(
Theodore W. Ullyo 275,00(

Cash Bonuse®ur 2011 Bonus/Retention Plan (Bonus Plan) providemble cash incentives, payable semitually, that are designec
motivate our executive officers to focus on compange priorities and to reward them for individu&sults and achievements. All of
executive officers participate in the Bonus Plan.

For 2011, there were two sironth performance periods under our Bonus Planchwhie refer to as First Half 2011 and Second
2011. For each performance period in 2011, the emsgtion committee approved a set of compaitle priorities in order to focus c
executive officers on key areas of performancdHterperiod in question. The First and Second Haifl2company priorities reflect operatic
and noneperational objectives established by our comp@rsatommittee, in consultation with our CEO and &€Hrinancial Officer. Th
companywide priorities do not have specific targets asseci with them for purposes of determining perfarogaunder the Bonus Plan,
our compensation committee has complete discrédialetermine the level of bonus payout for eaclioperance period.
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2011 Goals and Company Performance Multipliers {@o®lan Pools)Our First Half 2011 companyide priorities were as follow
grow our user base and user engagement, improvsiteuguality and efficiency, expand the impacboaf Platform, continue strong revel
growth, improve our Profile product, build our migbplatform, expand our partnerships, and contioueinternational expansion. None
these priorities were assigned any specific weightir dollar amount of bonus. The compensation citteenapplied discretion in determin
the company performance multiplier on a qualitatdesis, taking into account our delivery of resuitshe areas identified by the company-
wide priorities approved by the compensation con@ajtas well as our overall business, engineednd,product development achieveme
The compensation committee also did not determityepaeset ranges for the company performance multipliee First Half 2011 compa
performance multiplier approved by the compensatiommittee was 105%. In particular, the compeneat@mmittee focused on our str
user growth and revenue growth for First Half 2011.

Our Second Half 2011 compamyide priorities were as follows: grow our user basel user engagement, increase distribution ¢
Platform, and continue strong revenue growth. Nohthese priorities were assigned any specific énig or dollar amount of bonus. 1
compensation committee applied discretion in deft@ng the company performance multiplier on a daélre basis, taking into account
delivery of results in the areas identified by twmpanywide priorities approved by the compensation corgejtas well as our over
business, engineering, and product developmeneeeimients. The compensation committee also did etetrmhine any preet ranges for tl
company performance multiplier. The Second Half126@mpany performance multiplier approved by thegensation committee was 10(
The compensation committee focused on our perfocmdn all of the areas identified by the compavige priorities, as well as @
introduction of Timeline and other new productsSicond Half 2011.

Bonus Plan Payout&Ve calculate Bonus Plan payouts to each participsing the following formula:

Base Individual Individual Company Individual
Salary ($) X Bonus X Performance X Performance = Bonus
y Target (%) Multiplier (%) Multiplier (%) Payout ($,

In the first quarter of 2011, the compensation conamittecided to increase individual bonus targete#&ch executive officer from 3(
to 45% in order to continue to move bonuses cltsenarket rates paid by our Peer Group. Even faligwhis bonus target increase, in 2(
our executive officer bonuses and total cash cosg@n was still generally below those providedohy Peer Group companies for execut
in similar positions.

Individual Performance Multiplier.The individual performance multiplier is based upeach executive' individual performanc
assessment for the performance period under caoasiole In line with our pay-foperformance philosophy, a higher performance assss
drives a higher individual multiplier (and viesersa) such that it is possible for an executivén\ailow assessment to get less than their
bonus payout, or no bonus payout whatsoever. Il 2patential individual performance multipliers @ndour Bonus Plan were 0%, 8¢
100%, 125%, 200%, or 300%. Executives meeting gpeeted high level of performance expectationsivéug an individual bonus multipli
of 100%.

Individual performance assessments for each execofficer were determined at the discretion of ¢benpensation committee in cle
consultation with our CEO and our COO (except ioheease when their own performance assessmentnig determined). The CE®’anc
COOQ’s executive officer performance assessmentmmewendations were based on an overall subjectivesasent of each officer’
performance and no single factor was determinaitivesetting bonus levels, nor was the impact of @amjividual factor on the bon
guantifiable. We operate in a rapidly evolving drighly competitive industry and we set a high largerformance expectations for each
of our executive officers. The compensation conmenittvaluates our executive officers based on thvairall performance, impact and resi
as well as their demonstration of strong
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leadership, londerm vision, effective execution and managementabdifies. First Half 2011 and Second Half 2011 qatylevels an
achievements and considerations for each execwtve as follows:

Mark Zuckerberg Mr. Zuckerberg received $220,500 for the Firstfi2811 bonus, which reflected the impact of hisfpenance i
leading our product development efforts, our susdesgrowing Facebook’ global user base and developing developer andnescia
relationships. Mr. Zuckerberg received $225,000tfer Second Half 2011 bonus, which reflected thpaich of his leadership and proc
vision, which contributed to the development anchizh of new products, including Open Graph and Timee

Sheryl K. SandbergMs. Sandberg received $86,133 for the First 281 bonus, which reflected her contribution tovgrg revenue
building commercial and developer relationshipg@wing the Facebook team and excellence in execitiall businesselated matters. M
Sandberg received $84,375 for the Second Half 286ius, which reflected her leadership in growing @venue year over year and
strategic guidance on key policy issues both docelt and abroad.

David A. Ebersman Mr. Ebersman received $86,133 for the First 28i11 bonus, which reflected his contributions impteting ou
2010 financial statements, completing our privdee@ment financing, and preparing our financialrapens for this offering. Mr. Ebersm
received $84,375 for the Second Half 2011 bonusciwieflected his contributions in managing prefiares for our initial public offering ar
his strategic leadership in building a strong fitiahfoundation for our business.

Mike Schroepfer Mr. Schroepfer received $63,000 for the FirstfH2411 bonus, which reflected his contribution ievdloping an
overseeing our engineering team, software develapeféorts, and engineering infrastructure. Mr. ®epfer received $77,344 for the Sec
Half 2011 bonus, which reflected his strong lealdlipref the engineering team, resulting in developtred new products for users, develop
and advertisers.

Theodore W. Ullyot Mr. Ullyot received $78,750 for the First Half 2D bonus and $123,750 for his Second Half 2011 $oboth o
which reflected his role in certain key litigatiand regulatory matters involving our company.

The following table summarizes the calculationst tvare used in determining the cash bonus paidatih ef our named execut
officers:

Company
Individual Bonus Individual
Bonus Targe Individual Multiplier
Performance Base Salary Bonus Bonus
Period $) D (%) Multiplier (%) (%) Payout ($)
Mark Zuckerberg First Half 201 233,33: 45 20C 10t 220,50(
Second Half 201 250,00( 45 20C 10C 225,00(
445,50(
Sheryl K. Sandber First Half 201: 145,83 45 12t 10t 86,13:
Second Half 201 150,00( 45 12& 10C 84,37¢
170,50¢
David A. Ebersmal First Half 201. 145,83: 45 12¢& 10& 86,13
Second Half 201 150,00( 45 112 10C 84,37¢
170,50¢
Mike Schroepfe First Half 201: 133,33 45 10C 10t 63,00(
Second Half 201 137,50( 45 12& 10C 77,344
140,34
Theodore W. Ullyo First Half 201: 133,33¢ 45 12 10t 78,75(
Second Half 201 137,50( 45 20C 10C 123,75(
202,50(

(1) Reflects actual earnings for 2011 which may diffem approved 2011 base salary due to the Mar@911 effective date of the salary incre:
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Retention BonusAs part of our negotiation of his initial employmearrangement and as an inducement for Mr. Ullpobécome ot
Vice President and General Counsel, we agreedythiipaan annual retention bonus in the amount 60300 per year for each of his first 1
years of employment. He will continue to receivés thonus until 2013, pursuant to the terms of hiseraded and restated employn
agreement.

Equity CompensatiorViost of our executive officercompensation is delivered through equity awards.Us& equity compensation
align our executive officerdinancial interests with those of our stockholdéosattract industry leaders of the highest calibed to retain the
for the long term. In addition to the equity grémat each executive receives as part of his onberhire package, the compensation comn
has granted our executives additional equity awaraertain of the years after they joined. Additib equity grants for each of our execu
officers are determined on a discretionary basimpinto account the following factors:

. delivering equity values that are highly compeétiwwhen compared against those our peers would tpaarecutives with simil
responsibility;

. each executive offices’individual performance assessment, the resutiscantributions delivered during the year, as veslith
anticipated potential future impact of each indiatiexecutive

. the size and vesting schedule of existing equignty in order to maximize the longrm retentive power of all additional gral
and

. the size of each executive offi’s total cash compensation (base salary plus caslistmvards at target), which is generally Ic
than the cash compensation for executives withlaimesponsibilities at our peer compan

Based on the foregoing factors, in 2011, our coragton committee awarded each of our executiveafi (other than our CEO) a gt
of RSUs with a specific “initial equity valudjased on an estimated total value for each grdotd¢aking into account the deferred ves
considerations described below. The compensationnttiee applied discretion in determining the sfiedndividual equity values ar
deferred vesting start dates. Based on these gfiraditdecisions, the compensation committee thé&uleded the exact number of RSUs tc
granted by dividing this initial equity value by&85 per share, which was the fair value of ous€B common stock as of the end of 2010.

Deferred Vesting of 2011 RSU Granthie compensation committee deferred the vesting dédes of all 2011 RSU grants made to
executive officers to a future date determinedvirdlially for each executive. As a result, the 2BRI9U grants will not begin to vest unless
recipient remains continuously employed by Facelibodugh future dates as described in “—2011 GrahBlan-Based Awards Tabl&&low
The compensation committee reviewed the size astingeschedule for the remaining unvested portioallmutstanding equity award holdir
of each of our executive officers and agreed with tecommendation of our CEO and COO (except thatGDO did not participate
discussions regarding her own equity compensathwat)the existing equity awards appropriately §iatisour retention and incentive goals
the immediate future for each of our executiveceffs. Accordingly, the additional equity awardsngea in 2011 start vesting only afte
significant portion of each executiwobutstanding equity awards have vested, and thesting start dates range from the fourth quat@0a.:
to the fourth quarter of 2014. These grants haue-year vesting schedules that result in vesting eatdsdranging from the fourth quarte
2017 to the fourth quarter of 2018. The compensat@mmmittee believes that these vesting schedudd® rthe equity awards more valuable
retaining our executive officers for the long terfar more information relating to the vesting salled of these RSU grants, see 2641
Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table” below.

2011 Equity GrantsMr. Zuckerberg did not receive any additional eggtants in 2011 because our compensation comnbtéevel
that his existing equity ownership position suffitily aligns his interests with those of our stazlers.
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Our other named executive officers received thiefdhg RSU grants in 2011:

Sheryl K. SandbergMs. Sandberg received an additional equity giratihe amount of 1,199,041 RSUs. This grant haih#ial equity
value of $25.0 million. These RSUs are subjectuartgrly vesting based on continued employment @waryears with a deferred vesting <
date of October 15, 2013.

David A. Ebersman Mr. Ebersman received an additional equity grarthe amount of 719,424 RSUs. This grant had &ralirequity
value of $15.0 million. These RSUs are subjectuarterly vesting based on continued employment tiuaryears with a deferred vesting <
date of October 15, 2014.

Mike Schroepfer Mr. Schroepfer received an additional equity jiiarthe amount of 959,233 RSUs. This grant hadhgial equity valut
of $20.0 million. These RSUs are subject to qubrteesting based on continued employment over j@ars with a deferred vesting start «
of October 15, 2013.

Theodore W. Ullyot Mr. Ullyot received an additional equity granttire amount of 239,808 RSUs. This grant had aralréquity valu
of $5.0 million. These RSUs are subject to quarteelsting based on continued employment over feary with a deferred vesting start dat
July 15, 2014.

Compensation Governance

The compensation committee seeks to ensure sowewliixe compensation practices to adhere to ou-for-performance philosopl
while appropriately managing risk and aligning compensation programs with lomgrm stockholder interests. The following practioese
in effect during 2011:

. the compensation committee is comprised solelya@épendent director

. the compensation committee conducts an annualwesigd approval of our compensation strategy, inogich review of ot
compensation-related risk profile to ensure thateammpensatiomelated risks are not reasonably likely to haveademal advers
effect on our compan

. the compensation committee retains discretion amubgayouts to enable it to respond to unforeseente and adjust bon
payouts as approprial

. we do not offer po-employment benefits, except in the case of certaim hires in prior years; ar

. our compensation philosophy and related govern&emteires are complemented by several specific ipescthat are designed
align our executive compensation with I-term stockholder interests, including the followil

- we offer limited perquisites that are for busir-related purposes or necessary for the securityo€C&O; anc
- our executives participate in broad-based comsponsored health and welfare benefits program$i@sdame basis as
other ful-time, salaried employee
Post-Employment Compensation
The material terms of post-employment compensafmm Ms. Sandberg and Mr. Ullyot are described below“—Employmen
Agreements and Offer Letters” and “—Potential Pagtaeipon Termination or Change in Control.”
Perquisites and Other Benefits
Consistent with the practices of many companiesuinPeer Group, we provide perquisites to our naexedutive officers for the reast
described below.
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Because of the high visibility of our company weséamplemented a “comprehensive security progréon'™r. Zuckerberg to addre
safety concerns resulting from his position asfounder, Chairman, and CEO. We require these dgameasures for the compasybenefi
because of the importance of Mr. Zuckerberg to Back, and we believe that the costs of this congmsive security program are appropi
and necessary. We paid for the initial procuremiaistallation and maintenance of security measftoedr. Zuckerberg$ personal residen:
and we pay for the annual costs of security persipmeither of which constitutes taxable incoméito Zuckerberg.

Our compensation committee has also authorizecC&® and COO to use private aircraft for businespgaes. This practice maximi:
such executivegdroductive time and ensures their quick availabilih addition, Mr. Zuckerberg may use private gdftfor personal purpos
in connection with his comprehensive security paogr On certain occasions, Mr. Zuckerberg may b@rapanied by family members
others when using private aircraft. For flightsolwing passengers flying for personal purposesatigregate incremental cost of such pers
usage is reported as other compensation to Mr.&tbekg. The reported aggregate incremental cdstssd on costs provided by the applic
charter company, and includes passenger fees ciesl, and catering costs. The incremental cosbatable to Mr. Zuckerberg'use of priva
aircraft in 2011 is disclosed in the “All Other Cpensation” column in “—2011 Summary Compensatiobl@abelow.

In addition, we have historically paid for certaifiour named executive officers to receive finahdiax and estate planning advice
assist them in obtaining professional advice onagarg the compensation they receive. We have disagd this practice for periods af
April 15, 2012.

162(m) Tax Deductibility

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 188@Gmended (Code), limits the amount that we dealyict from our federal incor
taxes for remuneration paid to our named executffieers (other than our Chief Financial Officeg) $1 million dollars per executive offic
per year, unless certain requirements are metiodbeb82(m) provides an exception from this deductlonitation for certain forms 1
“performance-based compensatiora® well as for the gain recognized by covered ekezwfficers upon the exercise of qualify
compensatory stock options. In addition, “grandégtiprovisions may apply to certain compensation aamgnts that were entered into t
corporation before it was publicly held. To dat#,ad our compensation that has been granted has lexempt from the Section 162
deduction limitation. While our compensation contget is mindful of the benefit to us of the full detibility of compensation, o
compensation committee believes that it should beotonstrained by the requirements of Section 1p2(here those requirements wa
impair flexibility in compensating our executivefiokrs in a manner that can best promote our catpopbjectives. Therefore, ¢
compensation committee has not adopted a polidyréwuires that all compensation be deductible. @ampensation committee intend:
continue to compensate our executive officersnmaaner consistent with the best interests of oorpamy and our stockholders.

Compensation Risk Assessment

Our management team and the compensation comraétdeplay a role in evaluating and mitigating asl¢ that may exist relating to ¢
compensation plans, practices and policies foreatployees, including our named executive officéns.connection with this offerin
Compensia, the compensation committéatdependent compensation consultant, performessessment, in conjunction with manageme
our compensation plans and practices and concltitedour compensation programs do not create tisikisare reasonably likely to hav
material adverse effect on the company. The congtiemscommittee has reviewed this report and agvatdthe conclusion. The objective
the assessment was to identify any compensatiors apractices that may encourage employees eouakecessary risk that could thre.
the company. No such plans or practices were ifietiThe risk assessment process included, amtrey things, a review of our cash i
equity incentivebased compensation plans to ensure that theyigreedlwith our company performance goals and tlegalvcompensation
ensure an appropriate balance between fixed amablaipay components and between short- and lamgiteentives.
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2011 Summary Compensation Table

The following table presents summary informatiogameling the total compensation awarded to, earyedrypaid to each of the nan

executive officers for services rendered to uglieryear ended December 31, 2011.

All Other
Stock Compensatior
Fiscal Salary Bonus Awards Total
Name and Principal Position Year $) $) W ($) @ $) $)
Mark Zuckerberg 2011 483,33: 445,50( — 783,520) 1,712,36.
CEO
Sheryl K. Sandber 2011 295,83¢ 170,50¢ 30,491,61 — 30,957,95
Chief Operating Office
David A. Ebersmar 2011 295,83¢ 170,50¢ 18,294,95 — 18,761,29
Chief Financial Officel
Mike Schroepfer 2011 270,83¢ 140,34 24,393,29 — 24,804,47
Vice President of Engineerir
Theodore W. Ullyot 2011 270,83¢ 602,50(4 6,098,31 110,6445 7,082,29.
Vice President, General Counsel and Secre

(1) The amounts reported in the bonus column reprelisatetionary bonuses earned pursuant to our BBlars For more information about our executiveagfs’ discretionary bonuse
see“—Compensation Discussion and Anal—Elements of Executive Compensa—Cash Bonus¢’ above.

(2) Amounts reflect the aggregate grant date fair vafutae RSUs without regards to forfeitures, coneplin accordance with ASC 718. The valuation assiemg used in calculating t
grant date fair value of these RSUs are set farthiManagement’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€andition and Results of Operation&+itical Accounting Policies at
Estimates—Share-based Compensatidinis amount does not reflect the actual economioeveealized by the named executive officer. Th&JRSsued to our executive offic
during 2011 provide for quarterly vesting basedcontinued employment over four years with a deferresting start date of October 15, 2013 for Maidberg, October 15, 2014
Mr. Ebersman, October 15, 2013 for Mr. Schroepded July 15, 2014 for Mr. Ullyo

(3) The amount reported represent approximately $692@7costs related to personal use of aircrafttehed in connection with his comprehensive segymibgram and on which fam
and friends flew during 2011. For purposes of répgrthe value of such personal usage in this taléeuse costs provided by the applicable chadempany, which include passen
fees, fuel, crew and catering costs. The amourrteg also represents approximately $90,850 faisae$ated to estate and financial planning dug@gl.

(4) Consists of a discretionary bonus under our Bortais & described in footnote (1) above and an dmatention bonus in the amount of $400,000. Miyatl s retention bonus is mc
fully described ir“—Compensation Discussion and Anal—Elements of Executive Compensa—Retention BonL” above.

(5) Consists of relocation reimbursements, includinglated grossip for taxes, paid to Mr. Ullyot pursuant to hisgayment agreement in effect as of December 31.126®r mor

information about Mr. Ullyc's amended and restated employment agreemer“—Employment Agreements and Offer Let” below.
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2011 Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table

The following table presents, for each of the nameetutive officers, information concerning eacargrof an equity award made dut
the year ended December 31, 2011. This informatiopplements the information about these awardsfes#t in the 2011 Summa
Compensation Table.

Grant Date

All Other Stock Fair Value
Awards: Number of Stock Awards

Grant of Shares of

Name __Dae Stock or Units ()@ N CICON
Mark Zuckerberg — — —
Sheryl K. Sandber 3/25/201: 1,199,04. 30,491,61
David A. Ebersmal 3/25/201.: 719,42: 18,294,95
Mike Schroepfe 3/25/201.: 959,23! 24,393,29
Theodore W. Ullyo 3/25/201: 239,80 6,098,31

(1) These awards are subject to vesting, as descmibeetail in“—2011 Outstanding Equity Awards at Y-End Tabl" below.

(2) Amounts reflect the grant date fair value of thdURSvithout regards to forfeitures, computed in adeace with ASC 718. The valuation assumptions irsedlculating the grant d¢
fair value of these awards are set forth in “Mamaget’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Comxditand Results of Operations—Critical Accountindgjd®®s and Estimates—Share-
based Compensati(’ This amount does not reflect the actual economliceveealized by the named executive offic

(3) The RSUs issued to our executive officers duringj12provide for quarterly vesting based on contineetployment over four years with a deferred vessitagt date of October !
2013 for Ms. Sandberg, October 15, 2014 for Mr.rEiman, October 15, 2013 for Mr. Schroepfer, angl 16| 2014 for Mr. Ullyot

On May 3, 2012, we granted RSUs to our named eiecofficers as follows: Sheryl K. Sandberg—691,08&vid A. Ebersman-
459,572; Mike Schroepfer—545,957; and Theodore Wyot}—145,128. These RSUs provide for quarterly vestiaged on continut
employment over four years with a deferred vessitagt date of November 15, 2013 for Ms. Sandbemyexhber 15, 2014 for Mr. Ebersm
August 15, 2014 for Mr. Schroepfer, and November2a 3 for Mr. Ullyot.
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2011 Outstanding Equity Awards at Year-End Table

The following table presents, for each of the namegcutive officers, information regarding outstiaigdstock options and RSUs helc
of December 31, 2011.

Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Number of Number of
Securities Securities Shares Market Value of
Underlying Underlying or Units of Shares or Units
Unexercised Unexercised Option Option Stock That of Stock That
Options (#) Options (#) Exercise Expiration Have Not Have Not Vested
Name Grant Date (1) Exercisable Unexercisable  Price ($)@ Date Vested (#)©3) $) @
Mark Zuckerberg 11/8/200! 120,000,000 — 0.0€ 11/7/201! — —
Sheryl K. Sandberg 8/1/200¢ — — — — 38,122,000 1,448,636,00
7/23/201( — 3,500,00( 10.3¢ 7122/202( — —
10/18/2011 — 1,200,00¢®) 15.0(® 10/17/202 — —
3/25/201. — — — — 1,199,040 45,563,55
David A. Ebersman 10/26/200! 2,025,00! 2,475,001 3.2 10/25/201 — —
10/26/200! — — — — 6,750,002  256,500,00
3/25/201: — — — — 719,42413) 27,338,11
Mike Schroepfe 1/12/20014 1,141,16! 570,5819) 1.8t 1/11/201¢ — —
1/12/200¢ 290,307 353,0416) 1.8t 1/11/201¢ — —
1/12/200¢ — — — — 1,497,777 56,915,45
1/12/200¢ — — — —  1,176,82119 44,719,35
8/19/200¢ 543,75( 581,25((19) 2.9¢ 8/18/201¢ — —
8/26/200¢ — — — — 1,125,00129 42,750,00
8/26/201( — — — — 1,385,352 52,643,49
3/25/201. — — — — 959,23(22 36,450,85
Theodore W. Ullyo 1/12/200423) 1,720,33: 1,184,99(24) 1.85 1/11/201¢ — —
1/12/200¢ — — — — 3,231,785  122,807,64
2/26/201( — — — — 311,23((26) 11,826,74
3/25/201: — — — — 239,80427 9,112,70-

1) With the exception of the stock option granted to Kluckerberg described in footnote (5) below, whicas granted under our 2005 OfficeBsdck Plan, all of the outstanding eq
awards described below were granted under our 280k Plan

2) With the exception of the stock option granted te. Mandberg described in footnote (9) below, thisran represents the fair value of a share of GBassmmon stock on the date
grant, as determined by our board of direct

?3) RSUs granted prior to January 1, 2011 (Pre-201193&dued to our executive officers only vest ugmnsatisfaction of both (i) a service-based vegstiondition and (i) a liquidity-
based vesting condition. The liquidity-based vestiondition for Pre2011 RSUs is: (a) the date that is six months dfiereffective date of our initial public offeringr (b) a chanc
of control (as defined in our 2005 Stock Pl¢

4) The market price for our Class B common stock &ehleon the initial public offering price of $38.pér share

(5) The shares subject to this option were fully vestedf November 1, 2010. In connection with outiahipublic offering, Mr. Zuckerberg exercised tlsiock option with respect
60,000,000 shares of Class B common stock andbifdt 30,200,000 of those shares as Class A constomk in our initial public offering

(6) The servicebased vesting condition was satisfied as to 57%etotal shares underlying the RSUs on April 1, 2Between April 1, 2011 and April 1, 2012, aniéiddal 1.75% o
the total number of shares underlying the RSUsweiit per month, subject to continued service ttht@ugh each vesting date. The senbesed vesting condition will be satisfiec
to all of the shares underlying the RSUs on Apri213.

() 1/48th of the total number of shares subject toagheon will vest on May 1, 2013 and the remaingimres subject to the option vest at a rate oftli/dBthe total number of sha
subject to the option on each month thereafterjestio continued service to us through each vgstate.

8) 260,000 of the total number of shares subject ¢oatption will vest on May 1, 2013 in equal monthigtallments for a period of 48 months, and, thitgeeathe remaining shar
subject to the option will vest in equal monthlgtallments for a period of 12 months, subject tatiomed service to us through each vesting ¢
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(10)
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(12)
(13)
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(15)

(16)
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(18)
(19)
(20)
(21)
(22)

(23)
(24

(25)
(26)

@7

The compensation committee set the option exeprise for this grant at $15.00 per share, a prentiuthe fair market value of a share of Class B mmm stock on the date of gr
which was determined by our compensation committde $12.56 per shai

The vesting condition will be satisfied as to 1H.6f the total shares underlying the RSUs on Janiiay 2014. The remaining shares underlying the R&&$t at a rate of 1/16th
the total number of shares underlying the RSUsamh guarter thereafter, subject to continued sergiais through each vesting d¢

1/5th of the total number of shares subject tooihtgon vested on September 8, 2010 and the rengaghiares subject to the option vest at a rate6dftti/of the total number of sha
subject to the option on each month thereafterjestibo continued service to us through each vgstate.

The servicebased vesting condition was satisfied as to 1/6thetotal shares underlying the RSUs on Septeri®e2010. The remaining shares underlying the R&ldsat a rate

1/60th of the total number of shares underlyingRI®Js on each month thereafter, subject to condiseevice to us through each vesting d

The vesting condition will be satisfied as to 1H.6f the total shares underlying the RSUs on Janifar2015. The remaining shares underlying the fR&&st at a rate of 1/16th
the total number of shares subject to the RSUsach quarter thereafter, subject to continued serdais through each vesting d¢

In June 2011, in connection with certain estatemileg, Mr. Schroepfer transferred options to pusehé00,000 shares of Class B common stock to €aerodamily trusts.

1/5th of the total number of shares subject todption vested on August 25, 2009 and the remaish@ges subject to the option vest at a rate ofti/6Dthe total number of sha
subject to the option on each month thereafterjestibo continued service to us through each vgstate.

1/5th of the total number of shares subject toogption vested on October 29, 2009 and the remaistieges subject to the option vest at a rate d@th/6f the total number of sha
subject to the option on each month thereafterjestibo continued service to us through each vgstate.

The servicebased vesting condition was satisfied as to 1/6thetotal shares underlying the RSUs on Septerhp2009. The remaining shares underlying the RBids at a rate

1/60th of the total number of shares underlyingRI®Js on each month thereafter, subject to cordiseevice to us through each vesting d

The servicebased vesting condition was satisfied as to 1/6thetotal shares underlying the RSUs on Novenib@009. The remaining shares underlying the RSid¢ at a rate

1/60th of the total number of shares underlyingRI®Js on each month thereafter, subject to cordiseevice to us through each vesting d

1/5th of the total number of shares subject togpiion vested on July 15, 2010 and the remainiregeshsubject to the option vest at a rate of 1/60tihe total number of sha
subject to the option on each month thereafterjestibo continued service to us through each vgstate.

The servicebased vesting condition was satisfied as to 1/5tthe total shares underlying the RSUs on July2lH,0. The remaining shares underlying the RSUs ateatrate ¢
1/60th of the total number of shares underlyingRI®Js on each month thereafter, subject to cordiseevice to us through each vesting d

The servicebased vesting condition will be satisfied as tc6if1of the total shares underlying the RSUs on Atd8, 2014. The remaining shares underlying theR&est at a ra
of 1/16th of the total number of shares underlytimg RSUs on each quarter thereafter, subject tore@d service to us through each vesting ¢

The vesting condition will be satisfied as to 1H.6f the total shares underlying the RSUs on Jani&y 2014. The remaining shares underlying the K&t at a rate of 1/16th
the total number of shares underlying the RSUsamh gjuarter thereafter, subject to continued sergais through each vesting d:

In December 2011, in connection with certain egpédening, Mr. Ullyot transferred options to purskat00,000 shares of Class B common stock to dyfamst.

1/5th of the total number of shares subject toajption vested on October 20, 2009 and the remaisiages subject to the option vest at a rate @th/6f the total number of sha
subject to the option on each month thereafterjestio continued service to us through each vgstate.

The servicebased vesting condition was satisfied as to 1/6thetotal shares underlying the RSUs on Novenb@009. The remaining shares underlying the RS3d¢ at a rate

1/60th of the total number of shares underlyingRI®Js on each month thereafter, subject to condiseevice to us through each vesting d

The servicebased vesting condition will be satisfied as tal&f the total shares underlying the RSUs on Au@Bs2014. The remaining shares underlying the &t at a rate
1/16th of the total number of shares underlyingRI®Js on each quarter thereafter, subject to coedirservice to us through each vesting ¢

The vesting condition will be satisfied as to 1H.6f the total shares underlying the RSUs on Oct@be2014. The remaining shares underlying the R&&$t at a rate of 1/16th
the total number of shares underlying the RSUsamh guarter thereafter, subject to continued sergiais through each vesting d¢
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2011 Option Exercises
The following table presents, for each of the naregecutive officers, the number of shares of ounmon stock acquired upon
exercises of stock options during 2011 and theeggge value realized upon the exercises. No RSktedén 2011.

Option Awards
Number of Share:

Value Realized o1

Acquired on
Name Exercise (#) Exercise ($)1)
Mark Zuckerberg — —
Sheryl K. Sandber — —
David A. Ebersmal — —
Mike Schroepfe 319,50( 7,417,51.
Theodore W. Ullyo 326,45¢ 7,579,07.

(1) These options were exercised in connection witrsttle by Messrs. Schroepfer and Ullyot of certdithese shares to third parties. The aggregateevealalized upon the exercise of
options represents the amount by which $25.07, hvhias the price per share at which Messrs. Scheogpid Ullyot sold certain of these shares, exatéue aggregate exercise p
of the options, which was $1.854 per sh.

Employment Agreements and Offer Letters

We have entered into employment agreements or leffiers with each of the named executive officégese agreements provide for at-
will employment and generally include the namedcetige officer’s initial base salary, an indication of eligibiliiyr an annual cash incent
award opportunity, and, in some cases, arrangemdgtiisrespect to the accelerated vesting of eqgaitards. In addition, each of our nar
executive officers has executed a form of our stesh@onfidential information and invention assigmiagreement. Any potential payme
and benefits due upon a termination of employmerd ehange in control of us are further described quantified below in “—Potentia
Payments upon Termination or Change in Control.”

Mark Zuckerberg

We entered into an amended and restated offer Isite Mr. Zuckerberg, our founder, Chairman, an8d in January 2012. This of
letter agreement has no specific term and consstat-will employment. Mr. Zuckerbeggcurrent annual base salary is $500,000 and
eligible to receive annual bonus compensation underBonus Plan. Effective January 1, 2013, Mr.k&ubergs annual base salary will
reduced to $1.

Sheryl K. Sandberg

We entered into an amended and restated employageeément with Ms. Sandberg, our Chief Operatingc€f in January 2012. T
employment agreement has no specific term and itatest at-will employment. Ms. Sandbesgurrent annual base salary is $300,000, ar
is eligible to receive annual bonus compensatioteumur Bonus Plan. In the event Ms. Sandbergtigerinvoluntarily terminated witha
cause (other than as a result of death or disgbiit is constructively terminated, in either cagi¢hin one month prior to or six mont
following a change in control, she will be entitiedaccelerated vesting of 100% of the unvested &i8Wer initial grant, subject to executir
release of claims. In addition, the employment egrent provides that in the event of a change inrebwhere the RSUs are not assume
substituted for an equivalent award, any unvest&UsRRwill vest immediately prior to the consummatiohthe change in control. T
employment agreement also provides that if Ms. Barglis terminated without cause (other than assaltr of death or disability), and ot
than in connection with a change in control, shi g entitled to accelerated vesting of the ure@9RSUs in her initial grant in an ama
equal to the number of RSUs that would have velséetlher employment continued for the first halftef months remaining between the
of her termination and April 1, 2013, subject t@euting a release of claims, and if she is termeithais a result of death or disability, she wi
entitled to continued vesting of her unvested R&lW®sne year.
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David A. Ebersman

We entered into an amended and restated offer lette Mr. Ebersman, our Chief Financial Officen, January 2012. The offer let
agreement has no specific term and constituteslaémployment. Mr. Ebersmaa’current annual base salary is $300,000, and &@ible tc
receive annual bonus compensation under our Bolans P

Mike Schroepfer

We entered into an amended and restated offer Mite Mr. Schroepfer, our Vice President, Engiriegr in January 2012. The of
letter agreement has no specific term and conssitat-will employment. Mr. Schroepfsrturrent annual base salary is $275,000, and
eligible to receive annual bonus compensation undeBonus Plan.

Theodore W. Ullyot

We entered into an amended and restated employageae¢ment with Mr. Ullyot, our Vice President, Gexi€Counsel, and Secretary
January 2012. The employment agreement has nofispiecm and constitutes at-will employment. Mrlydit’s current annual base salar
$275,000, and he is eligible to receive annual barampensation under our Bonus Plan. In additlom.eimployment agreement provides
Mr. Ullyot is entitled to an annual retention borafs$400,000 for the first five years of his empimgnt (Mr. Ullyot's employment commenc
in October 2008). In the event that Mr. Ullyot igher involuntarily terminated without cause (otltlean asa result of death or disability) or
constructively terminated, in either case withireanonth prior to or six months following a changecontrol, he will be entitled to accelere
vesting of 100% of the unvested RSUs and optiorfsisnnitial grants, subject to executing a releatelaims. In addition, the employmu
agreement provides that in the event that if, inn@ztion with a change in control, the RSUs andeshaubject to options are not assume
substituted for equivalent awards, then any ungeBi8Us or shares subject to options will vest imiatetyy prior to the consummation of
change in control. The employment agreement alswiges that if Mr. Ullyot is involuntarily terminatl in the fourth or fifth years of |
employment either without cause (other than assaltref death or disability) or is constructivebrininated, other than in connection wi
change in control, he will be entitled to acceledatesting of 50% of the remaining unvested RSUksirares subject to options in his in
grants, subject to executing a release of clairhe.dmployment agreement also provides that heb@iéntitled to a severance payment eqt
one year of base salary and his annual retention$d he is involuntarily terminated either withaause (other than as a result of dea
disability) or is constructively terminated, in ewttion with a change in control or otherwise, eabjo executing a release of claims.

Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Cotrol

Under the terms and conditions of their individagteements, as described in detail above, Ms. @agdind Mr. Ullyot are eligible
receive certain benefits in connection with higier termination of employment, depending on theurirstances, including following a cha
in control of us (such as a sale of all or substiptall of our assets or a merger involving ttadesof a majority of the outstanding shares o
voting capital stock).

The actual amounts that would be paid or distrithitethese named executive officers as a resudttefmination event occurring in-
future may be different than those presented belsunany factors will affect the amount of any pagtaeand benefits upon a terminatiol
employment. For example, some of the factors tbatdcaffect the amounts payable include the nanxedwgive officers base salary and 1
market price of our common stock. Although we ha@mesome instances, entered into written arrangésngenprovide benefits to the nan
executive officers in connection with a terminatmiemployment under particular circumstances, avegn acquirer, may mutually agree v
the named executive officers on severance terntsvérg from those provided in these meisting arrangements. For more information a
the named executive officers’ outstanding equitnias as of December 31, 2011, see “—2011 Outstgriefjuity Awards at Year-End Table”
above.
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For purposes of the tables below as to Ms. SandeadgMr. Ullyot, an “involuntary terminationgenerally means the termination of
executive’s employment by us without cause or sinclividual's voluntary resignation following a material adeeishange in his or
compensation, responsibility, or the location of or her services. “Causé’ generally defined to include acts of materiahdinesty or gro
negligence, failures to comply with our policiesagireements, or any conviction of a felony or crohenoral turpitude.

Sheryl K. Sandberg

The table below summarizes the value of the vestiogeleration to which Ms. Sandberg would be eutjtlassuming a qualifyil
termination as of December 31, 2011.

No Change
in Control (3) Change in Control (4)
Involuntary Involuntary
Benefit Termination No Termination Termination
Vesting Acceleratiol®@ $207,618,47 $420,104,44 $420,104,44

(1) Calculated based on the initial public offeringcerof $38.00 per shar

(2) As of December 31, 2011, the service-based vestingition on 8,258,748 shares underlying Ms. Sargibénitial RSUs would be accelerated if she was teated as a result of t
death or disability, which is the number of initRSUs that would have vested if Ms. Sandberg hathired employed for an additional twelve monthsrfthe date of her death
disability. The value of this vesting acceleratioas $313,832,424 as of December 31, 2011 whenlatdduas described in footnote (1) abc

(3) As of December 31, 2011, the service-based vestinglition on 5,463,644 shares underlying Ms. Sargibenitial RSUs would be accelerated if she was ieaed without caus
other than as a result of her death or disabiitigich is the number of initial RSUs that would haested if Ms. Sandberg had remained employedhferfitst half of the montl
remaining between the date of termination and AQr2013.

(4) As of December 31, 2011, 11,055,380 shares underlyis. Sandberg'initial RSUs would be accelerated if she waseeithvoluntarily terminated, other than as a resfilier death ¢
disability, within one month prior to or within simonths following a change in control, or her mitRSUs were not assumed or substituted for anvalpnt award, such that 100%
the shares underlying Ms. Sandt’s initial RSUs would be veste

Theodore W. Ullyot

The table below summarizes the value of vestinglacation and severance payments to which Mr. Whyould be entitled, assumin
qualifying termination as of December 31, 2011.

No Change
in Control (2) Change in Control ®)
Involuntary No Involuntary
Benefit Termination Termination Termination
Severanci $ 675,00( $ — $ 675,00(
Vesting Acceleratioi® 44,956,84 89,913,68 89,913,68
Total Value $45,631,84 $89,913,68 $90,588,68

(1) Calculated based on the initial public offeringcprof $38.00 per shar

(2) As of December 31, 2011, 592,495 shares subjedr tdJllyot’s initial option and the service-basedsting condition on 619,425 shares underlying Miydf s initial RSUs would
accelerated if he was involuntarily terminated eotthan as a result of his death or disability,cltis 50% of the remaining unvested shares unaweylilr. Ullyot’s initial option an
RSUs. In addition, Mr. Ullyot would be entitled $everance equal to his base salary of $275,000iardtention bonus of $400,0(

(3) As of December 31, 2011, 1,184,990 shares sulgedtt Ullyot’s initial option and 1,238,850 shanesderlying Mr. Ullyot’s initial RSUs would be accelerated if he was iontdrily
terminated, other than as a result of his deatiability, within one month prior to or within sixonths following a change in control, or if histial option and RSUs were r
assumed or substituted for an equivalent awardy gt 100% of the shares underlying Mr. UI's initial option and RSUs would be vest
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Employee Benefit Plans

2005 Stock Plan

Our board of directors adopted our 2005 Stock Bladanuary 7, 2005, which our stockholders appravedanuary 14, 2005. Our 2(
Stock Plan provides for the grant of incentive ktoptions, within the meaning of Section 422 of @ede, to our employees or any parel
subsidiarys employees, and for the grant of nonstatutorykstgtions to our employees, directors, and constdtand any parent, subsidic
or affiliate corporationsemployees and consultants. Stock purchase rigltsestricted stock units may also be granted uttfte2005 Stoc
Plan. We will cease issuing awards under the 2066kSPlan upon the implementation of the 2012 Bglritentive Plan, which is descrik
below. Likewise, we will not grant any additionalads under our 2005 Stock Plan following our &lipublic offering. Instead, we will gre
equity awards under our 2012 Equity Incentive Plan.

Share ReserveAs of March 31, 2012, we had reserved 971,3148&8es of our Class B common stock for issuancermuour 200
Stock Plan. As of March 31, 2012, options to pusehé41,023,978 of these shares had been exerojsézhs to purchase 116,756,442 of tl
shares remained outstanding and 52,466,293 of 8temes remained available for future grant. Theog outstanding as of March 31, 2
had a weighted average exercise price of $0.94lpare. In addition, as of March 31, 2012, we ha8 429,048 RSUs outstanding under
2005 Stock Plan. However, any outstanding awaradstgd under the 2005 Stock Plan will remain outfiteg) subject to the terms of our 2!
Stock Plan and applicable award agreements, tetyl are exercised or settled or until they tern@reatexpire by their terms. Shares of Cla
common stock available for issuance pursuant to20@5 Stock Plan will be rolled into our 2012 Eguiihcentive Plan on the date of 1
prospectus as further described below.

Administration. Our compensation committee currently administars 2005 Stock Plan. Our compensation committee cloasplet
discretion to make all decisions implementing tf@#0%2 Stock Plan, including the power to (1) deteemimho will receive the awart
(2) determine the fair market value of the ClassoBimon stock, (3) interpret the terms of the 20@&ISPlan and the awards thereunder,
(4) specify the terms and conditions of such awasdsh as the exercise price, the number of slzagect to each award, the vesting sche
and exercisability of awards and the form of coasation payable upon exercise.

Stock Options The exercise price of incentive stock options ihingsat least equal to the fair market value of ©lass B common sto
on the date of grant and the term of the incerdteek options may not exceed ten years. With régdpeacentive stock options granted to
employee who owns 10% or more of the voting powealloclasses of our outstanding stock as of ttengdate, the term must not exceed
years and the exercise price must equal at le®@6 1l the fair market value on the grant di

When an employee ceases to provide continuouscesrid us (or any parent, subsidiary, or affiliated or she may exercise his or
incentive stock option for the period of time sthia the incentive stock option agreement, to tkierg his or her incentive stock optior
vested on the date of termination. Subject to #guirements of all applicable laws, rules or regoites, each nonstatutory stock op
agreement shall contain provisions relating toyet@imination of the nonstatutory stock option lshspon termination of the holdsrservice t
us as determined by our compensation committetherevent of a termination of a service providerdause, all options held by such ser
provider will immediately terminate. In additiomyavested shares that were acquired upon the erentia stock option may be repurchase
us. A stock option may never be exercised later tha expiration of its term.

Stock Purchase RightsThe compensation committee may offer rights tecpase shares of our Class B common stock unde2Gog
Stock Plan and, to the extent permitted by appleéowv, shall determine the purchase price of tieres subject to each stock purchase
The offer to purchase shares underlying this smoichase right shall be accepted by the offerexecution of a restricted stock purct
agreement, in the form prescribed by the compeamsatmmittee. This restricted stock purchase ageeémay subject the
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acquired shares to a repurchase option, which wé&l@xercise upon the voluntary or involuntary teration of the purchasex’services fc
any reason. In addition, in the event of a ternmamadf a service provider for cause, vested stagklpased to a stock purchase right may al:
repurchased by us.

Restricted Stock UnitsOur 2005 Stock Plan also permits the issuandeSifs, to our service providers. RSUs granted under200!
Stock Plan represent the right to receive sharesiofClass B common stock or cash payment at afsgueéuture date and may be subjec
vesting requirements.

Transferability. Incentive stock options may not be transferredtept by will or by the laws of descent or disttion. However, th
compensation committee may, in its sole discretgpant nonstatutory stock options or RSUs that tmayransferred in the event of deatl
disability, or to immediate family members.

Effect of Certain Corporate Transactionsn the event we experience a sale of all or sutigtlly all of our assets, a merger or cel
other corporate transactions including a changeoimtrol, all awards granted under the 2005 Stoekn Bhall be subject to the agreer
evidencing such merger or consolidation and sucheagent shall provide for one or more of the folloyv

. the continuation or assumption of such outstandimgrds by the surviving corporation or its par
. the substitution by the surviving corporation erparent of equivalent awards for such outstandwards; or
. termination of the outstanding awards upon consutiomaf the corporate transaction.

The 2005 Stock Plan provides for proportional atjient of awards in the event of a stock split, lstdiwidend and certain other simi
corporate events.

PaymentThe compensation committee may permit any of tHeviang methods of payments for the exercise ofa:
. cash or cash equivalen

. a promissory note having such recourse, interedemption and security provisions as determineth&yompensation committee;
. shares of Class B common stock that the optionmeady owns
. cancellation of indebtedness; or

. an immediate sale of the option shares throughokebrdesignated by us in a cashless exercise,d@dwhat such a progran
adopted by our compensation commit;

Additional Provisions Our compensation committee has the authorityreral, suspend or terminate the 2005 Stock Plarjded tha
no amendment may materially or adversely affectrdsvalready granted without the written consenthef holder of the affected award. (
stockholders approve actions that require stocldradgproval under applicable law and approve aosease in the number of shares rese
for issuance under the 2005 Stock Plan.

2005 Officers’ Stock Plan

On November 8, 2005, our board of directors adopied2005 Officers’ Stock Plan (Officers’ Plan). eTlOfficers’ Plan permits tt
issuance of shares of our Class B common stocktiores to purchase such shares to certain of opf@mes and officers. The total numbe
shares of our Class B common stock that may be wadtér the OfficersPlan is 120,000,000. All shares under this plansaftgect to a
outstanding award held by our founder, Chairmaul, @GEO. We will not grant any additional awards unthee Officers’Plan following ou
initial public offering.
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Our board of directors, or a committee designatethb board, determines who will receive grantsauritlis Officers’Plan and the terr
and conditions of such grants. The rights or otitmpurchase shares under the OfficBtan shall be nontransferable, other than by wilby
the laws of descent or distribution. Pursuant ® ttrms of the OfficersPlan, and if required by applicable law, we musivjte annu
financial statements to each grantee, unless sactieg has access to equivalent information thratlghr means. Shares issued pursuant t
Officers’ Plan are subject to our right of repureba

2012 Equity Incentive Plan

Our board of directors and stockholders adopted26d2 Equity Incentive Plan, effective as of théedaf this prospectus and will se
as the successor to our 2005 Stock Plan.

Share Reserv&Ve have reserved 25,000,000 shares of our Clagsmnon stock for issuance under our 2012 Equityritice Plan plu
an additional number of shares of Class A commookséqual to any shares reserved but not issuedlpect to outstanding awards under
2005 Stock Plan on the date of this prospectus, o and after the date of this prospectus, @jeshthat are subject to outstanding aw
under the 2005 Stock Plan which cease to be subjestich awards, (ii) shares issued under the Z06k Plan which are forfeited
repurchased at their original issue price, anjighiares subject to awards under the 2005 StocktRéd are used to pay the exercise price
option or withheld to satisfy the tax withholdingligations related to any award, including Pre-2&8Us and Po2011 RSUs. The number
shares reserved for issuance under our 2012 Elpgigntive Plan will increase automatically on thistfday of January of each of 2013 thro
2022 by a number of shares of Class A common stqcial to (i) the lesser of 2.5% of the total outdiag shares our common stock as o
immediately preceding December 31st or (ii) a numdfeshares determined by the board of directersaddition, the following shares of «
Class A common stock will again be available fargror issuance under our 2012 Equity Incentiva:Pla

. shares subject to options granted under our 20L\Elpcentive Plan that cease to be subject tothteon for any reason other tt
exercise of the optior

. shares subject to awards granted under our 2012yHageentive Plan that are subsequently forfeitedrepurchased by us at
original issue price

. shares subject to awards granted under our 201®yHguoentive Plan that otherwise terminate withebéres being issued; and

. shares surrendered, cancelled, or exchanged for

Term. Our 2012 Equity Incentive Plan will terminate teeays from the date our board of directors appravedplan, unless it
terminated earlier by our board of directors.

Eligibility. Our 2012 Equity Incentive Plan authorizes the awafrdtock options, restricted stock awards, stopfreciation right:
restricted stock units, performance shares andkdionuses. No person will be eligible to receiverenthan 2,500,000 shares in any cale
year under our 2012 Equity Incentive Plan othenthanew employee of ours, who will be eligible ézeive no more than 5,000,000 sh
under the plan in the calendar year in which thplegee commences employment.

Administration.Our 2012 Equity Incentive Plan is administered by compensation committee, all of the members atklare non-
employee directors under applicable federal seeariaws and outside directors as defined undédicape federal tax laws. The compensa
committee has the authority to construe and ingrpur 2012 Equity Incentive Plan, grant awards madte all other determinations neces
or advisable for the administration of the plan.ads under the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan may bdensaibject to “performance factorsic
other terms in order to qualify as performance dasenpensation for the purposes of 162(m) of theeCo
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Stock OptionsOur 2012 Equity Incentive Plan provides for thengraf incentive stock options that qualify undectsm 422 of the Coc
only to our employees. All awards other than insenstock options may be granted to our employdeegctors, consultants, indepenc
contractors and advisors, provided the consultémigependent contractors and advisors render gsviot in connection with the offer and :
of securities in a capitahising transaction. The exercise price of eacbkstption must be at least equal to the fair maviatie of our Class
common stock on the date of grant. The exercisemf incentive stock options granted to 10% stobdkdrs must be at least equal to 110¢
that value.

Our compensation committee may provide for optittnbe exercised only as they vest or to be immeljiatxercisable with any sha
issued on exercise being subject to our right péirehase that lapses as the shares vest. In geogtiahs will vest over a fouyear period. Ttk
maximum term of options granted under our 2012 fgydacentive Plan is ten years.

Restricted StoclA restricted stock award is an offer by us to shlres of our Class A common stock subject toicéistns. The price (
any) of a restricted stock award will be determir®d the compensation committee. Unless otherwiderchéned by the compensat
committee at the time of award, vesting will ceasethe date the participant no longer providesisesvto us and unvested shares wil
forfeited to or repurchased by us.

Stock Appreciation RightStock appreciation rights provide for a paymentpayments, in cash or shares of our Class A constmok
to the holder based upon the difference betweerfainenarket value of our Class A common stock be tlate of exercise and the st
exercise price up to a maximum amount of cash onbar of shares. Stock appreciation rights may feastd on time or achievemen
performance conditions.

Restricted Stock Unité&in RSU is an award that covers a number of shdresroClass A common stock that may be settled upsting
in cash, by the issuance of the underlying sharesammbination of both. These awards are subjefirfeiture prior to settlement becaus:
termination of employment or failure to achievetagr performance conditions.

Performance Share#\ performance share is an award that covers a nuofbghares of our Class A common stock that magdite
upon achievement of the pestablished performance conditions in cash or byaisce of the underlying shares. These awardsuajecs tc
forfeiture prior to settlement because of termimratdf employment or failure to achieve the perfanoeaconditions.

Stock Bonus AwardStock bonus awards may be granted as additiongbepsation for services or performance, and thezgfoay nc
be issued in exchange for cash.

Additional ProvisionsAwards granted under our 2012 Equity Incentive Piey not be transferred in any manner other thawithyr by
the laws of descent and distribution, or as deteechiby our compensation committee. Unless otherwngsgricted by our compensat
committee, awards that are nonstatutory stock nptinay be exercised during the lifetime of theape only by the optionee, the optiorsee’
guardian or legal representative, or a family memidfethe optionee who has acquired the option lpeanitted transfer. Awards that
incentive stock options may be exercised during lifetime of the optionee only by the optionee tie toptionees guardian or leg
representative. Options granted under our 2012 tifdocentive Plan generally may be exercised fgpeaiod of three months after -
termination of the optioneg’service to us, except in the case of death engeent disability, in which case the options magkbercised for u
to 12 months or six months, respectively, followtagmination of the optionee’s service to us.

If we experience a change in control transactiatstanding awards, including any vesting provisjonay be assumed or substitutec
the successor company. Outstanding awards thatoar@ssumed or substituted will be exercisableafperiod of time and will expire upon-
closing of a change in control transaction. Indieeretion of our compensation committee, the wnegstif these awards may be accelerated
the occurrence of these types of transactions.
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Limitations on Liability and Indemnification Matter s

Our restated certificate of incorporation that vadl in effect at the closing of our initial pubbéfering contains provisions that limit
liability of our directors for monetary damagesthe fullest extent permitted by the Delaware Gen€aporation Law. Consequently,
directors will not be personally liable to us omr@iockholders for monetary damages for any breddiduciary duties as directors, exc
liability for:

. any breach of the director’s duty of loyalty toarsour stockholders;
. any act or omission not in good faith or that inmed intentional misconduct or a knowing violatidriaw;

. unlawful payments of dividends or unlawful stoclkuechases or redemptions as provided in Sectioroi THe Delaware Gene
Corporation Law; o

. any transaction from which the director derivedraproper personal benef

Our restated certificate of incorporation and restebylaws that will be in effect at the closingaafr initial public offering require us
indemnify our directors, executive officers andestkey employees to the maximum extent not proéibity the Delaware General Corpora
Law or any other applicable law and allow us toeimehify other officers, employees and other agestsed forth in the Delaware Gent
Corporation Law or any other applicable law.

We have entered, and intend to continue to emnt&r, Separate indemnification agreements with owgctiors, executive officers and ot
key employees, in addition to the indemnificatiomoyided for in our restated bylaws. These agreespearhong other things, require u:
indemnify our directors, executive officers andestlkey employees for certain expenses, includitgyragys’ fees, judgments, penalties fil
and settlement amounts actually and reasonablyrrediby a director or executive officer in any antior proceeding arising out of tt
services as one of our directors or executive efficor any of our subsidiaries or any other commarenterprise to which the person prov
services at our request, including liability argsiout of negligence or active or passive wrongddigghe officer or director. We believe t
these charter provisions and indemnification agesgmare necessary to attract and retain qualifisdons such as directors, officers and
employees. We also maintain directors’ and offickability insurance.

The limitation of liability and indemnification pwisions in our restated certificate of incorporat@and restated bylaws may discoul
stockholders from bringing a lawsuit against ouwediors and officers for breach of their fiduciaiyty. They may also reduce the likelihoo:
derivative litigation against our directors andiadfs, even though an action, if successful, migrtefit us and other stockholders. Furth
stockholders investment may be adversely affected to the extert we pay the costs of settlement and damagedswagainst directors &
officers as required by these indemnification psawis.

At present, there is no pending litigation or praieg involving any of our directors or executiviicers as to which indemnification
required or permitted, and we are not aware ofthrgatened litigation or proceeding that may reisudt claim for indemnification.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arisingnder the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (8&E=uAct), may be permitted
directors, executive officers or persons contrgllirs, we have been informed that in the opiniothef SEC such indemnification is aga
public policy as expressed in the Securities Act iartherefore unenforceable.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the executive officer and directomgpensation arrangements discussed in “Executivep@asation,’below we descrit
transactions since January 1, 2009, to which we leen a participant, in which the amount involirethe transaction exceeds or will exc
$120,000 and in which any of our directors, exaeutfficers or holders of more than 5% of our castock, or any immediate family mem
of, or person sharing the household with, any es¢hindividuals, had or will have a direct or iedirmaterial interest.

Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement

We have entered into an inves’ rights agreement with certain holders of our cofibler preferred stock and common stock, inclu
entities affiliated with Mr. Andreessen, Mr. Thiéllr. Breyer and Accel Partners, and DST Global tédi Certain holders of shares of
Class A common stock and Class B common stockraitteel to rights with respect to the registratifitheir shares following our initial pub
offering under the Securities Act. For a descriptid these registration rights, see “DescriptioiCapital Stock—Registration Rights.”

Series E Preferred Stock Financing

In May 2009, we sold an aggregate of 44,037,54@esh@fter giving effect to a 5-fdrstock split effected in October 2010) of our 8¢
E preferred stock to Mail.ru Group Limited (f/k/agital Sky Technologies Limited), at a purchase@mer share of $4.54 (after giving ef
to a 5-ford stock split effected in October 2010), for anraggte purchase price of approximately $200 millieollowing this sale, and t
purchase of additional shares from our existingldtolders, Mail.ru Group Limited and its affiliatbeneficially owned more than 5% of
outstanding capital stock. We have no ongoing aliligns under the Series E preferred stock purcagseement.

Conversion Agreement

In connection with their purchase of shares fromade existing stockholders in February 2010, MailGroup Limited and DST Glok
Limited and their respective affiliates enterediat conversion agreement with us because we andtliee parties had agreed such parties’
aggregate voting power would be maintained at feas 10% of our total outstanding voting power. Toaversion agreement contains
following provisions:

Lock-up

Pursuant to this agreement, Mail.ru Group Limited ®ST Global Limited and their respective afféiathave agreed not to sell share
our capital stock, other than any shares they nedlyirs our initial public offering, for certain peds of time following the date of tt
prospectus. As to shares held by them as of the afathis prospectus, this agreement was amend@grih 2012 to provide that the trans
restrictions will expire as to 75,052,757 of theurgs 91 days after the date of this prospectus tleatdthe remainder of the shares heli
Mail.ru Group Limited and DST Global Limited ancethrespective affiliates will be freely tradablé&3days after the date of this prospectus.

Automatic Conversion of Shares upon the OccurrerafeCertain Events

In addition, Mail.ru Group Limited and DST Globainiited have agreed, pursuant to the conversioneaggat, that if either of the
respective voting agreements with Mr. Zuckerbertpisninated because of his death or his failurbe@ctively engaged in our managen
that they and their respective affiliates shalbauatically convert their Class B common stock tagsIA common stock pursuant to the opti
conversion provision of our restated certificate in€orporation. For information regarding Mr. ZudBerg’'s voting agreements, ¢
“Description of Capital Stock—Voting Agreements.”
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Mail.ru Group Limited, which was affiliated with OSGlobal Limited on the date the parties enterdd the conversion agreeme
underwent a corporate restructuring in NovembelO2@lconnection with its initial public offering athe London Stock Exchange. Follow
the corporate restructuring, Mail.ru Group Limitees no longer affiliated with DST Global Limiteddits affiliates DST Global Il, L.P., D¢
Global 1lI, L.P., DST USA Limited, and DST USA llimited. Mail.ru Group Limited no longer beneficialbwns more than 5% of c
outstanding capital stock. For additional informoatregarding beneficial ownership of our capitalcktas of March 31, 2012, seBrfncipa
and Selling Stockholders.”

Class B Common Stock Restriction Agreement

In 2004 and 2005, Mr. Zuckerbesgfather provided us with initial working capitéh. consideration for this assistance, we issued dni
option to purchase 2,000,000 shares, as adjustexplits and reclassifications, of our Class B camrstock. The option initially expired by
terms one year following the date of grant withbaving been exercised. Our board of directors @uitiMr. Zuckerberg) determined that
option did not reflect the intent of the partieshwiespect to the equity to be issued to him insmteration of the financial assistance a
release from potential related claims. AccordinglyDecember 2009, we issued an aggregate of 00&hares of our Class B common s
to Glate LLC, an entity owned by Mr. Zuckerbergéghfer. We have no ongoing obligations under thisement.

Right of First Refusal

Pursuant to our bylaws and certain agreements auttstockholders, we or our assignees have thé tagburchase shares of our caj
stock, including shares of Class B common stockedsunder our 2005 Stock Plan, which these stodenslpropose to sell to other part
These rights are customary for venture capitadked companies in our industry and will termingpen the completion of our initial puk
offering. In 2009 and 2010, in connection with prepd sales by certain stockholders, we assignedgiurto purchase 28,403,845 share
our Class B common stock to certain entities afi@d with Mail.ru Group Limited and DST Global Lied. Mail.ru Group Limited and D¢
Global Limited purchased 27,182,595 shares of das<CB common stock in connection with such assegrm For additional informatis
regarding beneficial ownership of our capital staskof March 31, 2012, see “Principal and SellitacBholders.”

Class A Common Stock Financing

In December 2010, we sold an aggregate of 2,39&08&des of our Class A common stock to DST Glolmited at a purchase price
share of $20.85, for an aggregate purchase priapmoximately $50 million.
Equity Awards, Employment Agreements and Offer Leters

We have granted stock options or RSUs to our ekexudfficers and our directors. For a descriptidntliese equity awards, ¢
“Executive Compensation—2011 Outstanding Equity Algaat Year-End Table” and “Management—Director @ernsation.”

We have entered into employment agreements or fiers with each of our named executive offic&a more information regardi
these agreements, see “Executive Compensation—Emplat Agreements and Offer Letters.”

Employment Arrangements With Immediate Family Membe's of Our Executive Officers and Directors

Molly Graham, the daughter of Donald E. Graham,eamiper of our board of directors, is employed bylusing 2009, 2010, and 20:
Ms. Graham had total cash compensation, includasg Isalary, bonus and other compensation, of $88%1%83,620, and $189,168.

Randi Zuckerberg, the sister of Mark Zuckerberg,founder, Chairman, and CEO, was employed by ti$ Angust 2011. During 200
2010, and 2011, Ms. Zuckerberg had total cash casgi®n, including base salary, bonus and othepensation, of $128,750, $139,578,
$89,536.
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The compensation levels of Mmes. Graham and Zuekgrtvere based on reference to external marketipeaaf similar positions ¢
internal pay equity when compared to the compemsgitaid to employees in similar positions that weserelated to our executive officers .
directors. They were also eligible for equity awsah the same general terms and conditions ascapf#i to other employees in sim
positions who were not related to our executivecefs and directors.

Indemnification Agreements

We have entered into indemnification agreements veiaich of our directors, executive officers andeotkey employees. T
indemnification agreements and our amended andteesbylaws will require us to indemnify our dires to the fullest extent permitted
Delaware law. For more information regarding thageeements, see “Executive Compensatibimitations on Liability and Indemnificatic
Matters.”

Commercial Agreements

During 2009, 2010, 2011, and the first quarter @2, The Washington Post Company and its relatetpbeaies purchased $0.6 milli
$4.8 million, $4.2 million, and $0.8 million, resg@rely, of advertisements on our website. Mr. Grah a member of our board of director:
the Chief Executive Officer of The Washington P@simpany. The purchases by The Washington Post Qoyrgoad its related entities wi
made in the ordinary course of business pursuaoutcstandard online terms and conditions and wérenade through our se$fervice a
system. In addition, Social Code LLC, a whatiyned subsidiary of The Washington Post Compangnisdvertising agency that has cli
that do business with us.

During 2009, 2010, 2011, and the first quarter 812 Netflix purchased $1.9 million, $1.6 millio§3.8 million, and $1.2 millioi
respectively, of advertisements on our website. Hi&istings, a member of our board of directorshésGhief Executive Officer of Netflix. Tl
purchases by Netflix were made in the ordinary sewf business pursuant to our standard termsanditons.

During 2010 and 2011, we made payments to GMG tyife€ntertainment Inc. (GMG) of $0.9 million an@.8 million, respectively, fc
certain sales and marketing services. Rob Goldlikegfounder and Chief Executive Officer of GMG hig brother-inaw of Ms. Sandber
our Chief Operating Officer. The GMG relationshipsventered into in the ordinary course of busipessuant to a negotiated agreement
we evaluated other commercial alternatives andloded that GMG was the most suitable alternative. $andberg did not participate in
decision to negotiate with GMG or in the negotiatithemselves. GMG was acquired by The Topps Coynipaiuly 2011.

Review, Approval or Ratification of Transactions wih Related Parties

We have adopted a relatpdrty transactions policy under which our executiicers, directors, nominees for election as re@edbr
beneficial owners of more than 5% of any classwfammon stock, and any members of the immedaately of any of the foregoing persc
are not permitted to enter into a relafgtty transaction with us without the consent of audit committee. If the related party is, o
associated with, a member of our audit committee ttansaction must be reviewed and approved bthenmdependent body of our boart
directors, such as our governance committee. Aguast for us to enter into a transaction with atesl party in which the amount invol\
exceeds $120,000 and such party would have a diréotirect interest must first be presented toaudit committee for review, consideral
and approval. If advance approval of a relatedyptignsaction was not feasible or was not obtairlee, relatedparty transaction must
submitted to the audit committee as soon as rebsppaacticable, at which time the audit commitsell consider whether to ratify
continue, amend and ratify, or terminate or res@udh relategharty transaction. All of the transactions desdiladove were reviewed &
considered by, and were entered into with the agraf, or ratification by, our board of directarsthe audit committee.
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PRINCIPAL AND SELLING STOCKHOLDERS

The following table sets forth certain informatiaith respect to the beneficial ownership of our coom stock as of March 31, 2012, .
as adjusted to reflect the sale of Class A comnthockffered by us and the selling stockholdersuninitial public offering, for:

. each stockholder known by us to be the beneficialey of more than 5% of our outstanding sharesla§<A common stock
Class B common stoc

. each of our directors;
. each of our named executive office
. all of our directors and executive officers as augr, and

. all selling stockholders

We have determined beneficial ownership in accardamith the rules of the SEC. Except as indicatethk footnotes below, we belie
based on the information furnished to us, thatgéesons and entities named in the table below kale voting and investment power v
respect to all shares of Class A common stock es<CB common stock that they beneficially own, scibjo applicable community prope
laws. Unless otherwise indicated in the footnoteleWw, based on the information provided to us bpmibehalf of the selling stockholders,
selling stockholder is a broker-dealer or an &f#diof a broker-dealer.

Applicable percentage ownership is based on 117398%hares of Class A common stock and 1,780,885%6ares of Class B comn
stock outstanding at March 31, 2012, assuming asiose of all outstanding shares of preferred stocto an aggregate of 545,401,443 sh
of our Class B common stock. For purposes of comgubercentage ownership after our initial publféeedng, we have also assumed
180,000,000 shares of Class A common stock wilsbeed by us in our initial public offering, tha,600,000 shares of Class B common ¢
will be issued by us in connection with the pargakrcise of an outstanding stock option by Markk&uberg, our founder, Chairman, .
CEO, that certain of our existing stockholders widhvert an aggregate of 154,304,257 shares o€tass B common stock into an equiva
number of shares of our Class A common stock imeotion with our initial public offering, and thtte underwriters will not exercise tr
right to purchase 63,185,042 additional sharesteicoverallotments. In computing the number of shares afroon stock beneficially own
by a person and the percentage ownership of trabpewe deemed to be outstanding all shares ofrmmstock subject to options, RSU:
other convertible securities held by that persoertity that are currently exercisable or releasablthat will become exercisable or releas
within 60 days of March 31, 2012. We did not dedest shares outstanding, however, for the purposengputing the percentage owners
of any other person. Unless otherwise indicated, &tidress of each beneficial owner listed in thdetdelow is c/o Facebook, Inc., 1t
Willow Road, Menlo Park, California 94025.
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% of Total % of Total
Shares Beneficially Ownec Voting Shares Beneficially Voting
Prior to this Offering Power Before Owned After this Offering Power After
Number of
Class A Class B Our Initial Shares Class A Class B QOur Initial
Public Being Public
Name of Beneficial Owner Shares % _ Shares®) %  Offering 2 Offered Shares®) % _Shares® %  Offering @)
Named Executive Officers and Directors
Mark Zuckerberc®) — — 53380185 28. 27. 30,200,004 — — 503,601,85 32.2 30.¢
Shares subject to voting prof§) 28.¢
42,39520 36.1  541,994,07 30. 30.E  91,447,88 7,125,224, 1.1 432,682,78 27.€
Total 3)(5) 42,39520 36.1 1,075,795,92 56.€ 56.E 121,647,88 7,125,224, 1.1 936,284,63 59.€ 57.€
Sheryl K. Sandber(®) — — 1,899,98i & & — — — 1,899,98 = =
David A. Ebersmai(”) - — 2,399,99' * * — - — 2,399,99! * *
Mike Schroepfe(®) — — 2,291,84 & & — — — 2,291,84! = =
Theodore W. Ullyo(®) - — 2,025,24. * * — - — 2,025,24. * *
Marc L. Andreesse(10) — — 6,607,13 & & — — — 6,607,13. = =
Erskine B. Bowle(11) R — - — — — R — R —
James W. Breye(12) — — 201,37834 11.: 112  57,726,90(13) 13572235 21.4 7,929,009 = 1.4
Donald E. Grahar(14) R — - — — — R — — —
Reed Hasting(15) — = — = — — — = — = —
Peter A. Thie(16) - — 4472410 2.E 25 16,844,31(17 1858190 2.8 9,297,88. * *
All executive officers and directors as a gro
(12 persons(18) 42,39520 36.1 1,326,579,47 69.€ 69.4 193,716,97 161,429,49 25F 960,694,84 61.1 59.€
Other 5% Stockholders:
Entities affiliated with Accel Partne(12) — — 201,37834 11: 11z 57,726,90(13) 13572235 214 7,929,09: * 1.4
Entities affiliated with DST Global Limited
(19) 36,711,92 31.2 94,567,94 5.3 55  45,662,56(20) 5,016,79 * 80,600,51 5.4 5.2
Dustin Moskovitz(21) — —  133,69864 7.E 7.5 — — — 133,698,64 89 8.5
Entities affiliated with Goldman Sac/(22) 65,947,24 56.1 - — *  2432488(3) 4162235 6.6 - — *
T. Rowe Price Associates, Ir(24) 6,033,631 5.1 12,158,74 * * — 6,033,631 1.0 12,158,74 * *
Other Selling Stockholders:
Entities affiliated with Elevation Partne(25) — = 40,109,64 2.2 2.2 4,622,49(26) — — 35487,14 24 2.3
Entities affiliated with Greylock Partne7) - — 36,656,37 2.1 2.0 7,607,35(28) — —  29049,02 1.9 1.9
Mail.ru Group Limited(9) 1,325,770 1.1 55,026,23 3.1 31 19,600,69 —  — 36,751,31 24 2.3
Mark Pincus(30) - — 5,313,92 * * 1,009,2831) - — 4,304,63 * *
Entities affiliated with Meritech Capital
Partners(32) — = 40,355,22 2.3 2.3 6,998,78(33) — — 3335644 22 2.1
Microsoft Corporatior(34) - — 32,784,62 1.8 1.8 6,556,92! — —  26,227,70 1.7 1.7
Entities Affiliated with Reid Hoffmai(35) — = 4,713,92 * * 942,78436) — = 3,771,13 * *
Sean Parke(37) - — 69,653,65  3.¢ 3.8 — —  —  69,65365 4.6 4.4
Entities affiliated with Tiger Global
Managemen(38) 4,207,500 3.6 49,630,48 2.8 2.8 19,059,999 1,958,44! * 3281954 2.2 2.1
Valiant Capital Opportunities, LL(40) - — 36,33559  2.C 2.0 — — — 3633559 24 2.3
All other selling stockholder(4) — — 352,52: & & 76,63142) — — 275,88 = =
* Less than 1%

1) There are currently no RSUs which will become reddée within 60 days of March 31, 2012 to the bieéfthe individuals and entities listed in thél@above

) Percentage of total voting power represents vapimger with respect to all shares of our Class A @tass B common stock, as a single class. The tolufeour Class B comm:
stock are entitled to ten votes per share, ande®ldf our Class A common stock are entitled towte per share. For more information about théngotights of our Class A a
Class B common stock, s*Description of Capital Sto—Common Stocl”

3) Consists of (i) 632,765 shares of Class B commocksheld of record by Mr. Zuckerberg; (i) 3,4163&hares of Class B common stock held of recorlflagk Zuckerberg, Trust
of The Mark Zuckerberg 2008 Annuity Trust dated dhat3, 2008; (iii) 409,752,262 shares of Clas
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4)

®)

(6)
@)
®)
9)
(10)

(11)
(12)

(13)

(14)
(15)
(16)

common stock held of record by Mark Zuckerberg,stee of The Mark Zuckerberg Trust dated July 7,62@mhd (iv) 120,000,000 shares of Class B commocksissuable upc
exercise of an option that is exercisable withird&@s of March 31, 2012, which will be partiallyeegised by Mr. Zuckerberg as described in footigd}delow.

Mark Zuckerberg, our founder, Chairman, and CEQ,affer and sell 30,200,000 shares in our inipablic offering. The substantial majority of thet peoceeds Mr. Zuckerberg v
receive upon such sale will be used to satisfygakat he will incur upon the receipt of 60,000,&0@res of our Class B common stock as a resutieopartial exercise of
outstanding stock option to purchase 120,000,0@€eshof our Class B common sto

Consists of shares of our Class A and Class B camstuck held by other stockholders over which, pkemder limited circumstances, Mr. Zuckerberg bad irrevocable prox
pursuant to voting agreements between Mr. Zuckgrhes and such stockholders, including certainusfdirectors and holders of more than 5% of ouiitahptock with respect
certain matters, as indicated in the footnotesveeW'e do not believe that the parties to thesengotigreements constitute a “groupider Section 13 of the Securities Exchange
of 1934, as amended, as Mr. Zuckerberg exercistasgvocontrol over these shares. The shares tolddarsour initial public offering that are curreptsubject to a voting agreemen
favor of Mr. Zuckerberg will no longer be subjeatthe voting agreement following our initial pubbéfering. For more information about the votingegments, seeDescription o
Capital Stoc—Voting Agreement”

Consists of 1,899,986 shares of Class B commork stetd of record by Sheryl K. Sandberg, Trusteethaf Sheryl K. Sandberg 2008 Annuity Trust datedil&d, 2008
Ms. Sandberg also holds 39,321,041 RSUs whichubjest to vesting conditions not expected to oweitinin 60 days of March 31, 201

Consists of 2,399,999 shares of Class B commork sgstiable upon exercise of options exercisableiwi60 days of March 31, 2012. Mr. Ebersman alsldh@, 469,424 RS
which are subject to vesting conditions not expgtteoccur within 60 days of March 31, 20

Consists of 2,291,849 shares of Class B commork séstiable upon exercise of options exercisabla@iwi60 days of March 31, 2012. Mr. Schroepfer distils 6,144,188 RSI
which are subject to vesting conditions not expgtteoccur within 60 days of March 31, 20

Consists of (i) 35,600 shares of Class B commocksield of record by Mr. Ullyot; and (ii) 1,989,64f%ares of Class B common stock issuable upon isgeot options exercisat
within 60 days of March 31, 2012. Mr. Ullyot alsoltls 3,782,818 RSUs which are subject to vestimglitions not expected to occur within 60 days ofréha31, 2012

Consists of 3,571,431 shares of Class B commork s$teldl of record by Andreessen Horowitz Fund IR L.as nominee (AH Fund), and 3,035,700 sharedasfs@ common sto
held of record by FBAH, L.P. (FBAH). Does not indkiup to 1,783,084 shares of our common stock isua Andreessen Horowitz Fund I, L.P. upon thesiclg of our acquisitic
of Instagram, Inc., including 178,308 shares tdélel in escrow. AH Equity Partners Il, L.L.C. (AHER the general partner of AH Fund and has sotsngand investment pow
over the securities held by AH Fund and FBAH. Mndfeessen is one of the Managing Members of AHE®, therefore, may be deemed to share voting aresiment power ov
the securities held in AH Fund and FBAH. The adsi@sAHEP, AH Fund, and FBAH is 2865 Sand Hill Rp&dite 101, Menlo Park, California 94025. Mr. Aeessen also hol
5,247,490 RSUs which are subject to vesting camtnot expected to occur within 60 days of Marth2912,

Mr. Bowles holds 20,000 RSUs which are subjectasting conditions not expected to occur within @9=lof March 31, 201:

Consists of (i) 11,703,132 shares of Class B comstook held of record by James W. Breyer, Trusfegames W. Breyer 2005 Trust dated March 25, 2@yByer 2005 Trust
(i) 149,527,730 shares of Class B common stock bélrecord by Accel IX L.P. (Accel IX); (iii) 153,653 shares of Class B common stock held of debgrAccel IX Strategi
Partners L.P. (Accel SP); (iv) 13,939,214 shareSlass B common stock held of record Accel Invesgf05 L.L.C. (Accel 2005); (v) 9,949,820 share€lafss B common stock hi
of record by Accel Growth Fund L.P. (Accel Growtfyi) 194,230 shares of Class B common stock heleéaord by Accel Growth Fund Strategic Partnei. [(Accel Growth SP
and (vii) 132,570 shares of Class B common stod brecord by Accel Growth Fund Investors 2008.C. (Accel Growth 2009). We have received notioEsonversion from tt
holders of record, which provide that in connectwith our initial public offering 11,548,527 of thghares of our Class B common stock held of rebgrthe Breyer 2005 Tru
149,527,730 of the shares of our Class B commarksteld of record by Accel IX, 15,931,653 of theus#s of our Class B common stock held of recorddagel SP, and 13,939,2
of the shares of our Class B common stock hele&cdnd by Accel 2005 will be converted into an eglént number of shares of our Class A common sto¢ke extent such sha
are not sold in our initial public offering. Acck{ Associates L.L.C. (A9A) is the general partnéAacel IX and Accel SP and has sole voting ancegtment power over the she
held by these limited partnerships. Accel GrowtmdFilssociates L.L.C. (AGFA) is the general partoEAccel Growth and Accel Growth SP and has soléngoand investme
power over the shares held by these limited pastigs. Mr. Breyer is one of the managing membera34, AGFA, Accel 2005, and Accel Growth 2009, atiterefore, may
deemed to share voting and investment power oeeséburities held by these entities. The addreg®Afand AGFA and their affiliated entities is 4RBiversity Avenue, Palo Alt
California 94301. Mr. Breyer is trustee of the Beey2005 Trust. Prior to our initial public offering0,431,225 shares of Class B common stock awk,after our initial publi
offering, 7,929,092 shares of Class B common statikbe, subject to a voting agreement in favoiat Zuckerberg referred to in footnote (5) abc

Consists of (i) 3,375,545 shares to be sold byBiteger 2005 Trust; (ii) 43,216,317 shares to b bgl Accel IX; (iii) 4,604,228 shares to be soldAgcel SP; (iv) 4,028,678 share:
be sold by Accel 2005; (v) 2,422,564 shares todbe Isy Accel Growth; (vi) 47,291 shares to be dwjdAccel Growth SP; and (vii) 32,278 shares todid by Accel Growth 200¢
Mr. Graham holds 1,000,000 RSUs which are subgeeesting conditions not expected to occur wittind@ys of March 31, 201

Mr. Hastings holds 20,000 RSUs which are subjewesting conditions not expected to occur withindés of March 31, 201

Consists of (i) 32,875,670 shares of Class B comstook held of record by Rivendell One LLC (Riveltid€ii) 5,978,140 shares of Class B common stbekd of record by Tt
Founders Fund, LP (FF); (iii) 740,960 shares os€IB common stock held of record by The Foun
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(23)

Fund 11, LP (FF II); (iv) 36,640 shares of Class@mmon stock held of record by The Founders Furitificipals Fund, LP (FFPF); (v) 22,400 shareslas€B common stock he
of record by The Founders Fund Il EntrepreneurdFuR (FFEF); and (vi) 5,070,290 shares of Clag®Bmon stock held of record by Lembas, LLC (Lemb¥#} have receivec
notice of conversion from Rivendell, which providésat in connection with our initial public offegrall of the shares of our Class B common stocK bélrecord by Rivendell th
are not otherwise sold in our initial public offegi will be converted into an equivalent numbertudres of our Class A common stock. Mr. Thiel is beeeficial owner of Rivend:
and has voting and investment power over the sgeufield by Rivendell. Mr. Thiel is a managing nemof the general partner of each of FF, FF IPFFand FFEF, and, therefc
may be deemed to have voting and investment powartbe securities held by these entities. Mr. Tisighe managing member of Lembas and has votidgravestment power ov
the securities held by Lembas. Prior to our initiablic offering, 111,884 shares of Class B comrstmek are, and after our initial public offerind,11884 shares of Class B comr
stock will be, subject to a voting agreement inofaef Mr. Zuckerberg referred to in footnote (5pab.

Consists of (i) 14,293,769 shares to be sold beRiell; and (ii) 2,550,546 shares to be sold by

Consists of (i) 42,395,203 shares of Class A comstonk; (i) 1,199,897,978 shares of Class B comistock; and (iii) 126,681,492 shares of Class B mom stock issuable up
exercise of options exercisable within 60 days efdh 31, 2012

Consists of (i) 17,213,540 shares of Class B comstook held of record by DST Global Limited; (ii)995,203 shares of Class A common stock held afrceby DST Global |
L.P.; (iii) 1,697,217 shares of Class A common lstieeld of record by DST Global Ill, L.P.; (iv) 3,9482 shares of Class A common stock and 24,29GH4dri&es of Class B commr
stock held of record by DST USA Limited; and (v)@B3,926 shares of Class A common stock and 53683hares of Class B common stock held of recgr®@®T USA I
Limited. Yuri Milner holds ultimate voting and insment power over the securities held by thes¢ientiThe address of DST Global Limited, DST Glolal.P., DST Global Il
L.P., DST USA Limited, and DST USA Il Limited isccTulloch & Co., 4 Hill Street, London W1J 5NE, Wi Kingdom. Prior to our initial public offerin®6,711,928 shares
Class A common stock and 94,567,945 shares of GBlassnmon stock are, and after our initial publffedng, 5,016,794 shares of Class A common stouk 0,600,514 shares
Class B common stock will be, subject to a votiggeament in favor of Mr. Zuckerberg referred tddntnote (5) above. DST Global Limited and its ladfes are no longer affiliat
with Mail.ru Group Limited (f/k/a Digital Sky Teclwhogies Limited). For more information, s“Related Party Transactic—Conversion Agreemer”

Consists of (i) 5,987,318 shares to be sold by @&dbal Limited; (i) 2,085,289 shares to be soldST Global II, L.P.; (iii) 590,337 shares to bddsby DST Global Ill, L.P
(iv) 9,821,228 shares to be sold by DST USA Limitead (v) 27,178,393 shares to be sold by DST USAnhited.

Consists of (i) 174,165 shares of Class B commooksheld of record by Dustin A. Moskovitz, TrusteeThe Justin M. Rosenstein 2009 Trust, a trusatéisthed pursuant to t
Justin M. Rosenstein 2009 Trust Agreement; (ii),258,629 shares of Class B common stock held afrdelby Dustin Moskovitz, Trustee of The Dustin Aoskovitz Trust date
December 27, 2005; (iii) 14,404,516 shares of CBasemmon stock held of record by Dustin Moskoviteystee of The Dustin Moskovitz 2008 Annuity Trdstted March 10, 20C
and (iv) 4,863,335 shares of Class B common stedtt &f record by Justin M. Rosenstein, Trustee ltd Dustin A. Moskovitz 2009 Trust, a trust estdisid pursuant to the Dus
A. Moskovitz 2009 Trust Agreement dated Januar2a09. Mr. Moskovitz is trustee or beneficiary ofeTBustin M. Rosenstein 2009 Trust, The Dustin Askéwitz Trust date
December 27, 2005, The Dustin Moskovitz 2008 Anniiitust dated March 10, 2008, and The Dustin A. kéosz 2009 Trust. The address of Mr. MoskovitPi©. Box 2929, S:
Francisco, California 94126. Prior to our initialiic offering, 133,698,645 shares of Class B comrstock are, and after our initial public offeriri®33,698,645 shares of Clas
common stock will be, subject to a voting agreenerfavor of Mr. Zuckerberg referred to in footndt above

Consists of (i) 14,214,807 shares of Class A comsstogk held of record by The Goldman Sachs Grongp,, (i) 2,598,652 shares of Class A common stieekd of record b
Goldman Sachs Investment Partners Master Fund, (ii1,010,587 shares of Class A common stockl leé record by Goldman Sachs Investment Partnersateé Opportunitie
Holdings, L.P.; and (iv) 48,123,195 shares of Classommon stock held of record by FBDC Investor$stére Holdings, L.P. ((iifiv), collectively, the Goldman Sachs Limi
Partnerships). Affiliates of The Goldman Sachs @rduc. are the general partners of the GoldmarhSaanited Partnerships. GS Investment Stratedie§ is the investmel
manager of the Goldman Sachs Limited Partnersf@fslnvestment Strategies, LLC is a whabiyned subsidiary of The Goldman Sachs Group, Iexziglons regarding the voti
or disposition of the shares in (i) above held e TGoldman Sachs Group, Inc. are made by an ineestoommittee (or an authorized stdmmmittee or designee thereof).
current voting members of this committee are: Cigiigderick, David Solomon, Gary Cohn, Liz (Besh@bbinson, Michael S. Sherwood, Sarah Smith, Estah®r, and Dav
Viniar. GS Investment Strategies, LLC exercisesngoand investment power with respect to the shargd)-(iv) above held by the Goldman Sachs Limited Pastnips. Th
investment committee within GS Investment Strategid¢ C that advises the Goldman Sachs Limited Rastrips currently includes the following voting nieems: Raanan Agt
Kenneth Eberts, Hideki Kinuhata, Gaurav Bhandaerefice Ting, Nick Advani, Sabrina Liak, and Joeh@artz. The address of The Goldman Sachs Group, Bf8 Investmel
Strategies, LLC, and the Goldman Sachs Limitedrfeaships is 200 West Street, New York, NY 10z

Consists of (i) 5,243,185 shares to be sold by Ghielman Sachs Group, Inc.; (ii) 958,522 sharesetedid by Goldman Sachs Investment Partners Masted, L.P.; (iii) 372,75
shares to be sold by Goldman Sachs Investmentd?arBrivate Opportunities Holdings, L.P.; and (i¥)750,421 shares to be sold by FBDC Investorshofts Holdings, L.P. Tt
Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. and the Goldman SachgddrRartnerships are affiliates of a registeraakérdealer. These entities have purchased the sesuitiee sold in our initi
public offering in the ordinary course of busines®l, at the time of such purchase, had no agresneeninderstandings, directly or indirectly withygmerson to distribute tl
securities
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(24) Consists of (i) 6,033,630 shares of Class A comsiook held of record by 80 funds and accounts advis subadvised by T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc.; andL@ilL58,743 shar
of Class B common stock held of record by 76 fuaid accounts advised or sativised by T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. T. RovieePAssociates, Inc. serves as investment ac
with power to direct investments and/or sole poteevote the securities owned by these funds andumts. The T. Rowe Price Proxy Committee develbpsfitm’s positions on &
major proxy voting issues, creates guidelines, @aratsees the voting process. The funds and accthattBold our securities are each managed byRoive Price portfolio manag
Ultimately, the T. Rowe Price portfolio managereaich fund or account has sole or shared voting pshared with an account) and sole investment pawespect of companies
his portfolio. The T. Rowe Price portfolio managefghe funds and accounts that hold our securétiescollectively listed as follows: Joseph Milaf@ul R. Bartolo, Robert Shar
Daniel Martino, David Eiswert, Kennard Allen, DoddPeters, Thomas Huber, Larry Puglia, and Roberisfgée For purposes of reporting requirements efSkcurities Exchan
Act of 1934, T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. mayleemed to be the beneficial owner of all the shiistexl. T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. is the Whowned subsidiary of T. Rou
Price Group, Inc., which is a publicly traded fic&@i services holding company. The address for Gw® Price Associates, Inc. is 100 East Pratt Stiatimore, MD 2120:
T. Rowe Price Investment Services, Inc. (TRPISEggistered brokedealer, is a subsidiary of T. Rowe Price Assocjdtes TRPIS was formed primarily for the limitedrpose c
acting as the principal underwriter of shares ef fiimds in the T. Rowe Price fund family. TRPIS sloet engage in underwriting or markegéking activities involving individu
securities

(25) Consists of (i) 40,098,990 shares of Class B comstook held of record by Elevation Partners, LEeyation Partners); and (ii) 10,655 shares of €Bsommon stock held
record by Elevation Employee Side Fund, LLC (Sided). The general partner of Elevation PartneEeésation Associates, L.P. The general partnerlef&ion Associates, L.P.
Elevation Associates, LLC. The managing memberidé Fund is Elevation Management, LLC. Fred Ander$aul Hewson, Roger McNamee, and Bret Pearlmatharmanage
of Elevation Associates, LLC and Elevation ManagetneLC and may be deemed to beneficially own taeusities held by Elevation Partners and Side F@nahr to our initia
public offering, 40,109,645 shares of Class B commstock are, and after our initial public offerir85,487,149 shares of Class B common stock wilsbbject to a voting agreem
in favor of Mr. Zuckerberg referred to in footndte above

(26) Consists of (i) 4,621,111 shares to be sold byd&lem Partners; and (ii) 1,385 shares to be sol8idg Fund

(27) Consists of (i) 31,341,221 shares of Class B comstook held of record by Greylock XII Limited Paetship; (ii) 3,482,349 shares of Class B commowksteeld of record
Greylock XII-A Limited Partnership; and (iii) 1,832,802 sharé€tass B common stock held of record by GreylodkPfincipals LLC. Greylock XII GP Limited Liabilit Compan
is the sole general partner of each of GreylockDittited Partnership and Greylock XN-Limited Partnership. William W. Helman and Ané&fusri are the managing member
Greylock XII GP Limited Liability Company and areembers of Greylock XII Principals LLC. The addréssthese entities is 2550 Sand Hill Road, MenlokP&A 94025. Davi
Sze, a managing member of Greylock XIl GP LLC anméy®ck Xl Principals LLC, has held observatioghts on our board of directors. Prior to our itipablic offering
1,662,550 shares of Class B common stock are, #ied @ur initial public offering, 1,662,550 shares Class B common stock will be, subject to a vptagreement in favor
Mr. Zuckerberg referred to in footnote (5) aboveeb not include up to 530,485 shares of our comstaek issuable to Greylock XIII Limited Partnershipreylock XllII Principal
LLC, and Greylock XII-A Limited Partnership upon the closing of our asifion of Instagram, including 53,047 shares tdekl in escrow

(28) Consists of (i) 6,504,293 shares to be sold by BoyXIl Limited Partnership; (ii) 722,695 sharestie sold by Greylock XIA Limited Partnership; and (iii) 380,364 sharedt
sold by Greylock XII Principals LLC

(29) Consists of 1,325,775 shares of Class A commorkstod 55,026,235 shares of Class B common stockdfakcord by Mail.ru Group Limited. Mail.ru Growpmited is a publicly-
held entity listed on the London Stock Exchangee &Hddress for Mail.ru Group Limited is Office 33®hatha Tower, Dubai Media City, Dubai, U.A.E. IPrio our initial publit
offering, 1,325,775 shares of Class A common stouk 55,026,235 shares of Class B common stockaatkafter our initial public offering, 36,751,31ases of Class B comm
stock will be, subject to a voting agreement inofaof Mr. Zuckerberg referred to in footnote (5pab.

(30) Consists of (i) 3,863,701 shares of Class B comstock held of record by Mark Pincus; and (ii) 1,48® shares of Class B common stock held of rebpr@gden Enterprises LL
(Ogden). Mr. Pincus is the manager of Ogden andsheble voting and investment power over the shiaelsby Ogden. Mr. Pincus is the Chief Executiiéo®r of Zynga Inc., ot
largest Platform developer. For information on elationship with Zynga, see “Business—Productsiervelopers—PaymentsDoes not reflect the sale by Mr. Pincus of 537
shares of Class B common stock in private transfebsequent to March 31, 20:

(31) Consists of (i) 719,240 shares to be sold by Muc#&#s, in his individual capacity; and (ii) 290,0&t&ares to be sold by Ogde

(32) Consists of (i) 39,632,823 shares of Class B comstook held of record by Meritech Capital Partnér&.P.; and (ii) 722,400 shares of Class B comnstock held of record |
Meritech Capital Affiliates Il L.P. Meritech Capit Associates Il L.L.C. is the general partneidritech Capital Partners Il L.P. and Meritech @alpAffiliates Il L.P. and ha
sole voting power with respect to the shares hgldieritech Capital Partners Ill L.P. and Meritechp@al Affiliates 11l L.P. Meritech Management Assates IIl L.L.C. is th
managing member of Meritech Capital AssociatesLIl.C. George Bischof, Mike Gordon, Paul Maderad &ob Ward are the managing members of Meritechademer
Associates Il L.L.C. and may be deemed to shatmgand dispositive power with respect to the shdreld by Meritech Capital Partners Il L.P. andritéch Capital Affiliates I|
L.P. Prior to our initial public offering, 2,530,6&hares of Class B common stock are, and afteindial public offering, 2,530,580 shares of Cl&sommon stock will be, subje
to a voting agreement in favor of Mr. Zuckerberfgreed to in footnote (5) abov

(33) Consists of (i) 6,873,496 shares to be sold by tdehi Capital Partners Il L.P.; and (ii) 125,284uss to be sold by Meritech Capital AffiliatesLLP.
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(38)

(39)
(40)

(41)

(42)

Consists of 32,784,626 shares of Class B commazk $teld of record by Booth & Co. (FBO Microsoft @oration). Microsoft Corporation is a publicheld entity listed on tt
NASDAQ Stock Market LLC. The address for MicrosisflOne Microsoft Way, Redmond, Washington 98052Apmil 2012, we entered into an agreement with Msaft pursuant |
which we will be assigned Microsaét'rights to acquire certain patent assets of AQL, las well as the entity holding a portion of #ssets, in exchange for approximately ¢
million in cash.

Consists of (i) 400,000 shares of Class B commocksheld of record by Reid Hoffman, Trustee of Beid Hoffman 2011 Annuity Trust Agreement dated®071; (ii) 3,913,92
shares of Class B common stock held of record bfklAtung LLC (Aufklarung); and (i) 400,000 share§ Class B common stock held of record by Mich&lke, Trustee of tt
Michelle Yee 2011 Annuity Trust Agreement dated/B0Z21. Mr. Hoffman is the manager of Aufklarung dmalds sole voting and investment power over tharesh held b
Aufklarung. Does not reflect the sale by Aufklaruwfg00,000 shares of Class B common stock in mitransfers subsequent to March 31, 2!

Consists of (i) 80,000 shares to be sold by Reiffrhkn, Trustee of the Reid Hoffman 2011 Annuity Jirhgreement dated 6/7/2011; (ii) 782,784 shardsetsold by Aufklaruni
and (i) 80,000 shares to be sold by Michelle YEwistee of the Michelle Yee 2011 Annuity Trust Agment dated 6/7/201

Consists of (i) 68,153,657 shares of Class B comstook held of record by Sean Parker; (ii) 300,6B@res of Class B common stock held of record an3®& Parker, Trustee
The Sean N. Parker 2011 Annuity Trust No. 1 u/d&2/2011; (iii) 450,000 shares of Class B commamtlstheld of record by Sean N. Parker, Trustee @& $han N. Parker 20
Annuity Trust No. 2 u/a/d 2/22/2011; and (iv) 75@00shares of Class B common stock held of recor@dmsn N. Parker, Trustee of The Sean N. Parker 2@bdity Trust No.

u/ald 2/22/2011. Prior to our initial public offeg, 69,653,657 shares of Class B common stockaackafter our initial public offering, 69,653,657ases of Class B common sti
will be, subject to a voting agreement in favoMit Zuckerberg referred to in footnote (5) aboveeb not reflect the sale by Mr. Parker of 3,655 §ltéres of Class B common st
in private transfers subsequent to March 31, 2

Consists of (i) 4,207,500 shares of Class A comstook and 43,108,746 shares of Class B common sildkof record by Tiger Global FB Holdings, LLGyda(ii) 6,521,740 shar
of Class B common stock held by Tiger Global FBditags Il LLC. Each of Tiger Global FB Holdings, LL&hd Tiger Global FB Holdings Il LLC is ultimate¢pntrolled by Charle
P. Coleman Ill. The business address of Tiger GlBBaHoldings, LLC and Tiger Global FB HoldingsLLC is c/o Tiger Global Management, LLC, 101 ParkeAiue, 48th Floc
New York, New York. Prior to our initial public dadfing, 4,207,500 shares of Class A common stockd@nti08,746 shares of Class B common stock areaftedour initial publi
offering, 1,958,448 shares of Class A common stk 26,297,804 shares of Class B common stockbeiBubject to a voting agreement in favor of Mrclzarberg referred to
footnote (5) above

Consists of 19,059,994 shares to be sold by Tideb&b FB Holdings, LLC

Consists of 36,335,590 shares of Class B commazk steld of record by Valiant Capital Opportunitie€s,C. The manager of Valiant Capital OpportunitiekC is Valiant Capite
Management, L.P. The general partner of ValiantitdaManagement, L.P. is Valiant Capital ManagemémiC. The controlling owner of Valiant Capital Magement, LLC i
Christopher R. Hansen. Prior to our initial pulditering, 6,358,717 shares of Class B common stvek and after our initial public offering, 6,35877shares of Class B comn
stock will be, subject to a voting agreement inofaof Mr. Zuckerberg referred to in footnote (5pab.

Consists of 352,522 shares of Class B common steltkof record by one selling stockholder not listdove who owned less than 1% of our shares afs@laand Class B comm
stock prior to our initial public offering

Consists of 76,635 shares to be sold by“other selling stockholde” described abovt
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The following table sets forth certain informatiaiith respect to the beneficial ownership of our coonm stock as of March 31, 2012
adjusted to reflect the sale of Class A commonkshycus and the selling stockholders in our inifiablic offering assuming exercise in full
the underwriters’ option to purchase additionakeka

Beneficial ownership is determined on the samesbasidescribed in the introductory paragraphsdiod, the footnotes to, the previ
table.

Number of Shares Beneficially o
Sheﬁggligg?el Sol Owned After_this Offe_ring' if the A)\%t‘il;‘c;tal
Underwntprs’ thlon is Power After
if the Exercised in Full
Underwriters’ Class A Class B Our Initial
Option is Public
Name of Beneficial Owner Exercised in Full Shares % Shares % Offering ()
Named Executive Officers and Directors
Mark Zuckerberg — — — 503,601,85 33.1 31.7
Shares subject to voting pro 31,217,18 4,765,44! * 403,825,39 27.€ 26.4
Total 31,217,18 4,765,44! * 907,427,224 59.7 57.1
Sheryl K. Sandber — — — 1,899,98i *
David A. Ebersmal — — — 2,399,99 *
Mike Schroepfe — — — 2,291,84 * *
Theodore W. Ullyo — — — 2,025,24. * *
Marc L. Andreesse — — — 6,607,13; * *
Erskine B. Bowle: — — — — — —
James W. Breye 8,659,032 127,063,31 18.7 7,929,009 * 1.3
Donald E. Grahar — — — — — —
Reed Hasting — — — — — —
Peter A. Thie 5,461,790 13,120,10 1.¢ 9,297,88. * *
All executive officers and directo
as a group (12 persor 44,962,69 144,948,87 24L& 931,837,45 58.7 59.5
Other 5% Stockholders:
Entities affiliated with Accel Partne 8,659,032 127,063,31 18.7 7,929,009; * 1.3
Entities affiliated with DST Global Limite 6,849,384 4,615,44! * 74,152,47 5.1 4.9
Dustin Moskovitz 7,500,000 — — 126,198,64 8.6 8.3
Entities affiliated with Goldman Sac 3,648,736 37,973,62 5.€ — — *
T. Rowe Price Associates, Ir — 6,033,63! @ 12,158,74 * *
Other Selling Stockholders:
Entities affiliated with Elevation Partne 693,3747 — — 34,793,77 24 2.3
Entities affiliated with Greylock Partne 1,141,104®) — — 27,907,91 1.9 1.8
Mail.ru Group Limited 2,940,10! — — 33,811,20 2.3 2.2
Mark Pincus 151,391 — — 4,153,24. * *
Entities affiliated with Meritech Capital Partne 1,049,81110 — — 32,306,62 2.2 2.1
Microsoft Corporatior 983,53¢ — — 25,244,16 1.7 1.7
Entities Affiliated with Reid Hoffmaut 141,414 — — 3,629,71 * *
Sean Parke 10,000,002 — — 59,653,65 4.1 3.9
Entities affiliated with the Tiger Global
Managemen 2,858,99(13) — — 31,918,99 2.2 2.1
Valiant Capital Opportunities, LL! 8,000,00! — — 28,335,59 1.9 1.9
All other selling stockholder 11,49¢14 — — 264,39: * *
* Less than 1%

1) Any additional shares of Class B common stock bglthe selling stockholders upon exercise of theemnriters’ overallotment option will be automatically convertedarshares ¢
Class A common stock. In addition, any such shaoethe extent subject to a voting agreement iof@f Mr. Zuckerberg, will no longer be subjectth@ voting agreemer
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(12)
(13)
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Consists of (i) 506,332 shares to be sold by they&r2005 Trust; (ii) 6,482,448 shares to be sgld\&cel 1X; (iii) 690,635 shares to be sold by Ac&P; (iv) 604,302 shares to
sold by Accel 2005; (v) 363,385 shares to be sglddcel Growth; (vi) 7,094 shares to be sold by éldGrowth SP; and (vii) 4,842 shares to be sold\bgel Growth 2009
Consists of (i) 2,144,066 shares to be sold by iied; (ii) 382,582 shares to be sold by FF; @if)0,480 shares to be sold by FF II; (iv) 18,320ah0 be sold by FFPF; (v) 11,
shares to be sold by FFEF; and (vi) 2,535,145 sharbe sold by Lemba

Consists of (i) 898,098 shares to be sold by DS@béall Limited; (ii) 312,794 shares to be sold by DSIbbal I, L.P.; (iii) 88,551 shares to be sold BT Global IlI, L.P.
(iv) 1,473,185 shares to be sold by DST USA Limitaaid (v) 4,076,760 shares to be sold by DST USAntited.

Consists of 7,500,000 shares to be sold by DustieKdvitz, Trustee of the Dustin A. Moskovitz Trdstted December 27, 20(

Consists of (i) 786,478 shares to be sold by Thiel@an Sachs Group, Inc.; (ii) 143,779 shares tedde by Goldman Sachs Investment Partners Masted,RuP.; (iii) 55,914 shar
to be sold by Goldman Sachs Investment PartnevaterDpportunities Holdings; L.P.; and (iv) 2,668250 be sold by FBDC Investors Offshore Holdirg®.

Consists of (i) 693,166 shares to be sold by Elemd®artners; and (ii) 208 shares to be sold by Eishd.

Consists of (i) 975,644 shares to be sold by GakyXll Limited Partnership; (ii) 108,405 sharesh® sold by Greylock XIA Limited Partnership; and (iii) 57,055 shares &gl
by Greylock XII Principals LLC

Consists of (i) 107,886 shares to be sold by Mic&s, in his individual capacity; and (ii) 43,50%ees to be sold by Ogde

Consists of (i) 1,031,025 shares to be sold by tdehi Capital Partners Il L.P.; and (ii) 18,793 rgsto be sold by Meritech Capital Affiliates IR

Consists of (i) 12,000 shares to be sold by Reiffrikn, Trustee of the Reid Hoffman 2011 Annuity Jirdgreement dated 6/7/2011, (ii) 117,418 shardsetsold by Aufklarun
LLC; and (iii) 12,000 shares to be sold by Micheflee, Trustee of the Michelle Yee 2011 Annuity Eragreement dated 6/7/201

Consists of 10,000,000 shares to be sold by Mke?ain his individual capacit

Consists of 2,858,999 shares to be sold by Tigeb&IFB Holdings, LLC

Consists of 11,496 shares to be sold by"other selling stockholde” described abovt
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DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

Upon the completion of our initial public offeringur authorized capital stock will consist of 5,080,000 shares of Class A comr
stock, $0.000006 par value per share, 4,141,00G08fes of Class B common stock, $0.000006 paevadu share, and 100,000,000 shar
undesignated preferred stock, $0.000006 par vadmesipare. A description of the material terms araVigions of our restated certificate
incorporation and restated bylaws that will be fiie@ at the closing our initial public offering @maffecting the rights of holders of our cay
stock is set forth below. The description is intethchs a summary, and is qualified in its entirgtyréference to the form of our reste
certificate of incorporation and the form of oustaged bylaws to be adopted in connection withinitial public offering that have been fil
with the registration statement relating to thisgpectus.

As of March 31, 2012, and after giving effect te #utomatic conversion of all of our outstandingf@med stock into Class B comn
stock in connection with our initial public offegnthere were outstanding:

. 117,549,393 shares of our Class A common stockthebpproximately 115 stockholders;
. 1,780,535,644 shares of our Class B common stockidyeapproximately 1,305 stockholde
. 236,756,442 shares issuable upon exercise of adisastock options; and

. 378,429,048 shares subject to outstanding restratteck units (RSUs

Common Stock

Dividend Rights

Subject to preferences that may apply to shargsedérred stock outstanding at the time, the hel@déoutstanding shares of our comi
stock are entitled to receive dividends out of ifehally available if our board of directors, ia discretion, determines to issue dividends
only then at the times and in the amounts thaboard of directors may determine. See “Dividenddybifor more information.

Voting Rights

The holders of our Class B common stock are edtitieten votes per share, and holders of our Glassmmon stock are entitled to ¢
vote per share. The holders of our Class A comnmacksand Class B common stock vote together asglesclass, unless otherwise requ
by law. Delaware law could require either holdersur Class A common stock or our Class B commonlsto vote separately as a single ¢
in the following circumstances:

. if we were to seek to amend our certificate of hpooation to increase the authorized number ofeshaf a class of stock, or
increase or decrease the par value of a clasook,sthen that class would be required to vote rsgply to approve the propos
amendment; an

. if we were to seek to amend our certificate of mpowation in a manner that alters or changes theepn preferences or spe:
rights of a class of stock in a manner that affédte holders adversely, then that class would dzpiired to vote separately
approve the proposed amendmi

Stockholders do not have the ability to cumulateesdor the election of directors. Our restatedifoeste of incorporation and resta
bylaws that will be in effect at the closing of dnitial public offering will provide for a classéd board of directors consisting of three cla
of approximately equal size, each serving staggtrezkyear terms, when the outstanding shares of ours@asommon stock represent |
than a majority of the combined voting power of sammon stock. Our directors will be assigned ke ttien current board of directors
class when the outstanding shares of our ClassnBnum stock represent less than a majority of thmbioed voting power of our comm
stock.
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No Preemptive or Similar Rights
Our common stock is not entitled to preemptive tsggmd is not subject to conversion, redemptiosirdeing fund provisions

Right to Receive Liquidation Distributions

Upon our dissolution, liquidation or windi-up, the assets legally available for distributionour stockholders are distributable rati
among the holders of our common stock, subjectrior satisfaction of all outstanding debt and ligigis and the preferential rights &
payment of liquidation preferences, if any, on anystanding shares of preferred stock.

Conversion

The outstanding shares of Class B common stockareertible at any time as follows: (1) at the optdf the holder, a share of Clas
common stock may be converted at any time intostrage of Class A common stock or (2) upon the ieledf the holders of a majority of t
then outstanding shares of Class B common stotloutdtanding shares of Class B common stock magdowerted into shares of Clas
common stock. In addition, each share of Classmneon stock will convert automatically into one shaf Class A common stock upon .
transfer, whether or not for value, except for @iertransfers described in our restated certificdtcorporation, including transfers to fan
members, trusts solely for the benefit of the dhotter or their family members, and partnershipspaorations, and other entities exclusi
owned by the stockholder or their family members] aertain transfers to organizations that are @térom taxation under Section 501(c’
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amendede @onverted or transferred and converted inte<CAacommon stock, the Clas:
common stock will not be reissued.

Preferred Stock

Upon the closing of our initial public offering, rehares of preferred stock will be outstanding, Watwill be authorized, subject
limitations prescribed by Delaware law, to issuef@mred stock in one or more series, to estabtisim fime to time the number of shares t
included in each series and to fix the designatimwers, preferences and rights of the shares di saries and any of its qualificatic
limitations or restrictions. Our board of direct@lso can increase or decrease the number of sbbegy series, but not below the numbe
shares of that series then outstanding, withoutfartfier vote or action by our stockholders. Ouatabof directors may authorize the issu:
of preferred stock with voting or conversion riglisit could adversely affect the voting power dreotrights of the holders of the comn
stock. The issuance of preferred stock, while mhioyg flexibility in connection with possible acqitisns and other corporate purposes, ct
among other things, have the effect of delayin@emlmg or preventing a change in control of oumpany and may adversely affect the me
price of our Class A common stock and the votind ather rights of the holders of our common statle have no current plan to issue
shares of preferred stock.

Options

As of March 31, 2012, we had options to purchasg 755,442 shares of our Class B common stock awitg pursuant to our 20
Stock Plan and the Officers’ Plan.

RSUs
As of March 31, 2012, we had 378,429,048 shar&ads B common stock subject to RSUs outstandimgupint to our 2005 Stock Ple
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Voting Agreements

Our CEO has entered into voting agreements withaiteof our stockholders, which voting agreemenii$ rigmain in effect after tt
completion of this offering. These voting agreemsearver approximately 7,125,242 shares of Classmneon stock and 432,691,218 share
Class B common stock, which will represent appratity 27.6% of the outstanding voting power of oapital stock after our initial pub
offering.

Under one type of voting agreement (which is fitedan exhibit to the registration statement of Whids prospectus is a part asTa/pe
1" Holder Voting Agreement), stockholders agreed te\al of their shares as directed by, and graatenirevocable proxy to, Mr. Zuckerbs
at his discretion on all matters to be voted uppstockholders. The following individuals and eiesthold shares of our capital stock tha
subject to this type of voting agreement. ARPI 2CL. Matt Cohler and certain affiliated entities;egory Druckman; Michael Druckme
Richard Druckman; Steven Druckman; The FounderglFuR; Glynn Partners; Hommels Holding GmbH; AdarasWovitz; Dustin Moskovit
and certain affiliated entities; Nancy and Rich&dskovitz and certain affiliated entities; Seankearand certain affiliated entities; Cari
Robert Scudder; certain entities affiliated wittcfieology Crossover Ventures; Valiant Capital Oppoittes, LLC; and VHPI 2, LLC.

Under a second type of voting agreement (whiclilasl fas an exhibit to the registration statementvbich this prospectus is a part ¢
“Type 2” Holder Voting Agreement), Mr. Zuckerbergdthe authority (and irrevocable proxy) to votesthinvestorsshares at his discreti
on all matters to be voted upon by stockholdersepifor issuances of capital stock by us in excé0% of our then outstanding stock
matters which would disproportionately, materiadlyd adversely affect such stockholder. This typeadihg agreement also provides that
investor shall not: (1) acquire any ownership of afhour assets or business, (2) make any soligitadf proxies with respect to the voting
any of our securities, (3) form any “groupithin the meaning of Section 13(d) of the ExchaAgég (4) nominate any person as director wt
not nominated by the then incumbent directors, psepany matter to be voted upon by our stockholoensitiate or vote in favor of or call f
a special meeting of the stockholders, or (5) mljplnnounce an intention to do any of the abowdowing the completion of our initial pub
offering, a transferee of the shares currently extbfo this type of voting agreement shall no lonige subject to the terms of the vor
agreement if we have a twabass capital stock structure and a party to theeeagent is transferring Class B common stock thpor
completion of the transfer, becomes Class A comastook or is transferring Class A common stock. OE@dbal Limited and certain affiliats
entities and Mail.ru Group Limited hold shares of oapital stock that are subject to this typeatfng agreement.

The third type of voting agreement (which is fileslan exhibit to the registration statement of Whids prospectus is a part as a “Type 3"
Holder Voting Agreement) contains the same subistamrovisions as the second type of agreement.sbore of the parties to this type
voting agreement, the provisions of the agreememiat apply to shares held by the investors pdaheir secondary purchases. The follov
entities hold shares of our capital stock thatsafgject to this type of voting agreement: certaitities affiliated with Accel Partners and Jal
W. Breyer, a member of our board of directors; aiarentities affiliated with Elevation Partners;laenon Group Limited; certain entiti
affiliated with Greylock Partners; Li Ka Shing (Gata) Foundation; certain entities affiliated wittefitech Capital Partners; certain enti
affiliated with Anand Rajaraman; Tiger Global FBIHiogs, LLC; and certain entities affiliated witteWkatesh Harinarayan.

Under a fourth type of voting agreement (whichilisdf as an exhibit to the registration statemenivbich this prospectus is a part ¢
“Type 4” Holder Voting Agreement), Mr. Zuckerbergsthe authority (and irrevocable proxy) to votesthinvestorsshares at his discreti
on all matters to be voted upon by stockholdersepifor issuances of capital stock by us in excé0% of our then outstanding stock
matters which would disproportionately, materiadlyd adversely affect such stockholder. This typgating agreement does not contain
restrictive provisions contained in the second tirdl types of voting agreements with respect tguaing ownership of our assets or busin
making a solicitation of proxies with respect taing of any of our securities, forming a “groupithin the meaning of Section 13(d) of
Exchange Act, or nominating any person as a direghm is not nominated by the then incumbent descor proposing
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any matters to be voted upon by our stockholdersitiating or voting in favor of or calling for apecial meeting of the stockholders.
following individuals and entities hold shares afr @apital stock that are subject to this type afing agreement: Galium Special Situati
LLC, Glynn Partners, L.P., entities affiliated withvesco, Li Ka Shing (Canada) Foundation, Monted&ientures VI, LLC, Profectus (
Opportunity Fund LLC, Silicon Valley Community Fadation, William Shea, Social Media Partners Il Llabd Valiant Capital Opportunitit
LLC.

Until Mr. Zuckerbergs death, 232,550,991 shares of our Class B comrmok svill remain subject to the provisions of a ing
agreement regardless of any sale, transfer, assignipledge, or other disposition of the sharesviged, that 8,473,633 of these shares wi
longer be subject to the provisions of a votingeagnent if an investor sells, transfers, assigrexjgas, or otherwise disposes of or encun
the shares after the date that is six months fafigvour initial public offering. Except for the 2%50,991 shares described in the prece
sentence, any shares subject to a voting agreewino longer be subject to the provisions of thating agreement if an investor se
transfers, assigns, pledges, or otherwise dispafsesencumbers the shares subject to the votingemgents after the completion of our in
public offering. In addition, voting agreements eang 7,125,242 shares of our Class A common sanck200,205,227 shares of our Cla
common stock will terminate if Mr. Zuckerberg is fanger a director, no longer devoting substantiall of his business efforts to ¢
company, and he holds less than 210,758,960 shhoes capital stock.

We do not believe that the parties to these votiggeements constitute a “groupihder Section 13 of the Exchange Act
Mr. Zuckerberg exercises voting control over tharek held by these stockholders.

Registration Rights

After our initial public offering, holders of up tapproximately 466,959,842 shares of our commockstaitstanding will be entitled
certain rights with respect to registration of swttares under the Securities Act. These sharesefgged to as registrable securities.
holders of these registrable securities possesstratipn rights pursuant to the terms of our SiAtimended and Restated InvestoRights
Agreement dated as of December 27, 2010 (IRA) awvddascribed in additional detail below. We, alamith entities affiliated with Mi
Andreessen, Mr. Thiel, Mr. Breyer and Accel Parshemd DST Global Limited, as well as certain otperties, are parties to the IRA."'
originally entered into the IRA in connection withur Series A financing in 2005 and it was amendeédch of our future preferred st
financing rounds. The IRA was most recently ameriddday 2012.

Demand Registration Rights

Under our IRA, upon the written request of the leoddof a majority of the registrable securitiestbeatstanding that we file a registrai
statement under the Securities Act with an antteipaaggregate price to the public of at least $1lom we will be obligated to use ¢
commercially reasonable efforts to register the sélall registrable securities that holders maguest in writing to be registered within 20 d
of the mailing of a notice by us to all holderssath registration. The demand registration righay mot be exercised until six months after
initial public offering. We are required to effeed more than three registration statements whiehdaclared or ordered effective. We 1
postpone the filing of a registration statement dprto 120 days once in a ©#snth period if in the good faith judgment of owalbd o
directors such registration would be detrimentalisp and we are not required to effect the filiiqaaegistration statement during the pe
beginning 60 days prior to our good faith estimat¢he date of the filing of, and ending on a d@fedays following the effective date o
registration initiated by us (unless such offerisgour initial public offering, in which case suemding date is 180 days following s!
registration).

Piggyback Registration Rights

If we register any of our securities for publicesalve will have to use all commercially reasonadfi®rts to register all registrat
securities that the holders of such securities esgin writing be registered within 20 days of rimgjl of notice by us to all holders of -
proposed registration. However, this right doesapply to a
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registration relating to any of our stock plang tfifer and sale of debt securities, a corporaiggemization or other transaction under Rule
of the Securities Act, or a registration on anyisggtion form that does not include substantitiig same information as would be require
be included in a registration statement coverirggsile of the registrable securities. The managivterwriter of any underwritten offering v
have the right to limit, due to marketing reasahg, number of shares registered by these holded®%b of the total shares covered by
registration statement, unless such offering is iaitial public offering, in which case, these hetd may be excluded if the underwri
determine that the sale of their shares may jedmmtte success of the offering.

Form S-3 Registration Rights

The holders of at least 30% of the registrable iséesi can request that we register all or a partd their shares on Form BH we are
eligible to file a registration statement on Fora3 @&nd the aggregate price to the public of theeshaffered is at least $2 million. We
required to file no more than two registration eta¢nts on Form S-3 upon exercise of these rightd pmonth period. We may postpone
filing of a registration statement for up to 120yslance in a 12nonth period if in the good faith judgment of owabd of directors su
registration would be detrimental to us.

Registration Expenses

We will pay all expenses incurred in connectionhwétach of the registrations described above, exoepinderwriting discounts a
commissions. However, we will not pay for any exgenof any demand or Form33egistration if the request is subsequently wilac at th
request of a majority of the holders of the regiske securities to be registered, subject to lidhéeceptions.

Expiration of Registration Rights

The registration rights described above will suevour initial public offering and will terminate &sany stockholder at such time as a
such stockholderssecurities (together with any affiliate of the dtieclder with whom such stockholder must aggregatsales) could be st
without compliance with the registration requiretseof the Securities Act pursuant to Rule 144 dofeing a deemed liquidation event un
our current restated certificate of incorporatibuat in any event no later than the five-year anmsigey of our initial public offering.

Anti-Takeover Provisions

So long as the outstanding shares of our ClassyBrzm stock represent a majority of the combineéhggbower of common stock, Me
Zuckerberg will effectively control all matters sulited to our stockholders for a vote, as welltss averall management and direction of
company, which will have the effect of delayingfeteng or discouraging another person from acqugigontrol of our company.

After such time as the shares of our Class B comstock no longer represent a majority of the cormthimoting power of our comm
stock, the provisions of Delaware law, our restatedificate of incorporation and our restated ydanay have the effect of delaying, defer
or discouraging another person from acquiring ardf our company.

Delaware Law

Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation peavents some Delaware corporations from engaginder some circumstances
a business combination, which includes a mergesate of at least 10% of the corporat®m@ssets with any interested stockholder, mear
stockholder who, together with affiliates
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and associates, owns or, within three years poidhé determination of interested stockholder stadid own 15% or more of the corporatien’
outstanding voting stock, unless:

. the transaction is approved by the board of dirsciarior to the time that the interested stockholdecame an interest
stockholder

. upon consummation of the transaction which resuitedhe stockhold¢s becoming an interested stockholder, the inted
stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stafcthe corporation outstanding at the time thegdaation commenced, exclud
stock owned by directors who are also officershefcorporation; o

. subsequent to such time that the stockholder beeemirterested stockholder the business combin&iapproved by the board
directors and authorized at an annual or speciatinge of stockholders by at least twhirds of the outstanding voting stock wk
is not owned by the interested stockholt

A Delaware corporation may “opt outif these provisions with an express provision gdtiginal certificate of incorporation or
express provision in its certificate of incorpooatior bylaws resulting from a stockholdesshendment approved by at least a majority ©
outstanding voting shares. We have opted out afetipeovisions.

Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaw Rrigions

Our restated certificate of incorporation and astated bylaws will include a number of provisitinat may have the effect of deten
hostile takeovers or delaying or preventing changeontrol of our company, even after such timehesshares of our Class B common s
no longer represent a majority of the combinedngppower of our common stock, including the followgi

. Separate Class B Vote for Certain Transactiddstil the first date on which the outstanding skané our Class B common stc
represent less than 35% of the combined voting pa@fveur common stock, any transaction that woelslit in a change in cont
of our company will require the approval of a méjoof our outstanding Class B common stock votagga separate class. 1
provision could delay or prevent the approval @hange in control that might otherwise be apprdwe@ majority of outstandit
shares of our Class A and Class B common stockgadtigether on a combined bat

. Dual Class Stoc. As described above “—Common Stoc—Voting Rights” our restated certificate of incorporation providiess
dual class common stock structure, which provideskVZuckerberg, our founder, Chairman, and CEOh Wit ability to contrc
the outcome of matters requiring stockholder apalogven if he owns significantly less than a magjoof the shares of o
outstanding Class A and Class B common stock, dtieguthe election of directors and significant agie transactions, such ¢
merger or other sale of our company or its as

. Supermajority Approval. Our restated certificate of incorporation andatsd bylaws do not provide that certain amendmta
our restated certificate of incorporation or restabylaws by stockholders will require the approsftwo-thirds of the combine
vote of our thersutstanding shares of Class A and Class B comnuwk.sHowever, when the outstanding shares of oas<E
common stock represent less than a majority ottimebined voting power of our common stock, certairendments to our resta
certificate of incorporation or restated bylaws dtgckholders will require the approval of tidrds of the combined vote of ¢
then-outstanding shares of Class A and Class B comnauk.sThis will have the effect of making it mordfitiult to amend ot
certificate of incorporation or restated bylawsemove or modify certain provisior

. Board of Directors VacancieOur restated certificate of incorporation and restdylaws provide that stockholders may fill va
directorships. When the outstanding shares of das<CB common stock represent less than a majofithe combined votir
power of our common stock, our restated certificdtancorporation and restated bylaws authorizey anir board of directors to 1
vacant
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directorships. In addition, the number of directoesistituting our board of directors is set onlyrbgolution adopted by a majol
vote of our entire board of directors. These piiovis restricting the filling of vacancies will prent a stockholder from increas
the size of our board of directors and gaining @nof our board of directors by filling the resalj vacancies with its ov
nominees

. Classified BoardOur board of directors will not initially be clafied. Our restated certificate of incorporation aedtated bylawv
provide that when the outstanding shares of oussCBacommon stock represent less than a majoritiieo€ombined voting pow
of our common stock, our board of directors will ddassified into three classes of directors eacltth will hold office for
threeyear term. In addition, thereafter, directors mayyobe removed from the board of directors for eaasd only by tt
affirmative vote of the holders of at least a migjoof the voting power of the then outstandingrsiseof our Class A and Clas:
common stock. The existence of a classified boarddcdelay a successful tender offeror from obtajninajority control of ot
board of directors, and the prospect of that delgght deter a potential offerc

. Stockholder Action; Special Meeting of Stockhold@rs restated certificate of incorporation providlest stockholders will be at
to take action by written consent. When the outlitegy shares of our Class B common stock repressstthan a majority of t
combined voting power of our common stock, our lsthadders will no longer be able to take action hytten consent, and will on
be able to take action at annual or special megtfigur stockholders. Stockholders will not benpigted to cumulate their votes
the election of directors. Our restated bylawshiertprovide that special meetings of our stockhmsldeay be called only by
majority of our board of directors, the chairmaroaf board of directors, our chief executive offioe our presiden

. Advance Notice Requirements for Stockholder Prdpomad Director NominationsOur restated bylaws provide advance ne
procedures for stockholders seeking to bring bgsineefore our annual meeting of stockholders, ondminate candidates -
election as directors at any meeting of stockhaeld@ur restated bylaws also specify certain requérgs regarding the form &
content of a stockholdes’notice. These provisions may preclude our stddens from bringing matters before our annual nme
of stockholders or from making nominations for diges at our meetings of stockholde

. Issuance of Undesignated Preferred StcOur board of directors has the authority, withauwther action by the stockholders
issue up to 100,000,000 shares of undesignatedrpedfstock with rights and preferences, includiating rights, designated frc
time to time by the board of directors. The existenf authorized but unissued shares of preferteck £nables our board
directors to render more difficult or to discourageattempt to obtain control of us by means ofeager, tender offer, proxy cont
or otherwise

Choice of Forum

Our restated certificate of incorporation will pide that the Court of Chancery of the State of dele will be the exclusive forum 1
any derivative action or proceeding brought ontmelralf, any action asserting a breach of fiductarty; any action asserting a claim again:
arising pursuant to the Delaware General Corparatiaw, our restated certificate of incorporation aar restated bylaws; any actior
interpret, apply, enforce, or determine the validit our restated certificate of incorporation gtaws; or any action asserting a claim again
that is governed by the internal affairs doctriibe enforceability of similar choice of forum preiins in other companiesertificates ¢
incorporation has been challenged in legal procegdiand it is possible that a court could findséhgypes of provisions to be inapplicabl:
unenforceable.

Listing
Our Class A common stock has been approved fandistn the NASDAQ Global Select Market under thebgl “FB.”

Transfer Agent and Registrar
The transfer agent and registrar for our commocksi® Computershare Trust Company, N
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SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE

Before our initial public offering, there has natdm a public market for shares of our Class A comstock. Future sales of substat
amounts of shares of our common stock, includirgeshissued upon the settlement of restricted stoitk (RSUs) and exercise of outstan:
options, in the public market after our initial picloffering, or the possibility of these sales oing, could cause the prevailing market
for our common stock to fall or impair our abiltty raise equity capital in the future.

After our initial public offering, we will have ostanding633,492,418 shares of our Class A common stocklebo,592,619 shares
our Class B common stock, based on the numberaséstoutstanding as of March 31, 2012. This indud@1,233,615 shares that we anc
selling stockholders are selling in our initial fickoffering, which shares may be resold in the lmuimarket immediately following our initi
public offering, and assumes no additional exerofseutstanding options (other than the partialreise of an outstanding stock optior
purchase 120,000,000 shares of Class B common bkeldkby Mr. Zuckerberg, resulting in the issuan€&0,000,000 shares of our Clas
common stock as described elsewhere in this praspecShares of our Class B common stock are ctibleinto an equivalent number
shares of our Class A common stock and generaflyer into shares of our Class A common stock upemsfer.

The 1,716,851,422 shares of common stock that weteoffered and sold in our initial public offeriras well as shares underly
outstanding RSUs and shares subject to employek spiions will be upon issuance, “restricted seims,” as that term is defined in Rule :
under the Securities Act. These restricted seesritire eligible for public sale only if they argjistered under the Securities Act or if t
qualify for an exemption from registration unded&ui44 or Rule 701 under the Securities Act, wlaich summarized below.

As a result of the lockip agreements and market standoff provisions destidelow and subject to the provisions of Rulesddd 70
under the Securities Act, these restricted seesritiill be available for sale in the public mar&stfollows:

. on the date of this prospectus, none of theseictestrsecurities will be available for sale in fheblic market;
. 91 days after the date of this prospectus, 2718153shares held by the selling stockholders ottear Mr. Zuckerberc

. 151 to 180 days after the date of this prospeetoroximately 137 million shares underlying netiedtPre2011 RSUs held by o
directors and then current employees and approgign&s million outstanding shares and approximas&ymillion shares subject
stock options held by then current employees dtieem Mr. Zuckerberc

. 181 days after the date of this prospectus, 1,53445 outstanding shares and approximately 18omiBhares underlying ott
nel-settled Pr-2011 RSUs

. 211 days after the date of this prospectus, 1490082shares held by the selling stockholders dtier Mr. Zuckerberg; an

. 366 days after the date of this prospectus, 4786P5shares held by Mail.ru Group Limited and DSl Limited and the
respective affiliates

In addition, as of March 31, 2012, options to pass 49,390,599 shares of Class B common stock bhelidrmer employees we
outstanding and fully vested and the Class B comstook underlying such options will be eligible feale 181 days after the date of
prospectus. Furthermore, following our initial piebbffering, the remaining 60,000,000 shares suklijedche partially exercised stock opt
held by Mr. Zuckerberg will be eligible for sale Il&lays after the date of this prospectus. We expectadditional approximate
2 million shares of Class B common stock to beveedid upon the net settlement of RSUs between dtee af the initial settlement of RS
described above and December 31, 2012 will bebddidor sale in the public market immediately faliag settlement.
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Rule 144

In general, under Rule 144 as currently in effente we have been subject to public company rempréquirements for at least 90 di
a person who is not deemed to have been one diffilimtes for purposes of the Securities Act ay éime during the 90 days preceding a
and who has beneficially owned the shares proptusbd sold for at least six months, including tleédimg period of any prior owner other tt
our affiliates, is entitled to sell those shareshaiit complying with the manner of sale, volumeitation or notice provisions of Rule 1.
subject to compliance with the public informati@yuirements of Rule 144. If such a person has b@akkf owned the shares proposed t
sold for at least one year, including the holdiegied of any prior owner other than our affiliatésen that person is entitled to sell those st
without complying with any of the requirements afl& 144.

In general, under Rule 144, as currently in effeat, affiliates or persons selling shares on bebfatfur affiliates are entitled to sell ug
the expiration of the lock-up agreements descriteldw, within any threenonth period beginning 90 days after the date isf phospectus,
number of shares that does not exceed the grefater o

. 1% of the number of shares of common stock thestaading, which will equal approximately 21,380,&b@&res immediately af
our initial public offering, ol

. the average weekly trading volume of the commonkstiuring the four calendar weeks preceding thiedibf a notice on Form 1.
with respect to such sal

Sales under Rule 144 by our affiliates or persaibng shares on behalf of our affiliates are atsject to certain manner of <
provisions and notice requirements and to the abdily of current public information about us.

Rule 701

In general, under Rule 701 as currently in effan; of our employees, consultants or advisors wirolase shares from us in connec
with a compensatory stock or option plan or othett@n agreement in a transaction before the éffeatate of our initial public offering tk
was completed in reliance on Rule 701 and compilild the requirements of Rule 701 will, subjecthe lockup restrictions described belc
be eligible to resell such shares 90 days aftedéte of this prospectus in reliance on Rule 14 whithout compliance with certain restrictic
including the holding period, contained in Rule 144

Lock-Up Agreements and Market Standoff Provisions

Our officers, directors, employees, and substdptél of our stockholders have agreed with theamditers or us, not to dispose of
of our common stock or securities convertible iot@xchangeable for shares of our common stockgdecified periods of time after the dat
this prospectus, except with the prior written @ntsof Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC or us, as applieadUnder the terms of their loaks
agreements with the underwriters, the selling dtotders, other than Mr. Zuckerberg, are eligibles&dl up to 271,123,815 shares of
common stock in the aggregate on the date thet ta9s after the date of this prospectus, up tg4P11326 shares of our common stock ir
aggregate on the date that is 181 days after tteeadahis prospectus, and the remaining sharesiotommon stock held by them 211 c
after the date of this prospectus. Under the tesfribieir lockup agreement with the underwriters, our directors, executive officers, al
certain stockholders not selling shares in thigrirfiy are eligible to sell shares of our commorlstt81 days after the date of this prospe
subject to certain exceptions as described in “Wrdgng.” All other holders of our common stock, RSUs andaos have previously entel
into market standoff agreements with us not to sellotherwise transfer any of their common stocksecurities convertible into
exchangeable for shares of common stock for a gpehat extends through 180 days after the datbisfprospectus. We intend to waive
provision to allow our directors and then curremipéoyees to sell shares held by them or
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shares subject to RSUs or stock options on a tateis between 151 and 180 days after the datieiptospectus. In addition, Mail.ru Grc
Limited and DST Global Limited and their respectaféliates have entered into an agreement wittousot sell their shares for certain peri
of time ranging from 90 days to 365 days followihg date of this prospectus. See “Related Partpshetions—Conversion Agreemerfis
additional information about this agreement.

In addition, we have agreed with our underwritesstn sell any shares of our common stock or séearconvertible into or exchangee
for shares of our common stock for a period of #189s after the date of this prospectus, subjecettain exceptions, including an excep
that would permit us to raise capital in an undétem offering to fund our tax withholding and rdtance obligations in connection with
initial settlement of RSUs granted prior to Januhr011. Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC may, with ouroprwritten consent, at any time, wa
these restrictions.

See “Underwriting” for a more complete descriptafrthe lockup agreements that we and our directors, execaffieers, and the sellir
stockholders have entered into with the undervgiter

Registration Rights

Upon the closing of our initial public offering, itain holders of shares of our Class A common s{audluding such shares of Clas
common stock issuable upon conversion of our asemmon stock) will be entitled to rights with pest to the registration of the sale
these shares under the Securities Act. Registrafitime sale of these shares under the Securitiesvuld result in these shares becoming
tradable without restriction under the Securitiest Anmediately upon the effectiveness of the regigin, except for shares purchasec
affiliates. See “Description of Capital Stock—Regition Rights” for additional information.

Registration Statement

We intend to file a registration statement on F&-8 under the Securities Act covering all of the skasf common stock subject to R¢
and options outstanding, as well as reserved fiurduissuance, under our stock plans. We expefifetthis registration statement as soo
practicable after our initial public offering. Hower, none of the shares registered on Forégw8H be eligible for resale until the expiratiaf
the lock-up agreements to which they are subject.
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MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL TAX CONSIDERATIONS
FOR NON-U.S. HOLDERS OF CLASS A COMMON STOCK

This section summarizes the material U.S. fedamabme and estate tax considerations relating toattwuisition, ownership a
disposition of our common stock by “non-U.S. hoflefdefined below) pursuant to this offering. This suanyndoes not provide a compl
analysis of all potential U.S. federal income taxsiderations relating thereto. The informationvted below is based upon provisions of
Code, Treasury regulations promulgated thereuratdministrative rulings, and judicial decisions emtty in effect. These authorities n
change at any time, possibly retroactively, or liternal Revenue Service (IRS), might interpret élxesting authorities differently. In eitf
case, the tax considerations of owning or disposfrmur common stock could differ from those desed below.

For purposes of this summary, a “non-U.S. holde@ny holder of our Class A common stock, othen th@artnership, that is not:
. an individual who is a citizen or resident of theildd States

. a corporation, or other entity taxable as a conpmmacreated or organized under the laws of théddnStates, any state thereir
the District of Columbia

. a trust if it (1) is subject to the primary supsign of a U.S. court and one of more U.S. persans tauthority to control ¢
substantial decisions of the trust or (2) has a\election in effect under applicable U.S. Treggegulations to be treated as a |
person; ol

. an estate whose income is subject to U.S. incomeetgardless of sourc

If you are an individual, you may, in many casesdeemed to be a resident alien, as opposed taragident alien, by virtue of bei
present in the United States for at least 31 dayld calendar year and for an aggregate of at 1&8sdays during a threear period ending
the current calendar year. For these purposetheatiays present in the current year, tned of the days present in the immediately préog
year, and or-sixth of the days present in the second preced#ag sre counted. Resident aliens are subject tofed8ral income tax as if th
were U.S. citizens. Such an individual is urgeddasult his or her own tax advisor regarding th8.Uederal income tax consequences a
ownership or disposition of our common stock. faatnership or other pasisrough entity is a beneficial owner of our comnsbock, the ta
treatment of a partner in the partnership or anesvari the entity will depend upon the status of plagtner or other owner and the activitie
the partnership or other entity. Any partner inaatipership or owner of a pagsough entity holding shares of our common stdabugd consu
its own tax advisor.

This discussion assumes that a ma- holder will hold our common stock as a capitsdet (generally, property held for investm:
The summary generally does not address tax comgides that may be relevant to particular invesb@sause of their specific circumstan
or because they are subject to special rules,dimady without limitation, if the investor is a foencitizen or longerm resident of the Unit:
States, “controlled foreign corporation,” “passifeeeign investment companygorporation that accumulates earnings to avoid fe@era
income tax, real estate investment trust, regulateestment company, dealer in securities or caiesn financial institution, tagxempt entity
insurance company, person holding our common siggart of a hedging, integrated, conversion osttontive sale transaction or a strac
trader in securities that elects to use a manéoket method of accounting, person liable foralternative minimum tax, person who acqu
our common stock as compensation for servicesadner in a partnership or beneficial owner of asgarough entity that holds our comn
stock. Finally, the summary does not describe ffexis of any applicable foreign, state or localdaor, except to the extent discussed be
the effects of any applicable gift or estate taxda

INVESTORS CONSIDERING THE PURCHASE OF OUR CLASS A COMMON STOCK SHOULD CONSULT THEIR OWN
TAX ADVISORS REGARDING THE APPLICATION OF THE U.S. FEDERAL INCOME AND ESTATE TAX LAWS TO THEIR
PARTICULAR SITUATIONS AND THE CONSEQUENCES OF FOREI GN, STATE OR LOCAL LAWS, AND TAX TREATIES.
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Dividends

We do not expect to declare or pay any dividendswrClass A common stock in the foreseeable fulfirge do pay dividends on sha
of our Class A common stock, however, such distidms will constitute dividends for U.S. federatame tax purposes to the extent paid 1
our current or accumulated earnings and profitgJetisrmined under U.S. federal income tax prinsipl@istributions in excess of our curr
and accumulated earnings and profits will congitat return of capital that is applied against aeduces, but not below zero, a non-
U.S. holders adjusted tax basis in shares of our common sthigk.remaining excess will be treated as gain redlion the sale or ott
disposition of our Class A common stock. See “—S#dl€lass A Common Stock.”

Any dividend paid to a nokkS. holder on our Class A common stock will getieilze subject to U.S. withholding tax at a 30%erath¢
withholding tax might not apply, however, or migipiply at a reduced rate, under the terms of ancgiyie income tax treaty between
United States and the non-U.S. holdezbuntry of residence. You should consult youraexisors regarding your entitlement to benefitde
a relevant income tax treaty. Generally, in oraerus or our paying agent to withhold tax at a Ioteaty rate, a nob~S. holder must certi
its entitlement to treaty benefits. A non-U.S. lldienerally can meet this certification requiretniay providing a Form WBBEN (or an
successor form) or appropriate substitute formst@uour paying agent. If the ndhS. holder holds the stock through a financiatiingon ol
other agent acting on the holder’s behalf, the éolill be required to provide appropriate docuraéinh to the agent. The holdsragent wil
then be required to provide certification to usooir paying agent, either directly or through oth@ermediaries. For payments made
partnership or other pasisrough entity, the certification requirements gailg apply to the partners or other owners ratti@an to th
partnership or other entity, and the partnershiptber entity must provide the partners’ or othemners’ documentation to us or our pay
agent. If you are eligible for a reduced rate db.Uederal withholding tax under an income taxtiregou may obtain a refund or credit of
excess amounts withheld by filing an appropriagncifor a refund with the IRS in a timely manner.

Dividends received by a non-U.S. holder that afectively connected with a U.S. trade or businesslacted by the nob~S. holder, ar
if required by an applicable income tax treaty kestw the United States and the non-U.S. haddeountry of residence, are attributable
permanent establishment maintained by the Wdh- holder in the United States, are not subjecsuch withholding tax. To obtain t
exemption, a non-U.S. holder must provide us withIRS Form W8ECI properly certifying such exemption. Such effegly connecte
dividends, although not subject to withholding tare taxed at the same graduated rates applicakleSt persons, net of certain deductions
credits. In addition to the graduated tax descridealve, dividends received by corporate hb8- holders that are effectively connected w
U.S. trade or business of the corporate bo&: holder may also be subject to a branch prtditsat a rate of 30% or such lower rate as mi
specified by an applicable tax treaty.

Sale of Class A Common Stock

Non-U.S. holders will generally not be subject to U&leral income tax on any gains realized on the, saichange or other disposit
of our Class A common stock unless:

. the gain (1) is effectively connected with the cacidby the nord.S. holder of a U.S. trade or business and (Bquired by a
applicable income tax treaty between the UnitedeStand the non-U.S. holdsrcountry of residence, is attributable to a pewrni
establishment (or, in certain cases involving iidiial holders, a fixed base) maintained by the bdd- holder in the United Sta
(in which case the special rules described belopWyag

. the nonW.S. holder is an individual who is present in thated States for 183 days or more in the taxabkr wf the sale, exchar
or other disposition of our common stock, and d¢erteher requirements are met (in which case thie wauld be subject to a fl
30% tax, or such reduced rate as may be specifie@hbapplicable income tax treaty, which may beetfby U.S. source capi
losses, even though the individual is not considlereesident of the United States)

159



Table of Contents

. the rules of the Foreign Investment in Real Prgp@ex Act (FIRPTA) treat the gain as effectivelynoected with a U.S. trade
business

The FIRPTA rules may apply to a sale, exchangelwralisposition of our common stock if we areyare within the shorter of the five-
year period preceding the disposition and the-U.S. holder’s holding period, a “U.S. real progehlding corporation,’or USRPHC. |
general, we would be a USRPHC if interests in We@l estate comprised at least half of our busiasssts. We do not believe that we ¢
USRPHC and we do not anticipate becoming one irithee. Even if we become a USRPHC, as long axonmmon stock is regularly trac
on an established securities market, such comnawk still be treated as U.S. real property interestly if beneficially owned by a non-
U.S. holder that actually or constructively ownedrenthan 5% of our outstanding common stock at stme within the fiveyear perio
preceding the disposition.

If any gain from the sale, exchange or other digjposof our Class A common stock, (1) is effectiveonnected with a U.S. trade
business conducted by a non-U.S. holder and (@qtired by an applicable income tax treaty betwisenUnited States and the nonS
holder’s country of residence, is attributable to a pemné&establishment (or, in certain cases involvimtjviiduals, a fixed base) maintainec
such nond.S. holder in the United States, then the gainegaly will be subject to U.S. federal income taxtlae same graduated re
applicable to U.S. persons, net of certain dedostend credits. If the ndd-S. holder is a corporation, under certain circiamees, that portic
of its earnings and profits that is effectively nented with its U.S. trade or business, subjecettain adjustments, generally would be sul
also to a “branch profits taxThe branch profits tax rate is generally 30%, altftoan applicable income tax treaty between theedrstate
and the non-U.S. holder’s country of residence mpgbvide for a lower rate.

U.S. Federal Estate Tax

The estates of nonresident alien individuals gdlyease subject to U.S. federal estate tax on priypeith a U.S. situs. Because we a
U.S. corporation, our Class A common stock willth&. situs property and therefore will be includethe taxable estate of a nonresident i
decedent, unless an applicable estate tax treatyeba the United States and the decedent’s coohtgsidence provides otherwise.

Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

The Code and the Treasury regulations require tivemake specified payments to report the paymerttse IRS. Among the specifi
payments are dividends and proceeds paid by brae@eheir customers. The required information nesuenable the IRS to determine whe
the recipient properly included the payments iroine. This reporting regime is reinforced by “backuithholding” rules. These rules requ
the payors to withhold tax from payments subjedhformation reporting if the recipient fails to @uerate with the reporting regime by fail
to provide his taxpayer identification number te fyayor, furnishing an incorrect identification rean, or failing to report interest or dividel
on his returns. The backup withholding tax rateusrently 28%. The backup withholding rules do apply to payments to corporatio
whether domestic or foreign.

Payments to nokt.S. holders of dividends on Class A common stashegally will not be subject to backup withholdirsg, long as tt
nonU.S. holder certifies its nonresident status (aredowour paying agent do not have actual knowledgeason to know the holder is a {
person or that the conditions of any other exemptioe not, in fact, satisfied) or otherwise essitds an exemption. The certifical
procedures to claim treaty benefits described inDividends” will satisfy the certification requirements necegséo avoid the backt
withholding tax as well. We must report annuallyth@ IRS any dividends paid to each ndrs. holder and the tax withheld, if any, v
respect to these dividends. Copies of these repaisbe made available to tax authorities in thenty where the non-U.S. holder resides.

Under the Treasury regulations, the payment ofgeds from the disposition of shares of our Clag®#ymon stock by a nod-S. holde
made to or through a U.S. office of a broker gelhevaill be subject to
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information reporting and backup withholding unléss beneficial owner certifies, under penaltiep@fiury, among other things, its status
nonU.S. holder (and the broker does not have actualladge or reason to know the holder is a U.S.qugrer otherwise establishes
exemption. The payment of proceeds from the dispposof shares of our Class A common stock by a-ddd. holder made to or throug
nonU.S. office of a broker generally will not be sutijéo backup withholding and information reportimxcept as noted below. Informat
reporting, but not backup withholding, will apply & payment of proceeds, even if that payment denoaitside of the United States, if you
our common stock through a non-U.S. office of &brdhat is:

. a U.S. person (including a foreign branch or offi€such person
. a “controlled foreign corporation” for U.S. fedemtome tax purposes;
. a foreign person 50% or more of whose gross incioome certain periods is effectively connected wath).S. trade or business;

. a foreign partnership if at any time during its §gear (a) one or more of its partners are U.S.qmersvho, in the aggregate, h
more than 50% of the income or capital interestshef partnership or (b) the foreign partnershigngaged in a U.S. trade
business

unless the broker has documentary evidence thabeheficial owner is a nob-S. holder and certain other conditions are satisfor th
beneficial owner otherwise establishes an exemgéiod the broker has no actual knowledge or reas&now to the contrary).

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any @mts withheld from a payment to a holder of Classommon stock under t
backup withholding rules can be credited againgt @rs. federal income tax liability of the holdemdamay entitle the holder to a refu
provided that the required information is furnishedhe IRS in a timely manner.

Recent legislation and administrative guidance gilyeimposes withholding at a rate of 30% on pagtedo certain foreign entities
dividends on and the gross proceeds of disposit@ntl.S. common stock, unless various U.S. inforamateporting and due diligen
requirements (generally relating to ownership bys.Upersons of interests in or accounts with thas#ties) have been satisfied. Th
withholding requirements are expected to be phasddr dividend payments made on or after JanuargQil4, and for payments of gr
proceeds of dispositions of U.S. common stock n@der after January 1, 2015. N@hS. holders should consult their tax advisors raiga
the possible implications of this legislation oeitinvestment in our common stock.

THE PRECEDING DISCUSSION OF U.S. FEDERAL TAX CONSIDERATIONS IS FOR GENERAL INFORMATION ONLY.
IT IS NOT TAX ADVICE. EACH PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR SHO ULD CONSULT ITS OWN TAX ADVISOR REGARDING THE
PARTICULAR U.S. FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL AND FOREIGN T AX CONSEQUENCES OF PURCHASING, HOLDING AND
DISPOSING OF OUR CLASS A COMMON STOCK, INCLUDING TH E CONSEQUENCES OF ANY PROPOSED CHANGE IN
APPLICABLE LAWS.
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UNDERWRITING

Under the terms and subject to the conditions doathin an underwriting agreement dated the datdisfprospectus, the underwrit
named below, for which Morgan Stanley & Co. LLCaisting as representative, have severally agrequuitchase, and we and the sel
stockholders have agreed to sell to them, sevetaklynumber of shares indicated below:

Number of
Name Shares
Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC 162,174,94
J.P. Morgan Securities LL 84,878,57
Goldman, Sachs & Ci 63,185,04
Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smit
Incorporate 27,380,18
Barclays Capital Inc 27,380,18
Allen & Company LLC 8,424,67.
Citigroup Global Markets Inc 9,477,75!
Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LL 9,477,75!
Deutsche Bank Securities Ir 9,477,75!
RBC Capital Markets, LL( 4,212,33I
Wells Fargo Securities, LL! 4,212,33I
Blaylock Robert Van LLC 673,97
BMO Capital Markets Corg 421,23¢
C.L. King & Associates, Inc 631,85(
Cabrera Capital Markets, LL 421,23¢
CastleOak Securities, L. 673,97
Cowen and Company, LL( 421,23:
E*TRADE Securities LLC 210,61
Ital BBA USA Securities, Inc 210,61
Lazard Capital Markets LL! 421,23:
Lebenthal & Co., LLC 673,97
Loop Capital Markets LL( 673,97
M.R. Beal & Compan 673,97
Macquarie Capital (USA) In 421,23:
Muriel Siebert & Co., Inc 673,97
Oppenheimer & Co. Inc 421,23:
Pacific Crest Securities LL 421,23:
Piper Jaffray & Co 421,23«
Raymond James & Associates, | 421,23¢
Samuel A. Ramirez & Company, Ir 631,85(
Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporat 421,23¢
The Williams Capital Group, L. 589,72
William Blair & Company, L.L.C. 421,23¢
Total: 421,233,61

The underwriters and the representative are collggt referred to as the “underwriters” and the phesentative,respectively. Th
underwriters are offering the shares of Class Armom stock subject to their acceptance of the shfaoes us and subject to prior sale. -
underwriting agreement provides that the obligatiohthe several underwriters to pay for and acdepivery of the shares of Class A comr
stock offered by this prospectus are subject toapproval of certain legal matters by their courmedl to certain other conditions. ~
underwriters are obligated to take and pay foofthe shares of Class A common stock offered bs/ghospectus if any such shares are t:
However, the underwriters are not required to takeay for the
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shares covered by the underwriters’ oalotment option described below. If an underwrdefaults, the underwriting agreement provides
the purchase commitments of the non-defaulting madiers may be increased.

The underwriters initially propose to offer parttbe shares of Class A common stock directly tophielic at the initial public offerir
price of $38.00 per share and part to certain dealea price that represents a concession notdess of $0.2508 a share under the p
offering price. After the initial offering of thehares of Class A common stock, the offering price ather selling terms may from time to ti
be varied by the representative.

We and the selling stockholders have granted tautiderwriters an option, exercisable for 30 dagsnfithe date of this prospectus
purchase up to 63,185,042 additional shares of aamstock at the initial public offering price of &B0 per share, less underwriting disco
and commissions. The underwriters may exerciseofttion solely for the purpose of covering oadlotments, if any, made in connection v
the offering of the shares of Class A common stoffkred by this prospectus. To the extent the opigexercised, each underwriter
become obligated, subject to certain conditionpuhase about the same percentage of the addisbares of Class A common stock as
number listed next to the underwritemame in the preceding table bears to the totalben of shares of Class A common stock listed ta
the names of all underwriters in the precedingetabl

The following table shows the per share and totddlip offering price, underwriting discounts andnuoissions, and proceeds be!
expenses to us and the selling stockholders. Tar@seints are shown assuming both no exercise ahelxiiicise of the underwritersption tc
purchase up to an additional shares offrcomstock.

Total
Per Share No Exercise Full Exercise

Public offering price $ 38.0( $16,006,877,37 $18,407,908,9€
Underwriting discounts and commissions to be paic

Us $ 0418 $ 75,240,00 $ 76,533,64

The selling stockholdel $0.41¢ $ 100,83565 $ 125,953,35
Proceeds, before expenses, t( $37.58. $ 6,764,760,00 $ 6,881,070,35
Proceeds, before expenses, to the selling stockis $37.58: $ 9,066,041,71 $11,324,351,61

The underwriters have agreed to reimburse us fdaiceexpenses in connection with our initial pabdiffering and to donate up
$200,000 to norffiliated charitable organizations that we destgnarhe estimated offering expenses payable byexslusive of th
underwriting discounts and commissions, are apprately $7 million, which includes legal, accountiragnd printing costs and various of
fees associated with the registration and listihgus Class A common stock.

The underwriters have informed us that they doimeind sales to discretionary accounts to exceedbe total number of shares
Class A common stock offered by them.

Our Class A common stock has been approved fandistn the NASDAQ Global Select Market under tlaging symbol “FB.”

We, all of our directors and executive officers¢gdne selling stockholders have agreed that, wittioel prior written consent of Morg
Stanley & Co. LLC on behalf of the underwriters, ared they will not, during specified periods of érafter the date of this prospectus:
. offer, pledge, sell, contract to sell, sell anyioptor contract to purchase, purchase any optiocoatract to sell, grant any opti
right or warrant to purchase lend or otherwisegfanor dispose o
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directly or indirectly, any shares of common stackother securities convertible into or exercisadnleexchangeable for comrmr
stock;

enter into any swap or other arrangement that feesigo another, in whole or in part, any of thermic consequences
ownership of the common stock;

make a demand for, or in our case file, a regisinastatement with the SEC relating to the offerifigany shares of common st
or any securities convertible into or exercisabilexchangeable for common sto

The restrictions described in the immediately pdéug paragraph do not apply to:

the sale of shares of common stock pursuant tartderwriting agreement;

transactions by a director, officer, or stockholdelating to shares of common stock or other sdearacquired in open marl
transactions after the completion of our initiabpa offering, provided that no filing under Secti@6(a) of the Exchange Act
required or voluntarily made in connection with seuent sales of common stock or other securitiggied in such open marl
transactions

transfers of shares of common stock or any seesard@dnvertible into or exercisable or exchangefaisleommon stock by a direct
officer, or stockholder (i) as a bona fide giftgfts, (ii) to an immediate family member or a trémr the direct or indirect benefit
the director, officer, stockholder or immediate fgrmember, or (iii) by will or intestacy

transfers or distributions of shares of commonlstmcany securities convertible into or exercisaidleexchangeable for comrr
stock by a (i) stockholder that is a corporatioartipership, or other business entity (A) to anotw@poration, partnership, or otl
business entity that controls, is controlled bynsanaged by or is under common control with the aiine officer, or othe
stockholder or (B) as part of a distribution toesquity holder of such stockholder or to the estdtany such equity holder, or (ii)
the case of a stockholder which is a trust, trasséé shares of common stock or any securities edible into or exercisable
exchangeable for common stock to a trustor or lieinef of the trust or to the estate of such begiafy;

the exercise of options granted under our equitgritive plans, in each case by a director, officestockholder, provided that
shares of common stock delivered upon such exemmisesubject to the restrictions described in thenédiately precedir
paragraph

transfer of shares of common stock to us (i) akefiures of common stock to satisfy tax withholdisugd remittance obligations
our stockholders in connection with the vestingrercise of equity awards by stockholders purst@our equity incentive plar
or (ii) pursuant to a net exercise or cashlessoiseby a stockholder of outstanding equity awguasuant to our equity incenti
plans;

the transfer of shares of common stock delivered stockholder directly from us upon the vesting agttlement or exercise
outstanding equity awards granted pursuant to quityeincentive plans if prior to such transfer have waived for our employe
the transfer restrictions contained in their awa

the sale of shares of common stock by us or owkbktaders in an underwritten public offering nolearthan 150 days after t
date of this prospectus where the proceeds to eisised to fund tax liabilities related to the setiént of restricted stock ur
(RSUs);

the establishment of a trading plan pursuant teeR@b51 under the Exchange Act for the transfer of shafesommon stocl
provided that such plan does not provide for tl@gfer of common stock during the restricted pednd that no public filing «
other public announcement of such plan by us oh dumlders regarding the establishment of such arequired to be
voluntarily made during the applicable restrictediqd;

the issuance by us of shares of common stock inemion with our acquisition of one or more busssss products or technolog
joint ventures, or other strategic corporate tratisas, providec
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the recipients of such shares agree to be bouldeogestrictions described in the immediately pdéwog paragraph; an

. the filing by us of a registration statement onrir@-8 in respect of any shares issued under or the gfamy award pursuant to
employee benefit plan in effect on the date of phisspectus

providedthat in the case of any transfer or distributiomspant to the third and fourth bullets above, #lsbe a condition of the transfer
distribution that each transferee, donee, or thisteie shall agree to the restrictions describeédérimmediately preceding paragraph prior 1
upon such transfer and no filing under Section 16{athe Exchange Act reporting a reduction in bieied ownership of shares of commr
stock shall be required or shall be made voluntatilring the applicable restricted period. Any veaiby Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC of t
above restrictions for our directors, executiveceifs, or stockholders requires our consent.

In order to facilitate our initial public offeringf the Class A common stock, the underwriters mayage in transactions that stabil
maintain or otherwise affect the price of the ClAssommon stock. Specifically, the underwriters nsal more shares than they are oblig
to purchase under the underwriting agreement, iogeatshort position. A short sale is covered & #hort position is no greater than the nur
of shares available for purchase by the undengriterder the oveallotment option. The underwriters can close ogbeered short sale
exercising the oveallotment option or purchasing shares in the oparket. In determining the source of shares to ctagea covered she
sale, the underwriters will consider, among othengs, the open market price of shares comparettheoprice available under the over-
allotment option. The underwriters may also sedfirek in excess of the ovaltetment option, creating a naked short posititime underwritel
must close out any naked short position by purcigashares in the open market. A naked short pasiianore likely to be created if 1
underwriters are concerned that there may be dowhmassure on the price of the common stock inofhen market after pricing that co
adversely affect investors who purchase in ouiahpublic offering. As an additional means of faating our initial public offering, th
underwriters may bid for, and purchase, sharesla§s<CA common stock in the open market. The undegngrsyndicate also may recla
selling concessions allowed to an underwriter dealer for distributing the Class A common stoclhie offering, if the syndicate repurche
previously distributed Class A common stock to eosyndicate short positions or to stabilize the@mf the common stock. These activ
may raise or maintain the market price of the CRagoommon stock above independent market levelprevent or retard a decline in
market price of the common stock. The underwriggesnot required to engage in these activitiesraag end any of these activities at any ti

We, the selling stockholders, and the underwriterge agreed to indemnify each other against celigdilities, including liabilities unde
the Securities Act.

A prospectus in electronic format may be made ab&l on websites maintained by one or more undesmsrior selling group membe
if any, participating in our initial public offerqh The representative may agree to allocate a nupftehares of common stock to underwri
for sale to their online brokerage account holderternet distributions will be allocated by theresentative to underwriters that may
Internet distributions on the same basis as otlf@radions.

The underwriters and their respective affiliates &uill service financial institutions engaged irrigas activities, which may inclu
securities trading, commercial and investment bamkfinancial advisory, investment management,qgipial investment, hedging, financ
and brokerage activities. Certain of the underwsgi@nd their respective affiliates have, from titodime, performed, and may in the fut
perform, various financial advisory and investmeanking services for us or our affiliates, for whitey received or will receive custom
fees and expenses.

From October 2010 through March 2012, 18 mutuabd$uand two other discretionary client accounts gadaby Morgan Stanl
Investment Management Inc., an affiliate of Mordgatanley & Co. LLC, purchased an aggregate of 65 #8bshares of our Class B comr
stock from certain existing stockholders for anraggte purchase price of approximately $139 millibnaddition, Erskine B. Bowles,
member of our board of directors, also servesrasmaber of the board of directors of Morgan Stanley.
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In February 2011, we entered into a credit agreéméh five lenders, including affiliates of Morga®tanley & Co. LLC, J.P. Morg:
Securities LLC, Goldman, Sachs & Co., Merrill Lynétierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, and Barclagpital Inc., to borrow up to $1,5
million in revolving loans. In September 2011, ttredit agreement was amended to increase the biogovapacity to $2,500 million.
February 2012, we terminated the credit facilitpypded for by this agreement and we entered inteva agreement for an unsecured fiea
revolving credit facility with these lenders, aslvas affiliates of Citigroup Global Markets In€yedit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, Deuts
Bank Securities Inc., RBC Capital Markets, LLC, aNells Fargo Securities, LLC, that allows us torbar up to $5,000 million for gene
corporate purposes. Concurrent with our entering fihe new revolving credit facility, we enteredoira bridge credit facility with the lend:
that are parties to our new revolving credit fagiliThis bridge credit facility allows us to borrawp to $3,000 million to fund tax withholdi
and remittance obligations related to the settldno€iRSUs in connection with our initial public efing. For additional information on ¢
credit facilities, see “Management’'s Discussion ahuhlysis of Financial Condition and Results of @pens—tiquidity and Capite
Resources.”

In December 2010 and January 2011, affiliates dfidan, Sachs & Co., one of the underwriters, pusetiaan aggregate of 69,544,
shares of our Class A common stock for an aggrguatehase price of $1,450 million. As part of thensaction, the affiliates entered into
Sixth Amended and Restated InvestdRghts Agreement. Pursuant to the purchase agrdemee of the affiliates had an option to
3,597,122 shares of Class A common stock to DSD&Ibimited at the same price, and on the sameseset forth in the purchase agreen
The affiliate exercised its option in January 2011.

In the ordinary course of their various business/gies, the underwriters and their respectiveliates may make or hold a broad arra
investments and actively trade debt and equity ri#ézsi (or related derivative securities) and ficiah instruments (including bank loans)
their own account and for the accounts of theirtamgrs and may at any time hold long and shorttiposi in such securities a
instruments. Such investment and securities aesvinay involve our securities and instruments. Uigerwriters and their respective affilie
may also make investment recommendations or publigfxpress independent research views in respextob securities or instruments .
may at any time hold, or recommend to clients thay acquire, long or short positions in such séesrand instruments. In addition, certai
our employees who are considered associated pec$oseme of the underwriters have been granted R&Upart of our ordinary cou
employee compensation practices. These grantsearaet! to be underwriting compensation by the Fiahhtdustry Regulatory Authority.

Lazard Freres & Co. LLC referred this transactionLazard Capital Markets LLC and will receive aereél fee from Lazard Capi
Markets LLC in connection therewith.

Pricing of the Offering

Prior to our initial public offering, there has Ipero public market for our Class A common stocke Tiitial public offering price w
determined by negotiations among us, the selliogk$iolders, and the representative of the undesrgritAmong the factors consideret
determining the initial public offering price weoair future prospects and those of our industryenegal, our sales, earnings and certain
financial and operating information in recent pdspand the price-earnings ratios, préeges ratios, market prices of securities, andain
financial and operating information of companiegaged in activities similar to ours. Neither we tiog underwriters can assure investors
an active trading market for the shares will depglor that after the offering the shares will tradehe public market at or above the in
public offering price.
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Selling Restrictions

European Economic Area

In relation to each Member State of the Europeasn&mic Area which has implemented the Prospectuscbve, with effect from ar
including the date on which the Prospectus Direcisvimplemented in that Member State, an offesemfurities may not be made to the pt
in that Member State, other than:

(a) to any legal entity that is a qualified invesis defined in the Prospectus Directive;

(b) to fewer than 100 or, if that Member State imaglemented the relevant provision of the 2010 PbeAding Directive, 150 natural
legal persons (other than “qualified investoas’defined in the Prospectus Directive) subjectitaining the prior consent of the represente
or

(c) in any other circumstances that do not reqthieepublication of a prospectus pursuant to Artg & the Prospectus Directive;

provided that no such offer of securities shalluiegj us or any underwriter to publish a prospegiussuant to Article 3 of the Prospec
Directive.

For the purposes of the above, the expression fer “of securities to the publidh relation to any securities in any Member Stagam
the communication in any form and by any meansufficsent information on the terms of the offer atige securities to be offered so a
enable an investor to decide to purchase or suiesdar the securities, as the same may be varidtiah Member State by any meas
implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Mentbate (and amendments thereto, including the Z-L@mending Directive, to the ext
implemented in that Member State), and the expassProspectus Directiveineans Directive 2003/71/EC and includes any rel
implementing measure in that Member State, an@xtpeession “2010 PD Amending Directive” means DQtikec2010/73/EU.

United Kingdom

This prospectus and any other material in relatiothe shares described herein is only being Histed to, and is only directed at, pers
in the United Kingdom that are qualified investaighin the meaning of Article 2(1)(e) of the Prospee Directive (“qualified investorshai
also (i) have professional experience in matteleting to investments falling within Article 19(®f the Financial Services and Markets
2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005, as amendethe Order, (ii) who fall within Article 49(2)(ad (d) of the Order or (iii) to whom it m
otherwise lawfully be communicated (all such pesstmgether being referred to as “relevant persoii$i¢ shares are only available to, and
invitation, offer or agreement to purchase or othige acquire such shares will be engaged in ontig,welevant persons. This prospectus
its contents are confidential and should not bé&ibigted, published or reproduced (in whole or artpor disclosed by recipients to any o
person in the United Kingdom. Any person in thetediKingdom that is not a relevant person shoutdagbor rely on this prospectus or an
its contents.

Hong Kong

The shares may not be offered or sold by meansipidacument other than (i) in circumstances whiohndt constitute an offer to t
public within the meaning of the Companies Ordirea(Cap.32, Laws of Hong Kong), or (ii) to “profemsal investorsiwithin the meaning «
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap.571, lodwkong Kong) and any rules made thereunder,iigir{iother circumstances which do
result in the document being a “prospectugthin the meaning of the Companies Ordinance (83plLaws of Hong Kong), and
advertisement, invitation or document relatinghte shares may be issued or may be in the possedsimy person for the purpose of issue
each case whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere), whkidirected at, or
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the contents of which are likely to be accessetad by, the public in Hong Kong (except if perettto do so under the laws of Hong Kc
other than with respect to shares which are orirgended to be disposed of only to persons outkideg Kong or only to professione
investors” within the meaning of the Securities &utlures Ordinance (Cap.571 Laws of Hong Kong)amdrules made thereunder.

Singapore

This prospectus has not been registered as a taspeith the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Aodingly, this prospectus and &
other document or material in connection with tfferoor sale, or invitation for subscription or phase, of the shares may not be circulat
distributed, nor may the shares be offered or soidye made the subject of an invitation for suipsion or purchase, whether directly
indirectly, to persons in Singapore other thariqian institutional investor under Section 274taf Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 2¢
Singapore (SFA), (ii) to a relevant person, or @eyson pursuant to Section 275(1A), and in accaelamith the conditions, specified
Section 275 of the SFA or (iii) otherwise pursugmtand in accordance with the conditions of, atihebapplicable provision of the SFA.

Where the shares are subscribed or purchased @Bwtgion 275 by a relevant person which is: (a) gp@@tion (which is not ¢
accredited investor) the sole business of whidb isold investments and the entire share capitalhoth is owned by one or more individu
each of whom is an accredited investor; or (buatttwhere the trustee is not an accredited investbose sole purpose is to hold investm
and each beneficiary is an accredited investomeshalebentures and units of shares and debertfitbat corporation or the beneficiaries’
rights and interest in that trust shall not be dfarable for six months after that corporation latttrust has acquired the shares u
Section 275 except: (1) to an institutional investnder Section 274 of the SFA or to a relevans@eyor any person pursuant to Section 27-
(1A), and in accordance with the conditions, spedifn Section 275 of the SFA; (2) where no congitien is given for the transfer; or (3)
operation of law.

Japan

The securities have not been and will not be regist under the Financial Instruments and Excharme &f Japan (the Financ
Instruments and Exchange Law) and may not be afferesold, directly or indirectly, in Japan or tw,for the benefit of, any resident of Ja
(which term as used herein means any person residdapan, including any corporation or othertgrirganized under the laws of Japan
to others for resffering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japar to a resident of Japan, except pursuant examption from the registrati
requirements of, and otherwise in compliance witie, Financial Instruments and Exchange Law andatimgr applicable laws, regulations .
ministerial guidelines of Japan.

Notice to Prospective Investors in Switzerland

The shares may not be publicly offered in Switzetland will not be listed on the SIX Swiss Excharfi§eX) or on any other sto
exchange or regulated trading facility in SwitzedaThis document has been prepared without re@atide disclosure standards for issui
prospectuses under art. 652a or art. 1156 of thiesS¥ode of Obligations or the disclosure standérdBsting prospectuses under art. 27 fi
the SIX Listing Rules or the listing rules of anher stock exchange or regulated trading facilitypivitzerland. Neither this document nor
other offering or marketing material relating tee tshares or the offering may be publicly distrildute otherwise made publicly available
Switzerland.

Neither this document nor any other offering or keting material relating to the offering, the Compaor the shares have been or
be filed with or approved by any Swiss regulataugharity. In particular, this document will not fied with, and the offer of shares will not
supervised by, the Swiss Financial Market Superyigauthority FINMA (FINMA), and the offer of sharelBas not been and will not
authorized under
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the Swiss Federal Act on Collective Investment &u® (CISA). The investor protection afforded to wcers of interests in collecti
investment schemes under the CISA does not exteaddquirers of the shares.

Notice to Prospective Investors in the Dubai Intational Financial Centre

This prospectus relates to an Exempt Offer in atamoce with the Offered Securities Rules of the Di@ancial Services Authori
(DFSA). This prospectus is intended for distribntamly to persons of a type specified in the OffeBecurities Rules of the DFSA. It must
be delivered to, or relied on by, any other perddre DFSA has no responsibility for reviewing orifsgng any documents in connection w
Exempt Offers. The DFSA has not approved this pross nor taken steps to verify the informationfegth herein and has no responsib
for the prospectus. The shares to which this prdsgerelates may be illiquid and/or subject to riebns on their resale. Prospec
purchasers of the shares offered should conductdte due diligence on the shares. If you do nadarstand the contents of this prospe
you should consult an authorized financial advi
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LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the shares of Class A common stoffkred hereby will be passed upon for us by FekwidVest LLP, Mountain View
California. Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP, Pala@lCalifornia is acting as counsel to the undeersi.

EXPERTS

Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered publicamting firm, has audited our consolidated finahstatements at December
2010 and 2011, and for each of the three yearfenperiod ended December 31, 2011, as set forthein report. We have included ¢
financial statements in the prospectus and elsewimethe registration statement in reliance on &&n¥oung LLP’s report, given on the
authority as experts in accounting and auditing.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

We have filed with the SEC a registration statentenform St under the Securities Act with respect to the ehaf Class A comm
stock offered hereby. This prospectus, which ctutes a part of the registration statement, doé<aatain all of the information set forth
the registration statement or the exhibits filedrédwith. For further information about us and tleenmon stock offered hereby, referenc
made to the registration statement and the exHilgtstherewith. Statements contained in this pemsus regarding the contents of any con
or any other document that is filed as an exhibithie registration statement are not necessarityptete, and in each instance we refer yc
the copy of such contract or other document filecaa exhibit to the registration statement. Weenity do not file periodic reports with t
SEC. Upon closing of our initial public offering,evwill be required to file periodic reports, progtatements and other information with
SEC pursuant to the Exchange Act. A copy of théstegion statement and the exhibits filed therbwiitay be inspected without charge a
public reference room maintained by the SEC, latate 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549, angiesoof all or any part of tl
registration statement may be obtained from théitef Please call the SEC at 1-800-S&830 for further information about the pul
reference room. The SEC also maintains a website dbntains reports, proxy and information states@md other information regard
registrants that file electronically with the SERhe address of the website is www.sec.gov.
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Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent RegisteredPublic Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Facebook, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Facebook, Inc. as of December 31, 28802011, and the rela
consolidated statements of income, comprehenso@rie, stockholdergquity, and cash flows for each of the three ye@athe period ende
December 31, 2011. These financial statementsharessponsibility of the Comparsymanagement. Our responsibility is to expresspéamian
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighauBlo(United States). Thc
standards require that we plan and perform thet aoidibtain reasonable assurance about whethewtisolidated financial statements are
of material misstatement. We were not engaged ttoie an audit of the Compars/internal control over financial reporting. Ourdée
included consideration of internal control overatficial reporting as a basis for designing auditcpdares that are appropriate in
circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprgsamopinion on the effectiveness of the Compaimyternal control over financial reportil
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An autiibancludes examining on a test basis, evidenppating the amounts and disclosure
the financial statements, assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates made bypagement, and evaluating the ow
financial statement presentation. We believe thataidits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, the financial statements referredabove present fairly, in all material resped® tonsolidated financial position
Facebook, Inc. at December 31, 2010 and 2011,lenddnsolidated results of its operations andashdlows for each of the three years ir
period ended December 31, 2011, in conformity Wit8. generally accepted accounting principles.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Francisco, California

February 1, 2012,

except for the retrospective adoption of amendmientise accounting standard relating to the repgréind display of comprehensive incom
described in Note 1, as to which the date is

April 23, 2012
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FACEBOOK, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In millions, except for number of shares and palue)

December 31 March 31, Pro Forma
March 31,
2010 2011 2012 2012
(unaudited)
Assets
Current asset
Cash and cash equivale| $1,78¢ $1,512 $ 1,282 $ 1,282
Marketable securitie — 2,39¢ 2,62¢ 2,62¢
Accounts receivable, net of allowances for doukdftdounts of $11, $17 and $16 as of December 31 aAd 2011
and March 31, 2012, respective 373 547 482 482
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 88 14¢ 302 627
Total current asse 2,24¢€ 4,60¢ 4,697 5,01¢
Property and equipment, r 574 1,47¢ 1,85¢ 1,85¢
Goodwill and intangible assets, 1 96 162 18¢ 18¢
Other asset 74 9C 121 121
Total assets $2,99( $6,331 $ 6,85¢ $ 7,18¢
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 29 $ 63 $ 12¢ $ 12¢
Platform partners payab 75 171 17¢ 17¢
Accrued expenses and other current liabili 137 29€ 337 337
Deferred revenue and depos 42 9C 93 93
Current portion of capital lease obligatic 10€ 27¢ 302 30z
Total current liabilities 38¢ 89¢ 1,03¢ 1,03¢
Capital lease obligations, less current por 117 39¢ 404 404
Long-term debt 25(C — — —
Other liabilities 72 13E 144 144
Total liabilities 82€ 1,432 1,581 1,581
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholder’ equity:
Convertible preferred stock, $0.000006 par valssyable in series: 569 million shares authorizéd,rbillion shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2010 andn8i@n shares issued and outstanding at Decerdbe2011
and March 31, 2012 (unaudited) (aggregate liquitapireference of $615 million as of December 31,12énd
March 31, 2012 (unaudited)); no shares authorissded and outstanding, pro forma (unaudi 61E 61E 61F —
Common stock, $0.000006 par value: 4,141 millioasSIA shares authorized, 60 million shares issnddatstanding
at December 31, 2010, 117 million shares issuedatstanding, including 1 million outstanding stsasebject to
repurchase at December 31, 2011 and 118 millioreshiasued and outstanding, including 1 milliorstartding
shares subject to repurchase at March 31, 2012iited) and pro forma (unaudited); 4,141 milliora&€d B share
authorized, 1,112 million, 1,213 million, 1,235 hah and 1,781 million shares issued and outstapdircluding
5 million, 2 million, 2 million and 2 million outanding shares subject to repurchase, at Decemb@03@, 2011,
March 31, 2012 (unaudited) and pro forma (unaudlitespectively — — — —
Additional paic-in capital 947 2,68¢ 2,852 4,437
Accumulated other comprehensive i (6) (6) (7) (7)
Retained earning 60€ 1,60¢ 1,811 1,171
Total stockholder equity 2,162 4,89¢ 5,272 5,591
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $2,99( $6,331 $ 6,85¢ $ 7,18¢

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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FACEBOOK, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(In millions, except per share amounts)

Revenue

Costs and expenses
Cost of revenu
Marketing and sale
Research and developmt
General and administrati\
Total costs and expens
Income from operations

Interest and other income (expense),
Interest expens
Other income (expense), r

Income before provision for income tay
Provision for income taxe

Net income
Net income attributable to participating securi
Net income attributable to Class A and Class B coman stockholders

Earnings per share attributable to Class A and Clas B common stockholders
Basic

Diluted
Pro forma earnings per share attributable to ClassA and Class B commor
stockholders (unaudited):
Basic
Diluted
Share-based compensation expense included in costs anghemses:
Cost of revenu
Marketing and sale
Research and developmt
General and administrati\
Total shar-based compensation expel

Year Ended December 31,

Three Months
Ended March 31,

2009 2010 2011 2011 2012
(unaudited)

$ 77 $1,97¢ $3,711 $731 $1,05¢
223 492 86(C 167 277
11¢% 184 427 68 15¢
87 144 38¢ 57 152

9C 121 28C 51 88
51¢ 942 1,95¢ 34% 677
26z 1,032 1,75¢€ 38¢ 381
(10) (22) (42) (7) (13)

2 2 (19) 17 14

254 1,00¢ 1,69 39¢ 382
25 402 69t 16E 177

$ 22¢ $ 60€ $1,00( $ 238 $ 20t
107 234 332 80 68

$ 122 $ 372 $ 66€ $ 158 $ 137
$ 0.12 $ 0.34 $ 0.52 $0.12 $ 0.1C
$ 0.1C $ 0.2¢ $ 0.4¢ $0.11 $ 0.0¢
$ 0.4¢ $ 0.1C

$ 0.42 $ 0.0¢

$ — $ — $ 9 $ — $ 4
2 2 43 — 23

6 9 114 4 60

19 9 51 3 16

$ 27 $ 20 $ 217 $ 7 $ 10z

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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FACEBOOK, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In millions)
Three Months
Year Ended December 31, Ended March 31,
2009 2010 2011 2011 2012
(unaudited)
Net income $ 22¢ $ 60€ $1,00( $ 238 $ 20t
Other comprehensive income (loss

Foreign currency translation adjustme — (6) — 1 (2)
Comprehensive income $ 22¢ $ 60C $1,00( $ 23¢ $ 20¢

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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FACEBOOK, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In millions)
Class A and Accumulated Retained Total
Convertible Class B Additional Other Earnings Stockholders’
Preferred Stock Common Stock Comprehensive  (Accumulated
Paid-In
Shares  Amount Shares Par Value Capital Loss Deficit) Equity
Balances at December 31, 2008 49¢  $ 41t 1,000 $ — 3 147  $ —  $ 229 $ 33:
Issuance of Series E convertible preferred stoekph
issuance cos! 44 20C — — — — — 20C
Issuance of common stock for cash upon exerciséook
options — — 57 — 9 — — 9
Issuance of common stock to nonemployees for past
services — — 2 — 9 — — 9
Issuance of common stock related to acquisi — — 4 — 20 — — 2C
Share-based compensation, related to employee-share
based award — — — — 16 — — 16
Share-based compensation, related to nonemplogee-s
based award — — — — 2 — — 2
Excess tax benefit from shi-based award activit — — — — 50 — — 5C
Net income — — — — — — 22¢ 22¢
Balances at December 31, 2( 54z $ 61t 1,07C $ — 3 252 % —  $ — % 86¢
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance « — — 24 — 50C — — 50C
Issuance of common stock for cash upon exerciséook
options — — 70 — 6 — — 6
Issuance of common stock related to acquisit — — 6 — 60 — — 6C
Conversion of Series A preferred stock to commonks 2) — 2 — — — — —
Reclassification of option liability to additionp&id-in
capital — — — — 8 — — g
Share-based compensation, related to employee-share
based award — — — — 17 — — 17
Share-based compensation, related to nonemplogee-s
based award — — — — 1 — — 1
Excess tax benefit from share-based award activét/ pf
deferred tax impac — — — — 107 — — 107
Other comprehensive incor — — — — — (6) — (6)
Net income — — — — — — 60€ 60€
Balances at December 31, 2( 541 $ 61E 1,172 $ — 3 947 $ 6 $ 60€ $ 2,16:
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance « — — 48 — 99¢ — — 99¢
Issuance of common stock for cash upon exerciséook
options — — 102 — 28 — — 28
Issuance of common stock to nonemployees for past
services — — — — 3 — — 3
Issuance of common stock related to acquisit — — 2 — 58 — — 58
Exercise of preferred stock warra 8 — — — — — — —
Conversion of Series B preferred stock to commonke ) — 2 — — — — —
Conversion of Series C preferred stock to commooks (4) — 4 — — — — —
Share-based compensation, related to employee-share
based award — — — — 217 — — 217
Excess tax benefit from shi-based award activit — — — — 432 — — 43¢
Net income — — — — — — 1,00( 1,00(
Balances at December 31, 2( 54 $ 61E 1,33C $ — $ 268 $ 6) $ 1,606 $ 4,89¢
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FACEBOOK, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (CO NTINUED)

(In millions)
Class A and Accumulated Retained Total
Convertible Class B Additional Other Earnings Stockholders’
Preferred Stock Common Stock Comprehensive  (Accumulated
Paid-In
Shares  Amount  Shares Par Value Capital Loss Deficit) Equity
Balances at December 31, 2011 54 $ 61t 1,33C % — $ 268: % ® $ 1,606 $ 4,89¢
Issuance of common stock for cash upon exercise
of stock options (unaudite: — — 22 — 5 — — 5
Issuance of common stock to nonemployees
for past services (unaudite — — — — 1 — — 1
Issuance of common stock related to asset acausiti
(unaudited’ — — — — 6 — — 6
Share-based compensation, related to employee-share
based awards (unaudite — — — — 102 — — 10z
Excess tax benefit from share-based
award activity (unauditec — — — — 54 — — 54
Other comprehensive income (unaudit — — — — — 1) — 1)
Net income (unauditec — — — — — — 20% 20%
Balances at March 31, 2012 (unaudit 54 $ 61F 135: $ — $ 285 $ @ % 1811 $ 5,27

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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FACEBOOK, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In millions)

Three Months

Ended
Year Ended December 31 March 31,
2009 2010 2011 2011 2012
(unaudited)
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 22¢ $ 60€ $ 1,00( $ 23¢ $ 20t
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating activitie:
Depreciation and amortizatic 78 13¢ 323 51 11C
Loss on writ-off of asset: 1 8 4 1 1
Shar-based compensatic 27 20 217 7 102
Tax benefit from sha-based award activit 50 alilE dss 69 54
Excess tax benefit from shi-based award activit (51) (115) (439) (69) (54)
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Accounts receivabl (112) (209) (174 27 65
Prepaid expenses and other current a: (30) (39) (31) (26) (28)
Other asset (59) 17 (32 (10) (32
Accounts payabl ) 12 6 (©)) (©)]
Platform partners payahb — 75 96 24 7
Accrued expenses and other current liabili 27 20 38 6 2
Deferred revenue and depos 1 37 49 17 3
Other liabilities 1 16 58 18 8
Net cash provided by operating activities 15E 69¢ 1,54¢ 34t 441
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipm (33) (299) (60€) (159) (459)
Purchases of marketable securi — — (3,025 — (87€)
Maturities of marketable securiti — — 51€ — 567
Sales of marketable securiti — — st — 69
Investments in nc-marketable equity securitit — — (©) — (1)
Acquisitions of business, net of cash acquired,mmdhases of intangible and other as 8 (22) (24) () (25)
Change in restricted cash and depc (32) (9) 6 1 (1)
Net cash used in investing activities (62) (3249) (3,029 (159) (720)
Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceeds from issuance of convertible prefestedk 20C — — — —
Net proceeds from issuance of common s — 50C 99¢ 99¢ —
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti 9 6 28 9 5
Proceeds from (repayments of) l-term debt — 25C (250) (250) —
Proceeds from sale and le-back transaction 31 — 17¢C 1 62
Principal payments on capital lease obligati (48) (90) (181) (29) (71)
Excess tax benefit from shi-based award activit 51 11E 432 69 54
Net cash provided by financing activities 2432 781 1,19¢ 79¢ 5C
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casveénts — 3) B 1 (1)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 33€ 1,152 (279) 991 (230)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of p¢ 297 688 1,78t 1,78¢ 1,512
Cash and cash equivalents at end of peric $ 632 $1,78¢ $1,512 $2,77¢ $1,28:
Supplemental cash flow date
Cash paid during the period fc
Interest $ 9 $ 23 $ 28 $ 7 $ 9
Income taxe: $ 42 $ 261 $ 197 $ 10: $ 174
Non-cash investing and financing activiti¢
Property and equipment additions included in actopayable and accrued expenses and other liab $ 5 $ 47 $ 13t $ 43 $ 11C
Property and equipment acquired under capital & $ 56 $ 217 $ 473 $ 211 $ 38
Fair value of shares issued related to acquisitidimisiness and other ass $ 20 $ 60 $ 58 $ 6 $ 6

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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FACEBOOK, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Information as of March 31, 2012 and for the threemonths ended March 31, 2011 and 2012 is unaudited)

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Polias

Organization and Description of Business

Facebook was incorporated in Delaware in July 2@4. mission is to make the world more open andeoted. We build products tl
support our mission by providing utility to Facekoasers, Platform developers, and advertisers. &emte substantially all of our reve
from advertising and from fees associated with Bayments infrastructure that enables users to paechirtual and digital goods from
Platform developers.

Basis of Presentation

We prepared the consolidated financial statememtacicordance with U.S. generally accepted accaginpiinciples (GAAP). Th
consolidated financial statements include the actoof Facebook, Inc. and its wholly owned subsid& All intercompany balances ¢
transactions have been eliminated.

Unaudited Interim Consolidated Financial Informatio

The accompanying interim consolidated balance sageif March 31, 2012, and the consolidated stat&sma income, comprehens
income, and cash flows for the three months endartivi31, 2011 and 2012 and the consolidated statevfistockholderséquity for the thre
months ended March 31, 2012 and the related foefistlosures are unaudited. These unauditedrimsoinsolidated financial statements t
been prepared in accordance with GAAP. In managémepinion, the unaudited interim consolidated firiahstatements have been prep
on the same basis as the audited financial statsraend include all adjustments, which include ardymal recurring adjustments, necessar
the fair presentation of our statement of finanpiagition as of March 31, 2012 and our consolidagstlts of operations and our cash flow:
the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2012rdhéts for the three months ended March 31, Z0&2hot necessarily indicative of
results expected for the full fiscal year.

Use of Estimates

Conformity with GAAP requires the use of estimatesd judgments that affect the reported amountshé donsolidated financ
statements and accompanying notes. These estirfftatesthe basis for judgments we make about theyoayrvalues of our assets ¢
liabilities, which are not readily apparent fromhet sources. We base our estimates and judgmertisstamical information and on varic
other assumptions that we believe are reasonalleruhe circumstances. GAAP requires us to makmatgs and judgments in several ai
including, but not limited to, those related toeaue recognition, collectability of accounts reedie, contingent liabilities, fair value of share-
based awards, fair value of financial instrumefds, value of acquired intangible assets and gotdwseful lives of intangible assets
property and equipment, and income taxes. Thegaaist are based on managemehktiowledge about current events and expectations
actions we may undertake in the future. Actual ltsstould differ materially from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents, and Marketable Secustie

We hold investments in sh-term and lon-term marketable securities, consisting of U.S. gowveent and government agency secur
We classify our marketable securities as availétiesale investments in our current assets becausedpeysent investments of cash avail
for current operations. Our available-fale investments are carried at estimated fairevalith any unrealized gains and losses, net ofst
included in accumulated other comprehensive incfloss)) in stockholders’ equity. Unrealized losses@harged against
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FACEBOOK, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
(Information as of March 31, 2012 and for the threemonths ended March 31, 2011 and 2012 is unaudited)

other income (expense), net when a decline inviaine is determined to be other-th@mporary. We have not recorded any such impait
charge in any period presented. We determine eshlimins or losses on sale of marketable secudties specific identification method, ¢
record such gains or losses as other income (egpemet.

We classify certain restricted cash balances wititepaid expenses and other current assets and agbets on the accompany
consolidated balance sheets based upon the tetime oémaining restrictions.

Non-Marketable Securities

We invest in certain investment funds that aremuailicly traded. We carry these investments at bestiuse we do not have signific
influence over the underlying investee. We assesstiy other-thatemporary impairment at least on an annual basisinhbairment charg
has been recorded to-date on our non-marketableises.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We apply fair value accounting for all financiakats and liabilities and ndimancial assets and liabilities that are recogmiaedisclose
at fair value in the financial statements on a néeg basis. We define fair value as the price thatild be received from selling an asset or
to transfer a liability in an orderly transactioetlveen market participants at the measurement ddbten determining the fair val
measurements for assets and liabilities, whiclregaired to be recorded at fair value, we condidermprincipal or most advantageous mark
which we would transact and the markeised risk measurements or assumptions that mpaketipants would use in pricing the asse
liability, such as risks inherent in valuation te@fues, transfer restrictions and credit risk. Railue is estimated by applying the follow
hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used to swa fair value into three levels and bases thegecaization within the hierarchy upon
lowest level of input that is available and sigeafit to the fair value measurement:

Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical &sse liabilities.

Level 2—Observable inputs other than quoted prices in eatmarkets for identical assets and liabilities, tgdgorices for identical
similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets, other inputs that are observable or can be boraied by observable market data
substantially the full term of the assets or ligiei.

Level 3—Inputs that are generally unobservable and tylyic&flect managemerg’ estimate of assumptions that market partici|
would use in pricing the asset or liability.

Our valuation techniques used to measure the &irevof money market funds and marketable debtrgesuwere derived from quot
prices in active markets for identical assetsatbilities.

Foreign Currency

Generally the functional currency of our internatib subsidiaries is the local currency. We traesthe financial statements of th
subsidiaries to U.S. dollars using mowihd rates of exchange for assets and liabilitied, average rates of exchange for revenue, cost
expenses. Translation gains and losses are recordetumulated other comprehensive income (loss) @@mponent of stockholdeexjuity
Net losses resulting from foreign exchange tramsastwere insignificant for the year ended Decen®igr2009, and were $1 million and ¢
million, respectively, for the years ended Decen8ier2010 and 2011. Net gains resulting
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
(Information as of March 31, 2012 and for the threemonths ended March 31, 2011 and 2012 is unaudited)

from foreign exchange transactions were $16 mildod $10 million, respectively, for the three manémded March 31, 2011 and 2012. T
gains and losses were recorded as other incomerfegp net.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, which includes amountsrdexb under capital leases, are stated at cost.eDiggion is computed using 1
straight-line method over the estimated usefulsligbéthe assets or the remaining lease term, isdke of a capital lease, whichever is shorter.

The estimated useful lives of property and equipnaea described below:

Property and Equipment Useful Life

Network equipmen Three to four year

Computer software, office equipment and of Two to five year:

Buildings 15 to 20 year

Leased equipment and leasehold improven Lesser of estimated useful life or remaining |et@sen

Land and assets held within construction in prograse not depreciated. Construction in progreselested to the construction
development of property and equipment that haveyabbeen placed in service for their intended use.

The cost of maintenance and repairs is expensddcasred. When assets are retired or otherwiseodsp of, the cost and rela
accumulated depreciation and amortization are rexhérom their respective accounts, and any gaioss on such sale or disposal is refle
in income from operations.

Long-Lived Assets, Including Goodwill and Other Agiged Intangible Assets

We evaluate the recoverability of property and pmént and amortizable intangible assets for passibpairment whenever events
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounswth assets may not be recoverable. Recoverabilitthese assets is measured |
comparison of the carrying amounts to the futurdisoounted cash flows the assets are expectednerage. If such review indicates that
carrying amount of property and equipment and igitale assets is not recoverable, the carrying amofusuch assets is reduced to fair ve
In addition, we test goodwill for impairment at $annually or more frequently if events or chanigesircumstances indicate that this a
may be impaired. These tests are based on ouesipgrating segment and reporting unit structuceindications of impairment of goodw
were noted during the years presented.

Acquired amortizable intangible assets, which auided in goodwill and intangible assets, net, arertized on a straighine basi
over the estimated useful lives of the assets.eBlienated remaining useful lives for intangibleeassange from less than one year to 16 years.

In addition to the recoverability assessment, watinely review the remaining estimated useful liafsproperty and equipment &
amortizable intangible assets. If we reduce themeséd useful life assumption for any asset, theaiaing unamortized balance would
amortized or depreciated over the revised estimasetll life.

Lease Obligations

We lease office space, data centers, and equipmmeletr noneancelable capital and operating leases with varépiration dates throu
2027. Certain of the operating lease agreement&icorent holidays, rent escalation provisions, pacchase options. Rent holidays and
escalation provisions are considered in determithiegstraightine rent expense to be recorded over the lease fEne lease term begins on
date of
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(Information as of March 31, 2012 and for the threemonths ended March 31, 2011 and 2012 is unaudited)

initial possession of the leased property for pagsoof recognizing lease expense on a stréilghibasis over the term of the lease. We d«
assume renewals in our determination of the learse tinless the renewals are deemed to be reasasshlyed at lease inception.

Unaudited Pro Forma Balance Sheet Information

Upon the completion of our initial public offeringll outstanding convertible preferred stock wilt@matically convert into shares of
Class B common stock. The unaudited pro forma loalaheet information gives effect to the conversibtine convertible preferred stock a:
March 31, 2012. Additionally, as described in dehai“—Share-based Compensatiob&low, we grant restricted stock units (RSUSs)
generally vest upon the satisfaction of a servioeddion, and with respect to RSUs granted priodaouary 1, 2011 (Pi2011 RSUSs), s
months after the completion of our initial publiffesing. The vesting condition that will be satedi six months following our initial pub
offering does not affect the expense attributioriquefor the RSUs for which the service conditioastbeen met as of the date of our ir
public offering. Accordingly, the unaudited pro fivet balance sheet information at March 31, 2012 geffect to sharbased compensati
expense of approximately $965 million associatetth Wire2011 RSUs, for which the service condition was agbf March 31, 2012, whi
we expect to record upon the completion of outidhfiublic offering. This pro forma adjustment teld to shardsased compensation expe
of approximately $965 million has been reflectecaasincrease to additional paiu-capital and the associated tax effect of $32ianihas
been netted against this charge, resulting in agueiction of $640 million to retained earningseTihcome tax effects have been reflected
increase to deferred tax assetduded in prepaid expenses and other currentggsereflect the anticipated future tax benaijp®n settleme
of the RSUs, as adjusted for any RSUs that willnesult in a tax benefit because they are relaiddreign employees or foreign operatic
Payroll tax expenses and other withholding oblmai have not been included in the pro forma adjestmWVe estimate that an aggregal
approximately 277 million shares underlying R@&t1 RSUs will vest and settle on dates that aletd3 81 days after the pricing of our ini
public offering. These shares have not been indudeour pro forma balance sheet disclosures ofeshautstanding. RSU holders genel
will recognize taxable income based upon the vafube shares on the date they are settled andevequired to withhold taxes on such vi
at applicable minimum statutory rates. We curreetipect that the average of these withholding ratésbe approximately 45%. We ¢
unable to quantify the obligations as of March 3012 and we will remain unable to quantify this amountil the settlement of the RSUs
the withholding obligations will be based on théueaof the shares approximately six months afterdéte of our initial public offering.

Share-based Compensation

We account for shareased employee compensation plans under the flaie vacognition and measurement provisions of GARROSt
provisions require all share-based payments to @mepk, including grants of stock options and RStyee measured based on the gidatt-
fair value of the awards, with the resulting expegenerally recognized in our consolidated statésneihincome over the period during wh
the employee is required to perform service in arge for the award.

We estimate the fair value of stock options granisitig the Black-Scholeglerton single option valuation model, which reqsiieput:
such as expected term, expected volatility andfris& interest rate. Further, the estimated forfeitate of awards also affects the amou
aggregate compensation. These inputs are subjectvgenerally require significant analysis andjjudnt to develop.

We estimate the expected term based upon the ibattiehavior of our employees for employee graWie. estimate expected volatil
based on a study of publicly traded industry peenganies. The forfeiture rate is derived primafitym our historical data, and the rifilee
interest rate is based on the yield available d®. Oreasury zergoupon issues. Our dividend yield is 0%, since aeehnot paid, and do r
expect to pay, dividends.
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The fair values of employee options granted du20§9 and 2010 have been estimated as of the dageanf using the followir
weighted-average assumptions.

Year Ended December 31

2009 2010
Expected term from grant date (in years) 5.04 7.1t
Risk-free interest rat 2.01% 1.6%%
Expected volatility 0.57 0.4¢

Dividend yield — —

The weightedaverage fair value of employee options grantedngu#i009 and 2010 was $1.12 and $5.26 per shameatdgely. Ther
were no options granted in 2011 or in the threethmanded March 31, 2012.

We have granted RSUs to our employees and members doard of directors. Pi2011 RSUs granted under our 2005 Stock Plar
upon the satisfaction of both a service conditind a liquidity condition. The service condition fible majority of these awards is satisfied
four years. The liquidity condition is satisfiedampthe occurrence of a qualifying event, defined abange of control transaction or six mo
following the completion of our initial public offeng. Under settlement procedures applicable tedahavards, we are permitted to delivel
underlying shares within 30 days before or after diate on which the liquidity condition is satisffiePre2011 RSUs for which the serv
condition has been satisfied are not forfeitableusthemployment terminate prior to the liquiditynciition being met. As of March 31, 2012,
share-based compensation expense had been reabfmizere2011 RSUs, because the qualifying events (descabesle) had not occurre
The vesting condition that will be satisfied six mius following our initial public offering does naffect the expense attribution period for
RSUs for which the service condition has been meifahe date of our initial public offering. Thésx-month period is not a substantive ser
condition and, accordingly, upon the effectivene$sour initial public offering, we will recognize aignificant cumulative sharease:
compensation expense for the portion of the RSHisitad met the service condition as of that dateing the accelerated attribution met|
(net of estimated forfeitures). The remaining uomgized share-based compensation expense relatbe @re2011 RSUs will be record
over the remaining requisite service period, usiregaccelerated attribution method (net of estich&tefeitures). For the Pr2011 RSUs, if th
initial public offering had occurred on March 31012, we would have recognized $965 million of sHa@sed compensation expense on
date, and would have approximately $235 millionadflitional future period expense to be recognizeer @ weightedrverage period
approximately one year.

RSUs granted on or after January 1, 2011 (R6%t% RSUs) are not subject to a liquidity conditiororder to vest, and compensa
expense related to these grants is based on the date fair value of the RSUs and is recognized @traightine basis over the applical
service period. The majority of Paad1l1 RSUs are earned over a service period of timdive years. In 2011 and the three months e
March 31, 2012, we recognized $189 million and #8lfion, respectively, of share-based compensatigmense related to the P@§111 RSU:
and as of March 31, 2012 we anticipate $1,119 amilbf future period expense related to such RSUetrecognized over a weightaderag
period of approximately three years. There was apitalized shardased employee compensation expense as of Dec8mhb2010 an
December 31, 2011.

During the years ended December 31, 2009, 2010,284d and the three months ended March 31, 2011284d, we realized t:
benefits from sharbased award activity of $50 million, $115 milliod433 million, $69 million, and $54 million, respeetly. These amour
reflect the extent that the total reduction to m@ome tax liability from sharbased award activity was greater than the amoutiteotieferre
tax assets that we had previously recorded in ipation of these benefits. These amounts are theeggte of the individual transaction:
which the reduction to our income tax liability waieater than the deferred tax assets that wededpreduced by any individual transact
in which the reduction to our income tax liabilityas less than
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the deferred tax assets that were recorded. Thetsammounts were recorded as an adjustment to sifuds’ equity in each period, as
increase to cash flows from operating activities] evere not recognized in our consolidated statésnafrincome.

In addition, we reported excess tax benefits tratrehsed our cash flows from operating activitied mcreased our cash flows fr
financing activities for the years ended DecemlderZ909, 2010, and 2011 and the three months ektdedh 31, 2011 and 2012, by ¢
million, $115 million, $433 million, $69 million ah$54 million, respectively. The amounts of theseess tax benefits reflect the total of
individual transactions in which the reduction tor mmcome tax liability was greater than the defdrtax assets that were recorded, but wer
reduced by any of the individual transactions iriclitthe reduction to our income tax liability was$ than the deferred tax assets that
recorded.

As of December 31, 2011, there was $2,463 millibnroecognized shareased compensation expense, of which $2,396 milioelate
to RSUs, and $67 million is related to restrictédres and stock options. As of March 31, 2012 ethveas $2,381 million of unrecogniz
sharebased compensation expense, of which $2,319 mikigelated to RSUs, and $62 million is relateddstricted shares and stock opti
This unrecognized compensation expense is expéxteel recognized over a weighted-average peri@ppfoximately two years.

Income Taxes

We recognize income taxes under the asset anditijaimiethod. We recognize deferred income tax asagntl liabilities for the expect
future consequences of temporary differences betvike financial reporting and tax bases of assets l@bilities. These differences .
measured using the enacted statutory tax ratesathagxpected to apply to taxable income for trery/én which differences are expecte
reverse. We recognize the effect on deferred inc@xes of a change in tax rates in income in thigehat includes the enactment date.

We record a valuation allowance to reduce our defietax assets to the net amount that we beliereig likely than not to be realiz:
We consider all available evidence, both positined aegative, including historical levels of inconexpectations and risks associated
estimates of future taxable income and ongoingtasning strategies in assessing the need foruatiah allowance.

We recognize tax benefits from uncertain tax posgionly if we believe that it is more likely thaot that the tax position will |
sustained on examination by the taxing authorti@sed on the technical merits of the position. Wkemadjustments to these reserves \
facts and circumstances change, such as the clotimdgax audit or the refinement of an estimatee provision for income taxes includes
effects of any reserves that are considered apptepas well as the related net interest and fesal

Revenue Recognition

We generate substantially all of our revenue fraivestising and payment processing fees. We recegeizenue once all of the followi
criteria have been met:

. persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists;
. delivery of Faceboc's obligations to our customer has occur
. the price is fixed or determinable; and

. collectability of the related receivable is readupassured
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Revenue for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2002011 and the three months ended March 311, 26d 2012 consists of
following (in millions):

Year Ended Three Months Ended
December 31, March 31,
2009 2010 2011 2011 2012
(unaudited)
Revenue
Advertising $ 764 $1,86¢ $ 3,154 $ 637 $ 872
Payments and other fe 13 10€ 557 94 18€
Total revenue $ 771 $1,97¢ $3,711 $ 731 $ 1,05¢
Advertising

Advertising revenue is generated from the displhadvertisements on our website. The arrangemeaetewdenced by either onli
acceptance of terms and conditions or contractsstipulate the types of advertising to be delidetee timing and the pricing. The typical t¢
of an advertising arrangement is approximately &psdvith billing generally occurring after the deliy of the advertisement.

We recognize revenue from the display of impressiased advertisements on our website in the corttgmriod when the impressi
are delivered. Impressions are considered deliwetezh an advertisement appears in pages delivereskts.

We also recognize revenue from the delivery ofkebased advertisements on our website. Revenue assbevith these advertiseme
is recognized in the period that a user clicks m@advertisement.

Payments and Other Fees

We enable Payments between our users and developéhe Facebook Platform. Our users can purchiagebor digital goods on tl
Facebook Platform by using credit cards or othgnpnt methods available on our website. The prinmageyhod for users to transact with
developers on the Facebook Platform is via thehlmsge of our virtual currency, which enables oursise purchase virtual and digital good
games and apps. Upon the initial sale of our Vituarency, we record consideration received frouser as a deposit.

When a user engages in a payment transactioningilzur virtual currency for the purchase of audiltor digital good from a Platfol
developer, we reduce the usevirtual currency balance by the price of the pase, which is a price that is solely determinedheyPlatforr
developer. We remit to the Platform developer aowam that is based on the total amount of virtuatency redeemed less the processin
that we charge the Platform developer for the matign. Our revenue is the net amount of the tretitsa representing our processing fee
the service performed. We record revenue on a asslas we do not consider ourselves to be theipahin the sale of the virtual or digi
good to the user.

Other fees have not been material in all periodsgmted in our financial statements.
All revenue is recognized net of applicable saled @ther taxes, where appropriate.

Cost of Revenue

Our cost of revenue consists primarily of experassociated with the delivery and distribution of ptoducts. These include exper
related to the operation of our data centers sadhality and server
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equipment depreciation, facility and server equiptment expense, energy and bandwidth costs, suppdrmaintenance costs, and sale
benefits and shareased compensation for certain personnel on ouratipes teams. Cost of revenue also includes crediti and othi
transaction fees related to processing customesdrdions.

Deferred Revenue and Deposits

Deferred revenue consists of billings in advanceseénue recognition. Deposits relate to unusedalicurrency held by our users. O
this virtual currency is utilized by a user, appmately 70% of this amount would then be payabl¢ht Platform developer and the bale
would be recognized as revenue.

Deferred revenue and deposits consists of theviolig (in millions):

December 31 March 31,

2010 2011 __2012

(unaudited)

Deferred revenu $35 $75 $ 77
Deposits _ 7 _15 16
Total deferred revenue and depo $42 $90 $ 93

Credit Risk and Concentration

Financial instruments owned by the company thatpatentially subject to concentrations of credskrconsist primarily of cash, ce
equivalents, restricted cash, marketable secur#ies accounts receivable. Cash equivalents caofssttortterm money market funds and L
government and agency securities, which are degzbsiith reputable financial institutions. Markelslecurities consist of investments in |
government and government agency securities. Qalr ce@nagement and investment policy limits investniestruments to investmegtade
securities with the objective to preserve capitel 0 maintain liquidity until the funds can be dse business operations. Bank accounts i
United States are insured by the Federal Depaositrémce Corporation (FDIC) up to $250,000. Our ateg accounts significantly exceed
FDIC limits.

Accounts receivable are typically unsecured andlar&vzed from revenue earned from customers adliffesent industries and countri
We generated 67%, 62%, and 56% of our revenuehtyeéars ended December 31, 2009, 2010, and 28ddeatively, from advertisers ¢
Platform developers based in the United Stated) thi¢ majority of revenue outside of the Unitedt&acoming from customers locatec
western Europe, Canada, and Australia.

We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our cusgtsnand generally do not require collateral. Aovednce for doubtful accounts
determined using the specifidentification method for doubtful accounts and aging of receivables analysis based on invoice dhtes
Uncollectible receivables are written off agairst tllowance for doubtful accounts when all efféotcollect them have been exhausted,
recoveries are recognized as an increase to thwaalce when they are received. During the yearsgeiscember 31, 2009, 2010, and 2
our bad debt expenses were $1 million, $9 milliand $8 million, respectively. In the event that aous receivable collection cyc
deteriorate, our operating results and financiaitpm could be adversely affected.

Revenue from one customer, Zynga, represented 12%, and 11% of total revenue for the year endeckBder 31, 2011 and the th
months ended March 31, 2011 and 2012, respectielgitionally, Zynga’s
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apps generate pages on which we display ads and@asnue from other advertisers. No customer sgmted 10% or more of total reve
during the years ended December 31, 2009 or 2010.

Advertising Expense

We expense our costs of advertising in the penmodlich they are incurred. Advertising expense,clwhs included in marketing a
sales expenses, totaled $5 million, $8 million, $28 million for the years ended December 31, 2@020, and 2011, respectively.

Segments

Our chief operating decisi-maker is our Chief Executive Officer who reviewsdincial information presented on a consolidatedst
There are no segment managers who are held acbteirita the chief operating decisiomaker, or anyone else, for operations, oper
results, and planning for levels or components Welloe consolidated unit level. Accordingly, we hadetermined that we have a sir
reporting segment and operating unit structure.

Recent Accounting Pronouncement

In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards rdasued guidance that changed the requiremenprisenting Comprehensiv
Income”in the consolidated financial statements. The wdaquires an entity to present the componentshefr @omprehensive income eit
in a single continuous statement of comprehensigeme or in two separate but consecutive statemé&hésupdate is effective for fiscal ye:
and interim periods within those years, beginnifigreDecember 15, 2011 and should be applied ne¢éais/ely. We adopted this new guida
on January 1, 2012.

Note 2. Earnings per Share

We compute earnings per share (EPS) of Class AGlagds B common stock using the twiass method required for participat
securities. Our participating securities includesakies of our convertible preferred stock andriged stock awards. Undistributed earn
allocated to these participating securities argragted from net income in determining net incortigbatable to common stockholders. B:
EPS is computed by dividing net income attributableommon stockholders by the weightaderage number of shares of our Class A
Class B common stock outstanding, adjusted fortanting shares that are subject to repurchase.

For the calculation of diluted EPS, net incomeilattable to common stockholders for basic EPS jesdeld by the effect of diluti
securities, including awards under our equity conspéon plans. In addition, the computation of dilated EPS of Class A common st
assumes the conversion from Class B common stdaie the diluted EPS of Class B common stock dagsagsume the conversion of th
shares. Diluted EPS attributable to common stodérslis computed by dividing the resulting net meoattributable to common stockholc
by the weighted-average number of fully diluted coom shares outstanding.

Dilutive securities in our diluted EPS calculatido not include Pre011 RSUs. Vesting of these RSUs is dependent timosatisfactio
of both a service condition and a liquidity conafiti The liquidity condition is satisfied upon thecarrence of a qualifying event, defined .
change of control transaction or six months follegvithe completion of our initial public offering.sfof March 31, 2012, such a qualify
event had not occurred and until it occurs, theléid of these RSUs have no rights in our undigidbearnings. Therefore, they are exclt
from the effect of dilutive securities. Post-2013 s are not subject to a liquidity condition in
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order to vest, and are thus included in the calmraof diluted EPS. We excluded 4 million and 2limn shares issuable upon exercis
employee stock options for the years ended DeceBhe2009 and 2010, respectively, and 3 million @mdillion Post2011 RSUs for the ye
ended December 31, 2011 and the three months évideth 31, 2011, respectively, because the impactidvbe antidilutive. No shares w
excluded from the calculation for the three morghded March 31, 2012.

Basic and diluted EPS are the same for each cfassmmon stock because they are entitled to theesmuidation and dividend rights.

The numerators and denominators of the basic datediEPS computations for our common stock areutaled as follows (in million
except per share amounts):

Year Ended December 31 Three Months Ended March 31,
2009 2010 2011 2011 2012
Class
Class Class Class Class
A B A B A Class B  Class A Class B Class A Class B
(unaudited) (unaudited)
Basic EPS
Numerator:
Net income $— $ 22¢ $ 18 $ 58 $ 8 $91E $ 18 $ 21t $ 18 $ 187
Less: Net income attributable to
participating securitie = 107 7 227 28 304 6 74 6 62
Net income attributable 1
common stockholdel $— $ 122 $ 11 $ 361 $ 57 $611 $ 12 $ 141 $ 12 §$ 12t

Denominator
Weighted average shares outstanc
Less: Shares subject to repurch
Number of shares used for basic
EPS computatio

|
P
o
N
~

32 1,081 11¢  1,18¢ 98 1,147 117 1,23¢

|
|
o
|
o1
|
o1
w

1,02( 32 1,07¢ 11C 1,18/ 98 1,14Z 117 1,23
$0.32 $ 034 $05z $ 05z $0.1z $ 0.1z $0.1C $ 0.1C

71
Y
©»
o
~

Basic EPS
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Year Ended December 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

2009 2010 2011 2011 2012
Class Class Class Class Class
A B A B A Class B Class A Class B Class A Class B
Diluted EPS (unaudited) (unaudited)
Numerator:
Net income attributable to
common stockholdet $ — $122 $ 11 $ 361 $ 57 $611 $ 12 $ 141 $ 12 $ 12t
Reallocation of net inconr
attributable to participating
securities 12 — 30 — 31 — 9 — 5 —
Reallocation of net income ¢
a result of conversion of
Class B to Class A
common stocl 122 — 361 — 611 — 141 — 25 —
Reallocation of net income to
Class B common stoc — 12 — 32 — 37 — 10 — 6
Net income attributabl
to common
stockholders for
diluted EPS $ 134 $ 134 $ 40z $ 392 $ 69¢ $ 648 $ 162 $ 151 $ 142 $ 131
Denominator
Number of shares used 1
basic EPS computatic — 1,02( 32 1,07t 11C 1,18¢ 98 1,142 117 1,23(
Conversion of Class B to
Class A common stoc 1,02(C — 1,07¢ — 1,18¢ — 1,14z — 1,23( —
Weighted average effect of
dilutive securities
Employee stock optior 334 334 29t 29t 204 204 24C 24C 16¢ 16¢
RSUs — — — — 5 5 — — 9 9
Shares subject 1
repurchas: 5 5 4 4 3 3 4 4 2 2
Warrants 7 7 8 8 2 2 4 4 — —
Number of shares
used for dilute
EPS
computatior 1,36¢ 1,36¢ 1,41¢ 1,38: 1,50¢ 1,39¢ 1,48¢ 1,39( 1,52¢ 1,41(
Diluted EPS $01C $01C $02&8 $026 $04€ $04€ $0.11 $0.11 $0.0¢ $0.0¢
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Pro Forma EPS (unaudited)

The following unaudited calculation of the numeratand denominators of basic and diluted EPS gffest to the automatic convers
of all outstanding shares of our convertible preférstock (using the as ¢bnverted method) into Class B common stock asdghadte
conversion had occurred as of the beginning op#réd or the original date of issuance, if lataraddition, the pro forma share amounts
effect to Pre2011 RSUs that have satisfied the service condésoof December 31, 2011 and March 31, 2012. TR&iés will vest and seti
upon the satisfaction of a qualifying event, asvimasly defined. Share-based compensation expessxiated with these PB&11 RSUs |
excluded from this pro forma presentation. If thalifying event had occurred on March 31, 2012,weaild have recorded $965 million
sharebased compensation expense on that date relathdge RSUs, net of associated tax effect of $32tomiresulting in a net reduction

$640 million to net income.

Pro Forma Basic EP:
Numerator:
Net income as reporte
Reallocation of net income due to pro forma
adjustment:
Net income attributable to participating securi

Net income attributable to common stockholders

for pro forma basic EPS computati

Denominator

Weighted average shares used for basic EPS
computatior

Pro forma adjustment to reflect assumed conversiic
preferred stock to Class B common st

Pro forma adjustment to reflect assumed vestir
Pre-2011 RSU:¢

Number of shares used for pro forma basic E
computatior

Pro forma basic EP

Pro Forma Diluted EP:
Numerator:
Net income attributable to common stockholders fc
pro forma basic EPS computati
Reallocation of net income attributable to partitipg
securities
Reallocation of net income as a result of conversio
Class B to Class A common stc
Reallocation of net income to Class B common s
Net income attributable to common stockhold
for pro forma diluted EPS computati

Year Ended
December 31, 2011
Class A Class B

$ 85 91t
(31) 31
— gz)
$ 54 944
11C 1,18¢
— 54¢
— 18¢
11C 1,92(
$ 0.4¢ 0.4¢
$ 54 944
2 J—
944 —
— 9
$ 1,00( 95¢
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Three Months Ended
March 31, 2012

Class A Class B

$ 18 $ 187
(6) 6

$ 12 $ 193
117 1,23(

— 54¢€

— 238

117 2,00¢

$ 0.1C $ 0.1C
$ 12 $ 193
19z —

— 1

$ 20t $ 104
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Year Ended Three Months Ended
December 31, 2011 March 31, 2012
Class A Class B Class A Class B
Denominator
Number of shares used for pro forma basic
computatior 11C 1,92( 117 2,00¢
Conversion of Class B to Class A common st 1,92( — 2,00¢ —
Weighted average effect of dilutive securiti
Employee stock optior 204 204 16¢ 16¢
RSUs 93 93 64 64
Shares subject to repurch 3 3 2 2
Warrants 2 2 — —
Number of shares used for pro forma dilt
EPS computatio 2,332 2,22 2,361 2,244
Pro forma diluted EP $ 04c $ 04c $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
Note 3. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the followimgniillions):
December 31, March 31,
2010 2011 2012
(unaudited)
Network equipmen $ 47¢ $1,01¢€ $ 1,38
Land 29 34 34
Buildings — 35E 373
Leasehold improvemen 58 12C 14¢
Computer software, office equipment and of 61 73 76
Construction in progres 194 327 37¢
Total 82C 1,92¢ 2,39:
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (246) (450) (537)
Property and equipment, r $ 574 $1,47¢ $ 185t

Property and equipment at December 31, 2010 and 208 March 31, 2012 includes $298 million, $881liom, and $979 millior
respectively, acquired under capital lease agremmé&tcumulated amortization under capital leasgaléd $85 million, $210 million, al
$280 million at December 31, 2010 and 2011, andci&d, 2012, respectively. Amortization of assetdar capital leases is includec

depreciation and amortization expense.

Construction in progress includes costs primaglated to the construction and network equipmerdat& centers in Oregon and N
Carolina in the United States and in Sweden, amchew corporate headquarters in Menlo Park, Califorinterest capitalized during the ye

presented was not material.
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Note 4. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill and intangible assets consist of the fwilgg (in millions):

December 31 March 31,
2010 2011 2012

(unaudited)
Acquired patent $ 3 $ 51 $ 8¢
Acquired no-compete agreemer 11 18 18
Acquired technology and oth 27 43 43
Accumulated amortizatio (12) (32 (37)
Net acquired intangible asst 59 80 107
Goodwill 37 82 82
Goodwill and intangible asse $ 96 $ 162 $  18¢

Acquired patents have estimated useful lives rapdiom four to 18 years at acquisition. The aversayen of acquired nonempet
agreements is generally two years. Acquired tedgyhbnd other have estimated useful lives of twaeto years. Amortization expense
intangible assets for the years ended Decembe&(®B, 2010, and 2011 was $2 million, $9 milliond &20 million, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we costbletisiness acquisitions for total consideratio$&8 million. These acquisitio
were not material to our consolidated financiatesteents individually or in the aggregate. Our asijjoins prior to 2011 were also not mate
individually or in the aggregate. There were noiess combinations completed during the three nsoatlded March 31, 2012.

The following table presents the aggregated estichir value of the assets acquired for all agtjoiss completed during the year en
December 31, 2011 (in millions):

Acquired technology and oth $16
Acquired no-compete agreemer 7
Net assets acquire 4
Deferred income tax liabilitie @)
Goodwill 48
Total $68

Pro forma results of operations related to our 28dduisitions have not been presented becauseatkayot material to our consolida
statements of income, either individually or in tggregate. For all acquisitions completed durirgytear ended December 31, 2011, acq
technology and other had a weighted-average ubfeff three years and the term of the non-compgteements is generally two years.
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The changes in carrying amount of goodwill for ylears ended December 31, 2010 and 2011 are aw$aofio millions):

Balance as of December 31, 2( $11
Goodwill acquirec 26
Balance as of December 31, 2( 37
Goodwill acquirec 48
Effect of currency translation adjustme (3
Balance as of December 31, 2( $82

As of December 31, 2011, expected amortization es@dor the unamortized acquired intangible ask®tshe next five years a
thereafter is as follows (in millions):

2012 $21
2013 11
2014 7
2015 7
2016 6
Thereaftel _28
Total $80

Note 5. Long-term Debt

In March 2010, we entered into a senior unsecwed toan facility with certain lenders. This fatilallowed for the drawdown of up
$250 million in unsecured senior loans with a matwf five years. In April 2010 we drew down thallfamount available under the facility
an interest rate of 4.5%, payable quarterly. Tl loould be repaid by us at any time without pgn&lebt issuance costs of approximatel
million were recorded in other nanrrent assets and were being amortized to intengsénse over the contractual term of the loar
March 2, 2011, we repaid in full the long-term dbhtance of $250 million, and expensed the remginimamortized debt issuance costs.

In 2011, we entered into an agreement for an umeddiveyear revolving credit facility that allowed us torbow up to $2,500 milliol
with interest payable on borrowed amounts setettindon Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus 1.086.amounts were drawn down un
this agreement as of December 31, 2011. In Feb2@t, we terminated this credit facility and eateinto a new agreement for an unsec
five-year revolving credit facility that allows us torbamw up to $5,000 million for general corporate poses, with interest payable on
borrowed amounts set at LIBOR plus 1.0%. Prior tw mitial public offering, we can borrow up to $B0 million under this facility
Origination fees are amortized over the term ofdtelit facility. Under the terms of the new agreain we are obligated to pay a commitn
fee of 0.10% per annum on the daily undrawn balance

Concurrent with our entering into the new revolvargdit facility, we also entered into a bridgeditéacility that allows us to borrow |
to $3,000 million to fund tax withholding and retaitce obligations related to the settlement of R8Usonnection with our initial publ
offering, with interest payable on the borrowed amts set at LIBOR plus 1.0%, and an additional @2payable on drawn balan
outstanding from and after the 180th day of borrmgyvWe may make a single borrowing under this itégility beginning on the closing
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date of our initial public offering and ending dretdate that is 240 days after that date. Any amsooutstanding under this facility will be ¢
one year after the date we draw on the facilityroutater than June 30, 2014. During the term isf bhidge facility, the lender€ommitment
are subject to reduction and amounts borrowed tineler are subject to repayment in the event we i@pital through certain asset sales,
issuances, or equity issuances. Origination feesuarortized over the term of the facility, and we abligated to pay an additional upfront
of 0.20% of the aggregate amount of the borrowireggpiested on any applicable funding date. Underteéhms of the agreement, we
obligated to pay a commitment fee of 0.10% per amoun the daily undrawn balance from and after i @lay following the date we ente

into the bridge facility.

Note 6. Fair Value Measurements

Assets measured at fair value on a recurring laasisummarized below (in millions

Description

Cash equivalent:
Money market fund
U.S. government securitit
U.S. government agency securit
Total cash equivalen
Marketable securitie:
U.S. government securitit
U.S. government agency securit
Total cash equivalents and marketable secul

Description
Cash equivalent:

Money market fund
U.S. government securitit
U.S. government agency securit
Total cash equivalen
Marketable securities
U.S. government securitit
U.S. government agency securit
Total cash equivalents and marketable secul

Fair Value Measurement at
Reporting Date Using

Quoted
Prices in
Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Observable Unobservable
Identical
March 31, Assets Inputs Inputs
2012 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(unaudited)
$ 333 $ 33z $ — $ —
12C 12C — —
10C 10C — —
552 552
1,57( 1,57( — —
1,05¢ 1,05¢ — —
$ 3,181 $ 3,181 $ — $ —
Fair Value Measurement at
Reporting Date Using
Quoted
Prices in
Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Observable Unobservable
December 31 Identical
Assets Inputs Inputs
2011 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
$ 892 $ 892 $ — $ —
60 60
50 50 — —
1,00z 1,00z
1,41¢ 1,41¢
981 981 — —
$ 3,39¢ $ 3,39¢ $ — $ —
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Fair Value Measurement at
Reporting Date Using

Quoted
Prices in
Active
Markets
Significant
for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
December 31
Assets Inputs Inputs
Description 2010 (Level1 (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalent:
Money market fund $  1,45C $1,45( $ — $ —
Total cash equivalen $  1,45C $1,45( $ — $ —

Gross unrealized gains or losses for cash equivatemhmarketable securities as of December 31, 26d®011 and March 31, 2012 w
not material.

The following table classifies our marketable sémg by contractual maturities as of December2111 and March 31, 2012
millions):

December 31
March 31,
2011 2012
(unaudited)
Due in one yea $ 1,96/ $ 1,81¢
Due in one to five yeal 432 81C
Total $ 2,39 $ 2,62¢

Note 7. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

We entered into various capital lease arrangenterdbtain property and equipment for our operatiédwilitionally, on occasion we hg
purchased property and equipment for which we hswesequently obtained capital financing under ksdseback transactions. Th
agreements are typically for three years excepbdidding leases which are for 15 years, with ieg¢rates ranging from 2% to 13%. The le
are secured by the underlying leased buildingsseleald improvements, and equipment. We have algerezhinto various nonancelabl
operating lease agreements for certain of our effiequipment, land and data centers with origesse periods expiring between 2012
2027. We are committed to pay a portion of theteelaactual operating expenses under certain obtlese agreements. Certain of tl
arrangements have free rent periods or escalaimgpayment provisions, and we recognize rent esgender such arrangements on a straight
line basis.
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The following is a schedule, by years, of the fatarinimum lease payments required under cexmecelable capital and operating leas:
of December 31, 2011 (in millions):

Capital Operating

Leases Leases

2012 $ 322 $ 18C

2013 22¢ 13C

2014 10¢ g

2015 17 10z

2016 11 95

Thereaftel 13C 32t

Total minimum lease paymer 817 $  94F
Less amount representing interest and ti (240
Less current portion of the present value of minimmease paymen (279
Capital lease obligations, net of current port $ 39¢

Operating lease expense totaled $69 million, $118Bom and $219 million for the years ended Decem®l, 2009, 2010, and 20
respectively. We also have $500 million of ncamcelable contractual commitments as of Decembe2@11, primarily related to equipm
and supplies for our data center operations, aradlésser extent, construction of our data cerites.sThe majority of these commitments
due in 2012.

Contingencies

Legal Matters

On March 12, 2012, Yahoo filed a lawsuit againsiruthe U.S. District Court for the Northern Distriof California, claiming that v
infringe ten of Yahoo's patents that Yahoo claimkte to “advertising,” “social networking,” “prieg,” “customization,” and “messaging,”
and on April 27, 2012 Yahoo added two patents édldfwsuit that Yahoo claims relate to “advertisingahoo is seeking unspecified dama
a damage multiplier for alleged willful infringemterand an injunction. We intend to vigorously defehis lawsuit, and on April 3, 2012,
filed our answer with respect to this complaint asderted counterclaims that Yahoptroducts infringe ten of our patents. This litiga is still
in its early stages and the final outcome, inclgddar liability, if any, with respect to Yahaotlaims, is uncertain. At present, we are unai
estimate a reasonably possible range of loss yif twat may result from this matter. If an unfavmleaoutcome were to occur in this litigati
the impact could be material to our business, fir@rcondition, or results of operations.

We are also party to various legal proceedingscéaichs which arise in the ordinary course of busién the opinion of management
of December 31, 2011 and March 31, 2012, therengast least a reasonable possibility that we hadrred a material loss, or a material
in excess of a recorded accrual, with respecte¢b #ss contingencies.

Indemnifications

In the normal course of business, to facilitatendeactions of services and products, we have ageeéudemnify certain parties wi
respect to certain matters. We have agreed todetadin parties harmless against losses arising &dreach of representations or coven
or out of intellectual property infringement or etltlaims made by third parties. In addition, weéhalso agreed to indemnify certain inves
with respect to
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representations made by us in connection with dkeaince and sale of preferred stock. These agréemey limit the time within which :
indemnification claim can be made and the amoutthefclaim. In addition, we have entered into inddimation agreements with our office
directors, and certain employees, and our certdic&incorporation and bylaws contain similar imdefication obligations.

It is not possible to determine the maximum potdrdamount under these indemnification agreemengstduhe limited history of pri
indemnification claims and the unique facts andwinstances involved in each particular agreemeistokically, payments made by us ur
these agreements have not had a material impamtitoconsolidated financial position, results of @b@ns or cash flows. In our opinion, a
December 31, 2011, there was not at least a rebkopassibility we had incurred a material losshwiespect to indemnification of such part
We have not recorded any liability for costs redaie indemnification through December 31, 2011.

Note 8. Stockholders’ Equity

Convertible Preferred Stock

Our certificate of incorporation, as amended arsthited, authorizes the issuance of 569,001,40@slué$0.000006 par value convert
preferred stock. The following table summarizes tloavertible preferred stock outstanding as of Dewer 31, 2011, and the rights
preferences of the respective series:

Shares Aggregate
Liquidation Dividend Conversion
Issued and Per Share Ratio
Authorized Outstanding Preference Per Annum Per Share
(in thousands (in thousands (in millions)
Series A 134,74° 133,05! $ 1 $0.0003687 1.00000!
Series E 226,03. 224,27 13 0.0045¢ 1.004911
Series C 95,76¢ 91,41( 26 0.0229733 1.00490:!
Series C 67,45¢ 50,59( 37¢ 0.59: 1.01256:
Series E 45,00( 44,03¢ 20C 0.363326. 1.00000t!
Total 569,00 543,36¢ $ 61%

As of December 31, 2011, the rights, preferences paivileges of the preferred stockholders weréolsws:

Dividends

The holders of shares of Series A, Series B, S&ieSeries D, and Series E convertible preferredksare entitled to receive r-
cumulative dividends, out of any assets legallyilabe for such purpose, prior and in preferencarty declaration or payment of any divid
on the Class A common stock or Class B common simyable quarterly when, as and if, declared byboard of directors. After payment
such dividend to the preferred stockholders, ontitey shares of preferred stock shall participaitt whares of Class A common stock
Class B common stock on ane@saverted to Class B common stock basis as to ddiienal dividends. As of December 31, 2011, wd ha
declared any dividends.

Conversion

Each share of Series A, Series B, Series C, SBriesd Series E preferred stock is convertiblehatoption of the holder thereof, at
time after the date of issuance of such share st number of fully paid
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and nonassessable shares of Class B common stock aseisnitetd by dividing the applicable original issugce by the conversion pri
applicable to such share in effect on the dateoofersion.

The conversion price of each series of preferredksinay be subject to adjustment from time to tumeler certain circumstances.
convertible preferred stock issued to date was ablarices ranging from $0.004605 to $7.412454gbare, which, in all cases, exceedec
then most recent reassessed fair value of our Glassnmon stock. Accordingly, there was no intgngalue associated with the issuanc
the convertible preferred stock through December2®11, and there were no other separate instrunigsued with the convertible prefer
stock, such as warrants. Therefore, we have coedltitat there was no beneficial conversion optssoeiated with the convertible prefer
stock issuances.

Each share of Series A, Series B, Series C, SBriesid Series E convertible preferred stock shathraatically be converted into fu
paid, nonassessable shares of Class B common stock immigdigien the earlier of: (i) the sale by us of odass A common stock or Clas:
common stock in a firm commitment underwritten peildffering pursuant to a registration statemendarmthe Securities Act of 1933,
amended (Securities Act), the public offering prafewhich results in aggregate cash proceeds tofusot less than $100 million (net
underwriting discounts and commissions), or (i§ thate specified by written consent or agreemerh®fholders of a majority of the then-
outstanding shares of preferred stock, voting togreés a single class on ancaswerted basis, provided, however, that if (a)ttb&lers of
majority of the theroutstanding shares of Series D convertible preflesteck do not consent or agree or (b) the holdées majority of th
then-outstanding shares of Series E convertible predesteck do not consent or agree, then in eitheh sase the conversion shall not
effective as to any shares of preferred stock W&l days after the date of the written consenhefmajority of the thewutstanding shares
preferred stock.

Liquidation Preferences

In the event we liquidate, dissolve, or wind up dusiness, either voluntarily or involuntarily, thelders of our Series A, Series
Series C, Series D, and Series E convertible pefestock shall be entitled to receive, prior amghieference to any distribution of any of
assets to the holders of Class A common stock as<dB common stock, an amount per share equal.@®4805, $0.0570025, $0.2871¢
$7.412454, and $4.54158 per share (as adjustestdok splits, stock dividends, reclassifications] ¢he like), respectively, plus any decle
but unpaid dividends.

If, upon the occurrence of any of these events,atfgets and funds distributed among the holdetbeofSeries A, Series B, Seriet
Series D, and Series E convertible preferred sshehtl be insufficient to permit the payment to siiders of the full aforesaid preferen
amounts, then our entire assets and funds legaliyladle for distribution shall be distributed rala among the holders of the Serie:
Series B, Series C, Series D, and Series E cohlepreferred stock in proportion to the prefer@némount each such holder is othen
entitled to receive.

If there are any remaining assets upon the conoplaif the liquidating distribution to the Series Beries B, Series C, Series D,
Series E convertible preferred stockholders, tHddre of our Class A common stock and Class B comstock will receive all our remaini
assets. The merger or consolidation of us intoharagntity in which our stockholders own less th@fb of the voting stock of the survivi
company, or the sale, transfer, or lease of subiatignall our assets, shall be deemed a liquidgtidissolution, or winding up of us. As
“redemption” events are within our control for all periods presel, all shares of preferred stock have been predeas part of perman

equity.
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Voting Rights

The holder of each share of Series A, Series BeS€, Series D, and Series E convertible prefestedk shall have the same vor
rights as the holders of Class B common stocknigled to notice of any stockholdersieeting in accordance with our bylaws, and tog:
with the holders of Class A common stock and CEagommon stock, the Series A, Series B, Serieslie§SD, and Series E converti
preferred stock will vote together as a single<las all matters which holders of Class A commarlstand Class B common stock have
right to vote, unless otherwise stated. Each hadfi€iass A common stock is entitled to one voteefach share of Class A common stock t
each holder of Class B common stock is entitledeto votes for each share of Class B common stotk laead each holder of Series
Series B, Series C, Series D, and Series E cohleegireferred stock is entitled to ten votes farreghare of Class B common stock into w
such convertible preferred stock could be converted

Common Stock

Our certificate of incorporation authorizes theuamsce of Class A common stock and Class B comnaok.stWe are authorized to ist
4,141,000,000 shares of Class A common stock ahi14)00,000 shares of Class B common stock, eatthayvpar value of $0.000006
share. Holders of our Class A common stock andsasommon stock are entitled to dividends whenarad if, declared by our board
directors, subject to the rights of the holderalbtlasses of stock outstanding having priorights to dividends. As of December 31, 2011
had not declared any dividends. The holder of esdadre of Class A common stock is entitled to one,vavhile the holder of each share
Class B common stock is entitled to ten votes. rAdta initial public offering, a transfer of sharelsClass B common stock will generally re
in those shares converting to Class A common st@t&ss A common stock and Class B common stockrefegred to as common stc
throughout the notes to these financial statemenisss otherwise noted.

Share-based Compensation Plans

We maintain two sharbased employee compensation plans. In January 2005board of directors and stockholders adopted
approved the 2005 Stock Plan, as amended, whichda® for the issuance of incentive and nonstayustwck options and RSUs to qualit
employees, directors, and consultants. In Nover2béb, our board of directors adopted and approked®005 OfficersStock Plan (togeth
with the 2005 Stock Plan, the Stock Plans), whidvigdes for the issuance of incentive and nonstayustock options to certain employee
officers.

The term of stock options issued under the 2006kSRlan may not exceed ten years from the dateasftgUnder the 2005 Stock Pl
incentive stock options and nonstatutory stockamsiare granted at an exercise price that is no¢ tess than 100% of the fair market valc
our Class B common stock on the date of granteserichined by our compensation committee. Stocloaptbecome vested and exercisak
such times and under such conditions as deternipedir compensation committee on the date of grant.

The 2005 OfficersStock Plan provides for the issuance of up to 12@M@0 shares of incentive and nonstatutory st@tions to certai
of our employees or officers. The 2005 Office&ock Plan will terminate ten years after its adoptunless terminated earlier by
compensation committee. Stock options become vested exercisable at such times and under such tgomslias determined by ¢
compensation committee on the date of grant. Inedder 2005, we issued a nonstatutory stock optiawut CEO to purchase 120,000,
shares of our Class B common stock under the 2G68e@’ Stock Plan. At December 31, 2011, the option wastanding and fully veste
and no options were available for future issuanmmeuthe 2005 Officers’ Stock Plan.
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The following table summarizes the stock option &8lJ award activity under the Stock Plans betweswdry 1, 2009 and March .
2012:

Shares Subject to Options Outstanding Outstanding RSUs
Weighted
Weighted VZ\E{‘/lgggg Average
Remaining Grant
Shares Average Contractual Aggregate Date Fair
Available Number of Exercise Intrinsic Outstanding
for Grant (1) Shares Price Term Value @) RSUs Value
(in thousands (in thousands (in years) (in millions) (in thousands
Balance as of December 31, 2( 15,257 479,81. $ 0.17 $ — 136,83¢ $ 1.7¢

Increase in shares authoriz 251,96¢ — —

RSUs grante: (159,16Y) — 159,16° 2.3

Stock options grante (13,885 13,88t 2.5¢ —

Stock options exercise (57,459 0.1t —

Stock options forfeited/cancell 5,99¢ (5,99¢) 0.8( —

RSUs forfeited and cancell 10,51 — (10,51) 1.81
Balance as of December 31, 2( 110,68: 430,24: 0.2t 6.3¢ 1,78(C 285,48 2.07

Increase in shares authoriz 25,00( —

RSUs grante: (68,059 — 68,05¢ 10.5¢

Stock options grante (4,70€) 4,70€ 11.57 —

Stock options exercise — (69,910 0.0¢ —

Stock options forfeited/cancelle 2,06¢ (2,06€) 0.22 —

RSUs forfeited and cancellt 11,39¢ — (11,399 13.12
Balance as of December 31, 2( 76,38 362,97: 0.4z B-31 7,41 342,14¢ 3.3¢

Increase in shares authoriz 10,00( — —

RSUs grantei (55,12¢) — 55,12¢ 26.32

Stock options exercise — (101,87 0.27 —

Stock options forfeited/cancell¢ 2,56( (2,560 1.6C —

RSUs forfeited and cancellt 18,50: — (18,509 7.91
Balance as of December 31, 2( 52,31¢ 258,53¢ 0.47% 4.3¢ 7,36( 378,77. 6.8

RSUs granted (unaudite (1,949 1,947 30.4¢

Stock options exercised (unauditt — (21,789 0.22 —

RSUs forfeited and cancelled (unaudit 2,29( (2,290 13.5¢
Balance as of March 31, 2012 (unaudit 52,66 236,75t $ 0.4¢ 418 $ 7,19¢ 378,42 6.8¢
Stock options vested and expected to vest

December 31, 201 258,46¢ $ 0.47 43t $ 7,35¢
Stock options exercisable as of December 31

2011 244,84¢ $ 0.1¢ 41¢ $ 7,04
Stock options vested and expected to vest as of

March 31, 2012 (unaudite: 236,65 $ 0.4¢ 415 $ 7,191
Stock options exercisable as of March 31, 2

(unaudited 224,18 $ 0.1¢ 397 $ 6,87¢

(1) After excluding 195 thousand restricted stock awarat included in the table above, 52,123 and %2tlh6usand shares are available for grant undestihek Plans as of December
2011 and March 31, 2012, respective

(2) The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated asdifference between the exercise price of the ugtylstock option awards and the assessed fairevaftour common stock as
December 31, 2009, 2010, and 2011 and March 32.;
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The following table summarizes additional infornoati regarding outstanding and exercisable optiondeurthe Stock Plans

December 31, 2011:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted-
Weighted- Weighted-

Average
Remaining Average Average
Exercise Number of Exercise Number of Exercise

Price (Range Shares Life Price Shares Price
(in thousands’ (in years) (in thousands’

$0.00- 0.0 27,69¢ 3.14 $ 0.01 27,69¢ $ 0.01
0.06 135,86! 3.8t 0.0€ 135,86: 0.0€
0.10- 0.1¢ 34,18¢ 4.3¢ 0.15 34,18¢ 0.15
0.29- 0.3¢ 37,66¢ 5.3C 0.31 37,66¢ 0.31
1.78 5,32¢ 6.5¢ 1.7¢ 2,631 1.7¢
1.85 5,71¢ 7.0 1.8 3,42: 1.8
2.95 2,88¢ 7.65 2.9¢ 1,35¢ 2.9¢
3.23 4,50( 7.82 3.2¢ 2,02t 3.2¢
10.39 3,50(C 8.5¢ 10.3¢ — —
15.00 1,20( 8.8( 15.0C — —
258,53¢ 4.3¢ $ 047 244,84¢ $ 0.1¢

The aggregate intrinsic value of the options eseatiin the years ended December 31, 2009, 201@Gitdand the three months en
March 31, 2012, was $149 million, $492 million, 320 million, and $629 million, respectively. Thedbgrant date fair value of stock optit
vested during the years ended December 31, 2009, 20d 2011 and the three months ended March(32, ®as $16 million, $16 million, ¢
million, and $1 million, respectively. The totalmber of unvested shares subject to options and Rfsitésanding as of December 31, 2!

2010, and 2011 and March 31, 2012 was 395 milBad, million, 392 million, and 386 million respeactiy.

Shares Reserved for Future Issuance

We have the following shares of Class B commonksteserved for future issuance as of December 811 2nd March 31, 2012

thousands):

December 31

March 31,
2011 2012

(unaudited)

2005 Stock Plar
Shares subject to options outstanc 138,53¢ 116,75¢
Restricted stock units outstandi 378,77. 378,42¢
Shares available for future grau 52,12 52,46¢
2005 Officer’ Stock Plan shares subject to options outstan 120,00 120,00(
Convertible preferred stock, all ser 545,55 545,40:
1,234,98! 1,213,05:

In addition, we have reserved shares of Class Antomstock for future issuance pursuant to the cmiwe of any shares of Clas:

common stock that are currently outstanding or vy be issued in the future.
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Note 9. Income Taxes
The components of income before provision for inedaxes for the years ended December 31, 2009, 20002011 are as follows
millions):

Year Ended December 31

2009 2010 2011
Domestic $ 26C $1,027 $1,81¢
Foreign (6) (19) (129
Total income before provision for income ta: $ 25¢ $1,00¢ $1,69¢

The provision for income taxes consisted of théofeing (in millions):

Year Ended December 31

2009 2010 2011
Current: E—

Federal $ 83 $ 32t $ 664

State 14 57 6C

Foreign 1 1 8
Total current tax expen: 98 38:¢ 732
Deferred:

Federal (60) 13 (34

State (13) 6 3
Total deferred tax expense (bene (73 19 (37
Provision for income taxe $ 2t $ 40z $ 69t

A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory inu® tax rate of 35% to our effective tax rate i$oflews (in percentages):

Year Ended December 31,
2009 2010 2011

U.S. federal statutory income tax rate 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
State income taxes, net of federal ber 0.2 4.C 1.9
Research tax credi 2.2 (0.8) (2.0
Shar-based compensatic 0.8 0.2 15
Foreign losses not benefit 1.1 0.8 8ad
Change in valuation allowan: (25.6) — 0.3
Other (0.3 0.€ —
Effective tax rate 10.(% 39.5% 41.(%
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Excess tax benefits associated with stock opti@rases and other equity awards are credited wkistdders’equity. The income ti
benefits resulting from stock awards that were iteeldto stockholdersequity were $50 million, $107 million, and $433 lwih for the year
ended December 31, 2009, 2010, and 2011.

Our deferred tax assets (liabilities) are as foddim millions):

December 31,

2010 2011
Deferred tax asset
Net operating loss carryforwa $ 2 $ 3
Tax credit carryforwar — 9
Shar-based compensatic 28 79
Accrued expenses and other liabilit 38 58
Total deferred tax asse 68 14¢
Less: valuation allowanc — (9)
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowe 68 14C
Deferred tax liabilities
Depreciation and amortizatic (22) (69
Purchased intangible ass (8) (20
Deferred foreign taxe — (1)
Total deferred tax liabilitie (29) (80)
Net deferred tax asse $ 3¢ $ 6C

The valuation allowance was approximately $9 milles of December 31, 2011, related to state taditsréhat we do not believe w
ultimately be realized. There was no change touhleation allowance for the year ended December2Bl0. The valuation allowar
decreased by approximately $76 million for the yeraded December 31, 2009.

As of December 31, 2011, we had U.S. federal ardo@@a net operating loss carryforwards of $7 liait and $17 million, which wi
expire in 2027 and 2021, respectively, if not méll. We also have state tax credit carryforward&ahillion, which carry forward indefinitel

Utilization of our net operating loss and tax ctedfirryforwards may be subject to substantial ahhoetations due to the ownerst
changdimitations provided by the Internal Revenue Codd aimilar state provisions. Such annual limitasi@ould result in the expiration
the net operating loss and tax credit carryforwdrefore their utilization. The events that may eaag/nership changes include, but are
limited to, a cumulative stock ownership changgrefater than 50% over a three-year period.

Our net foreign pretax losses include jurisdictiavigh both pretax earnings and pretax losses. @usalidated financial stateme
provide taxes for all related tax liabilities thabuld arise upon repatriation of earnings in theeiign jurisdictions where we do not intenc
indefinitely reinvest those earnings outside thété¢hStates, and the amount of taxes provideddsrideen insignificant.
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The following table reflects changes in the graseaognized tax benefits (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
Gross unrecognized tax bene—beginning of perioc $ 3 $ 9 $ 18
Increase related to prior year tax positi 6 1 5
Decreases related to prior year tax posit| — 2 @)
Increases related to current year tax posit — 1C 42
Gross unrecognized tax bene—end of perioc $ 9 $ 18 $ 63

During all years presented, we recognized inteaedtpenalties related to unrecognized tax benfiten the provision for income tax
on the consolidated statements of income. For #es gnded December 31, 2011, we recognized intefekt million and penalties of !
million. The amount of interest and penalties aedras of December 31, 2010 and 2011 was $1 méli@h$6 million, respectively.

If the remaining balance of gross unrecognizedbixefits of $63 million as of December 31, 2011 wesdized in a future period, tl
would result in a tax benefit of $51 million withaur provision of income taxes at such time.

We are subject to taxation in the United Stateswamibus other state and foreign jurisdictions. Tiegerial jurisdictions in which we ¢
subject to potential examination by taxing authesitinclude the United States and Ireland. In 2Gh&, Internal Revenue Service (I
commenced its examinations of our 2008 and 2009/¢axs. We believe that adequate amounts havereserved for any adjustments 1
may ultimately result from these examinations arelde not anticipate a significant impact to oursgronrecognized tax benefits within
next 12 months related to these years. Our 201@@ahd tax years remain subject to examination ByIRS and all tax years starting in 2
remain subject to examination in Ireland. We rensaibject to possible examinations or are undergairdits in various other jurisdictions t
are not material to our financial statements.

Although the timing of the resolution, settlemeanrtd closure of any audits is highly uncertains itdasonably possible that the balant
gross unrecognized tax benefits could significaotignge in the next 12 months. However, given timabrer of years remaining that are sut
to examination, we are unable to estimate ther&uye of possible adjustments to the balance afsgunarecognized tax benefits.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2011 and 2012

Our effective tax rate for the three months endeatdid 31, 2012 increased compared to the same pieriagd11 primarily due to tl
impact of non-deductible shabased compensation expense, losses arising otitgidénited States in jurisdictions where we do neckeive .
tax benefit, and the expiration of the federaldeedit for research and development activitiehatend of 2011.
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Note 10. Geographical Information

Revenue by geography is based on the billing addveghe advertiser or Platform developer. Theofwlhg table sets forth revenue i
long-lived assets by geographic area (in millions):

Year Ended Three Months Ended
December 31, March 31,
2009 2010 2011 2011 2012
(unaudited)
Revenue
United State: $ 5l1¢ $1,22: $2,067 $ 427 $ 53€
Rest of the worl® 25¢ 751 1,644 304 522
Total revenue $ 77 $1,97¢ $3,711 $ 731 $ 1,05¢
(1) No individual country exceeded 10% of our totalerewe for any period presentt
December 31 March 31,
_ 2010 2011 2012
(unaudited)
Long-lived assets
United State: $ 567 $1,44¢ $ 1,781
Rest of the worl 7 31 74
Total lon¢-lived asset: $ 57¢ $1,47¢ $ 1,85¢

Note 11. Related Party Transactions

During 2009, our board of directors authorizedasaward two million shares of Class B common stiock family member of our CE
This award was made in satisfaction of funds predifior our initial working capital and potentialated claims. We recorded shdrase:
compensation expense of $9 million related to $kogk award for the year ended December 31, 2009.

Note 12. Subsequent Events

For our consolidated financial statements as ofeDexer 31, 2010 and 2011, and for each of the tfgaes in the period ended Decen
31, 2011, we evaluated subsequent events througiudwy 1, 2012, which is the date the financialesteents were available to be issued.

In January 2012, our board of directors adopted2@2 Equity Incentive Plan, subject to stockholaproval, which plan will becor
effective on the effective date of our initial pighbffering. The 2012 Equity Incentive Plan willcaeed our 2005 Stock Plan and we will ¢
granting awards under the 2005 Stock Plan. We heserved 25 million shares of Class A common sfockssuance under our 2005 St
Plan, plus an additional number of shares of CAasemmon stock equal to any shares reserved bussoed or subject to outstanding aw
under our 2005 Stock Plan on the effective dateusfinitial public offering, plus, (i) shares thate subject to outstanding awards unde
2005 Stock Plan which cease to be subject to suends, (ii) shares issued under the 2005 Stock Rlgnh are forfeited or repurchaser
their original issue price, and (iii) shares subjecawards under the 2005 Stock Plan that are ts@dy the exercise price of an optiot
withheld to satisfy the tax withholding obligatioredated to any award. The 2012 Equity IncentivenRirovides for automatic increases in
number of shares reserved for issuance on Januzfrgdch year.
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Note 13. Subsequent Events (unaudited)

For our interim consolidated financial statemenssof March 31, 2012, and for the three months tBeded, we have evalua
subsequent events through May 17, 2012, whicheisléiie the financial statements were availableetisdued.

In April 2012, we entered into an agreement to aegunstagram, Inc., which has built a mobile phdased photsharing service, fi
approximately 23 million shares of our common stacki $300 million in cash. Following the closingtbis acquisition, we plan to maint
Instagrams$ products as independent mobile applications kamce our photos product offerings and to enaldesu® increase their levels
mobile engagement and photo sharing. This acquisisi subject to customary closing conditions,udghg the expiration or early terminat
of all applicable waiting periods under the Harb®&odino Antitrust Improvement Act of 1976, as amah@ldSR), and is expected to clos
2012. We have agreed to pay Instagram a $200 mitéomination fee if governmental authorities pemeraly enjoin or otherwise prevent
completion of the merger or if either party terntegathe agreement after December 10, 2012. The lthe equity component of the fi
purchase price will be determined for accountingppses based on the fair value of our common stadke closing date of the acquisition.
of that date, the excess of the fair value of pasehconsideration over the fair value of the idiaie assets and liabilities of Instagram wil
recorded as goodwill. We currently anticipate thabdwill will significantly exceed the fair valug any identifiable assets. However, as
have not yet established the fair values of assgisired and liabilities assumed, the financiad@§ of this planned acquisition have not |
determined.

Also, in April 2012, we entered into an agreemeithwWilicrosoft Corporation pursuant to which we vk assigned Microsoft'rights t
acquire approximately 615 U.S. patents and pateplications and their foreign counterparts, coirsisbf approximately 170 foreign pate
and patent applications, that are subject to theesmgent between AOL Inc. and Microsoft entered ontdApril 5, 2012, in exchange for a tc
cash payment of approximately $550 million. As paeftthis transaction, we will obtain a license tee tother AOL patents and pat
applications being purchased by Microsoft and gidint Microsoft a license to the AOL patents anpgapplications that we are acquiring
addition, we will be assigned Microsoft’s rights doquire the outstanding shares of a wholly-owmesh-operating subsidiary of AOL tt
holds a portion of the aforementioned patent artdmeapplications. The transaction is subject ® ¢losing of Microsof transaction wit
AOL as well as customary closing conditions, inahgdthe expiration or early termination of all ajgpble waiting periods under HSR. ~
majority of the acquisition price is expected toreeorded as acquired intangible assets, whichbgithmortized over the remaining useful |
of the patent rights. As we have not yet completetktailed analysis of the acquired patent rightscannot currently estimate the weigl
average period of amortization.

On May 3, 2012, we granted an aggregate of 25,257RUs. We will determine the fair value of thgsants during the second qual
If the fair value of our Class A common stock w&8 90, the per share price to the public for oitfahpublic offering, the aggregate grant ¢
fair value would be approximately $960 million.
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